
Proposal for Pennsylvania State 
System of Higher Education 
Proctoring Solutions: Live Online 
And Automated  
RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45 

Technical Proposal

October 26, 2020 

Submitted by: 

Mark Musacchio 
+ 1 413-222-4045
mmusacchio@psionline.com

Where people meet potential 



 
 
 

611 N. Brand Blvd • 10th Floor • Glendale • California 91203                       www.psionline.com • T: 818.847.6180 • F: 818.847.8705 

 

www.psionline.com 
 

                                                                                                                          
                October 26, 2020 
 
Linda A. Venneri, CPSM 
Collaborative Contracts Manager 
Pennsylvania’s State System of Higher Education  
Office of the Chancellor  
Dixon University Center 
2986 North Second Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17110 
 
Linda: 

PSI Services (PSI) is pleased to present this proposal to Pennsylvania’s State System of Higher 
Education (PASSHE) to provide remote and automated proctoring services for your institutions.  

We recognize the importance of selecting a proven testing vendor to provide these services to your 
institutions and the OMNIA Partners alliance network. PSI has been a leader in secure online exam 
delivery and proctoring for decades. We were the first company to develop and patent lock-down 
browser technology nearly 20 years ago and the first to go to market with online proctoring 
technology nearly 15 years ago, with a specialty in Record and Review proctoring.  

PSI’s LTI tools have been integrated with all major LMS such as PASSHE’s D2L Brightspace, as well as 
Blackboard, Canvas, Moodle, Sakai, and Jenzabar eLearning, along with full support for third-party 
publisher systems to create a seamless experience for students.  

PASSHE institutions will have a solution that gives students and faculty a positive remote testing 
experience, offering Live, Record and Review, and Low-Stakes testing options. PSI continues 
working to make the user experience as intuitive and straightforward as possible so that students 
can concentrate on the exams and not the technology. Focusing on technology is our job, and we 
are continually improving our system with innovative advances such as AI. PSI Bridge will allow 
PASSHE to administer online proctored exams with a high probability of detecting academic 
dishonesty without the burden of analyzing false-positive flags or searching for missed incidents 
that purely AI-based proctoring tools create.   

We believe our creative and flexible approach, along with our experience in higher education exam 
delivery using different modalities, makes PSI an excellent match for PASSHE and its institutions.  
 
In closing, we appreciate this opportunity to present our qualifications. If you have questions or 
want more details regarding this proposal, please feel free to contact us at any time. Thank you for 
your consideration.  

Best Regards,  
 
 

 
Mark Musacchio 
Senior Director of Sales, PSI Education 
M: +1 413-222-4045 
E: mmusacchio@psionline.com 
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IV.1 Required Information
Technical Proposals are to be straightforward, clear, concise and specific to the information requested. 
While suppliers are encouraged to submit the most creative, cost effective proposal possible, the 
inclusion of extraneous commercial and/or sales literature as a substitute for responses to questions 
included in the proposal is strongly discouraged. Any supplemental information that you elect to 
provide should be attached as additional appendices. 

PSI has read, understands, and will comply with the Technical Proposal requirements in a 
straightforward, clear, concise, and specific manner. 

A. General

1. State the Supplier’s understanding of the solution being requested by this RFP.

PSI has read and understands the solution being requested in the RFP. We will provide 
Proctoring Solutions: Live Online and/or Automated to integrate with multiple Learning 
Management Systems (LMSs) to the PASSHE institutions. PSI can authenticate a student’s 
identity, provide oversight for assessments/exams, and inform faculty of issues that arise during 
the examination process with a high probability of detecting academic dishonesty.  

2. Include a narrative response that summarizes the key features and competitive advantages of the
proposed solution that make it stand out from competing solutions.

PSI Bridge™ Overview 
PSI Bridge allows students to securely test from virtually 
anywhere, via laptop or desktop computer. It provides 
superior remote proctoring — from customizable test security, identity authentication, and 
multi-modal delivery to custom reports and analytics. The platform integrates with any Learning 
Management System (LMS) or third-party online test delivery system. We offer multi-modal 
options of Live Proctoring and on-demand Record and Review proctoring, as well as a model for 
Low-Stakes Test Proctoring. The following are highlights of PSI Bridge’s functionality as they 
occur, from the instructor's exam setup through reporting. 

LMS Integration 

PSI Bridge offers seamless integration. When a user (faculty, administrator, student) logs on to 
the LMS, they access PSI Bridge in that platform as an LTI tool, without needing a separate sign-
on or user-created login information. PSI Bridge can be integrated with any LTI-compliant LMS 
environment.  

Authenticate. Proctor. Protect. 
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Faculty Exam Set-Up and Reporting 

Faculty members will use the LTI app in their LMS to register for proctored exams, define exam 
administration and exam security rules, and review integrity reports.  

An integrity report will be created based on the outcome of the proctor’s flags, the exam policy, 
and PASSHE’s business rules to reflect an accurate and consistent reporting model for the 
instructor. We will provide detailed integrity reports for each student, based on our proctor 
review process. 

Student Authentication and Security Features  
A student taking a proctored exam — such as Record and Review or Live Proctoring — will go 
through consistent ID verification and check-in process.  

Security Features — Each institution can set the institution's security level, a class, or a student, 
using PSI Bridge.  
 
Lockdown Browser — Students will take exams in PSI’s Patented Lockdown Browser, which 
automatically blocks web browsers and applications. Launch times are faster than they are on 
applications from other vendors.  

Minimally Invasive / No Remote Access — PSI’s Proctors do not need to use remote access to 
control the student’s computer. This unique feature of avoiding remote access into students' 
computers limits liability for the institution and shows appropriate concern for student privacy. 

Proctoring Modalities Offered 

Live Proctored Exams  

For this modality, students are monitored by a live proctor in real-time for the full duration of 
their scheduled testing appointment. The proctor will identify suspicious behavior, intervene to 
correct the unwanted behavior when necessary, or terminate the exam session when 
warranted. They will also provide accurate reports that show evidence of any academic integrity 
violations. 
 
Automated Self-Service Check-In is a unique self-service check-in model designed to help 
speed up exam launch times.  

Proctoring to Student Communication via Chat allows proctors to communicate exclusively 
with your students during an examination. This helps minimize issues for ESL students, 
eliminates bias, and reduces distractions during the exam. It also requires less bandwidth than 
other communication methods. An overview of chat is included in the Exam Monitoring section. 

Recording of Exams for Later Review. Each exam is recorded, and an integrity report is 
created based on this video record.  

  



 

 
PROPOSAL FOR PASSHE 3 

 

Record and Review Proctored Exams 

Convenience and ease of use are key features of PSI’s Record and Review solution. Record and 
Review proctored exams are 100% on-demand (no scheduling required) and an easy-to-use 
alternative to Live Proctoring, without sacrificing exam security and integrity. Students test at 
their convenience without scheduling appointments in advance. Each exam session is recorded 
in its entirety to include the room scan, ID verification process, webcam video with audio, and 
desktop video for post-exam professional human proctored review and analysis. 
 
PSI’s Record and Review modality is the longest-tenured solution in the online proctoring 
market, and we were the first to deploy it. We have been specializing in it for 15 years. This 
process is less invasive than having a live proctor watching the exam. PASSHE students have 
the peace of mind that a live person is not watching them in their personal space. However, they 
know the video will be reviewed and analyzed by a professionally trained proctor who will flag 
and report any incidents. 

Low-Stakes Proctoring — Quizzes and Practice Exams  
From reading the Q&A provided as part of the RFP, we understand that students take what we 
would consider being “Low-Stakes Exams.” PSI’s platform offers an option for Low-Stakes testing 
and self-proctoring. This modality is identical to the on-demand Record and Review mode. We 
do not, however, conduct the human-proctored review of the student’s examination videos. 
Students will have an automated proctoring experience, testing with the security features built 
into the Secure Browser: identity authentication, complete video/audio/screen recording, and 
basic smart behavior correction notifications (for example, “stay in view of the camera,” “eyes on 
your screen,” facial recognition, and the like). The student will still get the consistent experience 
of being proctored, keeping the deterrent effect in place. The students will not necessarily even 
know that the videos are not human-reviewed. After the exam, PSI will provide instructors or 
other faculty with access to the student’s exam session recordings for their reference. 
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B. Qualifications and Experience  

1. Company  

Include a brief history and description of the company, including the number of years in business and 
any ownership structure or management structure. Discuss how the firm’s overall experience 
demonstrates its ability to successfully provide the solution.  

PSI Services LLC was founded in 1946. We have 74 years of experience in testing and 
psychometric services. As one of the world's largest assessment providers, we operate in over 
120 countries and deliver millions of exams annually. We are a leading test developer and 
publisher of over 1,900 credentialing and licensing exams. This includes managing and 
administering licensure exams in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania for the Pennsylvania 
Board of Dentistry, Pennsylvania Funeral Directors, Pennsylvania Insurance, Pennsylvania 
Psychology, Pennsylvania Real Estate, and Pennsylvania Real Estate Appraisers examinations.   

We are a leader in the assessment industry and offer a variety of solutions worldwide through 
multiple business channels, including higher education testing, talent assessments (of job-
seeking candidates as well as for employee development programs), licensure testing, and 
license management services (for government regulatory agencies), and certification 
credentialing services (for certifying bodies).  

PSI was the first company to offer remote proctoring technology to the higher education market 
nearly 15 years ago. We were the first company to develop and patent lock-down browser 
software. Today, we service nearly 5,000 global customers and administer over 15 million exams 
annually through our various delivery channels. We provide proctoring solutions to over 650 
higher education institutions and deliver hundreds of thousands of exams for students each 
year. Our remote proctoring service is used by several state education systems, including the 
State of Maryland (through the Maryland Enterprise Education Consortium [MEEC]), the State 
University of New York System, the University of Alaska System, the Southern University System, 
and the Inter-American University of Puerto Rico System.  

PSI is a fiscally healthy company, held by a leading private equity firm. We have experienced at 
least 15% growth every year since 2014, demonstrating our continued financial stability. In 2015, 
Waud Capital took notice of our successes and made an equity investment in PSI. Recently, 
Waud extended the partnership with a significant additional equity investment, enabling us to 
continue funding a strong acquisition pipeline and organic initiatives for the next phase of the 
company’s growth. As we continue growing, PSI will further apply our solutions, products, and 
services across an individual's entire career as we execute our long-term vision of helping 
people reach their potential.  

A press release about Waud’s reinvestment is provided as Attachment A. 

PSI has 2,250 employees and would have a dedicated team to implement each institution’s 
testing program. We have the financial resources, staff expertise, and experience to undertake 
and successfully complete the contract. 
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PASSHE Client Management Team 

Each institution that signs up to test with PSI will be assigned a project team that will be present 
during initial implementation and ongoing support. This team will include an Account Manager, 
a Project Manager, and a Client Services Representative.  

• Account Manager. This will be the main contact through onboarding and will serve as the
primary point of contact for day‐to‐day business relations. Mark Musacchio, Senior Director of
Sales, Education Services, will fulfill this role.

• Project Manager. This individual will serve as the lead for implementation tasks, including
system integrations, training, and setup.

• Client Services Representative. Your rep will be a primary point of contact for
administrators, staff, and instructors to support the platform and service‐related issues.

In addition to the core project team, other key service managers will support PASSHE 
institutions. These staff are included on the next page. As institutions enroll in the 
program, PSI will regularly meet with their staff to discuss progress on activities and share 
insights on any problems or opportunities concerning implementation. 
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Key Staff by Function and Job Title 

Account 
Leadership 

Janet Garcia, Executive VP, Global Credentialing 
12 years with PSI; 25 years of experience 

Mark Musacchio, Sr. Director of Sales, 
Education Services 
10 years with PSI; 17 years of experience 

Heather Richards, Sr. Director, Account 
Management  
3 years with PSI, 26 years of experience 

Key Roles: Account and Relationship Management | Communications  
Program Oversight 

Test 
Administration 
& Support 

Jo Anne Wingate, Sr. Director, Client Services 
7 years with PSI; 25 years of experience  

Caitlin Wall, Client Engagement & Account 
Management 
6 years with PSI; 8 years of experience 

Key Roles: Remote Proctoring Operations | Administrator/Proctor Training  
Staff Management | Proctor Auditing | Candidate Communication 

Technology & 
Data Security 

Robert Pryor, Director, Corp. Compliance and 
Security 
12 years with PSI; 19 years of experience 

David Pascal, Sr. Director, Product & Solution 
Management 
5 years with PSI; 28 years of experience 

Key Roles: Data Security | Technology Solutions | Corporate Compliance System 
Integrations |Test Platform Support | Background Checks 

Project 
Management & 
Implementation 

Mike Smith, PMP, Director, Project 
Management  

  4 years with PSI; 21 years of experience 

Key Roles: Project Planning and Implementation Management | Coordination of Partner 
Integrations 
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2. Experience  

Describe your organization’s experience (including number of years in operation) as it pertains to 
providing a Proctoring Solution for higher education institutions. Submit three detailed case histories 
that demonstrate the breadth, depth and creativity of the solution that your firm can provide to the 
State System. At least one case history must be of a higher education institution (a state system is highly 
preferred). Provide a description of any industry best practices your firm utilizes. Include any industry 
awards your firm received.  

PSI has 74 years of experience in testing and psychometric services, including two decades of 
experience in online test security and remote proctoring. We have long been committed to 
developing technology that enables students to use their own computers to take exams. 
Technical breakthroughs have made remote proctoring a secure, efficient delivery method for a 
rapidly growing body of schools, licensing and credentialing organizations, and companies. In 
this respect, PSI has an edge in the testing industry, as we have been ahead of the curve when it 
comes to developing and investing in our remote proctoring platform. We are continually 
building on our substantial foundation with technologies such as Artificial Intelligence (AI) 
features, Intelligent Incident Handling, and Identity Verification.  

We have made significant investments in growing our reach and experience in the education 
and testing industry. We are committed to evaluating new technologies and processes that 
might benefit PASSHE programs and students. PSI takes a partnership approach with our clients 
and encourages open, ongoing discussion regarding PASSHE’s needs and goals.  

The following schools are part of more than 650 higher education institutions. The table 
below includes a few of these clients; they all contract with us for services similar to those being 
sought in the RFP. 

Just a Few of the Higher Education Clients We Work With 

Arizona State University University of Texas Macomb Community College 

Saint Joseph’s University Colby Community College University of South Alabama 

Boston University Seton Hall University University of South Australia 

University of Oklahoma SUNY System 
University of Pennsylvania 
Nursing 

University of Alaska Anchorage 
(System) 

Horry-Georgetown Technical 
College 

Minnesota State Community 
and Technical Colleges 

Tidewater Community College Southern University System Vanderbilt Nursing 

George Washington University edX Wake Forest University 

Johns Hopkins University Study.com 
Central Alabama Community 
College 

Temple University 
Inter-American University of Puerto 
Rico System 

MEEC – Maryland Enterprise 
Education Consortium  

Michigan State University Tennessee Tech University of Arkansas 
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Case Studies 
Below we have provided a few descriptions of projects similar in scope to the one we will handle for 
PASSHE. PSI has a strong background in supporting state systems and multi-campus institutions.  
In many cases, we integrate with a single instance of the LMS and create sub-orgs to address 
each individual campus’s use of the platform.  We can provide system-wide and campus-specific 
training for users, as well as creating co-branded documentation and video tutorials.   
 

Case Studies 
 

Tecnologico de Monterrey (ITESM) is a multi-campus university 
based in Monterrey, Mexico. It has 31 campuses in 25 cities 
throughout the country and is one of the most recognized and 

prestigious Latin American universities. ITESM has over 90,000 students (~50,000 
undergraduate and over 15,000 online).  

PSI completed two successful remote proctoring pilots with ITESM in December 2016 and 
March 2017. The ITESM team received positive feedback from students and faculty, and 
statistical results from instructors using the software indicated that far fewer students were 
cheating while using remote proctoring. Given ITESM’s location and its various satellite 
campus locations, our remote proctoring solution works particularly well for students 
because of our ability to support very low bandwidth speeds compared to other vendors. 
During their evaluations, ITESM emphasized Record and Review, non-invasive proctoring, 
and required seamless integration with their LMS via LTI.  Exams are administered through 
PSI Bridge. 

In June of 2019, ITESM decided to expand PSI’s remote proctoring solution across the 
institution to all its distance/online learners through a 20,000-exam pre-purchase. PSI is 
currently providing remote proctoring services through Record and Review.  

 
The University of Alaska Anchorage is an open-access university with 
academic programs leading to occupational endorsements, 
undergraduate and graduate certificates, and associate, 
baccalaureate, and graduate degrees in a rich, diverse, and inclusive 
environment. For the 2014-2015 academic school year, the University 

of Alaska Anchorage (System) UAA main campus served 20,939 students with eLearning 
enrollments exceeding 9,000 students (12,000 including extended campuses). During this 
time, eLearning proctored approximately 15,000 exams in approved physical test site 
locations. After a successful pilot in 2014 and careful evaluations of multiple proctoring 
vendors through an RFI and RFP process, UAA awarded PSI a multi-year contract to proctor 
thousands of online exams, reducing their dependency on physical test centers. UAA sought 
a firm capable of providing secure online proctoring services, student verification, 
unmatched administrative, faculty, and student support and training (resulting in a long-term 
partnership). Exams are administered through the LMS system via PSI Bridge. Given UAA’s 
success and satisfaction with our platforms and the PSI team, we recently extended our 
contract and added other campuses within the University of Alaska System.   
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Founded in 1876, Johns Hopkins University (JHU) is America's first 
research university and home to nine world-class academic divisions 
working together as one university. JHU faculty and students study, 
teach and learn in and across more than 260 programs regularly 

recognized as being among the nation's best. In 2014, JHU approached the market to learn 
more about different online proctoring methodologies and ultimately select a vendor to 
support a small number of online finance courses (and eventually, a new online MBA 
program). JHU trusted PSI’s experience and decided our remote proctoring solution provided 
the best combination of convenience, security, and ease of use for its students and faculty. 
Since our successful pilot in 2014, PSI has proctored approximately 75,000 exams across 
many schools at JHU, including the Carey School of Business, Whiting School of Engineering, 
and, most recently, the Center for Talented Youth. PSI and JHU recently decided to continue 
their partnership for another three years (executing an enterprise agreement) and estimate 
proctoring over 75,000 online exams over this time. JHU relies on Blackboard as its primary 
Learning Management System. 
 
PSI has proctored approximately 20,000 exams across many schools at JHU, including the 
Carey School of Business, Whiting School of Engineering, and, most recently, the Center for 
Talented Youth. PSI and JHU recently decided to continue their partnership for another three 
years (executing an enterprise agreement) and estimate proctoring over 75,000 online 
exams. 
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3. References  

Provide references from three of your clients from the past five years for services that are similar in 
scope, size and complexity to the Solution described in this RFP. At least one of these client references 
should preferably be from a higher education institution. Provide the following information for each 
client: client name and address; time period in which work was performed; and a short description of 
the work performed.  

PSI provided case studies for these institutions in section 2. Experience of this proposal. 

 Johns Hopkins University (JHU) 
Contact: Charles Wachira, Director of Teaching and Learning   
Address: 3400 N. Charles St. Baltimore, MD 21218-2683 
Email: charles.wachira@jhu.edu 
Phone: +1 410 234-9207 
Time Period: 2014–Present 
 

PSI has provided testing services for John Hopkins University since 2014, proctoring 
approximately 20,000 exams across many schools that include the Carey School of Business, 
Whiting School of Engineering, and, most recently, the Center for Talented Youth. PSI and JHU 
recently extended their partnership for three years (executing an enterprise agreement) and 
estimate we will be proctoring over 75,000 online exams during that time. 

   

 

University of Alaska-Anchorage 
Contact: Keith Berggren, Manager, Academic Innovations and 
eLearning   
Address: 3211 Providence Dr, Anchorage, AK 99508 
Email: khberggren@alaska.edu 
Phone: +1 907-786-4492 
Time Period: 2014–Present 
 

PSI has provided testing services to UAA since 2014, proctoring thousands of online exams for 
the system. By providing these services, we have reduced UAA’s dependence on physical test 
centers. The system has 35,000 students with three separately accredited universities on 19 
campuses. Given UAA’s success and satisfaction with our platforms and the PSI team, we 
recently extended our contract and added other campuses within the University of Alaska 
System. 

  

mailto:Charles.wachira@jhu.edu
mailto:khberggren@alaska.edu
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Tecnologico de Monterrey (ITESM)  
Gaby Mendez, Manager of Supervised Exams, Online 
Programs  
Address: AV. Eugenio Garza Sada 2501 Sur Col. Tecnológico 
C.P. 64849Monterrey, Nuevo León, México  
www.itesm.mx 
Phone: (+52) 81 1646-1222;  
Email: gaby.mendez@itesm.mx 
Time Period: 2014–Present  
 

PSI has provided remote proctoring services to Tecnologico de Monterrey since 2016. 
We completed two successful remote proctoring pilots in December 2016 and March 
2017. The ITESM team received positive feedback from students and faculty, and 
statistical results from instructors indicated that far fewer students were cheating while 
using remote proctoring versus traditional testing. In June of 2019, ITESM decided to 
expand PSI’s remote proctoring solution across the institution to all its distance/online 
learners through a 20,000-exam pre-purchase.  

 

  

http://www.itesm.mx/
mailto:gaby.mendez@itesm.mx
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C. Technical Requirements  

Provide a response to the requirements of Section III.3 including detailed descriptions of the Supplier’s 
ability and proven success and expertise to provide a Proctoring Solution, its understanding of higher 
education entities, partnering plans, etc. 

Section III Work Statement 

III. 1 Objective 

The State System is soliciting proposals to provide Proctoring Solutions: Live Online and/or Automated 
that integrate with various Learning Management Systems (LMS). Offerors must be able to authenticate 
a student’s identity, provide oversight for assessments/exams, and inform faculty of issues that arise 
during the examination process. Exams may be expected to be proctored remotely. 

PSI is proposing its PSI Bridge platform to PASSHE for its Live Online and Automated proctoring 
needs. We believe our on-demand Record and Review proctoring will satisfy the desire to offer 
an automated proctoring option with a high probability of detecting academic dishonesty. PSI 
Bridge works with various LMSs, and users will authenticate a student’s identity, provide 
oversight for assessments/exams, and inform faculty of issues that arise during the examination 
process. PSI exams can be proctored remotely. 

III. 2 Nature and Scope of the Project 

Offerors are expected to provide a secure and flexible Proctoring Solution for live online and/or 
automated testing. The State System seeks cost effective, convenient, and customizable solutions. The 
Proctoring Solution should allow the flexibility for faculty to select the level of online test security and to 
customize the test environment to meet desired exam specifications. It must be one that students and 
faculty can understand and easily use, and in which faculty have faith in as having a very high probability 
of detecting academic dishonesty during the examination process. 

PSI will provide a secure, flexible proctoring solution for live and automated testing. We 
specialize in multiple modes of professional human-based proctoring. This includes Live 
Proctoring and on-demand Record and Review. PSI does not provide a purely automated — AI 
or algorithmic only — mode of proctoring due to AI algorithms' inaccuracy in making 
determinations on human behaviors and social decisions with a high probability of detecting 
academic dishonesty. We would recommend PASSHE consider selecting a vendor specializing in 
the purely AI proctoring model as an option for schools or for individual faculty members who 
feel they need an option for Automated Proctoring that requires the faculty to review the videos 
and flags independently.     
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A. Live Online Proctoring  

For high-stakes exams and critical certifications, live (human) proctoring is expected to oversee the 
entire exam, from authentication to test completion. Real-time on-screen support; immediate exam 
intervention is required.  

Live Proctoring 

A live proctor will monitor PASSHE students in real-time for the entire remote-proctored exam 
session. Proctors will communicate with students via chat during the exam, minimizing ESL 
students' issues, eliminating bias, and reducing distractions.  

PSI offers student authentication for all proctoring modalities in a consistent and streamlined 
process, including a multi-factor authentication process. Students will also perform an 
environment scan, which is detailed on page 16 of this proposal. Upon authentication, the exam 
will be administered in a secure lock-down browser that automatically blocks web browsers and 
applications. 

In addition, PSI's Patented Lock-Down Browser blocks programs and applications during 
exams and speeds up the launch time without requiring a proctor to connect to a student's 
computer. The PSI Secure Browser can block access to other browsers, screen sharing, screen 
recording, remote access, virtual machines, chat tools, communication tools, hotkeys, 
copy/paste, right-mouse-click menus, dual/extended monitors, and the like. In addition, security 
can be customized with Exam Rule Profiles to allow PASSHE schools to unblock specific 
programs on a per-exam basis. 

During the exam, the proctor will identify suspicious behavior, intervene to correct the 
unwanted behavior when necessary, or terminate the exam session if warranted. They will also 
provide accurate reports that show evidence of any academic integrity violations. Each exam is 
recorded, and an integrity report is created from the video record. 

B. Automated Proctoring  

Online automated proctoring requires use of AI technology to monitor students during exams while 
ensuring the integrity through the use of web cameras and screen monitoring software.  

Record and Review 

PASSHE students will experience a Record and Review solution that uses Artificial Intelligence to 
assist our professional human proctor workforce. The student experience is identical to that 
with an automated proctoring tool: the test-taker will experience an on-demand/no scheduling, 
seamless, non-invasive, recorded session without a proctor actively watching, and self-service.  
While the authentication standards are consistent with those in Live Proctoring, Record and 
Review is less invasive than having a live proctor watching the exam. PASSHE students have the 
peace of mind that a live person is not watching them in their personal space. However, they 
know the video will be reviewed and analyzed by a professionally trained proctor who will flag 
and report incidents. 
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With PSI's Record and Review model, reporting of incidents is not performed through 
automated algorithmic processing. Instead, it's handled by trained professional human proctors 
who review a student's exam session, aided by alerts from the AI system. One of the key 
objectives PASSHE has communicated to potential providers is the ability to offer remote testing 
with a high probability of detecting academic dishonesty. We believe reliance on machine 
learning algorithms alone for determining if a student's behavior is indeed cheating — without 
human oversight — is a risky proposition. The reporting of flags is not executed through 
automated algorithmic processing but rather by trained professional human proctors. While we 
continue to train AI algorithms directly from the examinations we review each day, we are 
gradually introducing AI to alert proctors of data that should be reviewed. AI will continue to 
improve the accuracy and efficiency of our expert proctoring services.  

Based on our internal experience and data and firsthand accounts from numerous schools that 
use purely automate proctoring tools, the accuracy and reliability of the automated flagging 
options are inadequate. Our proprietary video review system allows our proctors to view each 
examination attempt with exceptional efficiency and use their judgment on whether the 
behavior is suspicious. Automated systems do not have the judgment required to make accurate 
decisions on whether exam violations affected the exam's security.  

One recent article cited a professor from Brigham Young University who used a purely 
automated proctoring platform for his upper-level psychology course and discovered that two-
thirds of his students got an “above 90% suspicious” rating from the AI on one test.  
According to the AI system, the student who was “least suspicious” still got a 53% suspicious 
rating from this particular AI tool. If your ultimate goal is to enable online assessments with a 
high probability of detecting academic dishonesty, relying on automated proctoring without the 
trained eye of a human proctor is not likely to suffice.   
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III. 3 Technical Requirements 
The Proctoring Solution is expected to meet the following requirements. 

A. Monitoring Process 

1. Provide a detailed description of the following processes: 
• Pre-test Authentication (verifying student identities) 

Pre-Test Authentication (Verifying Student Identity) 

PSI offers student authentication for all proctoring modalities in a consistent, streamlined 
process.  

We adhere to strict student authentication protocols. The student will encounter a multi-factor 
authentication process: they will present a government-issued photo ID card (or another form of 
ID required by the institution) and capture a digital photo with the web camera. The student will 
also perform an environment scan of their testing area with the webcam.  

Once logged into the testing session, the student will be presented with prompts to begin 
identity authentication and a security scan of the testing environment. The student will: 

1. Capture an image of the required IDs 

2. Capture a facial photo (selfie) 

3. Conduct a 360-degree, wall-to-wall scan of the room using their webcam, including a scan of 
their desk, the area under their desk, their keyboard, and other items in the area.  

For Live Proctoring, once the exam is launched, the proctor will review the scans in real-time or 
review the scans via Automated Self-Service Check-In. This is a unique self-service modality 
that helps to speed up exam launch times. Once the student completes the self-service check-in, 
they can start the exam without delay. A PSI check-in specialist will confirm their identity, only 
contacting the student if additional validation is required. Automated check-in cuts launch times 
in half compared to the processes used by other live-proctoring vendors whose proctors take 
care of the entire exam set-up process.  

For Record and Review, PASSHE can decide to offer Automated Self-Service Check-in in addition 
to the standard process wherein proctors will review scans in the recording once the exam is 
complete. If PASSHE decides to offer Automated Self-Service Check-in, it will also allow each 
instructor to choose which version of the check-in flow they wish to assign to each examination. 
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Candidate Check-In 

 

Room Scan 

 
Student Scanning Tips 

1. The room scan should be slow and thorough. 

2. Scan all the way around the room with a 360-degree view. 

3. Scan up to the ceiling and down to the floor. 

4. Scan the entire desk/workspace area and underneath your desk. 

5. Scan the area directly underneath where you will be placing a laptop and/or keyboard. 

6. Roll up any sleeves and hold both sides of your arms up to the camera. 

7. Show your ears to ensure there are no earbuds in use. 
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Faculty Authentication 

The same specifications outlined above can be applied to a faculty member. PSI can also offer 
security settings for proctoring that can be customized by faculty members as detailed above.  
For example, faculty members can make an exam fully open book — whitelisting browsers, 
allowing references or calculators, etc. — or it can be locked down completely.   

Each institution can choose to set the security level at the institutional level, for a specific class, 
or a given student in PSI Bridge. The institution can also allow departments or instructors to set 
exam specifications based on the class or the individual.  

Exam Rule Profiles — Customized Security  

One way to provide a secure authentication method for students, faculty, and staff would be to 
assign desired exam rules to an examination by creating “Exam Rule Profiles.” This establishes 
the exam rules and policies that our proctors will use to identify what behaviors are allowed. PSI 
Bridge provides Exam Rule Profiles that can be created and “canned” by the instructor or 
administrators. The Exam Rule Profiles allow approved users to customize the security settings 
for different test-taking environments. As the company that first developed and patented lock-
down browser technology, PSI provides security settings configurable at the exam level.  

For example, an instructor may use Exam Rule Profiles to whitelist specific applications and/or 
websites for use during the exam proctoring session. Instructors can also use Exam Rules 
Profiles to set and specify rules on exam breaks, notes, scratch paper, hardcopy or electronic 
textbooks, different calculators, and other matters.   

This level of custom exam security at the exam level is unique to PSI and is not offered with 
most other proctoring options. An instructor can create as many Exam Rule Profiles as they 
need or want. Once an instructor creates an Exam Rule Profile, they can assign it to any exam 
they wish to be proctored with that same set of rules.   

Exam Policy 



 

 
PROPOSAL FOR PASSHE 18 

 

• Scheduling and Managing Exams  

Scheduling and Managing Exams 

PSI Bridge integrates with LTI systems to enable automation and simplify the registration 
process. PSI Bridge is intuitive and allows faculty to manage existing registered exams or easily 
schedule new exams. 

When registering for an exam, the instructor will be presented with a list of available 
examinations pulled from the Quiz Database in their LMS or other systems, using an API. Any 
password-protected, active, or published exams in the LMS will automatically populate as 
selection options. Next, they will set the exam duration and the anticipated number of students 
taking the exam. The exam availability window for the exam is pulled directly from the exam 
settings in the LMS. After these steps have been taken, students will be allowed to schedule the 
session during that testing window — or begin their exam on-demand if set up for 
recorded/automated proctoring. Faculty can click on the menu option for PSI Bridge Instructors, 
which will give them a screen from which they can select the correct examination.  

Exam Registration 

 

For remote live proctoring, the students will access the intuitive and straightforward scheduling 
system. This is where they will schedule their testing appointment and launch their proctored 
testing session. Examinees will see notifications that a live proctored exam is available to 
schedule. They will also see a list of already-scheduled exams (if applicable) with a countdown to 
the appointment. When students are ready to schedule their test, they will simply choose their 
preferred date and time. They can also reschedule a previously scheduled exam if necessary.   
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Faculty Workflow and Data Flow (pre-exam steps) 

1. Faculty sets up exam in LMS 

a. Exam must require a password 

b. Exam must have a start date and time, and an end date and time 

2. Faculty accesses PSI Bridge LTI Instructor tool to register the exam for proctoring 

a. Determine if exam requires proctoring or should be set up as a practice exam 

b. Determine the proctoring modality required (live or on-demand) 

3. Assign Exam Rules are assigned 

a. Assign a pre-built Exam Rule Profile, or create a new Exam Rule Profile 

4. Click “Submit” 

 
Data extracted from LMS sent to PSI via API upon submitting exam registration:  

• Course Name and ID 

• Exam Name and ID 

• Teacher Name 

• Dates and Times of Availability 

• Exam Access Code/Password 
 

• Student Registration (including exam instructions) 

Students use the LTI integration student application to access every proctored exam. They will 
be presented with a dashboard showing their available exams, exams that need to be 
scheduled, and other relevant data. We don’t require students (or any users) to leave the LMS 
and create accounts to use PSI Bridge. We instead leverage our robust LTI integration to enable 
authorized users based on their role (student, teacher, TA, administrator, etc.) to access the 
platform in D2L with the approved privileges.   

For Live Proctoring, students can schedule exams 24/7 using PSI’s simple, intuitive scheduling 
system. The LTI Tool, integrated with the LMS, will allow the student to schedule and launch 
their live proctored exam. Students will see notifications that a live proctored exam is eligible to 
schedule and notifications of scheduled exams — with a countdown to the appointment. When 
students are ready to schedule their tests, they will use the scheduling system to choose their 
preferred date and time. They can also reschedule a previously scheduled exam if needed.  

For Record and Review and Low-Stakes exams, students will use the LTI application embedded 
in D2L to begin the process by clicking on “Begin.”   
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Student LTI Dashboard 

 
 
 

Intuitive Scheduling Interface 
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Intuitive Scheduling Interface (continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Student Workflow and Data Flow 

1. The student logs in to LMS and accesses the PSI Bridge LTI tool to schedule a live-proctored 
exam or begin an on-demand Record and Review proctored exam or Low-Stakes test. 

2. Live Proctoring: Student clicks “Schedule my Exam,” picks preferred date/time, and submits 
appointment.  

3. Record and Review: Student clicks “Begin” to start their Record and Review proctored exam 
100% on-demand without scheduling an appointment. 

4. The student is prompted to download PSI Secure Browser or auto-launch PSI Secure Browser if 
available on their computer. 

5. The student will navigate pre-exam steps, including ID verification and room scan.  

6. PSI Secure Browser re-directs the student to LMS or appropriate third-party publisher/testing 
system to access the exam. 

 
Data sent to PSI upon student scheduling their exam includes:  

• Student Name 
• Student Email 
• Student LMS Username 
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• Data Security (during exams) 

Data Security 

A minimal amount of personally identifiable information (PII) is transmitted on the platform. 
Student data and any PII is retained for three months unless the institution requests a different 
timeline.   

The following data is stored following the completion of a proctored exam: 

• Student first and last name 

• Student email address and/or login username 

• Images of the student 

• Images of the identification card (i.e., University ID, government-issued ID, etc.) 

• Video recording of the webcam and desktop screen for the full length of the exam session 

• Audio recording from the computer or webcam microphone for the exam session 
 

PSI does not store faculty data except for the faculty name associated with registered proctored 
exams. 

How Data Is Stored 

The user image and photo ID are encrypted on the user’s computer using the US Government-
adopted standard, AES (Advanced Encryption Standard), specified in FIPS PUB 197. The data is 
uploaded using the secure HTTP protocol (https) and housed in an Amazon data facility that has 
passed a SAS70 Type II audit for content and physical access security.   

In addition to the encryption, security is taken to another level as the “metadata” regarding any 
exam (username and exam identifier) is stored in a separate data facility from where actual 
exam data is stored. This creates an environment that would require a “hacker” to break into not 
one but two physically separated hosting facilities to tie actual user records (metadata) to the 
photo records and video data.    

PSI continually implements appropriate technical and organizational measures to ensure that 
personal data is protected against accidental or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, 
unauthorized dissemination or access, or other unauthorized or unlawful forms of processing. 

Viewing Exam Data 

The only personnel who have access to the data are those designated by PASSHE and certain PSI 
personnel. PSI personnel all sign non-disclosure agreements that include confidentiality 
agreements wherein the signatory agrees to keep any information, such as exam data, 
confidential. 

  

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Federal_Information_Processing_Standard
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General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

PSI is compliant with the recent EU data protection regulations — General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR). The GDPR standard places more responsibility on data processors (such as 
PSI) to strengthen individuals' rights over their personal data.  

We also comply with all international privacy requirements under FERPA. We comply with ISO 
27001:2005, and we have gone to great lengths to ensure the protection of student 
privacy/compliance with FERPA regulations. More details can be found here: 
https://www.psionline.com/privacy/.  

Under GDPR, we have a process to wipe a student’s data if we receive a request to do so. Our 
Client Services division controls this process. Subject Access Requests (SAR) can be made by a 
student or by a school official. When the SAR comes in, we validate the request, verify who the 
data controller is, and then alert the Data Protection Officer (DPO), who verifies and documents 
the request. A JIRA ticket is then created to remove or anonymize the information. Client 
Services will liaise with the relevant resources to process the request and confirm the request 
has been handled and fulfilled.   

• Real-time Live Proctoring 

Live Proctoring 

PSI's Live Proctoring provides real-time monitoring of student exams by a human proctor for the 
full duration of their testing appointment. The proctor will identify suspicious behavior in real-
time, monitor alerts from the AI engine, intervene to correct unwanted behavior when 
necessary, or even terminate the exam session if the institution requires this for any high-
priority incidents. Depending on the institution's exam rules and/or instructor, accurate reports 
will show evidence of any academic integrity violations.  

 



 

 
PROPOSAL FOR PASSHE 24 

 

Before each exam, the student will complete an authentication process as part of their check-in. 
Students will be asked to take a picture of their photo ID card and a selfie, and complete an 
exam environment room-scan. We are adding facial recognition biometrics as an option for the 
check-in authentication to allow students to use their smartphones for the ID check and test 
environment scan.  

During the exam administration, the proctor can view and hear the student, but the student 
cannot view or hear the proctor. All communication between the proctor and student is limited 
to type chat. This helps minimize issues for ESL students, and other possible dialect issues 
eliminate bias and are less distracting to the student than being spoken to. It also uses less 
bandwidth during the exam, which means lower minimum internet speeds are required for our 
system than by most providers' live proctoring systems. 

Our proctors will be focused on detecting suspicious behavior such as unusual eye movements, 
removing oneself from the field of vision, or making atypical noises. PSI proctors can use built-in 
automation features when they encounter suspicious behaviors. For example, if a proctor 
witnesses a student attempting to use their cellphone during their exam, the proctor may click a 
button that immediately pauses the exam, revokes access to the exam, or ends the exam —
depending on the institution's settings.  

Every exam session will be recorded. Recorded sessions will include chat logs and video 
recording with audio. We also monitor and review each exam for potential aberrations or 
instances of academic dishonesty and provide detailed Incident Reports. Instructors will have 
access to full exam recordings and all proctor comments. Each proctor comment has a “play” 
button that auto-directs to the video's exact moment when the incident occurred. Proctor flags 
are marked to show the severity of the incident. Having the entire exam recording for students 
flagged for suspicious activity has proven tremendously valuable for many faculty members. 
Chat logs and content and video recordings are stored for review for a minimum of 90 days or a 
mutually agreed-upon data retention period. 

For more information on check-in and authentication for Live Proctoring, please see the 
Student and Faculty Authentication sections, starting on page 15 of this response. 

• Automated Proctoring 

Record and Review 

During Record and Review, students test at their convenience without scheduling 
appointments in advance. Each exam session is recorded in its entirety to include the room 
scan, ID verification process, and webcam video with audio and desktop video. A Certified PSI 
Proctor will review each exam for potential aberrations or instances of academic dishonesty. We 
will provide detailed integrity reports for each student based on our multi-tiered proctor review 
process. PSI specializes in flagging inappropriate or suspicious behavior during proctoring 
sessions to allow instructors or administrators to evaluate the behavior and act on it 
accordingly. All exam videos are stored securely on servers that use US Government-approved 
encryption standards. Access to the video records is restricted to authorized personnel only.  
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Why Human Proctor Reviews Are Vital  

Fully automated proctoring relies on machine-learning algorithms, an unproven technology, to 
uphold your integrity policies. That's a significant risk based on the description in this RFP. In the 
end, fully automated proctoring forces the client (you, your faculty, and staff) to become video 
proctors. No faculty has the extra time to spend countless hours going through false AI-
generated flags while also trying to review videos to track down what the AI missed. 

What the auto-proctoring vendors have is a “sensitivity meter” to dial down the sensitivity of the 
flagging and reduce the number of flags seen (i.e., if you don't want to deal with all the false 
flags — turn down the dial, and you won't have so many). Does that sound like a proper way to 
determine integrity?   

With PSI's Record and Review mode, reporting of incidents is not performed by automated 
algorithmic processing. Instead, it's done by trained professional human proctors who review a 
student's exam session, including alerts from the AI system. We believe the reliance on machine 
learning algorithms alone to determine if a student's behavior is indeed cheating — without 
human oversight — is a risky proposition. While we continue to train AI algorithms direct from 
the exams we review each day, we are gradually introducing AI to alert proctors to incidents that 
should be reviewed. AI will continue to improve the accuracy and efficiency of our expert 
proctoring services.  

What differentiates our AI mode is our human review, which provides advanced training for the 
AI. Our trained human review is compared to the AI flagging and results in a re-training of the AI 
with new data to continually improve the algorithms.  

Instructors will also be able to access the full exam recording and all proctor comments. Each 
proctor comment has a “play” button that auto-directs to the video's exact moment when the 
incident occurred. Proctor flags are marked to show the severity of the incident. Having the 
entire exam recording of exams for students flagged for suspicious activity has proven 
tremendously valuable for many of our customers.  

The Incident Reports will be available to authorized users through our LTI integration, based on 
their roles and permissions. These reports will be provided to the institution and its instructors 
within 24 hours of the testing session for exams utilizing Live Real-Time Proctoring, and within 
72 hours for Record and Review proctoring. 

PSI’s current proctoring operation is located in the United States, India, and the Philippines, 
operating 24 hours a day, seven days a week, 365 days a year. We have approximately 300 
individuals remotely proctoring exams at any one time, with more than 2,000 proctors on-staff 
in total. 

For more information on check-in and authentication for Record and Review, please see the 
Student and Faculty Authentication sections, starting on page 15 of this response. 
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• Recording and Viewing Exams (by faculty) 

PSI records all proctored sessions via webcam video, audio, and screen recording. The videos 
are recorded and processed using streaming technology Twilio Programmable Video and are 
stored in Amazon Web Services (AWS). We will store video data for a mutually agreed-upon data-
retention period. The default is three months.   

For Record and Review exams, students test at their convenience without scheduling 
appointments in advance. Each exam session is recorded in its entirety to include the room 
scan, ID verification process, and webcam video with audio and desktop video. A Certified PSI 
Proctor will review each exam for potential aberrations or instances of academic dishonesty. We 
will provide detailed integrity reports for each student based on our multi-tiered proctor review 
process. PSI specializes in flagging inappropriate or suspicious behaviors during proctoring 
sessions to allow instructors or administrators to evaluate the incidents. All exam videos are 
stored securely on servers that meet government-approved encryption standards. Access to the 
video records is restricted to authorized personnel only. Instructors and/or administrators will 
have access to the videos through our LTI application in the LMS course. Our rigorous 
safeguards ensure that only faculty, administrators, or staff with approved course-level access in 
the LMS and the proper permissions can access the videos.   

An Integrity Report will be created based on the outcome of the proctor's flags and exam policy 
and business rules to reflect an accurate and consistent reporting model for the instructor. We 
will provide detailed integrity reports for each student, based on our proctor review process. PSI 
specializes in flagging inappropriate or suspicious behavior during proctoring sessions to allow 
instructors or administrators to evaluate the behavior and act on it. We believe the only way to 
ensure integrity in an online proctored exam truly is for skilled human proctors to review exam 
video sessions. Some vendors merely audit and correct the false positive flags generated by 
algorithms, ignoring all the potential incidents the algorithm isn't smart enough to detect. This 
reliance on machine algorithms alone to determine whether a student's behavior is cheating is 
risky without human oversight. A reliable, well-vetted examination session also means PASSHE 
staff will spend less time reviewing the sessions themselves. 

For Live Proctoring exams, every session will be recorded. The sessions will include chat logs 
and video recording with audio. We will also monitor and review each exam for potential 
aberrations or instances of academic dishonesty and provide detailed Integrity Reports. 
Instructors will have access to full exam recordings and all proctor comments. Each proctor 
comment has a “play” button that auto-directs to the video's exact moment when the incident 
occurred. Proctor flags are marked to show the severity of the incident. Having the entire exam 
recording has proven to be valuable for many of our customers. Chat logs, along with content 
and video recordings, are stored for the mutually agreed-upon data retention period. 

Every remote-proctored exam session will be recorded and stored on secure servers that meet 
government-approved encryption standards. The PASSHE will have access to a secure 
application with full exam recordings, including chat logs, audio/video footage, and proctor 
comments. Every incident is flagged within the recorded session (color-coded for severity), and 
the proctor comment is logged.  
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• Violations (algorithms to detect and capture aberrant behavior) 

Suspicious Activity Tracking 

Live Proctoring 

During Live Proctoring, examinations are monitored by a trained proctor. AI detection and 
recognition are used as safeguards to ensure that the proctor's attention is called to any 
irregularity, such as looking away from the screen or appearing to communicate with someone 
who might have entered the room. 

Proctors are always focused on the exam policies set by the organization and on detecting 
suspicious behavior. PSI proctors can use built-in automation features when they witness 
questionable behaviors; this ensures consistent actions and results across our proctoring staff. 
For example, if a proctor witnesses a student attempting to use a cellphone during the exam, 
they will report the incident, which immediately pauses the exam, and depending on the 
configuration of the rules in the system, will warn the candidate of the violation or end the exam 
— depending on PASSHE preference.  

If the PSI Bridge software itself detects movement/noise, or if the proctor suspects that 
someone has entered the room during the exam, they report the system's violation. The proctor 
can pause the session and request that the student use their camera to sweep the room or 
show a specific area in their testing environment. PSI will work with the PASSHE to establish 
rules on what actions should be taken if the proctor is observing questionable behavior. 

The proctor will identify infractions in real-time, intervening to correct the unwanted behavior 
when necessary, or terminating the exam session — depending on the exam rules set by the 
PASSHE. The proctor also provides accurate reports that show evidence of any integrity 
violations. We are layering in AI technology that will act as a warning system for our proctors 
and bring their attention to a particular test taker's session when warranted. The system will 
identify the behavior(s) that have triggered the alert so the proctor can intervene appropriately.  

Every exam session is recorded. The recording will include chat logs, an irregularity log, and a 
video recording with audio. The chat and irregularity log are time-stamped for easy navigation. 

Record and Review 

During Record and Review, students test at their convenience without scheduling 
appointments in advance. Each exam session is recorded in its entirety to include the room 
scan, ID verification process, and webcam video with audio and desktop video. A Certified PSI 
Proctor will review each exam for potential aberrations or instances of academic dishonesty. We 
will provide detailed integrity reports for each student based on our multi-tiered proctor review 
process. Inappropriate or suspicious behaviors during exams are flagged to allow instructors or 
administrators to evaluate the behavior and act on it. All exam videos are stored securely on 
servers that meet government-approved encryption standards. Access to the video records is 
restricted to authorized personnel only.  
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Instructors will be able to access the full exam recording and all proctor comments. Each proctor 
comment has a “play” button that auto-directs to the video's exact moment when the incident 
occurred. Proctor flags are marked to show the severity of the incident.  

The Incident Reports will be available to authorized users through our LTI integration, based on 
their roles and permissions. These reports will be provided to the institution and its instructors 
within 24 hours of the testing session for exams utilizing Live Real-Time Proctoring, within 48 
hours for Record and Review proctoring. 

The PASSHE will have access to full exam recordings and all proctor comments. Each proctor 
comment has a play button that auto-directs it to the video's exact moment when the incident 
occurred. Proctor flags are marked to show the severity of the incident. Having the entire exam 
recording for test-takers flagged for suspicious activity has proven tremendously valuable for 
many of our customers. See Figures on the next page for views of the Incident Report 
Dashboard. 

Reporting 

For both Live Proctoring and Record and Review, PASSHE will have access to full exam 
recordings and all proctor comments. Each proctor comment has a play button that auto-directs 
it to the video's exact moment when the incident occurred. Proctor flags are marked to show the 
severity of the incident. Having the entire exam recording for test-takers flagged for suspicious 
activity has proven tremendously valuable for many of our customers. See Figures on the next 
page for views of the Incident Report Dashboard. 

Incident Report Dashboard – Exam View 
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Incident Report Summary 

 

Recorded Session with Proctor's Flagged Comments 
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Suspicious Activity Monitoring 

PSI has an internal auditing team that functions as a separate unit from the remote proctoring 
team. An auditor's role is to randomly review a percentage of remote proctor exams within 48 
hours of the exam. Each of the 12 agents has a targeted number of audits to perform each 
week. 

In preparation for the audit, the auditor will: 

• Download the business rules for the exam being reviewed. This includes the violations list and 
classification of incidents. 

• Prepare the checklist of expected tasks and functions that must be completed for each exam.  

Throughout the exam, the auditor will track adherence to both the violations and the tasks, 
resulting in a remote proctor score. The checklist is provided to the Operations leadership team 
for coaching and disciplinary actions. Each area of the audit results in a score with comments 
shared back to the Operations team. These are a part of the daily calibrations. Checklist items 
include: 

SECURITY CLIENT RULES COMMUNICATION TECH SUPPORT 

ID Verification Violations Chat Etiquette Compatibility Check 
Room Scan Incident Logging Accuracy Secure Browser 
Desktop Share Clear  Detailed Instructions Proper Exam Ending 
Removal of 
Unwanted Items 

  Candidate Questions 

Monitoring Candidate 
Presence and 
Behavior 

   

Below we have listed just a few of the exam circumstances that can be monitored and 
documented according to the PASSHE testing rules: 

• Electronic devices present in the room or the use of those devices (cell phone, earbuds, use of 
another computer or mobile device during the exam) 

• Behavior (talking aloud, eating, shifting eye focus, attempt to block the camera view) 

• Illicit resources (calculators, attempts to IM on the computer, attempting to use screen 
recording software) 

• Compromising exam content (e.g., taking a picture or video of the exam screen) 

• Technical problem (loss of internet connection, system errors) 

• Environment (improper lighting, changes within the room)  

• End-to-End Security (active restriction of students’ computers) 

PSI's Patented Lock-Down Brower blocks programs and applications during exams and speeds 
up the launch time without requiring a proctor to connect to a student's computer. The PSI 
Secure Browser can block access to other browsers, screen sharing, screen recording, remote 
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access, virtual machines, chat tools, communication tools, hot‐keys, copy/paste, right-mouse-
click menus, dual/extended monitors, and the like. In addition, security can be customized with 
Exam Rule Profiles to allow PASSHE schools to unblock specific programs on a per-exam basis. 

The Secure Browser feature can be customized at a per-exam level. To assign the desired rules 
to an exam, instructors can create "Exam Rule Profiles." This establishes the exam rules and 
policies that our proctors will use to identify what behaviors are allowed. PSI Bridge provides 
Exam Rule Profiles that can be created by the instructor or administrator. The Exam Rule 
Profiles allow approved users to customize the security settings for different test-taking 
environments. As the company that first developed and patented lock-down browser 
technology, PSI provides configurable security settings at the exam level.  

This browser is designed to prevent students from using their computers to cheat or distribute 
exam questions and be noninvasive for students to ensure data privacy and integrity. 

This technology is a unique security feature that PSI can offer over other remote proctoring 
options that require invasive remote access software (like LogMeIn or GoToAssist): these 
applications grant the proctor full access to the student's personal computer. 

Using our technology reduces student anxiety over proctor access to their computer and avoids 
the security risks of a proctor accessing the student's personal data or confidential information. 

• Post-exam Auditing

As mentioned above, instructors will access reports directly in the LMS with full exam recordings 
and all proctor comments for post-exam auditing. Having the entire exam recording has proven 
tremendously valuable for many of our customers. The solution also maintains chat logs, and 
video recording and content is stored for review. 

We're working on expanding our capabilities in data analytics to offer more robust self-service 
reporting options. We're able to run detailed reports on any number of metrics on a scheduled 
basis as well.   

Incident Reporting 

PSI Bridge application allows instructors and administrators to access proctored integrity 
reports directly within the system course LTI tool. They can choose to view reports by exam or 
by the student or look at all the reviewed reports. When instructors drill down into each exam 
report, they will receive an overview page containing student authentication data (whether 
confirmed or not), exam name/start time, and any webcam and desktop violations according to 
the Exam Policy. 

Instructors will also be able to access the full exam recording and all proctor comments. Each 
proctor comment has a “play” button that auto-directs to the video's exact moment when the 
incident occurred. Proctor flags are marked to show the severity of the incident. Having the 
entire exam recording has proven tremendously valuable for many of our customers. 

These reports will be provided within 24 to 72 hours of the testing session, depending on the  
modality. Live proctoring incident reports are available within 24 hours, and recorded 
proctoring incident reports will be made available within 72 hours.  
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Sample Incident Summary Report 

Student Support Audits & Reports 

PSI has created an easy-to-use solution for students and is fully prepared to support test-takers 
as needed. PASSHE students will have 24/7 access to a student support team and unlimited 
practice exams to become comfortable with PSI Bridge.  
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The PSI support team closely monitors and tracks student support metrics such as: 

• Average first call resolution 

• Average hold time for phone calls 

• Average wait time for chat support 

• Average time to resolution 

 
Student Satisfaction Summary Report 

As previously detailed, PSI can enable an optional, anonymous survey to assess student 
satisfaction with their PSI Bridge testing experience. This survey can be customized by the 
PASSHE to capture required data, such as 95% of students ranking the experience high in 
quality. PSI will provide satisfaction summary reports on an agreed-upon schedule or as 
required by the PASSHE. 
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• Content Protection 

From test content protection to security protocols during delivery and online proctoring, PSI 
employs best-in-industry security standards to protect exam content, data, and student 
information. We must adhere to guidelines and regulations globally for data security because we 
are a global company with offices and test centers on nearly every continent.  

As part of our Information Security program, PSI also employs a Compliance Team responsible 
for establishing global standards and implementing procedures to ensure all applicable security 
and compliance protocols throughout the organization effectively prevent, identify, and correct 
noncompliance within applicable domestic and international rules and regulations. 

In addition, our patented Lock-Down Brower blocks programs and applications during 
examinations and speeds up launch times without requiring a proctor to remote into a student's 
computer. The PSI Secure Browser can block access to other browsers, screen sharing, screen 
recording, remote access, virtual machines, chat tools, communication tools, hotkeys, 
copy/paste, right-mouse-click menus, dual/extended monitors, and the like. In addition, security 
can be customized with Exam Rule Profiles to allow PASSHE schools to unblock specific 
programs on a per-exam basis. 

The PSI Secure Browser feature can be customized on a per-exam level. To assign the desired 
exam rules to an exam, instructors can create “Exam Rule Profiles.”  This establishes the exam 
rules and policies that proctors will use to identify what behaviors are allowed. The Exam Rule 
Profiles allow approved users to customize the security settings for different test-taking 
environments and re-use them as needed. Our security settings are also configurable at the 
examination level.  

Forensics 

PSI has an industry-leading Forensics Analysis Team that supports our high-stakes examination 
clients. The team conducts exam data surveillance regularly, investigating issues related to 
potential fraud. The team monitors test-taker activity for trends related to fraudulent behavior, 
measuring abnormal item score patterns, high pass rates, irregular time patterns, and item 
response similarities. These indices are highly effective at detecting item harvesting, proxy 
testing, and cheating or collusion. Anomalies are identified at the group level (site or 
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geographical area), at the test-taker level, and the item or question level. PSI has invested in 
forensics technology to improve our product offering and lead the industry in this growing test-
taker importance area. We plan to incorporate this technology offering into our Higher 
Education offering. 

For more information on complete data security and protection with PSI, please see the Data 
Security section on page 22. 

• ADA Assistance 

PSI regularly handles remote proctoring administrations with accommodations and complies 
with all essential 508 requirements. The most typical accommodation requested for online 
remote proctored administration is extended time for the examination. Accommodations will be 
considered and approved in conjunction with PASSHE.  

If an accommodation works with Chrome, it will work with the PSI Secure Browser. We also 
support the following functionalities: 

• Text-to-speech readers 

• Braille assistive software 

• Magnifying screens 

• Joysticks 

• Ergonomic keyboards 

• Support for JAWS, NVDA, Kurzweil, and other common screen-reading software 

 
PSI strives to ensure that people with disabilities can acquire the same information, engage in 
the same interactions, and enjoy the same benefits and services within the same timeframe as 
their non-disabled peers with substantially equivalent ease of use. We ensure that they are not 
excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or otherwise subjected to discrimination 
in any of PSI’s services and that they receive effective communication. 

We comply with Federal and state laws and regulations that require accessibility and equal 
access for individuals with disabilities, including the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the New York State Human Rights Law, and Section 
1557 of the Affordable Care Act. 

PSI is committed to providing an environment wherein all people have an equal opportunity to 
participate in PSI services. All-new, newly added, or redesigned PSI web content, web pages, web 
functionality, websites, and web applications are made accessible to people with disabilities to 
the standard prescribed by the WCAG 2.1 Level AA to support this environment, except where 
doing so would result in a fundamental alteration in a service, program, or activity, or create 
undue financial or administrative burdens. When fundamental alteration or undue burden 
applies, equally effective alternative means of access are provided so that, to the maximum 
extent possible, individuals with disabilities receive the same benefits and services.  
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applies, equally effective alternative means of access are provided so that, to the maximum 
extent possible, individuals with disabilities receive the same benefits and services.  

An audit of our accessibility protocols and products was recently performed by Gardner 
Information Design, Inc. (GIDI), and we implemented the changes required to obtain full 
compliance. GIDI specializes in custom and accessible web design for web development 
projects. A recognized Web Accessibility expert, GIDI principal P.J. Gardner provides consulting 
and contract services to help clients meet accessibility standards, including all the above 
standards.  

We have also contracted with the National Center for Accessible Media (NCAM) at WGBH Radio 
Station in Boston to ensure that our solutions are compliant with ADA Section 508 of the 
Rehabilitation Act and the W3C Web Content Accessibility Guidelines. NCAM has unparalleled 
expertise with the technologies used by people with disabilities and a history of developing and 
implementing proven technological solutions. NCAM staff have participated in many multimedia, 
streaming media, and web accessibility standards groups at the W3C and its Web Accessibility 
Initiative (WAI), of which NCAM is a founding member. Since the first generation of the WCAG in 
1999, NCAM has played an active role in defining, clarification, and disseminating accessibility 
information and training. NCAM staff served on the original Federal Access Board committee 
that created the recommendations for Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act and chaired the 
Audio-Visual Subcommittee of the 2007–2009 committee that refreshed these federal 
requirements (the Telecommunications and Electronic and Information Technology Advisory 
Committee). 

PSI provides training to its employees on an ongoing basis regarding accessible service design 
and maintenance. Our services will continue to be assessed regularly from both an engineering 
angle and according to user-experience, including the use of assistive technology (such as 
screen readers and screen magnifiers) and the involvement of users with disabilities who rely 
upon such assistive technologies. Using PSI's solution, instructors can also set individual student 
instructions and exam settings for special needs students.  

• Other Advanced Monitoring Features 

Intelligent Incident Handling 

We have designed the PSI Bridge platform to allow the needed flexibility for institutions to 
adjust business rules for the tests and establish examinee behavior standards. PASSHE can 
also determine the desired handling of each type of violation or incident. 

Because we have established this set of rules and standards, our proctors can identify and 
address behaviors that are truly important to PASSHE. Our Intelligent Incident Handling 
combines our certified proctors' sharp eyes with smart technology that helps direct proctor 
response to potential violations. The sample scenario below provides an overview of how PSI’s 
Intelligent Incident Handling is put into action. 

https://www.gidi.biz/services/large.html
https://www.gidi.biz/services/large.html
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In this same scenario, but without Intelligent Incident Handling implemented, the proctor might 
incorrectly ask the examinee to put their calculator away. The examinee might either argue that 
the organization allows calculators or puts them away to avoid getting in trouble, putting 
themselves at a severe disadvantage.  

With our Intelligent Incident Handling, this type of unfortunate and frustrating scenario would 
not happen. The technology will rely on the organization's exam rules and business rules to 
handle each type of incident correctly. We have found that this approach allows our proctors 
to be more focused and efficient when monitoring the sessions, with fewer unnecessary 
distractions for the examinees. 

After each exam session, an integrity report will be created based on the proctor’s flags and the 
exam policy and business rules. This report and other logged issues (e.g., integrity issues, 
unsuccessful assessment completion) will be made available to the organization within 24 
hours of the testing session. 
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New Technology 

We are also working on new technology for multifactor test-taker identity verification through 
biometrics that is mobile friendly and will be available for remotely proctored exams, for identity 
verification outside of proctored exams. This enrollment-based platform starts with an 
innovative process for proving identities and preventing those identities from being replicated, 
stolen, sold, or otherwise falsified.  

The following items are on our remote proctoring product roadmap: 

• Comparison of the selfie to the photo on the ID

• Continuous facial recognition that compares the test-taker against the check-in selfie

• Behavior detection (eye, head, arm movements)

• Phone/object detection

If we are selected to partner with PASSHE for this project, the roadmap will be amended to 
include these features: 

• Compare Exam Login Selfie to Registration Selfie

• Gaze detection alerts

• Motion-detection alerts

• Light Quality Meter alerts

We’ve recently executed an exclusive partnership with the leading provider of identity 
management solutions, Q5id (https://q5id.com/), to develop a mobile platform with multi-factor 
enrollment and verification to reduce risk and exposure to financial aid fraud. For more details 
on Q5id and additional value-added features, please see the Value-Added Services section on 
page 68. 

2. Provide a description of the methods used to ensure integrity of exams, exam passwords, and the
testing environment (both the student’s location and access to online materials during the exam). These
methods should include visual and auditory observation.

PSI has implemented policies and procedures to ensure exam integrity in rules, passwords, and 
environmental monitoring. Using PSI Bridge, PASSHE institutions can adjust business rules for 
the tests and establish examinee behavior standards. The institution can also determine the 
desired handling of each type of violation or incident. 

Faculty/Staff will set up exams based upon established roles, permissions, and environmental 
rules. PASSHE can determine these rules at the institution, department, or instructor level based 
on specifications. PSI Bridge includes a lockdown browser that blocks all online and computer 
resources that are not be allowed during the exam. Depending on the exam rules, the lockdown 
browser will block specific programs from being accessed or approved on a per-exam basis.  PSI 
will provide accurate reports that will show evidence of any academic integrity violations. 

Students will sign on to the exam through their existing LMSs, selecting exams based on their 
classes and instructor permissions. PSI has designed its LTI to integrate with the student’s D2L 

https://q5id.com/
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Brightspace or LMS. Our LTI acts as a single sign-on (SSO) mechanism, meaning we don't need to 
integrate with other SSO systems. Once an examination launches, students will be blocked from 
accessing online materials outside of the examination on their computers. 

Exam Passwords will be automatically sent to PSI when the instructor registers an exam for 
proctoring. The passwords will be pushed to PSI’s system via an API from D2L. While the student 
is accessing their exam, PSI Bridge will automatically insert the exam password into the 
password field in D2L without requiring a proctor to use intrusive remote access software to 
control the student’s computer and manually type in the password to unlock the exam.   

 

 

Monitoring Options 

Live Proctoring 

PSI's Live Proctoring provides real-time monitoring of student exams by a human proctor for the 
full duration of their testing appointment. During the exam administration, the proctor can view 
and hear the student, but the student cannot view or hear the proctor. All communication 
between the proctor and student is limited to type chat. The proctor will identify suspicious 
behavior in real-time, receive alerts from the AI engine. The proctor can then intervene to 
correct unwanted behavior or terminate the exam session of severe violations. Again, these are 
based upon pre-determined rules that have been set up by PASSHE or at the university, 
instructor, class, examination, or student level. 

Every exam session is recorded. Recorded sessions include chat logs and video with audio. We 
also monitor and review each exam for potential aberrations or instances of academic 
dishonesty and provide detailed Incident Reports.  
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On-Demand Record and Review  

We will follow the same examination rules and process for Record and Review exams while our 
proctors watch student exam videos on a one-to-one basis. 

Professionally Trained Proctors will be watching and analyzing students’ exam videos to 
accurately flag and report on violations of your exam rules and policies. PSI employs a global 
team of human proctors. We are confident that employing experienced proctors results in the 
most accurate incident reporting back to the institution and ultimately saves instructors and 
administrators valuable time during their review process (compared to purely digital or AI-driven 
flagging systems alone).   

We continue to train AI algorithms from all the exams we review each day, and we are gradually 
introducing AI to alert proctors to data that should be reviewed. AI will continue to improve the 
accuracy and efficiency of our expert proctoring services. We do not envision our AI becoming a 
purely automated service that can be solely trusted in determining an examination's integrity. 

Intelligent Incident Handling 

We have designed the PSI Bridge platform to allow the needed flexibility for institutions to 
adjust business rules for the tests and establish examinee behavior standards. The 
organization can also determine the desired handling of each type of violation or incident. 
Because we have established this set of rules and standards, our proctors can identify and 
address critical behaviors. PSI’s Intelligent Incident Handling combines our certified proctors' 
sharp eyes with a smart technology feature that helps direct proctor response to potential 
violations. We have detailed this functionality above on page 37.  

After each exam session, an integrity report will be created based on the proctor’s flags and 
exam policy and business rules. This report and other logged issues (e.g., integrity issues, 
unsuccessful assessment completion) will be made available to the organization within 24 
hours of the testing session. 

3. Provide a description of your actionable plan to intervene in an exam where the integrity of the exam 
has been compromised. 

Exam Rule Profiles are created by the instructor or by a school/departmental administrator to 
do two things: 1) inform our proctors of the rules and behaviors allowed for a specific exam, and 
2) customize the security settings on the lock-down browser.  

We have made our security settings configurable at the examination level. For example, you may 
allow students to access Microsoft Excel for a specific exam or unlock their personal browsers 
for open exams. This level of custom exam security is unique: it is not offered with most lock-
down browser options.  
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The Institution and the Instructor will define the business rules around incident handling, 
deciding what the response will be from our proctors for any kind of incident. Colleges might, 
for instance, establish rules around three types of flags: 

Incident Flag 1: Proctor flags and reports on the action, with no interruption of the student’s 
exam 

Incident Flag 2: Proctor flags the action and intervenes with a warning to the student to 
correct the behavior 

Incident Flag 3: Proctor immediately terminates the exam, informing the student that the 
action will be reported to the instructor  

When the check-in process is complete, the examinee will access the exam in the LMS or third-
party publisher system in a lock-down browser. PSI Bridge can be customized at a per-exam 
level. The secure browser is designed to be both noninvasive and highly effective at preventing 
examinees from using their computers to cheat or distribute exam questions. The security 
features can block access to other browsers, screen sharing, screen recording, remote access, 
virtual machines, chat tools, communication tools, hot-keys, copy/paste, right mouse click 
menus, dual/extended monitors, and much more.  

For Live Proctoring, PSI proctors will be focused on detecting suspect behavior such as unusual 
eye movements, removing oneself from the field of vision, or making atypical noises. PSI 
proctors use built-in automation features when they encounter suspicious behaviors. For 
example, if a proctor witnesses a student attempting to use their cellphone during their exam, 
the proctor may click a button that immediately pauses the exam, revokes access to the exam, 
or ends the exam — depending on the settings.  

Record and Review proctoring will enable a Certified PSI Proctor to review each exam for 
potential aberrations or instances of academic dishonesty. We will provide detailed integrity 
reports for each student based on our multi-tiered proctor review process. This allows 
instructors or administrators to evaluate the behavior and act on it.  

Certified PSI Proctors individually review all test session recordings on a one-to-one (1:1) basis 
and flag any suspicious activity/exam infractions, adding a corresponding comment that 
summarizes what took place. Proctors review exam recordings using custom “exam rule 
profiles” generated by the instructor based on what students are permitted to access and how 
they should behave during their test sessions.   

For active prevention and intervention, the Secure Browser software can completely block 
access to other browsers (and thus access to any other website) or allow examinees to browse 
the internet with defined, approved URLs that examinees are allowed to access during the exam 
session. During project implementation, PSI will work closely with the PASSHE to determine its 
desired default lock-down browser configurations and discuss any specific 
applications/programs (e.g., Word, Excel, data table references) may be required on a per-exam 
basis.  

This patented lock-down browser technology is a unique security feature that PSI can offer over 
other remote proctoring options that require invasive remote access software (like LogMeIn or 
GoToAssist). Such software grants the proctor full access to the examinee’s personal computer. 
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Using our technology reduces examinee anxiety over proctor access to their computer. It avoids 
the security risks and liability issues incurred by a proctor having access to the examinee’s 
personal data or confidential information. 

4. Provide a description of your quality assurance processes to validate the proctor’s results before 
submitting the results to the faculty.  

PSI has stringent quality control processes in place. We will also work closely with PASSHE to 
develop a specialized quality assurance program with defined Service Level Agreements (SLAs) 
to measure against.  

PSI’s Quality Assurance (QA) team is tasked with testing new products, features, fixes, and 
issues. They work closely with our Development team to track any bugs and recommend fixes, 
and with our Support team to help troubleshoot any reported issues. The QA team tests all new 
builds thoroughly until each reported bug or issue has been fixed. We are happy to build a 
staging environment in the LMS to mirror the proper environment to ensure that all quality 
testing is performed under real-world conditions.  

PSI also continually monitors its team of professional proctors to ensure the best and most 
accurate results possible. All PSI proctors receive 160 hours of upfront training on our 
proctoring process, technology, and review process, plus daily feedback from our senior 
proctors and the Management team.  

Each proctor must maintain a high level of accuracy, which is closely monitored by our 
Professional Services team. Proctor performance is continually monitored by our team of 
Certified Video Auditors (CVA). Each CVA has a minimum of two years’ experience in the review 
process. Each month, a random 25% of these reviews are reviewed and annotated as needed.  

We developed a website specifically for the auditing process, where our CVAs log in and can 
generate a list of exam records that meet the criteria to be reviewed for the specified timeframe. 
The CVA flags any errors from previous reviews, and a report is generated to confirm service -
level agreement (SLA) compliance. Each proctor is then assessed to confirm that they continue 
to meet our “Quality SLA” — greater than 95% of all exam records must be error-free (an exam 
record contains an error if it contains any action(s) that should have been flagged but was not, 
or the converse, based on an Institution’s particular Exam Policy). 

Employing experienced human proctors results in the most accurate reporting back to the 
institution and ultimately saves instructors and administrators valuable time during their review 
process (compared to digital flagging systems alone). Even though we have options for AI 
flagging, we continue to believe the only way you can genuinely ensure integrity in an online 
proctored exam is to have skilled human proctors monitor or review the exam sessions. It is 
risky to rely on machine-learning algorithms alone, without human oversight, to determine 
whether a student’s behavior constitutes cheating.  
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5. Provide a mechanism for a faculty member to share any video evidence of cheating, either by 
downloading clips, streaming online, or some other similar mechanism should they need to take a 
student before a review board. Note: Recorded sessions should be available for five years unless available 
for download. 

Every exam session will be recorded. Recorded sessions will include chat logs and video 
recording with audio. We will also monitor and review each exam for potential aberrations or 
instances of academic dishonesty. PSI will generate a feedback report for each exam that 
includes: 

• An easy and intuitive method for accessing, viewing, and navigating reports 

• A value that identifies aberrations and/or instances of potential academic dishonesty 

• A secure method for investigating and demonstrating these instances 

Instructors will have access to full exam recordings and all proctor comments. Each proctor 
comment has a “play” button that auto-directs to the video's exact moment when the incident 
occurred. Proctor flags are marked to show the severity of the incident. Chat logs, along with 
content and video recordings, are stored for review for a minimum of 90 days or a mutually 
agreed-upon data retention period. 

Faculty members will share video evidence of cheating by either downloading the videos and 
reports or authorizing necessary personnel from the review board to access the reports and 
videos in the LTI application through our Access Control Management dashboard.   

6. Provide a description of mechanisms for protection of faculty content. 

PSI will work with the institution to design appropriate policies and procedures for the testing 
program. PSI understands that the Institutions’ exams are essential, and we can help ensure the 
protection of the content to avoid test banks being exposed or shared. 

One of the primary protective mechanisms is the PSI Secure Browser software, which actively 
prevents any programs or features from being launched by the student that could copy, record, 
share, or distribute exam content. It blocks screen recording/sharing applications, remote 
access, virtual machines, copy/paste, chat tools, print screen, right mouse click, and other hot-
key combinations, and much more.  Students will be restricted to a single monitor/display 
during the exam.   

We’ve also described our plans to roll-out a data forensics program already being used by 
several of our high-stakes assessment partners who trust PSI to ensure the integrity and 
protection of intellectual property.    
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7. Provide a description of how students are prevented from copying, pasting, and printing during 
exams. 

As mentioned previously, our solution relies on students’ access to exams through the PSI 
Secure Browser software. PSI’s Exam Rule Profiles establish the policies that proctors will use 
to identify what behaviors are allowed. The profiles can be created by the instructor or 
administrator and saved for future use. They allow approved users to customize security 
settings for different test-taking environments. Security settings are configurable at the exam 
level.  

For example, an instructor may use Exam Rule Profiles to whitelist specific applications and/or 
individual websites for use during the exam proctoring session. Instructors can also use the 
profiles to specify policies on exam breaks, notes, scratch paper, hardcopy or electronic 
textbooks, different types of calculators, and other rules.   

 

If the proctor notices an issue, they can pause the exam when needed to address the behavior. 
While the proctor pauses the exam, the screen will be overlaid with a message indicating why 
the exam is paused – for example: “Notes and Reference Material are Not Allowed During This 
Examination.” This ensures the student isn’t actively navigating through the exam while the 
proctor is attempting to correct the behavior. 

PSI's Patented Lock-Down Browser blocks programs and applications during exams and 
speeds up launch time without requiring the proctor to remote into the student's computer. The 
browser can block access to other browsers and any programs or computer features that can be 
used to cheat. Security can be customized to allow PASSHE schools to unblock specific programs 
on a per-exam basis. 
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8. Provide a description of exam durations being offered. 

Instructors will set the duration of exam times within the LMS or third-party publisher system 
for each examination. This will be passed on to PSI’s system when an instructor registers the 
exam as either Live Proctoring or Record and Review. 

9. How are student accommodations verified, provided, and monitored? 

PSI regularly handles remote proctoring administrations with accommodations and complies 
with all essential 508 requirements. 

The most typical accommodation requested is an extended time for the exam. The time allowed 
is managed and controlled by the LMS system and doesn’t affect the exam's proctoring. PSI’s 
Secure Lock-Down Browser doesn’t block access to assistive technologies such as screen 
readers/magnifiers, so students who prefer to use these tools will always be able to. 

Additional accommodation requests can be made when the instructor registers their exam on 
an individual student basis. We have outlined ADA compliance on page 36.  

10. Will the Solution be able to be used at off-campus premises (testing centers)? 

PSI is proposing a remote proctoring solution to PASSHE institutions, enabling students to take 
exams off-campus. We do have clients in higher education using our proctoring technology at 
test centers or computer labs. 

This solution does require each computer to have a webcam and microphone.   
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B. Software/Hardware  

Proposals should specify all software and hardware requirements such as computing graphics, RAM, 
and storage capacity. The Proctoring Solution must be compatible with all current operating systems 
and must be entirely browser-based and support all current versions of popular browsers (i.e., Firefox, 
Chrome, and Safari). The Proctoring Solution must have been implemented in a higher education 
environment for more than two years, and must provide a smooth workflow process for administration, 
faculty and students. It must be customizable with university logos. The Proctoring Solution must be IMS 
Global Certified. 

PSI has provided its software and hardware requirements in response to the questions in this 
section. 

The LTI application, part of the PSI Bridge solution, is compatible with any browser — including 
Firefox, Chrome, Edge, and Safari. Over the last two years, PSI has implemented numerous 
higher education entities by providing smooth workflows for administration, faculty, and 
students. Since our LTI application is embedded in the LMS as a tool, it appears to be part of the 
school’s LMS. We can also embed a school logo on the PSI Secure Browser student software 
interface.   

1. Software/Hardware –Provide a detailed description of the following features:  
• Proctoring Solution Platform  

PSI’s software is compatible with any modern Windows or Mac OS X computer with a working 
webcam, microphone, and internet connection. Our compatibility check tool will ensure the 
student’s system meets the following technical requirements (hardware and software) for their 
remote proctored exam. On the day of the exam, the first step students will complete is an 
application compatibility check.  

• Operating systems supported:  
o Windows 8.x and 10.x — 32 bit (x86) and 64 bit (x64) 
o macOS 10.13.x, 10.14.x, 10.15 

• Exam Browsers supported: PSI Secure Lock-Down Browser 

• LTI application Browsers supported: any commercial browser and iOS/Android support 

• Webcam/microphone: Minimum VGA 640 x 480 resolution, enabled built-in or external 
microphone 

• Bandwidth: Minimum 300 kb/s download and upload 

• Hardware requirements: 2GB RAM Memory; 1 GB Free Disk Space, minimum 1368x768 
screen resolution 

PSI is currently working on support for Chromebooks and mobile devices, including tablets and 
hybrids. 
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• Hosting options  

PSI Bridge is a SaaS model and only supports a hosted option. We can’t offer a self-hosted 
solution for schools. The platform is hosted in Amazon Web Services (AWS) in US-based data 
centers.  

We use multiple AWS data centers globally to comply with local regulations regarding data 
storage. Our infrastructure utilizes AWS cloud computing services. The data is uploaded using 
the secure HTTP protocol (https) and housed in a domestic Amazon data facility that has passed 
a SAS70 Type II audit (for content and physical access security). Data is stored in AWS S3 regular 
storage (with three redundant copies). Our security information is available through AWS. 
Dedicated access to AWS is located here: https://aws.amazon.com/compliance/data-
center/controls/  

We have an access control policy that regulates access to the client’s data. User access control 
procedures are kept up to date to ensure only authorized users have access. An access request 
follows a strict process through HR, IT, and the individual business unit. Accounts are audited on 
a routine basis to ensure only authorized employees have active accounts. 

Initial passwords must conform to PSI standards and be communicated to the user via secure 
means. The user must change the password on their first use of the account. 

Privileged access rights such as those associated with administrator accounts are identified for 
each system or network and tightly controlled. 

Some elements of the PSI Scheduling System are hosted in a private data center: 
https://www.cyxtera.com/los-angeles-data-centers/lax2-campus 

PSI stores data such as recordings of test-takers during test sessions. We can store data for 90 
days or for a mutually agreed-upon time frame. All exam videos are stored securely on servers 
that meet US Government-approved encryption standards. Having complete exam recordings 
has proven extremely valuable for our clients.  

• LMS integrations  

PSI supports LTI standard integrations and has worked with every commercial LTI-compliant 
LMS in the higher education market and several proprietary LMS systems.  

Our LTI tools have been integrated with all significant LMSs, including D2L Brightspace, Canvas, 
Blackboard, and Moodle. We also fully support third-party publisher systems and create a 
seamless experience for students. Our design philosophy is that the user experience for both 
students and instructors is paramount to focus on the examinations. We are continually 
improving our system with innovative advances such as artificial intelligence (AI) technology and 
biometrics.  

When a user (be it faculty, staff, or student) logs on to the LMS, they access PSI Bridge in that 
platform as an LTI tool without needing a separate sign-on or login information. The LTI 
becomes the user’s single sign-on mechanism, allowing us to work with various third-party 

https://aws.amazon.com/compliance/data-center/controls/
https://aws.amazon.com/compliance/data-center/controls/
https://www.cyxtera.com/los-angeles-data-centers/lax2-campus
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assessments and homework delivery suppliers. Our integration model leverages APIs and 
automation where possible to make the process simple, scalable, and user-friendly by 
eliminating manual data entry steps that can be time-consuming and incur human error. 

While LTI is not primarily designed as an SSO mechanism, some of the data it passes in a launch 
request are about the user. Moreover, LTI works based on a trust relationship between the 
systems established using a key and a secret, which is more straightforward than providing 
access to a common identity server. In LTI, a user is authenticated by a primary system (such as 
an LMS) and can then be passed to another system (internal or external) through a signed 
launch message. The system receiving this message can verify its authenticity by inspecting the 
signature. It “trusts” the data it carries; there is no need for the user to be authenticated a 
second time or for their identity to be checked against another system.   

The tool consumer is the source of the LTI launch request.  For SSO purposes, it must know who 
the user is, but little else.  The tool consumer would be the LMS or portal that users have logged 
into, or it might be a script protected by an SSO mechanism that is not shared by the tool 
provider (the destination of the launch request). 

The assumption here is that the user has already authenticated the web-based application, 
which will act as the tool consumer.  The authentication method does not matter; it could be a 
direct login or use an SSO method, for example. What is essential is that the application knows 
who the user is and has a unique reference to identify them.   

• Publisher Platform integrations  

PSI is compatible with any homework program or 3rd third-party source. We support LTI 
standard integrations and have worked with every commercial LMS in the higher education 
market and several proprietary LMS systems. We can support proctoring for any third-party 
testing system from your publishers (Pearson, McGraw Hill, Cengage, etc.). As long as the third-
party exam is online, browser-based, and password-protected, PSI can proctor it.  

A feature in our LTI application in the LMS allows the administration of third-party exams with 
ease.  The instructor or administrator simply registers the examination in the LTI application as 
a third-party exam. Students will access the exam via the Student LTI application the same way 
they would with an LMS-delivered exam. The PSI Secure Browser will know which third-party 
URL to bring the student to for login. Once they unlock with their password, they will have 
access to the exam.   
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       Third-Party Exam Registration  

 

PSI Bridge is compatible with third-party exam tools (including but not limited to): 

• WebAssign • Pearson MyLabs 
• McGraw/Hill Connect • Cengage 
• ALEKS • Kaplan 
• SimNet • ATI Testing 
• MathXL • Test.com 
• EducoSoft • Docebo 
• WebStudy • Codility 
• Questionmark • MindTap 
• SafeMedicate  

 
We have also worked with numerous additional “home-grown” proprietary testing and LMS 
systems. 

• Data Centers (locations) 

PSI utilizes top-tier cloud hosting providers (primarily Amazon Web Services) in US-based 
servers.    
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• Third-party or subcontractor partnerships or involvement  

PSI does not use any subcontractors or have any active third-party or subcontractor 
partnerships. 

• System scalability  

The multiple modes available in PSI Bridge provide superb scalability. We build all our systems, 
workforce planning, and operations, so unanticipated increases in volume can be dealt with 
without downtime or inconvenience to faculty or students. 

The on-demand Record and Review proctoring modality is infinitely scalable, as a practical 
matter. Because we perform the human-based review/proctoring afterward, we can 
accommodate a virtually unlimited number of concurrent student users simultaneously, without 
issues or slowdowns.  
 
The live-proctoring modality can scale up smoothly — up to a point — because of our global 
footprint and our ability to forecast workforce requirements across the enterprise. We can 
predict when we will need to begin recruiting, hiring, training, and certifying new proctors and 
support agents. There are, however, eventual limits to the scalability for live proctoring for 
concurrent users, based on the number of proctors. 

• System redundancy and availability  

PASSHE students will be able to access their exam sessions 24 hours a day, seven days a week, 
from anywhere in the world. 

Our platform provides a highly scalable system using multiple web and application servers. We 
pride ourselves on offering our clients the best response times and reliability; our system has 
approximately 99.9% uptime. In the rare instance that downtime is required for updates or 
routine service, it is always scheduled for off‐peak hours in the middle of the night. 

PSI has designed our infrastructure to be a SaaS-based solution that utilizes the Amazon Web 
Services (AWS) cloud computing services. The data is uploaded using the secure http protocol 
(https) and housed in a domestic Amazon data facility that has passed a SAS70 Type II audit (for 
content and physical access security). Data is stored in AWS S3 regular storage (with three 
redundant copies). According to the contract, data is removed from AWS, typically after 90 days: 
all proctoring captured data is removed, excluding metadata used for billing purposes. You can 
find more details on AWS’s security policy and redundancies at 
https://aws.amazon.com/security/ 

  

https://aws.amazon.com/security/
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• Backup and recovery strategy  

PSI Bridge is 100% SaaS-based. Continuous backups are performed and stored in S3 and offsite 
DR locations. AWS S3 Virginia Data is encrypted within the data center (AWS) at rest. We encrypt 
data in transit and at rest and are hosted in multiple availability zones with automatic 
rebalancing during failures. 

Further information is available at https://aws.amazon.com/backup-restore/.   

• Disaster recovery, testing and business continuity plans 

PSI has a Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity Plan in place and regular system and data 
backups. We currently maintain dual/redundant geographically separated data centers to 
ensure rapid recovery and continuity of business operations in a disaster or other unforeseen 
event.  

Should there be a disaster beyond our control that necessitates closing our call centers, Client 
Services would email notifications to organizations affected by the outage, along with known 
expected times to resolution. Emails confirming the subsequent resolution of the issue would 
also be sent. We would also designate the appropriate Recovery Team(s), with members trained 
to respond quickly and effectively in the event of a disaster. Our recovery teams are organized 
as follows: 

• Emergency management team (EMT) 

• Disaster recovery team (DRT) 

• IT technical services (IT) 

Our plan contains emergency management procedures for specific events, as well as a general 
guide to the procedures to be followed by system operations personnel and other designated 
PSI staff in the event of an emergency, including the following steps/phases: 

• Alert/verification/declaration 

• Notification of incident affecting the site 

• Providing status to EMT and DRT 

• Deciding the course of action 

• Informing team members of the decision 

• Contacting general vendors 

• Mobilizing incident response/technical services teams to report to the command center 

• Conducting detailed damage assessment 

• Contacting DRT: Decide whether to continue to the business recovery phase 

  

https://aws.amazon.com/backup-restore/
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Business recovery phase: 

• Activate alternate facility

• Establish command and control

• Establish communications (data and voice)

• Establish and activate work locations for essential staff

• PSI system and facility operation requirements fulfilled

• Notify IT staff/coordinate relocation to a new facility

• Funding for relocation

• Notify EMT and corporate business units of recovery startup

• Operations recovered

If there is uncertainty regarding the course of action, the plan prescribes the more reactive 
action to provide maximum protection and personnel safety. Our full Disaster 
Recovery/Business Continuity Plan can be provided upon request. 

The nature of our system architecture provides a fully operational “hot site” capable of resuming 
network operations with minimal impact on testing. In addition, complete data backups are 
transported daily to a commercial secure data storage facility and are available 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week, for disaster recovery procedures. Any disruptions to our regular system will 
be reported to PASSHE as soon as they are detected.  

Our dedicated Account Manager will have the ultimate responsibility for implementing, 
maintaining, and monitoring problem escalation procedures. In our headquarters and the field, 
every PSI staff member will report all problems to the Account Manager, who will report them to 
PASSHE and lead all investigations into problems at the test center or in our corporate offices.  

When a problem is brought to the Account Manager’s attention, a meeting will be called 
consisting of the necessary management, support, and test center staff. All evidence will be 
presented at the meeting. The results of such meetings will be provided to PASSHE.  

Finally, we believe in immediately notifying all involved parties in the event an issue arises. The 
immediate notification provides PSI and PASSHE staff with the information necessary to handle 
test taker inquiries and/or complaints that may arise due to an issue. Our goal is to always 
inform PASSHE of any issue before your staff hears about it from a third party or test taker.  

PSI will verify with PASSHE the procedures we have in place to manage the testing program. We 
will also work with you to customize a solution for any potential problem. Should any rules be 
adjusted or changed, PSI will publish the revised rules and distribute them to those associated 
with managing the testing program.  
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2. Data–Provide a detailed description of the following features: 

• Data encryption in transit and at rest 

PSI can encrypt confidential data in transit and at rest. Data is encrypted through AES 256 – 
encryption for data at rest (including backup copies). This can be sent through HTTPS over a TLS 
1.2 connection. PSI regularly tests systems for potential security vulnerabilities that could lead to 
data leakage. The PSI web services system, which provides both user and web services (API), can 
only be accessed using industry-standard HTTPS encryption. We also have active IPS, an external 
firewall, an internal system firewall, and several authentication layers implemented at the 
webserver level. 

For more information on complete Data Security with PSI, please see the Data Security section 
on page 22. 

• Security –data access and protection  

A minimal amount of personally identifiable information (PII) is transmitted on the platform. 
Student data and any PII is retained for three months unless an institution requests differently.  
Using our system, users don’t even have to register or create accounts or profiles.  We have 
designed our platform and our LTI integration following IMS Global specifications. Our LTI acts 
as an SSO mechanism, meaning we don’t need to integrate with other SSO systems.  The user is 
not required to create an account in our system to use it. We can leverage the user’s LMS 
account, their access to a course with our LTI, their role in the course (instructor, student, TA, 
admin, etc.), and the privileges mapped to that role to give them access to our tools.   

We don’t collect or store any unnecessary PII or demographic data.  Other vendors force student 
users to create extensive profiles that capture unnecessary PII data. We have gone to great 
lengths to ensure the protection of student privacy and compliance with FERPA regulations.  Our 
system also eliminates the need for proctors to remotely access students’ computers to perform 
remote proctoring, common among other proctoring vendors. 

The following data is stored following the completion of a proctored exam: 

• Student first and last name 

• Student email address and/or login username 

• Images of the student 

• Image of the identification card (i.e., University ID, government-issued ID, etc.) 

• Video record of the webcam and desktop screen for the duration of the examination session 

• Audio recording from the computer or webcam microphone for the exam session 

 
PSI does not store faculty data except the faculty name associated with registered proctored 
examinations. 
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How Data Is Stored 

The student’s image and photo ID are encrypted on the student’s computer using the US 
Government adopted standard AES (Advanced Encryption Standard), as specified in FIPS PUB 
197. The data is uploaded using the secure HTTP protocol (https) and housed in an Amazon data 
facility that has passed a SAS70 Type II audit for content and physical access security audit.    

In addition to the encryption, security is taken to another level as the “metadata” regarding any 
exam (username and exam identifier) is stored in a separate data facility from where actual 
exam data is stored. This requires any would-be “hacker” to break into not one but two 
physically separated hosting facilities to tie actual user records (metadata) to the photo records 
and video data.    

Our technical and organizational measures ensure that personal data is protected against 
accidental or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorized dissemination or access, or 
other unauthorized or unlawful forms of processing. 

• Data breaches  

Data privacy is critical to PSI, and we have developed our solutions and services to ensure 
student data protection and privacy for all information. Within 24 hours of becoming aware of a 
data breach/vulnerability, PSI will notify PASSHE by phone and email. Such notification will, at 
the minimum, provide the following information: 

• The nature of the data breach, the categories and numbers of data subjects concerned, and 
the categories and numbers of Personal Data records concerned 

• The name and contact details of our data protection officer and other relevant contacts 
from whom more information may be obtained 

• The likely consequences of the data breach 
• The measures being taken or proposed to address the data breach. 

The timeline for resolving issues is dependent on the scope of the security issue or vulnerability. 

We will cooperate with PASSHE and take any reasonable steps as directed by PASSHE to assist in 
the investigation, mitigation, and remediation of a data breach to enable and assist PASSHE to (1) 
perform a thorough investigation into the data breach, (2) formulate a response that meets the 
requirements of the applicable Data Protection Laws, and (3) take any further steps to meet any 
requirements under the Data Protection Laws. 

Our physical data center infrastructure primarily uses best-in-class cloud-based data centers, 
which meet the requirements of the Fortune 100, government agencies, and other security-
conscious organizations. Our security measures exceed most (if not all) of those used in the 
testing industry. We have a security officer who oversees PSI’s compliance with requirements for 
test security and privacy of information — across the organization and all clients.  

PSI adheres to industry security standards and provides access to systems strictly through end-
to-end encryption. PSI web services, which provide both user and web services (API), can only be 
accessed using industry-standard HTTPS encryption. We have an active IPS, an external firewall, 
an internal system firewall, and layers of authentication at the webserver level, and an 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Federal_Information_Processing_Standard
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application server with integrated encrypted database authentication and access. PSI is ISO 
27001 accredited, meets PCI compliance requirements, has SSAE16 certification, and undergoes 
SOC testing. 

PSI also employs a suite of tools to monitor performance and security:  

• Rackspace: Monitors hardware utilization  

• NAGIOS: Monitors the application stack; capacity planning; incident logs  

• CloudFlare: Monitors bandwidth utilization; detects HTTPS threats, DDoS mitigation, CDN  

• Regular Penetration Testing 

• AppDynamics for application performance monitoring 

• Redgate for SQL performance 

• Site24x7 for infrastructure and synthetic monitoring 

 
In the event it is suspected that an examination form or examination items have been 
compromised, PSI will notify PASSHE immediately. Following initial notification, a written 
report will be submitted to PASSHE within 24 hours of the discovery. In the event of any security 
breach, suspected or confirmed, PSI will recommend that all involved items or examination 
forms not be used until the matter is resolved. We will be responsible for ensuring that these 
items and forms are not administered before a resolution is achieved. 

We are aware that no matter how much preventative effort takes place, issues can occur in any 
examination administration program. In addition to human error, with computer testing, we 
must prepare for hardware and software malfunctions.  

After years of experience in computer‐based test administration, we have anticipated and 
prepared for most of the things that can go wrong. However, we must also anticipate problems 
that we have never encountered and plan solutions to them. The first step in implementing an 
effective problem escalation plan is establishing open lines of communication between PSI, the 
test center staff, and PASSHE. Questions and comments should be encouraged to ensure that all 
parties involved understand the program thoroughly.  

We have earned our reputation as the most responsive vendor in the industry. Many of our 
references comment specifically on this aspect. Whether the matter is routine or an urgent 
issue, PSI’s issue management plan allows for immediate response. All key staff are available 
virtually 24/7, on-call, and available via cell phone. In most cases, PASSHE will be able to reach 
someone immediately. All messages will be returned, usually the same day, but no later than the 
next day. 

Our defined timeframes are responsive and immediate. Status checks are conducted hourly 
during the initial stages of monitoring and investigation of a problem. As information is 
collected, processed, and reported, status checks transition into half‐day verifications. The next 
stage is daily verifications, which continue until the issue is finally resolved and fully reported. 
Naturally, most issues are resolved very quickly. More significant issues may require additional 
time; however, PASSHE will receive status updates up to the resolution point. 
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PSI’s intensive training program ensures that every staff member is knowledgeable on all 
policies and procedures. Though we have an escalation policy, we train our staff. Hence, they 
know to evaluate every situation appropriately, and we empower them with the authority to 
make the right decision. 

• Ownership of data

The school or third-party vendor has ownership rights of IT and data artifacts. Exam session 
data collected by PSI’s proctoring solutions such as student data, video, audio, and the like 
belong to the Institution and is protected under FERPA. 

• Termination of services; what happens to the data?

Upon PASSHE request, PSI will complete a permanent destroy-and-delete of all data in the 
system, revoke access to the system, and invalidate the API keys. 

• Restrictions on amount of data stored on the proposed solution

PSI does not have restrictions on the amount of data that is stored on the proposed solution. 

Security –Provide a detailed description of the following features: 

• Restrictions on number of users accessing the proposed solution

There are no limits on the number of users who can be on the system at a given time. With 
Record and Review proctoring, we can support an unlimited number of concurrent students at 
all times.  

With Live Proctoring, there are no technical limitations; the only limit is the number of students 
who can test simultaneously based on the number of proctors and proctor-to-student ratio 
limits. We are very adept at scaling our operations to accommodate onboarding new Live 
Proctoring clients. Our scheduling system enables us to forecast demand: we were able to 
allocate resources to support the more than 15 million exams we delivered last year.

• Student Privacy

From test content protection to security protocols during delivery and online proctoring, PSI 
employs best-in-industry security standards to protect exam content, data, and student 
information. Because our solution does not involve any remote access to the student’s 
computer by a proctor, as other vendors’ products do, we can limit the risk and liability that 
other vendors incur. No data is obtained on our platform that does not relate to the actual test 
and the student’s identity, and these data are encrypted immediately. Test data become 
available only to the faculty/administration responsible for that test — and, of course, the 
reviewer, in the case of Record and Review. Client Services can access this material on a need-to-
know basis if required.   
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We comply with ISO 27001:2005, and we have gone to great lengths to ensure the protection of 
student privacy/compliance with FERPA regulations. The protection of student and institutional 
data is of paramount importance to PSI, and we are compliant with the recent EU data 
protection regulations — General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). GDPR places more 
responsibility on data processors such as PSI to strengthen individuals' rights over their 
personal data.  

User image and photo ID are encrypted on the user’s computer using the US Government-
adopted standard AES (Advanced Encryption Standard), as specified in FIPS PUB 197. The data is 
uploaded using the secure HTTP protocol (https) and housed in an AWS data facility that has 
passed a SAS70 Type II audit (for content and physical access security).  

In addition to the encryption, security is taken to another level as the examination “metadata” 
resides. This approach requires a would-be “hacker” to break into two physically separated 
hosting facilities to tie actual user records (metadata) to the photo records and video data.  

• Security-related policies and procedures to which the Offeror’s employees are required to adhere 

The only personnel who have access to the data are those designated by PASSHE and specific 
PSI staff. PSI personnel all sign non-disclosure agreements that include confidentiality 
agreements wherein the signatory agrees to keep all information, such as exam data, 
confidential.    

Since security is such a vital part of the proctor role, we require an annual Corporate Security 
Awareness Training with an assessment that must be passed. To reinforce this training, we are 
currently working on a plan to provide proctors with regular monthly coursework through 
NINJIO, a security awareness program that walks users through common cybersecurity threats 
and discusses how to avoid them. This program includes quizzes to make sure the material has 
been absorbed. 

• Web usability and ADA compliant accessibility of the proposed solution 

PSI regularly handles remote proctoring administration with accommodations and complies with 
all essential 508 requirements. The most typical accommodation requested for online remote 
proctored administration is extended time for the exam. Accommodations will be considered 
and approved in conjunction with PASSHE.  

If an accommodation works with Chrome, it will work with the PSI Secure Browser. We also 
support the following functionality: 

• Text-to-speech readers 

• Braille assistive software 

• Magnifying screens 

• Joysticks 

• Ergonomic keyboards 

• Support for JAWS, NVDA, Kurzweil, and other common screen reading software 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Federal_Information_Processing_Standard


 

 
PROPOSAL FOR PASSHE 58 

 

PSI strives to ensure that people with disabilities can acquire the same information, engage in 
the same interactions and enjoy the same benefits and services within the same timeframe as 
their non-disabled peers, with substantially equivalent ease of use. PSI ensures that they are not 
excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or otherwise subjected to discrimination 
in any of PSI’s services delivered online and that they receive effective communication. 

We also strive to comply with Federal and state laws and regulations that require accessibility 
and equal access for individuals with disabilities, including the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA), Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the New York State Human Rights Law, and 
Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act. 

To support our equal-opportunity environment, all new or redesigned PSI web content, web 
pages, web functionality, websites, and web applications are made accessible to people with 
disabilities to the standard prescribed by the Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) 2.0 
Level AA, except where doing so would result in a fundamental alteration like a service, 
program, or activity or undue financial or administrative burdens. When fundamental alteration 
or undue burden applies, equally effective alternative means of access will be provided so that, 
to the maximum extent possible, individuals with disabilities receive the same benefits and 
services. PSI is committed to conforming to these standards.  

An audit was recently performed by Gardner Information Design, Inc. PSI is implementing the 
changes necessary to obtain full compliance. GIDI specializes in custom and accessible web 
design for web development projects. A recognized Web Accessibility expert, GIDI principal P.J. 
Gardner provides consulting and contract services to help clients meet accessibility standards, 
including the US Government's Section 508 accessibility standards and the World Wide Web 
Consortium's (W3C) WCAG.  

We have also contracted with the National Center for Accessible Media (NCAM) at WGBH Radio 
Station in Boston to ensure that our solutions are compliant with ADA Section 508 of the 
Rehabilitation Act and the W3C Web Content Accessibility Guidelines. NCAM has unparalleled 
expertise with the technologies used by people with disabilities and a history of developing and 
implementing proven technological solutions. NCAM staff have participated in many multimedia, 
streaming media, and web accessibility standards groups at the World Wide Web Consortium 
(W3C) and its Web Accessibility Initiative (WAI). NCAM is a founding member. Since the first 
generation of the Web Content Accessibility Guidelines in 1999, NCAM has played an active role 
in defining, clarification, and disseminating accessibility information and training. NCAM staff 
served on the original Federal Access Board committee that created the recommendations for 
Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act and chaired the Audio-Visual Subcommittee of the 2007–
2009 committee that refreshed these Federal requirements (the Telecommunications and 
Electronic and Information Technology Advisory Committee). 
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C. Technical and Customer Support  

Provide a detailed description of the following: 

How is training provided to LMS staff, distance education services staff, faculty and students? Are 
ongoing training resources such as user documentation, how-to videos, and step-by-step instructions 
readily available in formats that allow for easy dissemination on institution’s website, by e-mail, or by 
hard copy? 

Any informational videos and instructions will be provided in a format that is easy to 
disseminate to students. We have provided these materials in various ways, depending upon 
client needs, and will follow PASSHE guidelines for easy dissemination.  

We can also provide onboarding quickly because of our superior LTI integration model, training 
options for content and documentation, and our client services and account management 
professionals' teams. The actual time spent by the LMS admin will be less than 60 minutes for 
complete integration and configuration. Upon contract award, PASSHE will be assigned a project 
team that will be present during initial implementation and ongoing support. It will consist of an 
Account Manager, a Project Manager, and a Client Services Representative. 

• Account Manager: This person serves as the primary contact throughout onboarding and for 
day‐to‐day business relations. It is anticipated that Mark Musacchio will serve jointly as the 
PASSHE Account Manager. 

• Project Manager: This individual is the lead for implementation, including system 
integrations, training, and setup. 

• Client Services Representative: A primary point of contact for PASSHE, administrators, 
staff, and instructors for support of the platform and client service‐related issues. During a 
typical implementation, PASSHE and PSI will meet to establish and discuss service level 
expectations and create issue/resolution plans to be prepared for potential challenges that 
might arise. For PASSHE, we will plan to use this same methodology even though we have been 
working together for years. PSI will initiate a kick‐off meeting with this team, and University 
administrators would then establish project requirements, activities, and target dates for 
major milestones. After the kick‐off meeting, PSI will develop a detailed work plan that will be 
used to manage details and activities throughout project implementation.  

Instructor Training and Support  

PSI Bridge is designed to be intuitive and user-friendly. Faculty and administrators can expect to 
receive 60-minute virtual training sessions along with access to our on-demand, online library, 
which houses PSI Bridge instructional videos and user guides. We can also provide onsite 
training once implementation and contracting are complete. We will work with the Institutions to 
create custom video tutorials for each user role — faculty, administrator, etc.   

Tutorial Video for Students 

PSI’s platform is highly intuitive and requires little or no training for most students. To ease any 
concerns about the testing experience, PSI has developed a video demonstrating the check-in 
and security procedures they will encounter. PSI can create a customized video for PASSHE 
that demonstrates this process.  
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A sample of the Remote Proctored Candidate Testing Experience video is available to view 
here: https://youtu.be/FvqONzwF2nM 

Practice Exams for Students 

PSI provides practice exams with an experience that is identical to actual remote proctoring and 
includes ID verification, secure lockdown browser, and a full recording of all students’ exams, 
screens, and webcams. These recordings are not reviewed by human proctors, however. This is 
a beneficial way to help students become comfortable with the online proctoring experience.   

Online Resource Library 

We can offer PASSHE institutions an extensive content library in readily available formats. These 
materials can be used in PASSHE’s existing content library. This library is customized for 
dissemination to students and faculty through PASSHE or school websites, email, or hard copies.  

As mentioned previously, we can provide step-by-step instructions that are either standard or 
customized for PASSHE. We will work with the institutions to create training documents for 
faculty and students within the suggested timeline. 

Technical support for faculty, staff, and students 

Faculty and Staff Support 

Faculty and staff can contact their dedicated PSI Client Services Representative for help and 
support. We will set up a dedicated email address for PSI communications from faculty/staff 
monitored around the clock. This distribution list ensures that our Support and Client Services 
teams are included in all emails to react promptly to all requests. Our team will also utilize 
Zendesk, a leading customer service and engagement platform, to log support tickets. Any email 
to the inbox will automatically create a service ticket in ZenDesk and will be routed to the 
appropriate team member for response. 

Student Support 

Students will have 24/7 tech support available through a toll-free phone line, email, or live chat. 
They will have 24/7 access to a student support team and unlimited practice exams to help them 
become comfortable with the proctoring experience. We have an extensive Knowledge Base of 
online articles available to students for self-service help. For Record and Review Proctoring, 
students will have access to exams on-demand, 24/7, without needing to schedule.  

We will also provide a website that can be posted to the LMS or the institution’s website with a 
vast amount of resources such as video tutorials, how-to-guides, helpful hints, product updates, 
documentation, and more.  

PSI's platform is highly intuitive and requires little or no training for most students. To ease any 
concerns about the testing experience, PSI has developed a video demonstrating the check-in 
and security procedures they will encounter. If requested, PSI can work alongside PASSHE to 
create a customized video to demonstrate this process.  

https://youtu.be/FvqONzwF2nM
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A sample of the Remote Proctored Candidate Testing Experience video is available to view 
here: https://youtu.be/FvqONzwF2nM 

Zendesk for PASSHE 

We also utilize Zendesk, a leading customer service and engagement platform, to log support 
tickets. This system will send status updates back to the PASSHE as tickets move through the 
system, allowing for better communication and transparency. 

PSI has established systems for handling student inquiries and resolving any concerns in a 
timely, efficient, and responsive manner. Students who wish to inquire about the program can 
call PSI's toll-free telephone number.  

Technologies required on devices being used by students (i.e., web cam, microphone, etc.) 

Support of devices, operating systems, and web browsers 

PSI's software is compatible with modern Windows or Mac OS X computers with a working 
webcam, microphone, and internet connection. Our compatibility check tool will ensure the 
student's system meets the following technical requirements (hardware and software) for their 
session and remote-proctored exam. On the day of the exam, the first step students will 
complete is an application compatibility check.  

• Operating systems supported:  
o Windows 8.x and 10.x — 32 bit (x86) and 64 bit (x64) 
o macOS 10.13.x, 10.14.x, 10.15 

• Browsers supported: PSI Secure Lock-Down Browser 

• Webcam/microphone: Minimum VGA 640 x 480 resolution, enabled built-in or external 
microphone 

• Bandwidth: Minimum 300 kb/s download and upload 

• Hardware requirements: 2GB RAM Memory; 1 GB Free Disk Space, minimum 1368x768 
screen resolution 

PSI is currently working on support for Chromebooks and mobile devices, including tablets and 
hybrids. 

  

https://youtu.be/FvqONzwF2nM
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Third-party integrations 

We have integrated with third-party products that include LMS systems and other digital 
learning tools. The following is a list of the integrations we have made for our clients.  

LMS Integrations 

• D2L Brightspace
• Blackboard
• Moodle
• Canvas
• Open edX
• Sakai
• Jenzebar

• WebAssign
• McGraw/Hill Connect
• ALEKS
• SimNet
• MathXL
• Pearson MyLabs/Mastering
• EducoSoft
• WebStudy
• Questionmark
• SafeMedicate

PSI can proctor any third-party products into exams that would be outside the learning 
management system. As long as the third-party examination is online, browser-based, and 
password-protected, PSI can proctor it remotely.  

We have built a feature in our LTI application in the LMS for administering third-party exams 
with ease. The instructor or administrator simply registers the exam in the LTI application as a 
third-party examination. The students will access the test via the Student LTI application, the 
same way they would with an LMS delivered exam. The PSI Secure Browser will know which 
third-party URL to bring the student to for login. After unlocking with their password, the 
student can access the exam.   

 Registered Third-Party Exams 

Third-Party Assessment Support (sample list)
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Active Directory 

Integration with Active Directory is unnecessary because our LTI acts as a single sign-on (SSO) 
mechanism, meaning we don’t need to integrate with other SSO systems or active directories.  
As detailed previously, users don’t even have to register or create accounts or profiles, meaning 
there’s no logging into our system. We have designed the platform and our LTI integration 
following IMS Global specifications. To use our solution, a user isn’t required to create an 
account in our system.  We can leverage the user’s LMS account, their access to a course with 
our LTI, their role in the course (e.g., instructor, student, TA, admin), and the privileges mapped 
to that role give them appropriate access to our tools.   

While LTI is not primarily designed as an SSO mechanism, some of the data it passes in a launch 
request are about the user. Moreover, LTI works based on a trust relationship between the 
systems established using a key and a secret, which is much simpler than providing access to a 
common identity server. In LTI, a user is authenticated by a primary system (such as an LMS) 
and can then be passed along to another system (internal or external) through a signed launch 
message. The system receiving this message can verify its authenticity by inspecting the 
signature and then “trusts” the data it carries; there is no need for the user to be authenticated 
a second time or for their identity to be checked against another system.   

Customer Support Operations (assistance for users with difficulties accessing or using the solution, 
account manager’s role) 

As detailed in the first response to this section (C. Technical and Customer Support), PSI has 
customer support operations for faculty, staff, and students.  

Faculty and staff can contact PSI through a dedicated email address and can log support tickets. 
Students will have 24/7 tech support available through a toll-free phone line, email, or live chat. 
They will have 24/7 access to a student support team and unlimited practice exams to help them 
become comfortable with the testing experience. We utilize Zendesk to log support tickets: this 
system will send status updates back to the PASSHE as tickets move through the system, 
allowing for better communication and full transparency.  

Your dedicated account manager will also be available for day-to-day support. Details on PSI’s 
dedicated staff is available in section B. Qualifications and Experience. 

Available ordering methods –online ordering, order tracking, search options, order history 

We offer multiple payment models for online proctoring.  We have eCommerce to collect fees 
from students using PCI-compliant payment methods.  We accept credit and debit cards, PayPal, 
and have a voucher option. If a campus bookstore chooses to sell vouchers, students can 
purchase a voucher from the bookstore and use available financial aid funds if they choose.   

We can also accept school payment: any client can choose to pay-as-you-go and get a monthly 
invoice based on usage/proctored exams.  They can also choose to pre-purchase exams in bulk, 
and pre-purchased examinations don’t expire.   
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III. 4. Reporting Needs

Provide a description and samples of available data reports. Do they include the length of exams, 
number of exams, list of students registered? Are customized reports available? 

PSI can provide the following reporting to PASSHE and its member institutions. We routinely 
provide various ad-hoc reports for clients upon request. We can provide reports on the exam 
session's length if needed (though that data is also found more accurately in the LMS).   

Our exam length data shows the video's entirety, which will include some time prior to the exam 
as the student performs their ID check, room scan, and login. It may also include some time 
after the exam if you choose; these requests would be made through the Client Services 
department. We can provide ad-hoc reports by request or as a scheduled event.  

 Sample Incident Report    Exam Violations Graph 

Student Support Audits 

We have created an easy-to-use solution for students and are also fully prepared to support 
them as needed. Students will have 24/7 access to a student support team and access unlimited 
practice exams to become comfortable with PSI Bridge.  

The PSI support team closely monitors and tracks student support metrics such as: 

• First call resolution

• Average hold time for phone calls

• Average wait time for chat support

• Average time to resolution

• Percentage of students who need support after an initial call
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      Sample Student Summary Report 

LTI Application Reporting 

In the LTI application in D2L, you will see various report options and filters: you can view the 
names of students who had completed a proctored exam, their report status (whether there 
were violations), and a data timestamp of when the student’s exam began. You will then be able 
to drill down into each student’s record to access more comprehensive data about exam policy 
violations and access the video.   

Student Satisfaction Summary Report 

As previously detailed, PSI can enable an optional and anonymous survey to assess the 
Institution’s student satisfaction with their PSI Bridge testing experience. This survey can be 
customized to capture required data to align with SLRs — such as 95% of students ranking the 
experience as high-quality. PSI will provide satisfaction summary reports on an agreed-upon 
schedule or as required by the institution.  
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Sample Student Satisfaction Summary Report 
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D. Value-Added Services  

Describe in detail any value-added services that the Supplier can provide. This includes but is not limited 
to competitive advantages, efficiencies, and optional services distinct from the main technical 
requirements. 

Q5id – Proven Identity Management 

We’ve recently executed an exclusive partnership with the leading provider of identity 
management solutions — Q5id (https://q5id.com/) — to develop a mobile platform with multi-
factor enrollment and verification that reduces the risk of exposure to financial aid fraud. 

 

Career Development Tools 
While PSI is a leader in exam development and administration, we see these services as pieces 
in the bigger picture of the career lifecycle. To further support PASSHE’s mission to be Kansas’s 
gateway to the first-class affordable education and technical training that is integral to 
competing in a constantly evolving workforce, PSI can offer “Am I Job Ready?” This program is a 
career-readiness platform that helps students develop their soft skills, increase awareness of 16 
professional workplace competencies, learn more about their strengths and weaknesses, and 
become better-prepared for high-stakes interviews.  

This unique platform is currently used at a number of top universities and community colleges, 
as well as several state systems including Purdue, Ole Miss, Michigan State, Ivy Tech Community 
College, Wake Tech Community College, and the Kentucky Community and Technical College 
System, and has proven very successful over the past two years.  

https://q5id.com/
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On-Demand Item Writer Training Videos 
Creating fair and relevant test content is a significant concern for all educational institutions. 
PSI’s psychometrics staff are experts in the development of examination items and the training 
of item writers. PASSHE can take advantage of this expertise and use it for future test creation. 
PSI will offer on-demand training sessions for its exam content developers. These recorded 
sessions are typically 90 minutes in length and cover item writing guidelines and principles, 
along with discussions on how to avoid common item writing pitfalls. 
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IV.2 Technical Proposal Format 
A.-E. Format Requirements 
PSI understands that it is the responsibility of all Offerors to examine the entire RFP package. 
PSI has submitted our proposal according to the format required in the RFP, Section IV.2, A.-E. 
This includes our proposal being straightforward, clear, concise, and specific to the information 
requested, that our proposal does not include extraneous commercial and/or sales literature as 
a substitute for responses to questions, that PSI will ensure the receipt of, and acknowledgment 
of, all addenda in this RFP, and that our proposal is properly marked and submitted via the State 
System’s eProcurement Exchange by the Submission Date/Time listed in the RFP. 

F.-G. OMNIA Partners Response 
PSI has submitted our proposal according to the format required in the RFP, Section IV.2, F.-G. 
regarding the OMNIA Partners Response. This includes a detailed response to Appendix C, 
Exhibit A, OMNIA Partners Response for National Cooperative Contract. PSI has read, 
understands, and will comply that we will be required to sign Appendix C, Exhibit B, OMNIA 
Partners Administration Agreement should PSI be awarded.  
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IV.3 Cost Proposal Format 
For all Cost Proposal information, please see the PSI-completed Cost Proposal Form Excel 
spreadsheet attached to Folder #2: Cost Proposal of this RFP response.  
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IV.4 How to Submit an Online Proposal; and 
IV.5 What to Submit with the Proposal 
PSI has read, understands, and will comply with the requirement to long on to the State System’s 
eProcurement Exchange to submit the PSI’s Proposal Response online for RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-
45. 

PSI has submitted the following documentation with the Proposal: 

Folder #1: Technical Proposal 
The PSI Technical Proposal has been submitted as a bundled file with an attachment. We have 
included the following Attachment as relevant information: 

• Attachment A: PSI Financial Press Release 

PSI created one PDF document of all the documents for Folder #1: Technical Proposal titled PSI 
Folder #1 Submission RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45. 

Folder #2: Cost Proposal 
PSI has submitted our Cost Proposal as a completed Excel document from Appendix B, Cost 
Proposal Form, titled PSI Cost Proposal RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45. 

Folder #3: Other Documents 
PSI has submitted Other Documents as required, some Confidential, in response to Appendix C, 
Exhibit A – OMNIA Partners Response, including the following: 

• PSI Appendix C, Exhibit A Suggested Redline Edits and In-Line Comments RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45 

• PSI Appendix C, Exhibit A – OMNIA Partners Response RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45 

o Attachment 1: PSI Financial Statements (Annual Sales) – CONFIDENTIAL – RFP #2020-COOP-
LAV-45 

 Includes: PSI 2017 PSI Financial Statement (Annual Sales), PSI 2018 PSI Financial 
Statement (Annual Sales), and PSI 2019 PSI Financial Statement (Annual Sales)  

o Attachment 2: PSI 2020 PSI Dun & Bradstreet Report RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45 

• PSI Appendix C, Exhibit B and C Suggested Redline Edits and In-Line Comments RFP #2020-COOP-
LAV-45 

• PSI Exceptions to PASSHE-BB-3.1 RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45 

PSI created one PDF document of all the documents for Folder #3: Other Documents titled PSI 
Folder #3 Submission RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45. 
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PSI Financial Press Release 

 



November 5, 2019 

Glendale, CA – PSI Services LLC (“PSI” or “the Company”), a global provider of assessment content, 

leading-edge technology, and talent consulting solutions, today announced the completion of a 

significant equity investment led by Waud Capital Partners (“WCP” or “Waud Capital”), a leading 

growth-oriented middle market private equity firm. This investment extends Waud Capital’s 

partnership and enables PSI to continue funding a robust acquisition pipeline and organic initiatives 

for the next phase of the Company’s growth. In line with that strategy, the Company recently closed 

on the acquisition of Cubiks Group Ltd, a leading global talent assessment platform. 

Since beginning the partnership with Waud Capital in 2015, PSI has coupled double-digit organic 

growth with a strategic acquisition plan. The Company has also executed several key operating 

milestones, including expanding into the certification and talent management markets, and 

extending into international markets such as the UK and the Middle East. With a deep library of 

industry leading content and expertise combined with a feature-rich and flexible technology 

platform, PSI has consistently gained market share by partnering with clients to deliver to each of 

their unique needs. As the Company enters its next stage of its growth, PSI will further apply its 

solutions, products, and services across the entire career lifecycle of an individual as it executes its 

long-term vision of helping people reach their potential. 

Steve Tapp, CEO of PSI Services, said, “We appreciate the continued support of the WCP team in PSI 

and look forward to continuing our highly collaborative partnership.  Our success to date has 

positioned PSI to provide the best products and service to our clients globally, and the additional 

investment from Waud Capital will further enhance our ability to deliver industry leading solutions to 

the market.  We look forward to the next phase of the Company’s growth and our continued 

successful partnership.” 

 “We are excited for this new phase of our partnership with PSI,” added Matt Clary, Partner at Waud 

Capital. “The Company’s success over the past five years has energized a new vision for growth that 

we’ve worked together to create, which aims to bring long-term value to organizations and 

individuals across the globe. Led by an incredible management team, PSI has exceeded our 

expectations, and we are looking forward to this new period of growth.” 
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About PSI Services 

PSI Services LLC (PSI) is a global workforce solutions provider that designs robust solutions for our 

clients by blending best-in-class assessment content, leading-edge technology, and deep consulting 

expertise across the entire career life cycle. PSI has over 70 years of experience providing worldwide 

testing solutions to a wide variety of customers across public and private sector industries, ranging 

from small businesses to global enterprises, leading academic institutions, and government 

organizations. PSI offers a comprehensive solutions approach from test development to delivery and 

results processing, including pre-hire employment selection, managerial assessments, licensing and 

certification tests, distance learning testing, and other specialized services. Through our work with 

over 2,000 experts across 160 countries delivering over 15 million tests and assessments per year 

globally, PSI exists to empower people in their careers and drive organizational success. 

About Waud Capital Partners 

Based in Chicago, Waud Capital Partners is a leading growth-oriented private equity firm with total 

capital commitments of approximately $3.0 billion since its founding in 1993. Waud Capital partners 

with exceptional management teams to build market leading companies within two industries: 

healthcare services and business and technology services. Since its founding, Waud Capital has 

successfully completed more than 280 investments, including platform companies and follow-on 

opportunities. For additional information on Waud Capital, visit www.waudcapital.com. 

PSI Press Contact: 

Claire McCue 

PR Manager – PSI Services LLC 

(412) 847-0289 

cmccue@psionline.com 

WCP Investor Contact: 

Meghan Slentz, Director – Investor Relations 

(312) 676-8431 

mslentz@waudcapital.com 

WCP Media Contact: 

Nick Rust – Prosek Partners 

(646) 818-9252 

nrust@prosek.com 
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PSI has reviewed the OMNIA Partners Requirements for National Cooperative Contract. We 
understand the major objectives of the cooperative program and acknowledge that PASSHE has 
entered this arrangement to improve efficiency in the solicitation process and benefit from cost 
efficiencies of aggregate purchasing volumes.  We are willing to work with OMNIA to secure a 
contract with PASSHE. However, there are some requirements and terms in the Agreements that 
cannot be fully agreed to as written, as they are not beneficial for all parties or conflict with our 
established business practices.  Potential exceptions to the agreements have been outlined in 
the attached documents with in-line comments where further discussion is needed.  We look 
forward to the opportunity to discuss these terms and establish a mutually beneficial agreement 
with OMNIA Partners.  
 
The following documents have been provided with suggested redline edits and in-line 
comments:  

• Exhibit A: Response for National Cooperative Contract 
• Exhibit B: Administration Agreement 
• Exhibit C: Master Intergovernmental Cooperative Purchasing Agreement, Example 

 



PSI Appendix C, Exhibit A Suggested Redline Edits 
and In-Line Comments 

RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45 
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EXHIBIT A 
RESPONSE FOR NATIONAL COOPERATIVE CONTRACT 

 
 

1.0 Scope of National Cooperative Contract 
 

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the 
Master Agreement or in the Administration Agreement between Supplier and OMNIA 
Partners. 

 
1.1 Requirement 

 
Pennsylvania State System of Higher Education (hereinafter defined and referred to as 
“Principal Procurement Agency”), on behalf of itself and the National 
Intergovernmental Purchasing Alliance Company, a Delaware corporation d/b/a 
OMNIA Partners, Public Sector (“OMNIA Partners”), is requesting proposals for 
Proctoring Solutions: In-Person, Online and/or Automated. The intent of this Request 
for Proposal is any contract between Principal Procurement Agency and Supplier 
resulting from this Request for Proposal (“Master Agreement”) be made available to 
other public agencies nationally, including state and local governmental entities, 
public and private primary, secondary and higher education entities, non-profit 
entities, and agencies for the public benefit (“Public Agencies”), through OMNIA 
Partners’ cooperative  purchasing  program. The Principal Procurement Agency has 
executed a Principal Procurement Agency Certificate with OMNIA Partners, an 
example of which is included as Exhibit D, and has agreed to pursue the Master 
Agreement. Use of the Master Agreement by any Public Agency is preceded by their 
registration with OMNIA Partners  as a Participating Public Agency in OMNIA 
Partners’ cooperative purchasing program. Registration with OMNIA Partners as a 
Participating Public Agency is accomplished by Public Agencies entering into a 
Master Intergovernmental Cooperative Purchasing Agreement, an example of which 
is attached as Exhibit C, and by using the Master Agreement, any such Participating 
Public Agency agrees that it is registered with OMNIA Partners, whether pursuant to 
the terms of the Master Intergovernmental Purchasing Cooperative Agreement or as 
otherwise agreed to. The terms and pricing established in the resulting Master 
Agreement between the Supplier and the Principal Procurement Agency will be the 
same as that available to Participating Public Agencies through OMNIA Partners. 

 
All transactions, purchase orders, invoices, payments etc., will occur directly between 
the Supplier and each Participating Public Agency individually, and neither OMNIA 
Partners, any Principal Procurement Agency nor any Participating Public Agency, 
including their respective agents, directors, employees or representatives, shall be 
liable to Supplier for any acts, liabilities, damages, etc., incurred by any other 
Participating Public Agency. Supplier is responsible for knowing the tax laws in each 
state. 

 
This Exhibit A defines the expectations for qualifying Suppliers based on OMNIA 
Partners’ requirements to market the resulting Master Agreement nationally to Public 
Agencies. Each section in this Exhibit A refers to the capabilities, requirements, 

Commented [JW1]: Exception as written. Requires 
further discussion. 



Requirements for National Cooperative Contract 
Page 3  

obligations, and prohibitions of competing Suppliers on a national level in order to 
serve Participating Public Agencies through OMNIA Partners. 

 
These requirements are incorporated into and are considered an integral part of this 
RFP. OMNIA Partners reserves the right to determine whether or not to make the 
Master Agreement awarded by the Principal Procurement Agency available to 
Participating Public Agencies, in its sole and absolute discretion, and any party 
submitting a response to this RFP acknowledges that any award by the Principal 
Procurement Agency does not obligate OMNIA Partners to make the Master 
Agreement available to Participating Procurement Agencies. 

 
1.2 Marketing, Sales and Administrative Support 

 
During the term of the Master Agreement OMNIA Partners intends to provide 
marketing, sales, partnership development and administrative support for Supplier 
pursuant to this section that directly promotes the Supplier’s products and services to 
Participating Public Agencies through multiple channels, each designed to promote 
specific products and services to Public Agencies on a national basis. 

 
OMNIA Partners will assign the Supplier a Director of Partner Development who will 
serve as the main point of contact for the Supplier and will be responsible for managing 
the overall relationship between the Supplier and OMNIA Partners. The Director of 
Partner Development will work with the Supplier to develop a comprehensive strategy 
to promote the Master Agreement and will connect the Supplier with appropriate 
stakeholders within OMNIA Partners including, Sales, Marketing, Contracting, 
Training, and Operations & Support. 

 
The OMNIA Partners marketing team will work in conjunction with Supplier to 
promote the Master Agreement to both existing Participating Public Agencies and 
prospective Public Agencies through channels that may include: 

 
A. Marketing collateral (print, electronic, email, presentations) 
B. Website 
C. Trade shows/conferences/meetings 
D. Advertising 
E. Social Media 

 
The OMNIA Partners sales teams will work in conjunction with Supplier to promote 
the Master Agreement to both existing Participating Public Agencies and prospective 
Public Agencies through initiatives that may include: 

 
A. Individual sales calls 
B. Joint sales calls 
C. Communications/customer service 
D. Training sessions for Public Agency teams 
E. Training sessions for Supplier teams 

Commented [JW2]: Exception as written. Requires 
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The OMNIA Partners contracting teams will work in conjunction with Supplier to 
promote the Master Agreement to both existing Participating Public Agencies and 
prospective Public Agencies through: 

 
A. Serving as the subject matter expert for questions regarding joint powers authority 

and state statutes and regulations for cooperative purchasing 
B. Training sessions for Public Agency teams 
C. Training sessions for Supplier teams 
D. Regular business reviews to monitor program success 
E. General contract administration 

 
Suppliers are required to pay an administrative fee of 3% of the greater of the Contract 
Sales under the Master Agreement and Guaranteed Contract Sales under this Request 
for Proposal. Supplier will be required to execute the OMNIA Partners Administration 
Agreement (Exhibit B). 

 
1.3 Estimated Volume 

 
The dollar volume purchased under the Master Agreement is estimated to be 
approximately $50 million annually.  While no minimum volume is guaranteed to 
Supplier, the estimated annual volume is projected based on the current annual 
volumes among the Principal Procurement Agency, other Participating Public 
Agencies that are anticipated to utilize the resulting Master Agreement to be made 
available to them through OMNIA Partners, and volume growth into other Public 
Agencies through a coordinated marketing approach between Supplier and OMNIA 
Partners. 

 
1.4 Award Basis 

 
The basis of any contract award resulting from this RFP made by Principal 
Procurement Agency will, at OMNIA Partners’ option, be the basis of award on a 
national level through OMNIA Partners. If multiple Suppliers are awarded by 
Principal Procurement Agency under the Master Agreement, those same Suppliers will 
be required to extend the Master Agreement to Participating Public Agencies through 
OMNIA Partners. Utilization of the Master Agreement by Participating Public 
Agencies will be at the discretion of the individual Participating Public Agency. 
Certain terms of the Master Agreement specifically applicable to the Principal 
Procurement Agency (e.g. governing law) are subject to modification for each 
Participating Public Agency as Supplier, such Participating Public Agency and 
OMNIA Partners shall agree without being in conflict with the Master Agreement. 
Participating Agencies may request to enter into a separate supplemental agreement to 
further define the level of service requirements over and above the minimum defined 
in the Master Agreement (i.e. invoice requirements, order requirements, specialized 
delivery, diversity requirements such as minority and woman owned businesses, 
historically underutilized business, governing law, etc.). It shall be the responsibility 
of the Supplier to comply, when applicable, with the prevailing wage legislation in 
effect in the jurisdiction of the Participating Agency.  It shall further be the 
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responsibility of the Supplier to monitor the prevailing wage rates as established by 
the appropriate department of labor for any increase in rates during the term of the 
Master Agreement and adjust wage rates accordingly. Any supplemental agreement 
developed as a result of the Master Agreement is exclusively between the Participating 
Agency and the Supplier (Contract Sales are reported to OMNIA Partners). 

 
All purchase orders issued and accepted by the Supplier may survive expiration or 
termination of the Master Agreement. Participating Agencies’ purchase orders may 
exceed the term of the Master Agreement if the purchase order is issued prior to the 
expiration of the Master Agreement. Supplier is responsible for reporting all sales and 
paying the applicable administrative fee for sales that use the Master Agreement as the 
basis for the purchase order, even though Master Agreement may have expired. 

 
1.5 Objectives of Cooperative Program 

 
This RFP is intended to achieve the following objectives regarding availability through 
OMNIA Partners’ cooperative program: 

 
A. Provide a comprehensive competitively solicited and awarded national agreement 

offering the Products covered by this solicitation to Participating Public Agencies; 
B. Establish the Master Agreement as the Supplier’s primary go to market strategy to 

Public Agencies nationwide; 
C. Achieve cost savings for Supplier and Public Agencies through a single solicitation 

process that will reduce the Supplier’s need to respond to multiple solicitations and 
Public Agencies need to conduct their own solicitation process; 

D. Combine the aggregate purchasing volumes of Participating Public Agencies to 
achieve cost effective pricing. 

 
2.0 REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 

 
As a condition to Supplier entering into the Master Agreement, which would be available to 
all Public Agencies, Supplier must make certain representations, warranties and covenants to 
both the Principal Procurement Agency and OMNIA Partners designed to ensure the success 
of the Master Agreement for all Participating Public Agencies as well as the Supplier. 

 
2.1 Corporate Commitment 

 
Supplier commits that (1) the Master Agreement has received all necessary corporate 
authorizations and support of the Supplier’s executive management, (2) the Master 
Agreement is Supplier's primary “go to market” strategy for Public Agencies, (3) the 
Master Agreement will be promoted to all Public Agencies, including any existing 
customers, and Supplier will transition existing customers, upon their request, to the 
Master Agreement, and (4) that the Supplier has read and agrees to the terms and 
conditions of the Administration Agreement with OMNIA Partners and will execute 
such agreement concurrent with and as a condition of its execution of the Master 
Agreement with the Principal Procurement Agency. Supplier will identify an 
executive corporate sponsor and a separate national account manager within the RFP 
response that will be responsible for the overall management of the Master Agreement. Commented [JW3]: Exception as written. Requires 

further discussion. 
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2.2 Pricing Commitment 
 

Supplier commits the not-to-exceed pricing provided under the Master 
Agreement pricing is its lowest available (net to buyer) to Public Agencies 
nationwide and further commits that if a Participating Public Agency is eligible 
for lower pricing through a national, state, regional or local or cooperative 
contract, the Supplier will match such lower pricing to that Participating Public 
Agency under the Master Agreement. 

 
2.3 Sales Commitment 

 
Supplier commits to aggressively market the Master Agreement as its go to 
market strategy in this defined sector and that its sales force will be trained, 
engaged and committed to offering the Master Agreement to Public Agencies 
through OMNIA Partners nationwide. Supplier commits that all Master 
Agreement sales will be accurately and timely reported to OMNIA Partners in 
accordance with the OMNIA Partners Administration Agreement. Supplier also 
commits its sales force will be compensated, including sales incentives, for sales 
to Public Agencies under the Master Agreement in a consistent or better manner 
compared to sales to Public Agencies if the Supplier were not awarded the Master 
Agreement. 

 

Commented [JW4]: Exception as written. Requires 
further discussion. 
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further discussion. 



PSI Appendix C, Exhibit A – OMNIA Partners Response  
RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45 



RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45 
Appendix C 

RESPONSE FOR NATIONAL COOPERATIVE CONTRACT – OMNIA PARTNERS 1 

3.0 SUPPLIER RESPONSE 

Supplier must supply the following information in order for the Principal Procurement Agency to 
determine Supplier's qualifications to extend the resulting Master Agreement to Participating Public 
Agencies through OMNIA Partners. 

3.1 Company 

A. Brief history and description of Supplier to include experience providing similar products and
services.

PSI Services LLC (PSI) is a limited liability company providing worldwide testing service to 
corporations, Federal and state government agencies, professional associations, certifying 
bodies, and leading academic institutions for over 70 years, since our founding in 1946. As one 
of the world's largest assessment providers, we operate in over 120 countries and deliver 
millions of exams and assessments annually. We provide these assessment services to over 
5,000 clients in various professional fields such as education, healthcare, finance, IT, 
environmental trades, and building trades across all our divisions (Education, Certification, 
Licensure, Federal, and Talent Assessment). We are a mid-sized firm with 2,400 employees, 
staffed by an exceptional team of professionals who are fully committed to delivering 
outstanding products and services. We are a recognized leader in the human resource 
consulting industry and the development and administration of licensing tests. This leadership 
has been established through the teamwork of dedicated employees working to create a 
successful business. Our profitable growth reflects both successful accomplishment and 
endless opportunity.  

PSI, a leader in the assessment industry, provides various assessment solutions through our 
multiple business channels, including education (higher education and admissions/entrance 
exams), talent assessments (of job-seeking students as well as employee development 
programs), licensure testing services (for government regulatory agencies), certification 
credentialing services (for professional associations), license management services, and 
biometric identification authentication services. PSI offers clients solutions to measure, assess, 
and identify the skills, abilities, traits, and identities of individuals seeking jobs, licensure, or 
certification credentials.  

PSI was the first company to offer remote proctoring technology to the higher education 
market nearly 15 years ago. It was the first company to develop and patent lock-down browser 
software over 20 years ago. Today, we service nearly 5,000 global customers and administer 
over 15 million exams annually through our various delivery channels. We provide proctoring 
solutions to over 650 higher education institutions and deliver hundreds of thousands of 
exams for students each year. Our remote proctoring service is used by several state education 
systems, including the State University of New York System, University of Alaska System, 
Southern University System, and the Inter-American University of Puerto Rico System.  
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PSI has two decades of experience in online test security and remote proctoring and has long 
been committed to developing technology that enables students to use their own computers to 
take exams. Breakthroughs in technology have made remote proctoring a secure, efficient 
delivery method for a rapidly growing body of schools, licensing and credentialing 
organizations, and companies. In this respect, PSI has an edge in the testing industry, as we 
have been ahead of the curve when it comes to developing and investing in our remote 
proctoring platform. We are continually building on our substantial foundation with 
technologies such as Artificial Intelligence (AI) features, Intelligent Incident Handling, and 
Identity Verification. In addition, PSI believes there are many key competitive advantages to our 
services over competitors'. 

In 2015, PSI entered into an exciting new partnership with Waud Capital Partners (WCP), a 
leading private equity firm. WCP partners with exceptional management teams to invest in 
middle-market growth equity investments, buyouts, industry consolidations, and 
recapitalizations. The firm has successfully completed more than 160 investments since its 
founding in 1993 and currently has approximately $1 billion of capital under management. 

Before this, PSI was principally owned by ABRY Partners, a Boston-based private equity fund. 

B. Total number and location of sales persons employed by Supplier.

PSI has three (3) salespersons working within our Higher Education department, with fewer 
than 20 others across all divisions of PSI services and products. Our salespersons are mostly 
remote workers in different locations and work out of our two head offices in Glendale, CA, and 
Olathe, KS. A few also work from PSI's Carmel, IN office. 

C. Number and location of support centers (if applicable) and location of corporate office.

Response 

Company name: PSI Services LLC 

Business locations: Company Headquarters 
611 N. Brand Blvd., 10th Floor 
Glendale, CA 91203 
(800) 367-1565 Toll-Free Telephone
(818) 847-6180 Telephone
(818) 847-8701 Fax

Credentialing/Education Operations and Support Center 
18000 W. 105th Street 
Olathe, KS 66061-7543 
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D. Annual sales for the three previous fiscal years.

PSI has included Financial Statements, including annual sales, for the three previous fiscal years 
in Attachment 1 of this response. 

a. Submit FEIN and Dunn & Bradstreet report

PSI's information requested is as follows: 

• FEIN/Tax ID Number: 20-5910717
• Dunn & Bradstreet (DUNS) Number: 04-309-1602

A full Dunn & Bradstreet report is attached to this response as Attachment 2. 

E. Describe any green or environmental initiatives or policies.

As part of PSI's commitment to sustainability and corporate social responsibility, we seek to 
protect the environment, prevent pollution, and reduce waste and energy/resource usage 
across our operations. 

We aim to improve our environmental performance and support our clients to meet their own 
environmental and sustainability goals. 

To this end, we commit to: 

• Fulfill our compliance obligations and manage and reduce the environmental impact of
our activities and professional services

• Work with our clients to deliver more sustainable outcomes, promote actions that
reduce negative environmental impact, and assist them in meeting their own
environmental objectives

• Promote environmental awareness and understanding in our employees and
suppliers, and empower them to embed sustainable practices into service delivery

• Reduce the consumption of energy and carbon emissions
• Reduce waste generation and water usage, prevent pollution, and increase reuse and

recycling
• Incorporate environmental considerations when procuring products and services and

increase the use of recyclable and renewable materials

• Set regional objectives and targets and measure and report our impacts
• Continually improve our environmental management system to enhance our

environmental performance

This policy applies to PSI globally and, so far as is reasonably practicable, will be implemented 
at the regional level to address local priorities and critical issues. 
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F. Describe any diversity programs or partners supplier does business with and how Participating
Agencies may use diverse partners through the Master Agreement. Indicate how, if at all, pricing
changes when using the diversity program. If there are any diversity programs, provide a list of
diversity alliances and a copy of their certifications.

PSI does not conduct business with any diversity programs or partners supplier, rendering this 
inapplicable. 

G. Indicate if supplier holds any of the below certifications in any classified areas and include proof of
such certification in the response:

a. Minority Women Business Enterprise

Yes No 

If yes, list certifying agency:

b. Small Business Enterprise (SBE) or Disadvantaged Business Enterprise
(DBE)

Yes No 

If yes, list certifying agency: 

c. Historically Underutilized Business (HUB)
Yes No 

If yes, list certifying agency: 

d. Historically Underutilized Business Zone Enterprise (HUBZone)

Yes No 

e. If yes, list certifying agency:   ____________________________________

f. Other recognized diversity certificate holder

Yes No 

If yes, list certifying agency: 

H. List any relationships with subcontractors or affiliates intended to be used when providing services
and identify if subcontractors meet minority-owned standards.  If any, list which certifications
subcontractors hold and certifying agency.

PSI does not use subcontractors or affiliates for the services required. 

I. Describe how supplier differentiates itself from its competitors.

PSI has two decades of experience in remote proctoring. We have long been committed to 
developing technology that enables students to use their own computers to take high-stakes 

X

X 

X 

X 

X 
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exams. Breakthroughs in technology have made remote proctoring a secure, efficient delivery 
method for a rapidly growing body of licensing and credentialing organizations, schools, and 
companies. In this respect, PSI has an edge in the testing industry, as we have been ahead of 
the curve when it comes to developing and investing in our remote proctoring platform. We are 
continually building on our substantial foundation with technologies such as Artificial 
Intelligence (AI) features, Intelligent Incident Handling, and Identity Verification. In addition, PSI 
believes there are many key competitive advantages to our services over competitors, as 
explained in detail below. 

Live Proctoring 
Automated Self-Service Check-In is a unique check-in model that helps to speed up exam 
launch times. Once the student completes the self-service check-in, they can start the exam 
without delay, while a PSI check-in specialist confirms their identity, only addressing the 
student if additional validation is required. Automated check-in cuts launch times in half 
compared to the systems used by other live proctoring vendors who have proctors take care of 
the entire exam set-up process.  

Communication Via Chat allows proctors to communicate exclusively with your students via 
chat during an examination. During the live proctored exam administration, the proctor can 
view and hear the student, but the student cannot view or hear the proctor. All communication 
between the proctor and student is limited to type chat. This helps with the following during 
the exam: 

• minimize issues for ESL students
• eliminates bias
• reduces distractions

Communication via chat also uses less bandwidth during the exam. This means lower minimum 
internet speeds are required for our system than by most providers' live proctoring systems. 

PSI's Patented Lock-Down Brower automatically blocks web browsers and applications and 
speeds up launch time without requiring a proctor to connect to a student's computer. Launch 
times are faster than the systems used by other vendors in the market that require the proctor 
to handle the entire process of student onboarding and then stop other applications from 
running. Other providers do this by using intrusive remote desktop software, which gives the 
proctor full control and access to the student's computer, making students uncomfortable, 
creates unnecessary student data security issues, and raises liability issues for the institution.   

Record and Review 
This is convenient for students and less invasive than having a live proctor watching the 
exam. This method provides on-demand proctoring without a student having to schedule in 
advance. PASSHE students have the peace of mind that a live person is not watching them in 
their personal space. However, they are aware that the video will be reviewed and analyzed by 
a trained proctor who will flag and report on incidents.   
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The Lock-Down Browser automatically blocks other web browsers and applications from 
being used during the exam while providing the ability to customize the security on a per-exam 
basis. PSI was the first company to patent and go to market with Lock-Down Browser 
technology.  

Artificial Intelligence (AI) is continually improving through our massive repository of human-
reviewed and flagged exam videos. We believe it is risky to rely on machine learning algorithms 
alone, without human oversight, to determine whether a student's behavior is indeed cheating. 
While we continue to train AI algorithms from the exams we review, we use AI primarily to alert 
proctors of data that should be reviewed. AI will continue to improve the accuracy and 
efficiency of our expert proctoring services.  

PSI's Record and Review modality is the longest-tenured solution in the online proctoring 
market, and we were the first to deploy it. We have been specializing in it for 15 years.  

Low-Stakes Proctoring 
Our platform offers an option for low stakes testing and self-proctoring. This modality is 
identical to the On-Demand Record and Review mode. However, we don't perform the human 
review of the student's exam videos. Students will have an automated proctoring experience, 
testing with the Secure Browser's exam security, identity authentication, and complete 
video/audio/screen recording. Some basic smart behavior notifications occur (for example, 
"stay in view of the camera," "eyes on your screen," facial recognition, and similar corrections). 

The student still receives the experience of being proctored, keeping a natural deterrent effect 
in place. They won't necessarily even know PSI does not thoroughly review the videos. After the 
exam, PSI will provide instructors or faculty with access to the student's exam session 
recordings for self-proctored review or auditing.
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High Stakes Security and Data Integrity 
PSI understands that we must maintain a high stakes testing environment for students. We 
employ multiple approaches and layers of security regarding data and program content.  

One Platform. Since all our delivery channels run on the same internet-based delivery driver, 
there is no migration between platforms, substantially reducing the risk of data being 
compromised. Delivery of exam content is controlled from a central, secure location and 
cannot be duplicated or manipulated in any manner. No data is stored on students' devices. 

Secure Data Transfer Practices. PSI encrypts confidential data in transit and at rest using AES 
256. This can be sent through HTTPS over a TLS 1.2 connection. PSI regularly tests systems for
potential security vulnerabilities that could lead to data leakage.

Secure Lock-Down Browser. PSI's patented lock-down browser for online proctoring is 
noninvasive and does not allow for proctors to remote into examinees' computers. This is 
reassuring to students, increases security, and minimizes liability. The browser provides full 
customization, allowing instructors or administrators to determine whether to allow or block 
access to online or physical resources and set the exam's security rules.  

Assisted Online Proctoring. PSI leverages AI technology with our Intelligent Incident Handling 
system to support online proctors and maintain PASSHE's business rules. By programming the 
exam-level rules and policies into the system, human proctors can focus on potential violations 
without memorizing the specific rules and policies for each examination.  

Outstanding Customer and Student Services 
PSI strives to maintain an outstanding testing experience. From onboarding to scheduling, from 
proctoring to technical support, PSI will uphold the standard of service excellence. We are 
known for providing a high-quality testing environment, according to data collected directly 
from student surveys. 

If desired, PSI can provide the following services to support your students: 

• A 24/7 toll-free phone line
• 24/7 student support via phone and chat
• PSI's 24/7 unified scheduling system for all test delivery modalities

• Single Sign-On (SSO) for a seamless student experience
• A branded student portal on the PSI site

An Ongoing Partnership that Evolves with Your Program 
PSI is continually evolving as a fast-growing company, and innovation is a crucial element in our 
culture. We believe that our dynamic approach, along with our nearly 75 years of experience, 
has helped us to become the industry leader in market-changing solutions. In fact, we have an 
Innovations Group dedicated to research and investment in new technologies and enhanced 
services.  
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We have made significant investments in growing our reach and experience in the certification 
and testing industry. We are committed to evaluating new technologies and processes that 
might benefit our clients' programs and their student populations.  

PSI takes a partnership approach with our clients and encourages ongoing open discussion 
regarding needs and goals. We will work continually to develop strategies for growth and 
innovation for the education market.  

J. Describe any present or past litigation, bankruptcy or reorganization involving supplier.

At this time, there have been no present or past material, pending litigations, bankruptcies, or 
reorganizations against PSI that would adversely affect our ability to meet contract 
requirements under this RFP or would have a materially adverse effect on our financial 
condition. 

K. Felony Conviction Notice: Indicate if the supplier

a. is a publicly held corporation and this reporting requirement is not
applicable;

b. is not owned or operated by anyone who has been convicted of a felony;
or

PSI is not owned or operated by anyone who has been convicted of a felony. The other options 
are not applicable. 

c. is owned or operated by and individual(s) who has been convicted of a
felony and provide the names and convictions.

L. Describe any debarment or suspension actions taken against supplier

PSI has not experienced any debarment or suspension actions. 
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3.2 Distribution, Logistics 

A. Each offeror awarded an item under this solicitation may offer their complete product and service
offering/a balance of line. Describe the full line of products and services offered by supplier.

PSI is bidding on the PASSHE solicitation for online proctoring. We also offer additional 
assessment services and solutions. This includes, but is not limited to, test development 
services, item banking, online and computer-based testing platforms, soft skills assessments, 
pre-employment testing services, and more.  Details can be found at www.psionline.com.  

B. Describe how supplier proposes to distribute the products/service nationwide. Include any states
where products and services will not be offered under the Master Agreement, including U.S. Territories
and Outlying Areas.

PSI offers a Software as a Service (SaaS) solution. Distribution and logistics do not apply to this 
type of solution.  There are no States where our product will not be offered.   

C. Describe how Participating Agencies are ensure they will receive the Master Agreement pricing;
include all distribution channels such as direct ordering, retail or in-store locations, through
distributors, etc. Describe how Participating Agencies verify and audit pricing to ensure its compliance
with the Master Agreement.

PSI does not use any third-party distribution channels, retail/in-store services, or anything of 
that nature.  

D. Identify all other companies that will be involved in processing, handling or shipping the
products/service to the end user.

PSI will not partner with any other companies in the processing, handling, or shipping the 
services to the end-user. All distribution is handled by PSI directly. 

E. Provide the number, size and location of Supplier's distribution facilities, warehouses and retail
network as applicable.

The number, size, and location of distribution facilities, warehouses, and retail networks do not 
apply to PSI for the purposes of the PASSHE RFP #2020-COOP-LAV-45. 

http://www.psionline.com/
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3.3 Marketing and Sales 

A. Provide a detailed ninety-day plan beginning from award date of the Master Agreement describing
the strategy to immediately implement the Master Agreement as supplier's primary go to market
strategy for Public Agencies to supplier's teams nationwide, to include, but not limited to:

i. Executive leadership endorsement and sponsorship of the award as the
public sector go-to-market strategy within first 10 days

ii. Training and education of Supplier's national sales force with participation
from the Supplier's executive leadership, along with the OMNIA Partners
team within first 90 days

The partnership with OMNIA Partners will be considered a value-add to the PSI sales and 
marketing plans. The higher education and Public Agency market are key markets for PSI, and 
we have an established go-to-market (GTM) strategy in place. Our 90-day plan will include a 
press release announcing the MSA and the PASSHE system as a new client that was 
competitively bid and awarded. PSI will plan a strategic outbound sales effort to the PASSHE 
system institutions and any Public Agencies that express interest in this MSA through the 
procurement process.   

B. Provide a detailed ninety-day plan beginning from award date of the Master Agreement describing
the strategy to market the Master Agreement to current Participating Public Agencies, existing Public
Agency customers of Supplier, as well as to prospective Public Agencies nationwide immediately upon
award, to include, but not limited to:

i. Creation and distribution of a co-branded press release to trade publications 

This will be incorporated into our GTM strategy. 

ii. Announcement, Master Agreement details and contact information
published on the Supplier's website within first 90 days 

This will be incorporated into our GTM strategy. 

iii. Design, publication and distribution of co-branded marketing materials
within first 90 days

PSI is willing to consider the publication of co-branded marketing materials to be used on a 
case-by-case basis. 

iv. Commitment to attendance and participation with OMNIA Partners at
national (i.e. NIGP Annual Forum, NPI Conference, etc.), regional (i.e.
Regional NIGP Chapter Meetings, Regional Cooperative Summits, etc.) and
supplier-specific trade shows, conferences and meetings throughout the
term of the Master Agreement
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PSI is willing to consider attendance and participation with OMNIA Partners at national, 
regional, and specific trade shows or conferences.   

v. Commitment to attend, exhibit and participate at the NIGP Annual Forum
in an area reserved by OMNIA Partners for partner suppliers. Booth space
will be purchased and staffed by Supplier. In addition, Supplier commits to
provide reasonable assistance to the overall promotion and marketing
efforts for the NIGP Annual Forum, as directed by OMNIA Partners.

PSI is willing to consider attending, exhibiting, and participating at the NIGP Annual Forum. 

vi. Design and publication of national and regional advertising in trade
publications throughout the term of the Master Agreement

PSI is willing to consider advertising in trade publications. 

vii. Ongoing marketing and promotion of the Master Agreement throughout its
term (case studies, collateral pieces, presentations, promotions, etc.)

PSI will consider the ongoing and promotion of the MSA through the term of the contract. 

viii. Dedicated OMNIA Partners internet web-based homepage on Supplier's
website with:

• OMNIA Partners standard logo;

• Copy of original Request for Proposal;

• Copy of Master Agreement and amendments between Principal
Procurement Agency and Supplier;

• Summary of Products and pricing;

• Marketing Materials

• Electronic link to OMNIA Partners' website including the online
registration page;

• A dedicated toll-free number and email address for OMNIA
Partners

PSI will consider this. 

C. Describe how Supplier will transition any existing Public Agency customers' accounts to the Master
Agreement available nationally through OMNIA Partners. Include a list of current cooperative contracts
(regional and national) Supplier holds and describe how the Master Agreement will be positioned
among the other cooperative agreements.

PSI will not transition any existing Public Agency customers' accounts to the MSA through 
OMNIA partners. 
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D. Acknowledge Supplier agrees to provide its logo(s) to OMNIA Partners and agrees to provide
permission for reproduction of such logo in marketing communications and promotions. Acknowledge
that use of OMNIA Partners logo will require permission for reproduction, as well.

PSI will provide its logo to OMNIA Partners to be used with PSI's permission. 

E. Confirm Supplier will be proactive in direct sales of Supplier's goods and services to Public Agencies
nationwide and the timely follow up to leads established by OMNIA Partners. All sales materials are to
use the OMNIA Partners logo. At a minimum, the Supplier's sales initiatives should communicate:

i. Master Agreement was competitively solicited and publicly awarded by a
Principal Procurement Agency

ii. Best government pricing

iii. No cost to participate

iv. Non-exclusive

PSI will be proactive in direct sales of our goods and services to Public Agencies nationwide and 
will commit to timely follow-up on leads established by OMNIA partners. We can create sales 
materials with co-branding for OMNIA Partners to be used when needed.   

F. Confirm Supplier will train its national sales force on the Master Agreement.  At   a minimum, sales
training should include:

i. Key features of Master Agreement
ii. Working knowledge of the solicitation process
iii. Awareness of the range of Public Agencies that can utilize the Master Agreement

through OMNIA Partners
iv. Knowledge of benefits of the use of cooperative contracts

PSI confirms this information. 

G. Provide the name, title, email and phone number for the person(s), who will be responsible for:

i. Executive Support: Mark Musacchio, Senior Director of Sales, 
mmusacchio@psionline.com, (617) 658-2841

ii. Marketing: Lauren Novack, Product Marketing Manager, 
lnovak@psionline.com, (818) 847-6180

iii. Sales: Mark Musacchio, Senior Director of Sales, 
mmusacchio@psionline.com, (617) 658-2841

iv. Sales Support: TBD
v. Financial Reporting: TBD
vi. Accounts Payable: TBD
vii. Contracts: Kara Cain, Paralegal & Contract Specialist, kcain@psionline.com, 

(913) 895-4770
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H. Describe in detail how Supplier's national sales force is structured, including contact information for
the highest-level executive in charge of the sales team.

PSI is willing to share details on our national sales force and its structure upon awarding a 
contract. 

I. Explain in detail how the sales teams will work with the OMNIA Partners team to implement, grow
and service the national program.

PSI will work with Omnia Partners on the GTM strategy and define how the PSI sales team 
will be assigned to work with OMNIA Partners upon award of a contract. 

J. Explain in detail how Supplier will manage the overall national program throughout the term of the
Master Agreement, including ongoing coordination of marketing and sales efforts, timely new
Participating Public Agency account set- up, timely contract administration, etc.

PSI has provided a detailed description of our onboarding process in the technical proposal.  

K. State the amount of Supplier's Public Agency sales for the previous fiscal year. Provide a list of
Supplier's top 10 Public Agency customers, the total purchases for each for the previous fiscal year
along with a key contact for each.

PSI has shared our financials as requested for annual sales under the request in section 3.1, 
D. In the Technical Proposal, a list of three clients similar in scope to this RFP has been 
provided. As a privately held company, we will not provide a full list of our top 10 Public 
Agency customers.   

L. Describe Supplier's information systems capabilities and limitations regarding order management
through receipt of payment, including description of multiple platforms that may be used for any of
these functions.

PSI will share these details upon award of contract. 
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M. Provide the Contract Sales (as defined in Section 10 of the OMNIA Partners Administration
Agreement) that Supplier will guarantee each year under the Master Agreement for the initial three
years of the Master Agreement ("Guaranteed Contract Sales").

$ 0.00 in year one 
$ 0.00 in year two 
$ 0.00 in year three 

To the extent Supplier guarantees minimum Contract Sales, the administration fee 
shall be calculated based on the greater of the actual Contract Sales and the 
Guaranteed Contract Sales. 

PSI will not make a guarantee on sales. 

N. Even though it is anticipated many Public Agencies will be able to utilize the Master Agreement
without further formal solicitation, there may be circumstances where Public Agencies will issue their
own solicitations. The following options are available when responding to a solicitation for Products
covered under the Master Agreement.

i. Respond with Master Agreement pricing (Contract Sales reported to
OMNIA Partners).

ii. If competitive conditions require pricing lower than the standard
Master Agreement not-to-exceed pricing, Supplier may respond with
lower pricing through the Master Agreement. If Supplier is awarded
the contract, the sales are reported as Contract Sales to OMNIA
Partners under the Master Agreement.

iii. Respond with pricing higher than Master Agreement only in the
unlikely event that the Public Agency refuses to utilize Master
Agreement (Contract Sales are not reported to OMNIA Partners).

iv. If alternative or multiple proposals are permitted, respond with
pricing higher than Master Agreement, and include Master Agreement 
as the alternate or additional proposal.

PSI will further discuss these options and their availability to our services should a contract be 
awarded. 

Detail Supplier's strategies under these options when responding to a solicitation. 

PSI responds to numerous solicitations from Public Agencies every year. We will leverage the 
OMNIA Partners MSA when needed or advantageous to PSI or when a Public Agency asks for 
examples of cooperative purchasing agreements a vendor might have in place. PSI will not 
commit to responding to every solicitation from a Public Institution with OMNIA Partners.   
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Management and Board of Directors
PSI Enterprises LLC
Glendale, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PSI Enterprises, LLC and its subsidiaries, which
comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss, members' equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of PSI Enterprises, LLC and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the results of their operations
and cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United states of
America.

Minneapolis, Minnesota
April 27, 2018
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016

ASSETS

2017 2016
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,139,953 $ 7,613,915
Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues 21,163,427 12,243,974
Inventories 246,410 260,359
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,999,339 1,462,113
Income tax receivable 1,435,271 -

Total Current Assets 31,984,400 21,580,361

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 10,121,625 7,649,242

OTHER ASSETS
Intangible assets, net 42,107,463 31,619,072
Goodwill, net 228,269,104 141,473,681
Other long-term assets 1,718,368 2,272,583

Total Other Assets 272,094,935 175,365,336

TOTAL ASSETS $314,200,960 $204,594,939

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Revolving line of credit $ 3,000,000 $ -
Accounts payable 9,517,992 4,408,973
Accrued expenses 11,336,911 6,941,380
Deferred revenues 7,333,867 4,495,984
Current portion of contingent consideration 6,202,088 3,285,487
Current maturities of long term debt 2,070,040 -
Current portion of capital leases 43,782 110,897
Income taxes payable - 266,478
Due to related party 4,508,216 -
Due to seller 1,819,622 -

Total Current Liabilities 45,832,518 19,509,199

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Deferred Rent 3,243,813 1,064,035
Deposits 1,214,602 366,293
Deferred income taxes 4,057,597 785,372
Notes payable to related parties, net of discount - 11,460,601
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion 41,245 62,968
Long-term debt, net of current portion 268,867,276 122,393,525
Contingent consideration, net of current portion 952,740 4,792,316

Total Liabilities 324,209,791 160,434,309

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS CONTINUED
For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

MEMBERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Class A Units

Class A, $1,000 plus 12% interest compounding quarterly to
redemption value of $125,860,511; 91,592 and 91,602
units issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively 73,886,698 73,906,485

Class B Units 
Class B, no par value; 91,592 and 91,602 units issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively 20,732,908 20,733,108

Class C Units (Notes 10 and 11)
Class C1, no par value; 5,075 and 4,075 units issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively 4,260 2,760

Class C2, no par value; 4,575 and 4,075 units issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively 19,166 12,418

Class C3, no par value; 4,575 and 4,075 units issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively 19,166 12,418

Class C4, no par value; 4,075 and 4,075 units issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively 72,406 46,913

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (266,814) (2,627,034)
Accumulated deficit (104,476,621) (47,926,438)

Total Members' Equity (Deficit) (10,008,831) 44,160,630

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY
(DEFICIT) $314,200,960 $204,594,939

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

2017 2016

NET REVENUES $184,362,913 $115,817,756

OPERATING EXPENSES
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 108,028,692 71,265,429
General and administrative expenses 54,806,763 23,819,985
Depreciation and amortization 53,627,639 33,921,135
Debt extinguishment expense 7,050,156 -

Total Operating Expenses 223,513,250 129,006,549

Operating Loss (39,150,337) (13,188,793)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Interest expense, net (20,602,690) (11,037,202)
Change in fair-value of contingent consideration (1,577,823) 947,004

Net Other Expense 22,180,513 (10,090,198)

Loss Before Income Taxes (61,330,850) (23,278,991)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT) (4,780,667) 176,831

NET LOSS (56,550,183) (23,455,822)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Currency translation adjustment 2,360,220 (2,627,034)

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ (54,189,963) $ (26,082,856)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

Class A Class B Class C1 Class C2 Class C3 Class C4

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive Accumulated 
Total

Members'
Units Amount Units Amount Units Amount Units Amount Units Amount Units Amount Loss Deficit Equity (Deficit)

BALANCES, December 31, 2015 88,466 $ 70,772,499 88,466 $ 20,069,681 63 $ 1,260 63 $ 5,670 63 $ 5,670 63 $ 21,420 $ - $ (24,470,616) $ 66,405,584

Issuance of Class A and Class B units
for acquisition of EKS (Note 2) 2,993 2,992,856 2,993 604,557 - - - - - - - - - - 3,597,413

Issuance of Class A and Class B units
for acquisition of SSI (Note 2) 143 141,130 143 58,870 - - - - - - - - - - 200,000

Net loss - - - - - - - - - - - - - (23,455,822) (23,455,822)
Foreign currency translation loss - - - - - - - - - - - - (2,627,034) - (2,627,034)
Unit-based compensation expense - - - - 75 1,500 75 6,748 75 6,748 75 25,493 - - 40,489

BALANCES, December 31, 2016 91,602 $ 73,906,485 91,602 $ 20,733,108 138 $ 2,760 138 $ 12,418 138 $ 12,418 138 $ 46,913 $ (2,627,034) $ (47,926,438) $ 44,160,630

Net loss - - - - - - - - - - - - - (56,550,183) (56,550,183)
Foreign currency translation gain - - - - - - - - - - - - 2,360,220 - 2,360,220
Unit-based compensation expense - - - - 75 1,500 75 6,748 75 6,748 75 25,493 - - 40,489
Unit repurchase (10) (19,787) (10) (200) - - - - - - - - - - (19,987)

BALANCES, December 31, 2017 91,592 $ 73,886,698 91,592 $ 20,732,908 213 $ 4,260 213 $ 19,166 213 $ 19,166 213 $ 72,406 $ (266,814) $(104,476,621) $ (10,008,831)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

2017 2016
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net loss $ (56,550,183) $ (23,455,822)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 53,627,639 33,921,135
Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,122,326 1,028,139
Interest capitalized to principal 89,383 1,393,412
Unit-based compensation expense 40,489 40,489
Change in fair-value of contingent consideration 1,577,823 (947,004)
Deferred income taxes (5,039,867) (365,155)
Loss on sale of building and land 840,680 -
Debt extinguishment expenses 4,609,038 -
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues, net (2,663,677) (852,805)
Inventories, net 20,557 (26,456)
Prepaid expenses & other assets (145,299) (35,556)
Accounts payable 3,069,589 1,562,116
Accrued expenses 2,266,858 543,469
Deferred rent 2,020,810 284,515
Deferred revenue 1,287,557 63,601
Income taxes payable 343,731 (268,958)
Due to related party 4,508,216 -

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 11,025,670 12,885,120

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment (5,925,348) (4,084,606)
Software and content development costs (10,465,503) (6,183,239)
Sale of building and land 313,726 -
Acquisition of EB Jacobs (2,466,297) -
Acquisition of A&DC Group Limited (7,674,666) -
Acquisition of Performance Assessment Network, Inc. (115,756,911) -
Acquisition of Education Group Holding AG (3,539,333) -
Acquisition of Professional Examination Service - (2,250,000)
Acquisition of EnlightKS Limited - (12,074,526)
Acquisition of Software Secure, Inc. - (9,215,000)
Acquisition of Computer Assisted Testing Service, LLC - (5,372,605)

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities (145,514,332) (39,179,976)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment of debt extinguishment costs (prepayment fees) (2,441,118) -
Borrowings on long-term debt 279,000,000 33,000,000
Repayments of long-term debt (121,142,292) (1,104,100)
Repayments of capital leases (88,838) (56,337)
Repayments of notes payable to related parties (13,496,647) -
Proceeds from revolver - 3,000,000
Payment of debt issuance costs (7,657,500) (927,954)
Payment of contingent consideration (2,500,797) (644,460)
Unit repurchase (19,987) -

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities 131,652,821 33,267,149

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (2,835,841) 6,972,293

Effect of foreign currency 1,361,879 (2,076,445)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 7,613,915 2,718,067

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 6,139,953 $ 7,613,915

Supplemental cash flow disclosures

Cash paid for interest $ 19,256,093 $ 8,575,025
Cash paid for income taxes 215,483 799,536

Noncash investing and financing activities

Issuance of Class A and B units in connection with acquisition of Software Secure,
Inc. $ - $ 200,000

Issuance of Class A and B units in connection with acquisition of EnlightKS Limited - 3,597,413

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

PSI Services LLC (“PSI” or "the Company") provides various solutions through its multiple business
channels including talent assessments (of job-seeking candidates as well as employee development
programs), licensure testing services (for government regulatory agencies), certification credentialing
services (for professional associations), license management services and biometric identification
authentication services. The Company offers its clients various solutions to measure, assess and identify
the skills, abilities, traits and identities of individuals seeking jobs, licensure, or certification credentials.

On February 28, 2015, a consortium of private equity investment funds associated with Waud Capital
Partners ("WCP") acquired 100% of the ownership interest in PSI (the "Transaction") from PSI Parent LLC
(“PSI Parent”) through PSI Enterprises, LLC (“PSI Enterprises”) for a purchase price of $145,089,603. PSI
is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of PSI Enterprises which was formed for the purpose of the Transaction.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the Company's wholly-owned subsidiaries.
These entities include PSI; EB Jacobs, LLC; PSI International Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries
(including Assessment & Development Consultants Ltd ("A&DC"); Education Group Holdings AG and
Subsidiary ("ECDL"); EnlightKS AB and PSI Services Ltd); Computer Assisted Testing Service, LLC;
Performance-Based Solution, LTD; PSI Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries (including Performance
Assessment Network, Inc. and its subsidiaries, IPAT Holdings Acquisition Limited and Subsidiaries and
Institute for Personality and Ability Testing, Inc.).  Significant intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is the local currency.  The functional
currency of PSI International Holdings Limited, Assessment & Development Consultants Ltd, PSI Services
Ltd, and IPAT Holdings Acquisition and Subsidiaries is the British Pound.  The functional currency of
EnlightKS AB is the Swedish Krona and the functional currency of Education Group Holdings AG and
Subsidiary is the Swiss Franc. The assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries are translated into U.S. Dollars
using the exchange rate at the end of each balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period. Gains and losses from translations are recognized in
accumulated other comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers depository accounts and investments with an original maturity of three months or
less to be cash and cash equivalents.  The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with various
major financial institutions. At times, cash and cash equivalents may exceed amounts insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC").

Accounts Receivable and Unbilled Revenues

Accounts receivable consist of amounts owed to the Company by clients. The Company performs periodic
credit evaluations of the financial condition of its clients, monitors collections and payments from clients,
and typically does not require collateral from its clients. 

The Company extends unsecured credit to customers under normal trade agreements which generally
require payment within 30 days. Accounts greater than 60 days past due are considered delinquent. The
Company does not charge interest on delinquent trade accounts receivables.  Unless specified by the
customer, payments are applied to the oldest unpaid invoice.

Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful accounts.
Management determines the allowance by regularly evaluating individual customer receivables and
considering a customer’s financial condition and ability to pay as well as current economic conditions.
Accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. If the estimated allowance for doubtful
accounts subsequently proves to be insufficient, additional allowances may be required. Recoveries of
accounts receivable previously written off are recorded when received.  Unbilled revenues consist of
revenues earned but not invoiced.  Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues is shown net of an
allowance for doubtful accounts of $250,482 and $130,747 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had one customer that accounted for 14% of the consolidated
accounts receivable and unbilled revenues balance.  As of December 31, 2016, the Company had one
customer that accounted for 10%  of the consolidated accounts receivable and unbilled revenues balance.

  Inventories

Inventories consist principally of pre-printed tests, educational materials, books, and supplies, and are
stated at the lower of cost (first-in first-out method) or market value.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Office equipment 5 Years
Computer equipment 3 Years
Software 3 Years
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Maintenance, repairs, and minor renewals are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or
otherwise disposed of, their costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts
and resulting gains or losses are included in the statement of comprehensive loss.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of
the assets.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the fair market value of acquired patents, customer backlog, content
development costs, software development costs and trademarks which are amortized over the estimated
useful life of the assets. The intangible assets are amortized over an estimated useful life using the
straight-line method based upon the nature and the estimated cash flows from the respective assets. The
identification of intangible assets and determination of the fair value and useful lives are subjective in
nature and often involve the use of significant estimates and assumptions. The judgments made in
determining the estimated useful lives assigned to each class of assets can significantly affect net income.

Customer backlog 3 Years
Trademarks 3-5 Years
Developed technology 3-10 Years

Developed technology is included within "Software development costs" in Note 4.

The Company has developed a database of questions that are used in the Licensure Certification testing
programs ("content development costs”). The costs incurred are capitalized as incurred. These costs are
amortized on a straight-line basis over three years using the straight-line method, the period of expected
benefit. 

Certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal use software are capitalized
"software development costs"). Capitalized costs typically include direct labor and payroll related costs for
software produced by the Company as well as the cost of software purchased from or developed by third
parties. Costs incurred for an enhancement prior to the determination that the enhancement is
technologically feasible are expensed as incurred. Once technological feasibility has been established,
such costs are capitalized until the software has been tested and approved for use. Amortization is
provided on a product-by-product basis using the straight-line method over three years, which is the
estimated useful life, commencing the month after the date of product release.  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, for
impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be fully recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when the estimated
discounted future cash flows from the use of the asset are less than the carrying amount of that asset. To
date, there have been no such losses. 

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired in an acquisition (see Note 2). The Company amortizes goodwill over a period of 10 years on a
straight-line basis.

Page 9

CONFIDENTIAL

CONFIDENTIAL



PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

The Company is required to test goodwill for impairment upon identification of a triggering event. Events or
circumstances which could trigger an impairment review include a significant adverse change in legal
factors or in the business climate, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, unanticipated
competition, a loss of key personnel, significant changes in the manner of the Company’s use of the
acquired assets or the strategy for the Company’s overall business, significant negative industry or
economic trends, or significant under performance relative to expected historical or projected future
results of operations. The impairment test would only be performed when a triggering event occurs that
indicates it is more likely than not that the fair value of an entity (or reporting unit) is below its carrying
value. The Company has elected to test goodwill for impairment at the entity level. When a triggering
event occurs, the Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the
quantitative impairment test is necessary. If that qualitative assessment indicates that it is more likely than
not that goodwill is impaired, the Company must perform the quantitative test to compare the entity’s fair
value with its carrying amount, including goodwill (or the fair value of the reporting unit with the carrying
amount, including goodwill, of the reporting unit). If the qualitative assessment indicates that it is not more
likely than not that goodwill is impaired, further testing is unnecessary.

No impairment of goodwill was recorded during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Deferred Rent

Minimum base rents related to the Company's operating leases, which generally have escalating rental
payments over the lease term are recorded on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the respective
lease. 

Leasehold improvements made by the Company that are funded by landlord incentives or allowances
under an operating lease, are recorded as leasehold improvement assets and amortized over the shorter
of their economic lives or the lease term. These incentives are also recorded as deferred rent and
amortized as reductions to rent expense over the related lease term. 

Debt Issuance Costs

Direct costs incurred in connection with indebtedness agreements are capitalized as incurred and
amortized over the term of the related indebtedness utilizing the effective interest method. Debt issuance
costs are presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the long-term
debt consistent with debt discounts (Note 9).
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value is offset by the
assessment of the Company's or counterparty's non-performance risk. To determine fair value, the
Company primarily utilizes reported market transactions and discounted cash flow analyses. The
Company utilizes a fair value hierarchy that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the
use of unobservable inputs. Observable inputs are inputs that reflect the assumptions market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from sources
independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the reporting entity’s own
assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability
developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. The fair value hierarchy
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques into three broad levels whereby the highest priority is given to
Level 1 inputs and the lowest to Level 3 inputs. The three broad categories are:

Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices that is observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Where available, the Company utilizes quoted market prices or observable inputs rather than
unobservable inputs to determine fair value.  The following table sets forth instruments measured at fair
value categorized by input level within the fair value hierarchy as of December 31:

2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Contingent consideration liabilities $ - $ - $ 7,154,828

2016
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Contingent consideration liabilities $ - $ - $ 8,077,803

Significant judgments and estimates are required in assessing the fair value of the contingent
consideration liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are complex and subject to a significant degree
of judgment with respect to certain factors including, but not limited to, revenue growth rates, future cash
flows, discount rates, future economic and market conditions and determination of appropriate market
comparable transactions. The Company bases our fair value estimates on assumptions that are
consistent with information used by the business for planning purposes and that we believe to be
reasonable; however, actual future results may differ from those estimates. Changes in judgments on any
of these factors could materially affect the value of the contingent consideration liabilities.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

A summary of contingent consideration liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as
follows:

Balance, December 31, 2015 $ -

Contingent consideration related to acquisitions (Note 2) 9,669,267
Payments (644,460)
Fair value adjustments (947,004)

Balance, December 31, 2016 8,077,803

Payments (2,500,798)
Fair value adjustments 1,577,823

Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 7,154,828

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from licensing and certification programs is derived from test candidates, based on contracts
between the Company and the respective state agency or certification board. Cash received from test
candidates is non-refundable after a period of up to 12 months has elapsed, and is recognized as revenue
once testing is complete. 

Based on historical experience, a majority of candidates test within 45 days after making a payment for
such tests. Candidates generally have up to 12 months to take a test after making payment. Deferred
revenue represents cash received from candidates who have not completed their testing process.

Revenue from the sale of pre-employment tests is recognized upon the delivery of tests or, in the case of
royalty arrangements, upon the receipt of royalty statements from partners denoting test usage. Revenue
from human resources consulting and customized testing services is recognized when services are
provided.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues consist of: (1) expenses to operate the Company’s test administration facilities,
fulfillment function for products sold, and customer and technical support service centers that support and
maintain the Company’s Internet-based products and services; (2) test development costs; (3) royalties;
and (4) other costs associated with the delivery of products and services including credit card fees.

Advertising

Advertising costs are charged to operations when incurred. Advertising expense was $1,290,548 and
$361,579 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Unit-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for unit-based compensation based on the grant date fair value. The Company’s
unit-based compensation plan provides for the granting of Class C Units to certain members of
management. These Units are granted at no cost to the recipients. The Units vest over a period of one to
five years and unit-based compensation expense is recognized using the straight-line method over the
vesting term of the Units.  
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the asset and liability approach for financial
accounting and reporting of income taxes. Deferred taxes are provided on temporary differences between
the recognition of income and expenses for financial statement and income tax purposes based on the
provisions of the enacted tax law.

For tax purposes, PSI Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries and PSI International Holdings Limited and
Subsidiaries are tax paying entities. PSI and the remaining subsidiaries are pass-through entities.
Accordingly, with the exception of certain franchise taxes, the members of PSI pay income taxes on
earnings, not the Company itself. 

The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes by establishing a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return and also provides guidance on various related matters such as de-
recognition, interest, penalties and disclosures required. The Company recognizes interest and penalties,
if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense (benefit) (Note 7).

Reclassifications

For comparability, certain December 31, 2016 amounts have been reclassified to conform with
classifications adopted as of December 31, 2017. The reclassifications had no impact on previously
reported comprehensive loss, members' equity or cash flows.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

During May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards
Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” ASU No. 2014-09 establishes
principles for recognizing revenue upon the transfer of promised goods or services to customers, in an
amount that reflects the expected consideration received in exchange for those goods or services. During
August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, which defers the effective date of ASU No. 2014-09.
ASU No. 2014-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods
within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company may elect to apply the guidance
earlier, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016. The amendments may be
applied retrospectively to each prior period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect
recognized as of the date of initial application. The Company is currently assessing the effect that ASU
No's. 2014-09 and 2015-14 will have on its results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

During February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, “Leases.”
ASU No. 2016-02 was issued to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by
recognizing all lease transactions (with terms in excess of 12 months) on the balance sheet as a lease
liability and a right-of-use asset (as defined). ASU No. 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2019, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, with
earlier application permitted.  Upon adoption, the lessee will apply the new standard retrospectively to all
periods presented or retrospectively using a cumulative effect adjustment in the year of adoption. The
Company is currently assessing the effect that ASU No. 2016-02 will have on its results of operations,
financial position and cash flows.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments. This standard addresses eight specific cash flow issues in an
effort to reduce diversity in practice. ASU 2016-15 is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early
adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect adoption to have a material impact on its
consolidated statements of cash flows.

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions

EB Jacobs, LLC

On September 29, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of EB Jacobs, LLC
("EBJ"). The total purchase price was approximately $2.5 million and was financed with debt from the
Company's 2017 Senior Credit Facility (Note 9).  The following table summarizes the allocation of the
purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 2,466,297

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 655,033
Property and equipment 1,235
Goodwill 1,822,366

Total assets acquired 2,478,634

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (12,337)

Net assets acquired $ 2,466,297

The Company incurred transaction costs of $273,000 of which $100,000 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $173,000 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2017.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to expected synergies and is not
deductible for U.S. tax purposes.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

A&DC Group Limited and Subsidiaries

On June 2, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of A&DC Group Limited and
Subsidiaries ("A&DC"). The total purchase price was approximately $7.7 million and was financed with
debt from the Company's 2017 Senior Credit Facility (Note 9).  The following table summarizes the
allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 7,674,666

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 1,493,103
Prepaid expenses and other assets 255,996
Property and equipment 129,736
Goodwill 7,428,414

Total assets acquired 9,307,249

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (412,357)
Deferred revenue (591,025)
Other liabilities (629,201)

Net assets acquired $ 7,674,666

The Company incurred transaction costs of $613,866 of which $160,260 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $453,606 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2017.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to expected synergies and is not
deductible for U.S. tax purposes.

Performance Assessment Network, Inc. and Subsidiaries

On January 19, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Performance Assessment
Network, Inc. and Subsidiaries ("PAN"). The total purchase price was approximately $115.8 million and
was financed with debt under the Company's 2017 Senior Credit Facility. (Note 9)  The following table
summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the
acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $115,756,911

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 3,195,538
Income taxes receivable 1,565,001
Prepaid expenses and other assets 302,826
Property and equipment 1,482,559
Trademarks 720,000
Developed technology 21,090,000
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

Goodwill 99,996,490
Total assets acquired 128,352,414

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,053,734)
Deferred revenues (930,000)
Deferred tax liability (8,150,550)
Due to seller (1,350,189)
Other liabilities (111,030)

Net assets acquired $115,756,911

The Company incurred transaction costs of $13,068,105 of which $7,397,000 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $5,670,605 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2017.  

The Company is amortizing the trademark over three years and the developed technology over ten years.
The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to expected synergies and is not
deductible for U.S. tax purposes.

Education Group Holding AG and Subsidiary

On January 18, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Education Group Holding
AG and its wholly owned subsidiary ECDL Switzerland AG (“ECDL”). The total purchase price was
approximately $3.5 million and was financed with cash from the Company's consolidated balance sheet.
The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed
liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 3,539,333

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 622,977
Prepaid expenses and other assets 106,024
Property and equipment 16,653
Goodwill 3,311,607

Total assets acquired 4,057,261

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (308,407)
Other liabilities (209,521)

Net assets acquired $ 3,539,333

The Company incurred transaction costs of $240,184 which was recorded as general and administrative
expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during the year ended
December 31, 2017.  

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to expected synergies and is not
deductible for U.S. tax purposes.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

Software Secure, Inc.

On December 16, 2016, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of Software Secure, Inc.
("SSI") and assumed certain liabilities.  The total purchase price was approximately $9.4 million and was
financed with additional debt financing under the Company's term loan.  Additionally, the consideration
transferred included $200,000 of Class A and Class B units of PSI Enterprises, LLC.  The following table
summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 9,215,000
Equity consideration 200,000

Total consideration 9,415,000

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 941,618
Prepaid expenses and other assets 27,811
Property and equipment 212,725
Trademarks 220,000
Developed technology 1,540,000
Goodwill 8,210,734

Total assets acquired 11,152,888

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (173,988)
Deferred revenue (1,550,000)
Other liabilities (13,900)

Net assets acquired $ 9,415,000

The Company incurred transaction costs of $866,560 of which $280,000 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $586,560 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2016.  

The Company is amortizing the trademark over five years and the developed technology over three
years.The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to expected synergies and is
deductible for U.S. tax purposes.

Computer Assisted Testing Service

On December 2, 2016, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding units of Computer Assisted
Testing Service, LLC ("CATS").  The total purchase price was approximately $9.1 million and was
financed with additional debt financing under the Company's term loan. (Note 9) The following table
summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 5,372,605
Contingent consideration 3,700,000

Total consideration 9,072,605

Allocation
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

Assets acquired
Accounts receivable 463,288
Prepaid expenses and other assets 85,278
Property and equipment 470,874
Trademarks 1,070,000
Developed technology 920,000
Goodwill 7,052,166

Total assets acquired 10,061,606

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (359,020)
Deferred revenues (130,000)
Other liabilities (499,981)

Net assets acquired $ 9,072,605

The contingent consideration is payable at two measurement dates; $4.5 million on October 1, 2018 and
$2.0 million on October 1, 2020 and are based upon the Company renewing or extending certain
customer contracts with a significant customer.  The initial measurement of the contingent consideration
was calculated using probability weighted estimates discounted to the present value of the expected
payments.  

The Company incurred transaction costs of $709,204 of which $257,954 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $451,250 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2016.  

The Company is amortizing the trademark over five years and the developed technology over three years.
The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to expected synergies and is not
deductible for U.S. tax purposes.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

EnlightKS Holdings Limited and Subsidiaries

On February 3, 2016, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of EnlightKS Holdings Limited
and Subsidiaries ("EKS") for cash and equity. The total purchase price was approximately $16.9 million
and was financed with additional debt financing under the Company's term loan. (Note 9)  Additionally, the
consideration transferred included $3.6 million of Class A and Class B units of PSI Enterprises, LLC.  The
following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed
liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 13,253,416
Equity consideration 3,597,413

Total consideration 16,850,829

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 1,364,035
Prepaid expenses and other assets 270,326
Property and equipment 138,401
Trademarks 27,952
Developed technology 2,302,080
Goodwill 14,887,173

Total assets acquired 18,989,967

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,403,013)
Deferred revenues (275,709)
Deferred tax liability (440,821)
Other liabilities (19,595)

Net assets acquired $ 16,850,829

The Company incurred transaction costs of $1,236,436 of which $320,000 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $916,436 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2016.  

The Company is amortizing the trademark over five years and the developed technology over three years.
The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to expected synergies and is not
deductible for U.S. tax purposes.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

Professional Examination Services

On January 19, 2016, the Company acquired the assets Professional Examination Services ("PES")
including identified key customer contracts and certain employees of PES.  The following table
summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration $ 2,250,000
Contingent consideration 5,969,267

Total consideration 8,219,267

Allocation
Assets acquired

Goodwill 8,219,267
Total net assets acquired $ 8,219,267

The contingent consideration is payable on various measurement dates beginning on March 31, 2016 and
through December 31, 2018 and is based upon forecasted revenues from the acquired contracts.  The
initial measurement of the contingent consideration was calculated using revenue forecasts discounted to
the present value of the expected payout's.  During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company
made payments of $644,460.  

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to the customer contracts, personnel
and expected synergies and is deductible for U.S. tax purposes.  

NOTE 3 - Property and Equipment, net

The major categories of property and equipment consisted of the following as of December 31:

2017 2016

Leasehold improvements $ 3,690,793 $ 1,972,166
Computer equipment and software 10,586,194 7,162,336
Office equipment 3,215,849 1,886,939

Total property and equipment 17,492,836 11,021,441
Less: Accumulated depreciation (7,371,211) (3,372,199)

Total property and equipment, net $ 10,121,625 $ 7,649,242

Depreciation expense for property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was
$4,088,997 and $2,328,720, respectively.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 4 - Intangible Assets, net

The major categories of intangible assets consists of the following as of December 31:

2017
Gross Carrying

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Software development costs $ 60,228,391 $ (27,328,784) $ 32,899,607
Content development costs 23,485,215 (17,827,782) 5,657,433
Customer backlog 320,000 (262,222) 57,778
Trademark 6,280,000 (2,787,355) 3,492,645
Patents 67,503 (67,503) -

$ 90,381,109 $ (48,273,646) $ 42,107,463

2016
Gross Carrying

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Software development costs $ 32,465,896 $ (13,693,996) $ 18,771,900
Content development costs 19,504,930 (10,939,740) 8,565,190
Customer backlog 320,000 (155,556) 164,444
Trademark 5,560,000 (1,447,613) 4,112,387
Patents 61,650 (56,499) 5,151

$ 57,912,476 $ (26,293,404) $ 31,619,072

Intangible asset amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was
$21,637,692 and $15,935,941, respectively. 

The estimated future amortization expense for the next five years as of December 31, 2017 is as follows:

2018 $ 14,530,990
2019 9,492,499
2020 5,072,677
2021 2,348,543
2022 2,109,000
Thereafter 8,553,754

Total $ 42,107,463
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 5 - Goodwill, net

Goodwill consisted of the following as of December 31:

2017

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Goodwill $ 280,321,595 (52,052,491) $ 228,269,104

2016

Gross Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

Net Carrying

Value
Goodwill $ 165,625,222 (24,151,541) $ 141,473,681

A roll forward of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Balance, December 31, 2015 $ 120,152,412

AMP purchase price adjustment 237,864
Acquisition of PES (Note 2) 8,219,267
Acquisition of EKS (Note 2) 14,887,173
Acquisition of CATS (Note 2) 7,052,166
Acquisition of SSI (Note 2) 8,210,734
Amortization expense (15,656,474)
Foreign currency translation (1,629,461)

Balance, December 31, 2016 141,473,681

Acquisition of ECDL (Note 2) 3,311,607
Acquisition of PAN (Note 2) 99,996,490
Acquisition of A&DC (Note 2) 7,428,414
Acquisition of EBJ (Note 2) 1,822,366
Amortization expense (27,900,950)
Foreign currency translation 2,137,496

Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 228,269,104

Goodwill amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $27,900,950 and
$15,656,474, respectively. 
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 5 - Goodwill (cont.)

The estimated amortization expense, based on current goodwill balances is as follows:

2018 $ 28,854,086
2019 28,854,086
2020 28,854,086
2021 27,501,381
2022 27,210,233
Thereafter 86,995,232

Total $ 228,269,104

NOTE 6 - Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following as of December 31:

2017 2016

Accrued employee compensation $ 1,189,048 $ 1,252,218
Accrued bonuses 1,852,513 1,873,618
Accrued paid time off 2,215,509 1,443,430
Other accrued liabilities 6,079,841 2,372,114

Total $ 11,336,911 $ 6,941,380

NOTE 7 - Income Taxes

The following table summarizes the income tax provision for the years ended December 31:

2017 2016

Current
Federal and state $ 304,232 $ 55,503
Foreign (45,032) 486,483

Total current tax expense 259,200 541,986

Deferred
Federal and state (4,438,330) (245,526)
Foreign (601,537) (119,629)

Total deferred tax benefit (5,039,867) (365,155)
Income tax expense (benefit) $ (4,780,667) $ 176,831

The difference between the reported amount of income tax expense (benefit) and the amount of income
tax expense (benefit) that would result from applying the federal statutory rate to pretax income primarily
relates to deductions for book purposes which are not deductible for tax purposes and foreign taxable
earnings. Non-deductible expenses consist primarily of expenses incurred related to the Company's
acquisitions and non-deductible book intangible and goodwill amortization.  Additionally, during the year
ended December 31, 2017, the difference in rates was impacted by the changes in federal tax rates as
discussed below. 
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 7 - Income Taxes (cont.)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following as of December 31:

2017 2016

Deferred tax assets
Intangible assets $ - $ 571,555
Accrued liabilities 532,137 200,351
Net operating losses 685,461 -
Other 8,988 34,391

Total deferred tax assets 1,226,586 806,297

Deferred tax liabilities
Acquired intangible assets (5,098,575) (1,286,863)
Property and equipment basis difference (133,582) (304,806)
Prepaid expenses (52,026) -

Total deferred tax liabilities (5,284,183) (1,591,669)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (4,057,597) $ (785,372)

The Company is subject to income tax in the United States, the United Kingdom, Switzerland, and
Sweden. The Company is not currently under examination by any taxing jurisdiction. In the event of any
future tax assessments, the Company has elected to record the income taxes and any related interest and
penalties as income tax expense within the statement of comprehensive loss.  The Company did not incur
any interest or penalties during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.  The tax years 2013-2017
are still subject to U.S. federal, state or local income tax examinations by tax authorities. 

Changes in tax laws and rates may affect recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities and our effective tax
rate in the future. On December 22, 2017 the U.S. President signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
(the “Act”), which enacted significant tax law changes largely effective for tax  years beginning after
December 31, 2017. The Act reduces the corporate tax rate to 21 percent, effective January 1, 2018, for
all corporations. Because GAAP requires the effect of a change in tax laws or rates to be recognized as of
the date of enactment, we have revalued our deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 22, 2017.
As a result of the revaluation of our net deferred tax liabilities, we have accounted for $2,174,197 of tax
benefit as a discrete item in our provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2017.  The
Act also includes a requirement to pay a one-time transition tax on the cumulative value of non-U.S.
earnings and profits that have not previously been repatriated for U.S. income tax purposes. Based on our
analysis to date the one-time repatriation tax under IRC Section 965 tax is not expected to generate
additional tax. 

The Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only to the extent the position is
more likely than not to be sustained upon audit based on the technical merits of the position. For tax
positions not meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the amount recognized in the financial
statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon
settlement with the relevant taxing authorities. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016 there are no material
unrecognized tax benefits.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 8 - Notes Payable to Related Parties

During 2015, the Company executed secured promissory notes to the majority stockholders in the amount
of $11,886,758. These notes accrued interest in kind at 12% per annum compounding quarterly and were
scheduled to mature on March 31, 2021. The notes were secured by substantially all assets of the
company. No payments are scheduled prior to the maturity date. The notes had a conversion feature
which gave the note holder the right to convert any principal and unpaid interest amount into an equal
number of Class A and B Units. The number of conversion Units being calculated by taking the total
principal plus unpaid interest divided by $1,000. This feature represented a beneficial conversion feature
of $2,375,385 which was reflected as a discount to the notes and amortized over the term of the notes or
early due to repayment in 2017. Interest expense incurred on the notes payable to related parties was
$1,524,482 for the year ended December 31, 2016 and accrued interest was $1,524,482 as of December
31, 2016. 

Notes payable to related parties consists of the following as of December 31:

2017 2016

Notes payable to related parties $ - $ 13,407,264
Less: Note discount - (1,946,663)

Total notes payable to related parties $ - $ 11,460,601

On January 20, 2017, the Company refinanced their 2016 Senior Credit Facility and used the proceeds
from their new term loan and revolver to repay the notes payable and accrued interest in full.  Refer to
Note 9 for details of the new credit facility. 

NOTE 9 - Long-Term Debt

Long-term obligations under the 2016 Senior Credit Facility consisted of the following as of December 31,
2016:

2016

Term loan $122,055,900
Revolving line of credit 3,000,000

125,055,900
Less: Debt discount and issuance costs (2,662,375)

$122,393,525
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 9 - Long-Term Debt (cont.)

2016 Senior Credit Facility

The Company had a senior credit facility including a term loan facility and a $5,000,000 revolving credit
facility ("2016 Senior Credit Facility").  The term loan facility bore interest monthly at a variable interest rate
(as defined in the agreement) equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR, at the option of the Company, plus an
applicable margin of 6.00% for Prime Rate loans or 7.00% for LIBOR loans, which was contingent upon a
debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (“EBITDA”) ratio calculated
quarterly. The 2016 Senior Credit Facility was secured by substantially all assets of the Company.

On February 2, 2016 the Company amended its 2016 Senior Credit Facility to facilitate the purchase of
EKS and increased the outstanding principal to $106,160,000. This amendment did not change the
applicable margin. This amendment was treated as a modification of the 2016 Senior Credit Facility.
Accordingly the fees charged were recorded as debt issuance costs and are amortized over the remaining
term of the loan using the effective interest method. Total fees charged for this amendment were
$320,000.

On December 2, 2016 the Company again amended its 2016 Senior Credit Facility to facilitate the
purchase of CATS and increased the outstanding principal to $111,363,800. This amendment did not
change the applicable margin. This amendment was treated as a modification of the 2016 Senior Credit
Facility. Accordingly the fees charged were recorded as debt issuance costs and are amortized over the
remaining term of the loan using the effective interest method. Total fees charged for this amendment
were $257,954.

On December 16, 2016 the Company again amended its 2016 Senior Credit Facility to facilitate the
purchase of SSI and increased the outstanding principal to $122,363,800. This amendment did not
change the applicable margin. This amendment was treated as a modification of the 2016 Senior Credit
Facility. Accordingly the fees charged were recorded as debt issuance costs and are amortized over the
remaining term of the loan using the effective interest method. Total fees charged for this amendment
were $280,000.

On January 20, 2017, the Company refinanced their 2016 Senior Credit Facility by entering into a first lien
and second lien credit and guaranty agreement (the "2017 Senior Credit Facility").  The refinancing was
accounted for as a debt extinguishment and the Company recorded debt extinguishment expense of
$7,139,539 during the year ended December 31, 2017.  The extinguishment expense included $4,698,421
related to written off debt issuance costs and $2,441,118 of prepayment fees.     

2017 Senior Credit Facility

The 2017 Senior Credit Facility consists of a $266,000,000 term loan (the "Term Loan") and a $5,000,000
revolving line of credit (the "Revolver").  The Company immediately drew down $2,500,000 under the
Revolver and the full amount of the Term Loan.  The Company received initial proceeds of $194,000,000
under the first lien of the Term Loan and $72,000,000 under the second lien.  The Company received
additional proceeds on the first lien of $13,000,000 during the year ended December 31, 2017.  

The first lien of the Term Loan and Revolver bears interest at a variable interest rate (as defined in the
agreement) equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR, at the option of the Company, plus an applicable margin of
4.00% for Prime Rate loans or 5.00% for LIBOR loans.  Interest is payable monthly.  The first lien matures
on January 30, 2023 when the remaining unpaid principal and interest becomes due in full.  The interest
rate on the first lien was 6.33% as of December 31, 2017.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 9 - Long-Term Debt (cont.)

The outstanding balance on the Revolver was $3,000,000 as of December 31, 2017 and is classified as a
current liability on the consolidated balance sheet as it is used to fund working capital.  The interest rate
on the Revolver as of December 31, 2017 was 6.33%.

The second lien of the Term Loan bears interest at a variable interest rate (as defined in the agreement)
equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR, at the option of the Company, plus an applicable margin.  The
applicable margin for the second lien is defined as an amount greater than 8% per year or an amount that
is 4% greater than the greatest margin applicable to the Prime Rate loans under the first lien.  Applicable
margin for LIBOR loans is defined as an amount greater than 9% per year or an amount that is 4% greater
than the greatest margin applicable to the LIBOR loans under the first lien.  Interest is payable monthly.
The interest rate on the second lien was 10.55% as of December 31, 2017.  The principal under the
second lien is payable in full upon its maturity on January 30, 2024.

Quarterly payments on the first and second lien during the year ended December 31, 2017 ranged from
$485,000 to $518,000 based on outstanding borrowings.  

All obligations under the 2017 Senior Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by the Company and
all wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Senior Credit Facility requires the Company to prepay outstanding term
loans, subject to certain exceptions, in the event of: (i) cash flow exceeding defined threshold, (ii)
incurrence of debt, (iii) receipt of casualty proceeds, (iv) issuance of equity, and (v) certain asset sales.
Any mandatory prepayments would be applied pro rata to the term loan facilities and to installments of the
term loan facilities in direct order of maturity. The 2017 senior credit facility are secured by substantially all
assets of the Company.

The 2017 Senior Credit Facility contains a number of covenants that, among other provisions, restrict,
subject to certain exceptions, the Company’s (and most or all of its subsidiaries’) ability to incur additional
indebtedness, pay dividends and distributions, create liens on assets, enter into sale and leaseback
transactions, repay subordinated indebtedness, make investments, loans or advances, make capital
expenditures, engage in certain transactions with affiliates, amend certain material agreements, change
its lines of business, sell assets and engage in mergers or consolidations.

In addition, under the 2017 Senior Credit Facility, the Company is required to satisfy and maintain certain
leverage and coverage ratios.  As of December 31, 2017, the Company was in compliance with all
financial covenants under the 2017 Senior Credit Facility.  

Long-term obligations under the 2017 Senior Credit Facility consisted of the following as of December 31,
2017:

Term loan $277,472,490
Less: Current portion (2,070,040)
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (6,535,174)

Term loan, net of current portion and unamortized debt
issuance costs

$268,867,276
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 9 - Long-Term Debt (cont.)

Future maturities of the 2017 Senior Credit Facility are as follows for the years ending December 31:

2018 $ 2,070,040
2019 2,070,040
2020 2,070,040
2021 2,070,040
2022 2,070,040
Thereafter 267,122,290

Total $ 277,472,490

NOTE 10 - Members' Equity (Deficit)

Class A and Class B Units

The Class A Units entitle the holders to a redemption value of $1,000 per unit plus accrued interest of 12%
per year on unreturned capital of such Class A Units, compounding quarterly. As of December 31, 2017,
accrued interest on unreturned capital was $34,265,844 on a par value of $91,594,667 for a total
redemption value of $125,860,511. The Class A Units are redeemable upon certain events including a
sale or a deemed liquidation of the Company. No redeemable events have occurred as of April 27, 2018.

The Class B Units entitle the holders to 100% of the remaining equity after Class A units are settled minus
the "Sharing Percentage" due to Class C Unit holders, as discussed below. The Class B Units are
redeemable upon certain events including a sale or a deemed liquidation of the Company. No redeemable
events have occurred as of April 27, 2018.

Unit Repurchase Rights

WCP has the right to purchase additional Class A Units at a unit price equal to the lower of a) $1,000 and
b) the fair market value of the Class A Units at the time of such purchase along with an equal number of
Class B Units for no additional consideration.

In the event that management unit holders resign or are terminated, the Company has the right to
repurchase all or any portion of the units issued to management. In the case of resignation or termination
for cause, the repurchase price of a Class A Unit is the lower of a) $1,000 or b) the fair market value of
such unit. Any Class B Unit or Class C Unit, whether vested or unvested, is cancelled with no
consideration paid for such unit. In the case of termination without cause, the repurchase price for Class A
Units, Class B Units and vested Class C Units is the fair market value of such unit. Any unvested Class C
Unit is canceled with no consideration paid for such unit.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 10 - Members' Equity (Deficit) (cont.)

Class C Units

The Company has authorized the issuance of 20,000 Class C units.  Class C Units are divided into four
tranches. Each Class C Unit tranche is eligible to participate in a distribution upon a sale of the Company
based upon the multiple of the return on invested capital, as defined in the incentive unit agreement,
obtained by WCP in such event. The eligible Class C Units entitle the holders to a "Sharing Percentage".
The "Sharing Percentage" is defined by the incentive unit agreement as a percentage equal to the lesser
of (a) 20.00% and (b) the product of (i) 20.00% and (ii) a fraction the numerator of which is the number of
participating Class C Units that are outstanding upon consummation of a sale of the Company, and the
denominator of which is 20,000. Certain Class C Units vest based upon service conditions while others
vest based upon both service and performance conditions (Note 11).

NOTE 11 - Equity Compensation

Class C Units

During 2015, the Company authorized the issuance of 20,000 Class C units to management. Grants are
awarded to employees as an incentive. The Company records the related compensation costs associated
with the grants as the units become vested pursuant to the individual incentive agreements.  The unit
vesting is typically subject to either a five year period of employment, or in less common situations, both a
continuous period of employment from the date of the grant and the successful sale of the Company. If
the employee ceases employment, the vesting will stop on the date of termination and all unvested units
will revert back to the Company. The Class C units granted during the years ended December 31, 2017
and 2016 contained vesting provisions tied to the successful sale of the Company and therefore no
expense is recognized related to these Units.  

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, there were 18,300 and 16,300 Class C units issued and outstanding,
respectively.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, there were 650 and 550 Class C units vested,
respectively.  As of December 31, 2017, unamortized compensation expense related to the Class C units
was $249,788 to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 3.11 years.  

NOTE 12 - Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may become subject to legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in
the ordinary course of business. The Company is not currently a party to any material legal proceedings,
nor is the Company aware of any pending or threatened litigation that would have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s business, operating results, cash flows or financial condition should such
litigation be resolved unfavorably. 

Leases

The Company leases offices and testing facilities in several states and certain equipment through 2027.
The leases generally provide for the lessee to pay taxes, maintenance, insurance and other operating
costs of the leased property. Some of the leases contain rent escalation provisions and renewal options.

Page 29

CONFIDENTIAL

CONFIDENTIAL



PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 12 - Commitments and Contingencies (cont.)

Following is a schedule of future estimated minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating
leases as of December 31, 2017:

2018 $ 4,904,096
2019 4,223,404
2020 3,043,269
2021 2,238,052
2022 1,538,926
Thereafter 4,662,661

Total $ 20,610,408

Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $7,311,158 and $6,506,375,
respectively. 

Minimum annual rental commitments on capital leases are as follows as of December 31, 2017:

2018 $ 57,485
2019 20,372
2020 14,760
2021 14,760
2022 14,760

Total minimum lease payments 122,137
Less: Amount representing interest (37,110)

Present value of capital lease obligations 85,027
Less: Current portion (43,782)

Capital lease, net of current portion $ 41,245

Sale Bonus

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company adopted a sale bonus which provides for cash
compensation to certain employees upon the sale of the Company.  The payments are based on a variety
of inputs including length of service, salary and the selling price of the Company.  The bonus is capped at
$5,000,000.  The Company has determined a sale of the Company is neither probable nor estimable and
as such, no accrual has been recorded as of December 31, 2017.   

NOTE 13 - Employee Benefits

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan (the “Plan”), established under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code for employees in the United States. Effective January 1, 2014, the Company
adopted a Safe Harbor plan. Participation in the Plan is available to all full-time employees, and part time
employees who meet specific eligibility requirements. The Company matches 100% up to 3% and 50% on
the next 2% of employee contributions. As a requirement of the safe harbor adoption, the Company’s
matching contributions vest immediately. The Company also elected to immediately vest any previously
unvested matching contributions for active participants as of January 1, 2014.
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PSI ENTERPRISES LLC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 13 - Employee Benefits (cont.)

The Company also operates various defined contribution pension plans in International jurisdictions under
which fixed contributions per employee are paid into a pension fund and the company has no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further contributions even if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. Contributions to
defined contribution plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense when they are due. The levels
of contribution and the specific pension rules will vary from country to country to ensure local laws are
adhered to.

The Company's expense for contributions to the plans described above during the years ended December
31, 2017 and 2016 were $1,657,044 and $744,363, respectively.

NOTE 14 - Related Party Transactions

For each acquisition completed by the Company, a fee of approximately 3% of the purchase price is
accrued for payment to WCP, the Company's controlling member.  For the years ended December 31,
2017 and 2016, the Company recorded acquisition related expenses related to these fees for $3,884,460
and $991,110, respectively.  As of December 31, 2017, the Company owed WCP $3,480,000 which is
included on the consolidated balance sheet as due to related party.

The Company also pays WCP an annual fee based on a defined percentage of EBITDA for each year.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded expenses of $2,506,432 related to
these fees which included $450,000 as a catch up for the 2016 and 2015.  As of December 31, 2017,  the
Company still owed WCP $1,028,216 which is included on the consolidated balance sheet as due to
related party.

NOTE 15 - Subsequent Events

On March 3, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Innovative HR Solutions FZ,
LLC and Innovative Human Resources Consultancy, LLC ("IHS") for a purchase price of approximately
$2.1 million pursuant to a shares purchase agreement. IHS is located in Dubai, UAE and Abu Dhabi UAE
and operates in the same types of business activity as the Company. The acquisition is subject to a
waiting period in accordance with local laws before being fully executed.  The waiting period ends on May
3, 2018.

On April 12, 2018, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Learndirect
Limited ("Learndirect") for a purchase price of approximately $3.2 million pursuant to an asset purchase
agreement. LearnDirect is located in the United Kingdom and operates in the same types of business
activity as the Company. 

Both acquisitions above were financed through a series of notes payable to the Company's parent (the
"Notes".  The notes payable have terms of five years, bear interest at a rate consistent with the
Company's 2017 Senior Credit Facility revolving line of credit (Note 9), and are payable in full on the
maturity date.  The total amount outstanding under the Notes upon completion of the Learndirect
acquisition was $5,573,083.

The Company performed an evaluation of subsequent events through April 27, 2018, which is the date the
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS' REPORT ON APPLYING AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES

Senior Management of PSI Enterprises LLC and the Board of Directors:

We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by management of PSI
Enterprises LLC and the Board of Directors.  PSI Enterprises LLC’s management is responsible for the
accompanying Adjusted EBITDA Schedule of PSI Enterprises LLC (included in Attachment I) for the year ended
December 31, 2017. The sufficiency of these procedures is solely the responsibility of the parties specified in this
report. Consequently, we make no representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures enumerated below
either for the purpose for which this report has been requested or for any other purpose.

Our procedures and findings as applied to the Adjusted EBITDA Schedule of PSI Enerprises LLC in Attachment I
are as follows:

 Agreed the consolidated net loss and tax benefit (includes provision adjustment), to the Company's

audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017.

 Agreed interest expense cash (net of interest income), amortization and depreciation, non-cash

interest and amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discounts, and compensation costs, as

defined to the Company's internal consolidated financial statements.

 Agreed acquisition costs, management fees, lender annual fee, acquisition GAAP related adjustments,

integration costs, and board of director costs to the Company's schedule of non-recurring 2017

expenses.  The total of this schedule was agreed to the Company's internal consolidated financial

statements.

 We re-calculated the totals and subtotals included in the Adjusted EBITDA Schedule. 

Results of procedures: No exceptions were noted as a result of the above procedures.

This agreed upon procedures engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established
by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We were not engaged to and did not conduct an audit
or review, the objective of which would be the expression of an opinion or conclusion, respectively, on the
accompanying Adjusted EBITDA Schedule of PSI Enterprises LLC for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion or conclusion. Had we performed additional procedures, other
matters might have come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of senior management of PSI Enterprises LLC and the
Board of Directors and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than those specified
parties.

Minneapolis, Minnesota
June 8, 2018
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Attachment I

Consolidated Net Loss YTD

($56,550,183)

CONSOLIDATED ADJUSTED EBITDA
Interest Expense Cash (Net of Interest Income) $21,995,763
Tax benefit (Includes Provision Adjustment) ($4,780,666)
Amortization & Depreciation $56,057,109
Non-Cash Interest and Amortization of Debt Issuance costs and Debt Discounts $5,657,084
Acquisition Costs $7,599,569
Management Fees $2,487,616
Compensation Costs, as Defined $40,489
Lender Annual Fee $207,879
Acquisition Related GAAP Adjustments $1,981,462
Integration Costs $6,093,084
Board of Director Costs $235,573

2017 ADJUSTED EBITDA $41,024,779

FY 2017
SCHEDULE 1 TO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

Adjusted EBITDA Schedule

Consolidated Net Loss for the year ended December 31, 2017 with respect to PSI Enterprises LLC and 
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, shall mean the net loss of PSI Enterprises LLC and Subsidiaries for the 
year ended December 31, 2017 as determined in accordance with GAAP; excluding:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Management and Board of Directors
PSI Enterprises, LLC and Subsidiaries
Glendale, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PSI Enterprises, LLC and its
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the
related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, members' equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years
then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of PSI Enterprises, LLC and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the results
of their operations and cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United states of America.

1



Other Matter

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a
whole. The Adjusted EBITDA Schedule for the year ended December 31, 2018 is presented for purposes of
additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Minneapolis, Minnesota
April 29, 2019
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017

ASSETS

2018 2017
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,708,773 $ 6,139,953
Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues 30,723,456 21,163,427
Inventories 393,160 246,410
Prepaid expenses and other assets 4,930,530 2,999,339
Income tax receivable 1,850,780 1,435,271

Total Current Assets 46,606,699 31,984,400

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 10,326,852 10,121,625

OTHER ASSETS
Intangible assets, net 52,867,596 42,107,463
Goodwill, net 299,439,223 228,269,104
Other long-term assets 2,556,804 1,718,368

Total Other Assets 354,863,623 272,094,935

TOTAL ASSETS $411,797,174 $314,200,960

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Revolving line of credit $ - $ 3,000,000
Current maturities of long term debt 19,430,046 2,070,040
Accrued expenses 19,297,325 11,336,911
Deferred revenues 11,653,929 7,333,867
Current portion of contingent consideration - 6,202,088
Accounts payable 13,979,155 9,517,992
Current portion of capital lease 85,844 43,782
Due to related party 1,380,000 4,508,216
Due to seller - 1,819,622

Total Current Liabilities 65,826,299 45,832,518

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Deferred rent 3,529,535 3,243,813
Deposits 2,181,915 1,214,602
Deferred income taxes 730,657 4,057,597
Capital lease obligations 434,898 41,245
Long-term debt, net of current maturities 405,252,870 268,867,276
Contingent consideration, net of current portion - 952,740

Total Liabilities 477,956,174 324,209,791

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS CONTINUED
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017

MEMBERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Class A Units

Class A, $1,000 plus 12% interest compounding quarterly to
redemption value of $144,207,825; 91,582 and 91,592
units issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018
and 2017, respectively 74,196,267 74,221,067

Class B Units 
Class B, no par value; 91,582 and 91,592 units issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively 20,398,339 20,398,539

Class C Units (Notes 10 and 11)
Class C1, no par value; 5,138 and 5,075 units issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively 8,260 4,260

Class C2, no par value; 4,388 and 4,575 units issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively 37,166 19,166

Class C3, no par value; 4,138 and 4,575 units issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively 37,166 19,166

Class C4, no par value; 3,888 and 4,075 units issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively 140,406 72,406

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,527,731) (266,814)
Accumulated deficit (159,448,873) (104,476,621)

Total Members' Equity (Deficit) (66,159,000) (10,008,831)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY
(DEFICIT) $411,797,174 $314,200,960

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017

NET REVENUES $232,893,506 $184,362,913

OPERATING EXPENSES
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 145,202,047 108,028,692
General and administrative expenses 57,139,077 54,806,763
Depreciation and amortization 56,158,234 53,627,639
Debt extinguishment expense - 7,050,156

Total Operating Expenses 258,499,358 223,513,250

Operating Loss (25,605,852) (39,150,337)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Interest expense, net (30,797,654) (20,602,690)
Change in fair-value of contingent consideration (1,589,800) (1,577,823)

Net Other Expense 32,387,454 (22,180,513)

Loss Before Income Taxes (57,993,306) (61,330,850)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT) (3,021,054) (4,780,667)

NET LOSS (54,972,252) (56,550,183)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Foreign Currency translation adjustment (1,260,917) 2,360,220

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ (56,233,169) $ (54,189,963)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

Class A Class B Class C1 Class C2 Class C3 Class C4

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive Accumulated 
Total

Members'
Units Amount Units Amount Units Amount Units Amount Units Amount Units Amount Loss Deficit Equity (Deficit)

BALANCES, December 31, 2016 91,602 $ 74,240,854 91,602 $ 20,398,739 138 $ 2,760 138 $ 12,418 138 $ 12,418 138 $ 46,913 $ (2,627,034) $ (47,926,438) $ 44,160,630
Net loss - - - - - - - - - - - - - (56,550,183) (56,550,183)
Foreign currency translation - - - - - - - - - - - - 2,360,220 - 2,360,220
Unit-based compensation expense - - - - 75 1,500 75 6,748 75 6,748 75 25,493 - - 40,489
Unit repurchase (10) (19,787) (10) (200) - - - - - - - - - - (19,987)

BALANCES, December 31, 2017 91,592 $ 74,221,067 91,592 $ 20,398,539 213 $ 4,260 213 $ 19,166 213 $ 19,166 213 $ 72,406 $ (266,814) $(104,476,621) $ (10,008,831)

Net loss - - - - - - - - - - - - - (54,972,252) (54,972,252)
Foreign currency translation - - - - - - - - - - - - (1,260,917) - (1,260,917)
Unit-based compensation expense - - - - 200 4,000 200 18,000 200 18,000 200 68,000 - - 108,000
Unit repurchase (10) (24,800) (10) (200) - - - - - - - - - - (25,000)

BALANCES, December 31, 2018 91,582 $ 74,196,267 91,582 $ 20,398,339 413 $ 8,260 413 $ 37,166 413 $ 37,166 413 $ 140,406 $ (1,527,731) $(159,448,873) $ (66,159,000)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net loss $ (54,972,252) $ (56,550,183)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 56,158,234 53,627,639
Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,514,387 1,122,326
Interest capitalized to principal - 89,383
Unit-based compensation expense 108,000 40,489
Change in fair-value of contingent consideration 1,589,800 1,577,823
Deferred income taxes (3,514,741) (5,039,867)
Loss on sale of building and land - 840,680
Debt extinguishment expenses - 4,609,038
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues, net (1,771,038) (2,663,677)
Inventories, net (10,401) 20,557
Prepaid expenses & other assets 473,176 (145,299)
Accounts payable 9,275,932 3,069,589
Accrued expenses (620,785) 2,266,858
Deferred rent (66,516) 2,020,810
Deferred revenue 3,592,630 1,287,557
Income taxes payable (2,218,813) 343,731
Due to related party (3,128,216) 4,508,216

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 6,409,397 11,025,670

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Deposits (204,882) -
Purchases of property and equipment (3,585,989) (5,925,348)
Software and content development costs (11,150,347) (10,465,503)
Sale of building and land - 313,726
Acquisition of EB Jacobs - (2,466,297)
Acquisition of A&DC Group Limited - (7,674,666)
Acquisition of Performance Assessment Network, Inc. - (115,756,911)
Acquisition of Education Group Holding AG - (3,539,333)
Acquisition of Select International, LLC (71,944,632) -
Acquisition of Innovative HR Solutions FZ, LLC (1,954,458) -
Acquisition of Learndirect Limited (2,977,559) -
Acquisition of GMetrix, LLC (20,959,971) -
Acquisition of Development Dimensions International, Inc. (23,649,574) -
Acquisition of JCA Global Limited (7,293,657) -

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities (143,721,069) (145,514,332)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment of debt extinguishment costs (prepayment fees) - (2,441,118)
Borrowings on long-term debt 157,190,866 279,000,000
Repayments of long-term debt (2,063,518) (121,142,292)
Repayments of capital leases (83,233) (88,838)
Repayments of notes payable to related parties (5,573,083) (13,496,647)
Payments on revolver (3,000,000) -
Payment of debt issuance costs (2,896,136) (7,657,500)
Payment of contingent consideration (8,744,628) (2,500,797)
Unit repurchase (25,000) (19,987)
Proceeds from notes payable to related parties 5,573,083 -

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities 140,378,351 131,652,821

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,066,679 (2,835,841)

Effect of foreign currency (497,859) 1,361,879

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 6,139,953 7,613,915

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 8,708,773 $ 6,139,953

Supplemental cash flow disclosures

Cash paid for interest $ 27,354,835 $ 19,256,093
Cash paid for income taxes 2,047,039 215,483

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

PSI Enterprises, LLC and its subsidiaries (“PSI” or "the Company") provides various solutions through its
multiple business channels including talent assessments (of job-seeking candidates as well as employee
development programs), licensure testing services (for government regulatory agencies), certification
credentialing services (for professional associations), license management services and biometric
identification authentication services. The Company offers its clients various solutions to measure, assess
and identify the skills, abilities, traits and identities of individuals seeking jobs, licensure, or certification
credentials.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the Company's wholly-owned subsidiaries.
These entities and their subsidiaries are listed below along with the functional currency if not the United
States Dollar ("USD"):

PSI Enterprises, LLC
PSI Finance Intermediate Holdings, LLC
PSI Intermediate Holdings, LLC
PSI Services LLC and Subsidiaries

EB Jacobs, LLC
Computer Assisted Testing Service, LLC
Select International, LLC
Select Intellectual, LLC
GMetrix, LLC
PSI Services, Inc. (fka Applied Measurement Professionals, Inc.)

PSI International Holdings Limited (fka PSI Services UK Limited) (British Pounds "GBP")
JCA Global Ltd. (GBP)
Innovative HR Solutions FZ-LLC (United Arab Emirates Dirham)
PSI Talent Measurement Limited (GBP)
PSI Services (Switzerland) AG (fka ECDL Switzerland) (Swiss Franc)
EnlightKS AB (GBP)
PSI Services Ltd (fka EnlightKS Limited) (GBP)

PSI Services Canada, Inc. (Canadian Dollar)
Performance Assessment Network, Inc.

IPAT Holdings Acquisition Limited (GBP)
IPAT Holdings Limited (GBP)

Institute for Personality and Ability Testing, Inc.
Performance-Based Selection, LTD.

Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is the local currency as described above.
The assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries are translated into USD using the exchange rate at the end of
each balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period. Gains and losses from translations are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Foreign currency exchange gains and losses are recorded in
the account to which the gains and losses relate in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers depository accounts and investments with an original maturity of three months or
less to be cash and cash equivalents.  The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with various
major financial institutions. At times, cash and cash equivalents may exceed amounts insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC").

Accounts Receivable and Unbilled Revenues

Accounts receivable consist of amounts owed to the Company by clients. The Company performs periodic
credit evaluations of the financial condition of its clients, monitors collections and payments from clients,
and typically does not require collateral from its clients. 

The Company extends unsecured credit to customers under normal trade agreements which generally
require payment within 30 days. Accounts greater than 60 days past due are considered delinquent. The
Company does not charge interest on delinquent trade accounts receivables.  Unless specified by the
customer, payments are applied to the oldest unpaid invoice.

Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful accounts.
Management determines the allowance by regularly evaluating individual customer receivables and
considering a customer’s financial condition and ability to pay as well as current economic conditions.
Accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. If the estimated allowance for doubtful
accounts subsequently proves to be insufficient, additional allowances may be required. Recoveries of
accounts receivable previously written off are recorded when received.  Unbilled revenues consist of
revenues earned but not invoiced.  Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues is shown net of an
allowance for doubtful accounts of $565,593 and $250,482 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had no one customer that accounted for more than 10% of the
consolidated accounts receivable and unbilled revenues balance.  As of December 31, 2017, the
Company had one customer that accounted for 14% of the consolidated accounts receivable and unbilled
revenues balance.  The Company had no customers which accounted for more than 10% of the
consolidated net revenues for either of the years ended December 31, 2018 or 2017.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

  Inventories

Inventories consist principally of pre-printed tests, educational materials, books, and supplies, and are
stated at the lower of cost (first-in first-out method) or net realizable value.  The Company reviews
inventory for slow-moving and obsolete inventory and has appropriately reduced inventory to its net
realizable value.  

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost (except for property and equipment acquired in business
combinations which is recorded at fair value) and depreciated using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Office equipment 5 Years
Computer equipment and software 3 Years
Leasehold improvements 0.5 Years to 11 Years

Maintenance, repairs, and minor renewals are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or
otherwise disposed of, their costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts
and resulting gains or losses are included in the statement of comprehensive loss.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of
the assets.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the fair market value of acquired patents, customer backlog, acquired
technology, content development costs, software development costs and trademarks which are amortized
over the estimated useful life of the assets. The intangible assets are amortized over an estimated useful
life using the straight-line method based upon the nature and the estimated cash flows from the respective
assets. The identification of intangible assets and determination of the fair value and useful lives are
subjective in nature and often involve the use of significant estimates and assumptions. The judgments
made in determining the estimated useful lives assigned to each class of assets can significantly affect net
loss
. 

Customer backlog 3 Years
Tradenames 3-15 Years
Developed technology 3-15 Years
Software and content development costs 3 Years

Developed technology is included within "Software development costs" in Note 4.

The Company has developed a database of questions that are used in the licensure certification testing
programs ("content development costs”). The costs incurred are capitalized as incurred and generally
include direct labor and payroll related costs. These costs are amortized over three years using the
straight-line method, the period of the expected benefit. 
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal use software are capitalized
("software development costs"). Capitalized costs typically include direct labor and payroll related costs for
software produced by the Company as well as the cost of software purchased from or developed by third
parties. Costs incurred for an enhancement prior to the determination that the enhancement is
technologically feasible are expensed as incurred. Once technological feasibility has been established,
such costs are capitalized until the software has been tested and approved for use. These costs are
amortized over three years using the straight-line method, the period of the expected benefit, commencing
the month after the date of product release.  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, for
impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be fully recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when the estimated
discounted future cash flows from the use of the asset are less than the carrying amount of that asset. To
date, there have been no such losses. 

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired in an acquisition (see Note 2). The Company amortizes goodwill over a period of 10 years on a
straight-line basis.

The Company is required to test goodwill for impairment upon identification of a triggering event. Events or
circumstances which could trigger an impairment review include a significant adverse change in legal
factors or in the business climate, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, unanticipated
competition, a loss of key personnel, significant changes in the manner of the Company’s use of the
acquired assets or the strategy for the Company’s overall business, significant negative industry or
economic trends, or significant under performance relative to expected historical or projected future
results of operations. The impairment test would only be performed when a triggering event occurs that
indicates it is more likely than not that the fair value of an entity (or reporting unit) is below its carrying
value. The Company has elected to test goodwill for impairment at the entity level. When a triggering
event occurs, the Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the
quantitative impairment test is necessary. If that qualitative assessment indicates that it is more likely than
not that goodwill is impaired, the Company must perform the quantitative test to compare the entity’s fair
value with its carrying amount, including goodwill (or the fair value of the reporting unit with the carrying
amount, including goodwill, of the reporting unit). If the qualitative assessment indicates that it is not more
likely than not that goodwill is impaired, further testing is unnecessary.

No impairment of goodwill was recorded during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Deferred Rent

Minimum base rents related to the Company's operating leases, which generally have escalating rental
payments over the lease term are recorded on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the respective
lease. 
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Leasehold improvements made by the Company that are funded by landlord incentives or allowances
under an operating lease, are recorded as leasehold improvement assets and amortized over the shorter
of their economic lives or the lease term. These incentives are also recorded as deferred rent and
amortized as reductions to rent expense over the related lease term. 

Debt Issuance Costs

Direct costs incurred in connection with indebtedness agreements are capitalized as incurred and
amortized over the term of the related indebtedness utilizing the effective interest method. Debt issuance
costs are presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the long-term
debt consistent with debt discounts (Note 9).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, notes payable, and debt. The carrying values of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair values due to
the short-term nature of these financial instruments.

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value is offset by the
assessment of the Company or counterparty's non-performance risk. To determine fair value, the
Company primarily utilizes reported market transactions and discounted cash flow analyses. The
Company utilizes a fair value hierarchy that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the
use of unobservable inputs. Observable inputs are inputs that reflect the assumptions market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from sources
independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the reporting entity’s own
assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability
developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. The fair value hierarchy
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques into three broad levels whereby the highest priority is given to
Level 1 inputs and the lowest to Level 3 inputs. The three broad categories are:

Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices that is observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Where available, the Company utilizes quoted market prices or observable inputs rather than
unobservable inputs to determine fair value.  The following table sets forth instruments measured at fair
value categorized by input level within the fair value hierarchy as of December 31:

2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Contingent consideration liabilities $ - $ - $ -

2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Contingent consideration liabilities $ - $ - $ 7,154,828

Significant judgments and estimates are required in assessing the fair value of the contingent
consideration liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are complex and subject to a significant degree
of judgment with respect to certain factors including, but not limited to, revenue growth rates, future cash
flows, discount rates, future economic and market conditions and determination of appropriate market
comparable transactions. The Company bases our fair value estimates on assumptions that are
consistent with information used by the business for planning purposes and that we believe to be
reasonable; however, actual future results may differ from those estimates. Changes in judgments on any
of these factors could materially affect the value of the contingent consideration liabilities.

A summary of contingent consideration liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as
follows:

Balance, December 31, 2016 $ 8,077,803

Payments (2,500,798)
Fair value adjustments 1,577,823

Balance, December 31, 2017 7,154,828

Payments (8,744,628)
Fair value adjustments 1,589,800

Balance, December 31, 2018 $ -

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from licensing and certification programs is derived from test candidates, based on contracts
between the Company and the respective state agency or certification board. Cash received from test
candidates is non-refundable after a period of up to 12 months has elapsed, and is recognized as revenue
once testing is complete. 

Based on historical experience, a majority of candidates test within 45 days after making a payment for
such tests. Candidates generally have up to 12 months to take a test after making payment. Deferred
revenue represents cash received from candidates who have not completed their testing process.

Revenue from the sale of pre-employment tests is recognized upon the delivery of tests or, in the case of
royalty arrangements, upon the receipt of royalty statements from partners denoting test usage. Revenue
from human resources consulting and customized testing services is recognized when services are
provided.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues consist of: (1) expenses to operate the Company’s test administration facilities,
fulfillment function for products sold, and customer and technical support service centers that support and
maintain the Company’s Internet-based products and services; (2) test development costs; (3) royalties;
and (4) other costs associated with the delivery of products and services including credit card fees.

Advertising

Advertising costs are charged to operations when incurred. Advertising expense was $2,041,907 and
$1,290,548 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Unit-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for unit-based compensation based on the grant date fair value. The Company’s
unit-based compensation plan provides for the granting of Class C Units to certain members of
management. These Units are granted at no cost to the recipients. The Units vest over a period of one to
five years and unit-based compensation expense is recognized using the straight-line method over the
vesting term of the Units.  

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the asset and liability approach for financial
accounting and reporting of income taxes. Deferred taxes are provided on temporary differences between
the recognition of income and expenses for financial statement and income tax purposes based on the
provisions of the enacted tax law.  The Company establishes a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred
tax assets when it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be realizable. Changes in tax
rates are reflected in the tax provision as they occur. 

For tax purposes, PSI Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries are tax-paying entities. PSI and the remaining
subsidiaries are pass-through entities. Accordingly, with the exception of certain franchise taxes, the
members of PSI pay income taxes on earnings, not the Company itself. 

The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes by establishing a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return and provides guidance on various related matters such as de-
recognition, interest, penalties and disclosures required. The Company recognizes interest and penalties,
if any, in income tax expense (benefit) (Note 7).

Reclassifications

For comparability, certain December 31, 2017 amounts have been reclassified to conform with
classifications adopted as of December 31, 2018. The reclassifications had no impact on previously
reported comprehensive loss, members' equity (deficit) or cash flows.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

During May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards
Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” ASU No. 2014-09 establishes
principles for recognizing revenue upon the transfer of promised goods or services to customers, in an
amount that reflects the expected consideration received in exchange for those goods or services. During
August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, which defers the effective date of ASU No. 2014-09.
ASU No. 2014-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods
within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The amendments may be applied
retrospectively to each prior period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect recognized as of
the date of initial application. The Company is currently assessing the effect that ASU No's. 2014-09 and
2015-14 will have on its results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

During February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842).” ASU No. 2016-02
requires lessees to recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from leases on the balance sheet. A
lessee should recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make lease payments (the lease
liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term.
During 2018, the FASB also issued ASU No. 2018-10, "Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases",
which addresses narrow aspects of the guidance originally issued in ASU No. 2016-02; ASU 2018-11,
"Targeted Improvements", which provides entities with an additional (and optional) transition method
whereby an entity initially applies the new leases standard at the adoption date and recognizes a
cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. Topic
842 (as amended) is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods
within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is
currently assessing the effect that Topic 842 (as amended) will have on its results of operations, financial
position and cash flows.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments. This standard addresses eight specific cash flow issues in an
effort to reduce diversity in practice. ASU 2016-15 is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early
adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect adoption to have a material impact on its
consolidated statements of cash flows.

Subsequent Events

The Company performed an evaluation of subsequent events through April 29, 2019, which is the date the
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions

Select International, LLC

On May 3, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Select International, LLC, Select
Intellectual, LLC and Select Outsourcing Canada, Inc. ("SI"). The total purchase price was approximately
$72 million and was financed with debt from the Company's 2018 Senior Credit Facility (Note 9).  The
following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed
liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 71,944,632

Allocation
Assets acquired:

Accounts receivable 4,583,376
Prepaid expenses and other assets 80,633
Property and equipment 19,915
Tradename 460,000
Developed Technology 2,237,568
Goodwill 65,589,830

Total assets acquired 72,971,322

Liabilities assumed:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (946,690)
Deferred revenues (80,000)

Net assets acquired $ 71,944,632

The Company incurred transaction costs of $5,230,838 of which $1,600,000 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $3,630,838 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2018.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships, assembled
workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes.  The intangible assets
acquired have a weighted-average useful life of three years.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

Innovative HR Solutions FZ, LLC 

On June 7, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Innovative HR Solutions FZ,
LLC ("IHS"). The total purchase price was approximately $2.0 million and was financed with notes payable
from the Company's controlling shareholder (Note 8).  The following table summarizes the allocation of the
purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 1,954,458

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 1,485,596
Inventories 141,924
Prepaid expenses and other assets 264,400
Property and equipment 30,764
Goodwill 586,297

Total assets acquired 2,508,981

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (552,889)
Deferred revenues (1,634)

Net assets acquired $ 1,954,458

The Company incurred transaction costs of $247,650 which were recorded as general and administrative
expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during the year ended
December 31, 2018.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships, assembled
workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

Learndirect Limited

On April 13, 2018, the Company acquired certain assets and liabilities of Learndirect Limited ("LD")
including identified key customer contracts and certain employees of LD.  The acquisition was an asset
purchase. The total purchase price was approximately $3.0 million and was financed with notes payable
from the Company's controlling shareholder (Note 8). The following table summarizes the allocation of the
purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration $ 2,977,559

Allocation
Assets acquired

Prepaid expenses and other assets 57,071
Developed Technology 2,068,934
Goodwill 1,105,816

Total assets acquired 3,231,821

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (28,220)
Deferred revenues (226,042)

Net assets acquired $ 2,977,559

The Company incurred transaction costs of $250,452 which were recorded as general and administrative
expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during the year ended
December 31, 2018.  

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships, assembled
workforce and expected synergies and is deductible for U.S. tax purposes.  The intangible assets
acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 4.5 years.
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

GMetrix, LLC

On September 21, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding units of GMetrix, LLC (“GMX”).
The total purchase price was approximately $21.0 million and was financed with debt from the Company's
2018 Senior Credit Facility (Note 9). The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price
to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 20,959,971

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 1,052,420
Prepaid expenses and other assets 296,655
Property and equipment 44,044
Tradename 300,000
Developed technology 6,280,000
Goodwill 13,818,873

Total assets acquired 21,791,992

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (265,289)
Deferred revenues (230,000)
Other liabilities (336,732)

Net assets acquired $ 20,959,971

The Company incurred transaction costs of $1,080,585 of which $226,386 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $854,199 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2018.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships, assembled
workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes.  The intangible assets
acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 9.7 years.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

Development Dimensions International, Inc.

On September 19, 2018, the Company acquired certain assets and liabilities of Development Dimensions
International, Inc. ("DDI") including identified key customer contracts, technology and content. The total
purchase price was approximately $23.6 million and was financed with debt from the Company's 2018
Senior Credit Facility (Note 9). The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the
acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 23,649,575

Allocation
Assets acquired

Property and equipment 216,725
Tradename 520,000
Developed technology 2,901,000
Goodwill 20,452,892

Total assets acquired 24,090,617

Liabilities assumed
Deferred revenues (101,043)
Other liabilities (340,000)

Net assets acquired $ 23,649,574

The Company incurred transaction costs of $2,384,367 of which $921,731 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $1,462,636 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2018.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships, assembled
workforce and expected synergies and is deductible for U.S. tax purposes.  The intangible assets
acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 9.7 years.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

JCA Global Limited

On October 4, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the shares in JCA Global Ltd ("JCA").  The total
purchase price was approximately $7.3 million and was financed with debt from the Company's 2018
Senior Credit Facility (Note 9).  The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the
acquired assets and assumed liabilities:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 7,293,657

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 1,015,801
Unbilled revenue 289,084
Prepaid expenses and other assets 93,660
Due from seller 260,647
Property and equipment 159,860
Tradename 93,100
Developed technology 1,755,600
Goodwill 5,354,334

Total assets acquired 9,022,086

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,375,238)
Deferred revenues (133,000)
Deferred tax liability (220,191)

Net assets acquired $ 7,293,657

The Company incurred transaction costs of $445,380 of which $84,950 were capitalized as debt issuance
costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $360,430 were recorded as general
and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during the
year ended December 31, 2018.  

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships, assembled
workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes.  The intangible assets
acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 9.6 years.
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NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

EB Jacobs, LLC

On September 29, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of EB Jacobs, LLC
("EBJ"). The total purchase price was approximately $2.5 million and was financed with debt from the
Company's 2017 Senior Credit Facility (Note 9).  The following table summarizes the allocation of the
purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 2,466,297

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 655,033
Property and equipment 1,235
Goodwill 1,822,366

Total assets acquired 2,478,634

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (12,337)

Net assets acquired $ 2,466,297

The Company incurred transaction costs of $273,000 of which $100,000 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $173,000 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2017.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships, assembled
workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes.

A&DC Group Limited and Subsidiaries

On June 2, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of A&DC Group Limited and
Subsidiaries ("A&DC"). The total purchase price was approximately $7.7 million and was financed with
debt from the Company's 2017 Senior Credit Facility (Note 9).  The following table summarizes the
allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 7,674,666

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 1,493,103
Prepaid expenses and other assets 255,996
Property and equipment 129,736
Goodwill 7,428,414

Total assets acquired 9,307,249

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (412,357)
Deferred revenues (591,025)
Other liabilities (629,201)

Net assets acquired $ 7,674,666
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NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

The Company incurred transaction costs of $613,866 of which $160,260 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $453,606 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2017.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships, assembled
workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes.

Performance Assessment Network, Inc. and Subsidiaries

On January 19, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Performance Assessment
Network, Inc. and Subsidiaries ("PAN"). The total purchase price was approximately $115.8 million and
was financed with debt under the Company's 2017 Senior Credit Facility. (Note 9)  The following table
summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the
acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $115,756,911

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 3,195,538
Income taxes receivable 1,565,001
Prepaid expenses and other assets 302,826
Property and equipment 1,482,559
Trademarks 720,000
Developed technology 21,090,000
Goodwill 99,996,490

Total assets acquired 128,352,414

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,053,734)
Deferred revenues (930,000)
Deferred tax liability (8,150,550)
Due to seller (1,350,189)
Other liabilities (111,030)

Net assets acquired $115,756,911

The Company incurred transaction costs of $13,068,105 of which $7,397,000 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $5,670,605 were recorded
as general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss
during the year ended December 31, 2017.  

The Company is amortizing the trademark over three years and the developed technology over ten years.
The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships, assembled
workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes.
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NOTE 2 - Acquisitions (cont.)

Education Group Holding AG and Subsidiary

On January 18, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Education Group Holding
AG and its wholly owned subsidiary ECDL Switzerland AG (“ECDL”). The total purchase price was
approximately $3.5 million and was financed with cash from the Company's consolidated balance sheet.
The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed
liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration
Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 3,539,333

Allocation
Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 622,977
Prepaid expenses and other assets 106,024
Property and equipment 16,653
Goodwill 3,311,607

Total assets acquired 4,057,261

Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (308,407)
Other liabilities (209,521)

Net assets acquired $ 3,539,333

The Company incurred transaction costs of $240,184 which was recorded as general and administrative
expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during the year ended
December 31, 2017.  

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships, assembled
workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes.

NOTE 3 - Property and Equipment, net

The major categories of property and equipment consisted of the following as of December 31:

2018 2017

Leasehold improvements $ 4,343,617 $ 3,690,793
Computer equipment and software 13,960,243 10,586,194
Office equipment 4,285,200 3,215,849

Total property and equipment 22,589,060 17,492,836
Less: Accumulated depreciation (12,262,208) (7,371,211)

Total property and equipment, net $ 10,326,852 $ 10,121,625

Depreciation expense for property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was
$4,649,063 and $4,088,997, respectively.
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NOTE 4 - Intangible Assets, net

The major categories of intangible assets consists of the following as of December 31:

2018
Gross Carrying

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Software development costs and
developed technology

$ 78,758,594 $ (38,911,013) $ 39,847,581

Content development costs 25,758,230 (20,866,416) 4,891,814
Customer backlog 320,000 (320,000) -
Tradenames 12,935,082 (4,806,881) 8,128,201

$ 117,771,906 $ (64,904,310) $ 52,867,596

2017
Gross Carrying

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Software development costs and
developed technology

$ 60,228,391 $ (27,328,784) $ 32,899,607

Content development costs 23,485,215 (17,827,782) 5,657,433
Customer backlog 320,000 (262,222) 57,778
Tradenames 6,280,000 (2,787,355) 3,492,645
Patents 67,503 (67,503) -

$ 90,381,109 $ (48,273,646) $ 42,107,463

Intangible asset amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was
$16,756,648 and $21,637,692, respectively. 

The estimated future amortization expense for the next five years as of December 31, 2018 is as follows:

2019 $ 17,603,004
2020 16,788,903
2021 16,325,618
2022 1,012,049
2023 634,268
Thereafter 503,754

Total $ 52,867,596
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NOTE 5 - Goodwill, net

Goodwill consisted of the following as of December 31:

2018

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Value

Goodwill $ 385,579,134 (86,139,911) $ 299,439,223

2017

Gross Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

Net Carrying

Value
Goodwill $ 280,321,595 (52,052,491) $ 228,269,104

A roll forward of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Balance, December 31, 2016 $ 141,473,681

Acquisition of ECDL 3,311,607
Acquisition of PAN 99,996,490
Acquisition of A&DC 7,428,414
Acquisition of EBJ 1,822,366
Amortization expense (27,900,950)
Foreign currency translation 2,137,496

Balance, December 31, 2017 228,269,104

Acquisition of SI (Note 2) 65,589,830
Acquisition of IHS (Note 2) 586,297
Acquisition of LD (Note 2) 1,105,816
Acquisition of GMX (Note 2) 13,818,873
Acquisition of DDI (Note 2) 20,452,892
Acquisition of JCA (Note 2) 5,354,334
Purchase accounting adjustments 63,426
Amortization expense (34,147,591)
Foreign currency translation (1,653,758)

Balance, December 31, 2018 $ 299,439,223

Goodwill amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $34,147,591 and
$27,900,950, respectively.
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NOTE 5 - Goodwill (cont.)

The estimated amortization expense, based on current goodwill balances is as follows:

2019 $ 39,366,559
2020 39,359,966
2021 37,990,088
2022 37,716,113
2023 37,745,332
Thereafter 107,261,165

Total $ 299,439,223

NOTE 6 - Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following as of December 31:

2018 2017

Accrued employee compensation $ 2,005,851 $ 1,189,048
Accrued bonuses 4,098,638 1,852,513
Accrued paid time off 2,735,100 2,215,509
Other accrued liabilities 8,359,069 5,797,368
Accrued interest 2,098,667 282,473

Total $ 19,297,325 $ 11,336,911

NOTE 7 - Income Taxes

The following table summarizes the income tax provision for the years ended December 31:

2018 2017

Current
Federal and state $ 116,966 $ 304,232
Foreign 115,726 (45,032)

Total current tax expense 232,692 259,200

Deferred
Federal and state (3,581,996) (4,438,330)
Foreign 328,250 (601,537)

Total deferred tax benefit (3,253,746) (5,039,867)
Income tax benefit $ (3,021,054) $ (4,780,667)

The difference between the reported amount of income tax benefit and the amount of income tax benefit
that would result from applying the federal statutory rate to pretax income primarily relates to deductions
for book purposes which are not deductible for tax purposes and foreign taxable earnings. Non-deductible
expenses consist primarily of expenses incurred related to the Company's acquisitions and non-deductible
book intangible and goodwill amortization.  Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2017, the
difference in rates was impacted by the changes in federal tax rates as discussed below. 
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NOTE 7 - Income Taxes (cont.)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following as of December 31:

2018 2017

Deferred tax assets
Accrued liabilities $ 437,286 $ 532,137
Net operating losses 1,834,504 685,461
Interest limitation 1,793,994 -
Deferred revenue and other 443,951 8,988

Total deferred tax assets 4,509,735 1,226,586

Deferred tax liabilities
Acquired intangible assets (4,990,985) (5,098,575)
Property and equipment basis difference (46,761) (133,582)
Prepaid expenses and other (135,389) (52,026)

Total deferred tax liabilities (5,173,135) (5,284,183)
Valuation Allowance (67,257) -

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (730,657) $ (4,057,597)

The Company is subject to income tax in the United States, the United Kingdom, the United Arab
Emirates, Switzerland, and Sweden. The Company is currently under examination in the United States for
its 2017 federal tax return. It is not under exam in any other taxing jurisdiction.  In the event of any future
tax assessments, the Company has elected to record the income taxes and any related interest and
penalties as income tax expense within the statement of comprehensive loss.  The Company did not incur
any interest or penalties during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.  

The Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards ("NOLs") of $230,000 that expire beginning in
2038 and $210,000 of NOLs with indefinite carryforward periods. The Company has net operating loss
carryforwards across various states of $1.3 million that expire beginning in 2038. The Company also has
net operating loss carryforwards across various foreign jurisdictions of $79,750 that expire beginning in
2038. NOLs in Sweden of $67,000 have a full valuation allowance as these NOLs are not more likely than
not to be realized.

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred
to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). The Tax Act establishes new tax laws effective after
December 31, 2018, including, but not limited  to the reduction of the U.S. federal corporate tax rate to
21%. The SEC staff issued SAB 118, which provides guidance on accounting for the tax effects of the Tax
Act. SAB 118 provides a measurement period that should not extend beyond one year from the Tax Act
enactment date for companies to complete the accounting under ASC 740. In accordance with SAB 118,
a company must reflect the income tax effects of those aspects of the Act for which the accounting under
ASC 740 is complete. Our accounting for the Tax Act is complete, including the remeasurement of our
deferred tax assets and liabilities using the reduced corporate federal tax rate of 21%.

The Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only to the extent the position is
more likely than not to be sustained upon audit based on the technical merits of the position. For tax
positions not meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the amount recognized in the financial
statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon
settlement with the relevant taxing authorities. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 there are no material
unrecognized tax benefits.
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NOTE 8 - Notes Payable to Related Parties

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company executed secured promissory notes to the
Company's controlling member in the amount of $5,573,083. These notes accrued interest in kind at a
variable interest rate (as defined in the agreement) equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR, at the option of the
Company, plus an applicable margin of 6.00% for Prime Rate loans or 7.00% for LIBOR loans, which was
contingent upon a debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (“EBITDA”) ratio
calculated quarterly and were scheduled to mature on March 15, 2023 and April 3, 2023. The notes were
secured by substantially all assets of the Company. The promissory notes and accrued interest were fully
repaid prior to December 31, 2018 through financing received from the Northern Trust.  Interest expense
incurred on the notes to related parties was $97,485 for the year ended December 31, 2018.

NOTE 9 - Long-Term Debt

2018 Qualified Borrower Promissory Note

During 2018, the Company entered into a $16,000,000 qualified borrower promissory note with a bank
under an existing credit agreement between the Company's controlling shareholder and the bank (the
"Note"). The Note matures on May 7, 2019 and has an interest rate tied to prime rates which was 5.75%
as of December 31, 2018.  The Company is currently in the process of refinancing and extending the
maturity of the Note.  Interest is payable monthly and the entire principal balance is due upon maturity.  An
irrevocable, unconditional and absolute guaranty has been provided by the Company's controlling
shareholders for the payment when due of all interest, principal, fees, expenses and other amounts in
connection with all obligations of the Company under the credit agreement.  

2017 Senior Credit Facility 

The 2017 Senior Credit Facility consists of a term loan (the "Term Loan") and a $3,000,000 revolving line
of credit (the "Revolver").  The Company received initial proceeds of $207,000,000 under the first lien of
the Term Loan and $72,000,000 under the second lien during the year ended December 31, 2017.  The
Company received additional proceeds on the first lien of $110,000,000 and $31,190,866 during the year
ended December 31, 2018.  

The first lien of the Term Loan and Revolver bears interest at a variable interest rate (as defined in the
agreement) equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR, at the option of the Company, plus an applicable margin of
4.00% for Prime Rate loans or 5.00% for LIBOR loans.  Interest is payable monthly.  The first lien matures
on January 30, 2023 when the remaining unpaid principal and interest becomes due in full.  The interest
rate on the first lien was 7.34% and 6.33% as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The outstanding balance on the Revolver was $3,000,000 as of December 31, 2017 and was fully repaid
during the year ended December 31, 2018.  The average interest rate on the Revolver during the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were 6.64% and 5.73%, respectively.

The second lien of the Term Loan bears interest at a variable interest rate (as defined in the agreement)
equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR, at the option of the Company, plus an applicable margin.  The
applicable margin for the second lien is defined as an amount greater than 8% per year or an amount that
is 4% greater than the greatest margin applicable to the Prime Rate loans under the first lien.  Applicable
margin for LIBOR loans is defined as an amount greater than 9% per year or an amount that is 4% greater
than the greatest margin applicable to the LIBOR loans under the first lien.  Interest is payable monthly.
The interest rate on the second lien was 11.34% and 10.55% as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.  The principal under the second lien is payable in full upon its maturity on January 30, 2024.
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NOTE 9 - Long-Term Debt (cont.)

Quarterly payments on the first and second lien during the year ended December 31, 2018 ranged from
$517,500 to $718,000 based on outstanding borrowings.  

All obligations under the 2017 Senior Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by the Company and
all wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Senior Credit Facility requires the Company to prepay outstanding term
loans, subject to certain exceptions, in the event of: (i) cash flow exceeding defined threshold, (ii)
incurrence of debt, (iii) receipt of casualty proceeds, (iv) issuance of equity, and (v) certain asset sales.
Any mandatory prepayments would be applied pro rata to the term loan facilities and to installments of the
term loan facilities in direct order of maturity. The 2017 senior credit facility is secured by substantially all
assets of the Company.

The 2017 Senior Credit Facility contains a number of covenants that, among other provisions, restrict,
subject to certain exceptions, the Company’s (and most or all of its subsidiaries’) ability to incur additional
indebtedness, pay dividends and distributions, create liens on assets, enter into sale and leaseback
transactions, repay subordinated indebtedness, make investments, loans or advances, make capital
expenditures, engage in certain transactions with affiliates, amend certain material agreements, change
its lines of business, sell assets and engage in mergers or consolidations.

In addition, under the 2017 Senior Credit Facility, the Company is required to satisfy and maintain certain
leverage and coverage ratios.  As of December 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with all
financial covenants under the 2017 Senior Credit Facility.  

Obligations under the Term Loan and the Note consisted of the following as of December 31:

2018 2017

Term loan $416,599,838 $ 277,472,490
Promissory note 16,000,000 -
Total long-term debt 432,599,838 277,472,490
Less: Current portion (19,430,046) (2,070,040)
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (7,916,922) (6,535,174)

Long-term debt, net of current maturities and unamortized
debt issuance costs

$405,252,870 $ 268,867,276

Future maturities of the Company's long-term debt for the years ending December 31 are as follows:

2019 $ 19,430,046
2020 2,872,376
2021 2,872,376
2022 2,872,376
2023 301,361,798
Thereafter 103,190,866

Total $ 432,599,838

30



PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

NOTE 10 - Members' Equity (Deficit)

Class A and Class B Units

The Class A Units entitle the holders to a redemption value of $1,000 per unit plus accrued interest of 12%
per year on unreturned capital of such Class A Units, compounding quarterly. As of December 31, 2018,
accrued interest on unreturned capital was $52,293,433 on a par value of $91,914,392 for a total
redemption value of $144,207,825. The Class A Units are redeemable upon certain events including a
sale or a deemed liquidation of the Company. No redeemable events have occurred as of April 29, 2019.

The Class B Units entitle the holders to 100% of the remaining equity after Class A units are settled minus
the "Sharing Percentage" due to Class C Unit holders, as discussed below. The Class B Units are
redeemable upon certain events including a sale or a deemed liquidation of the Company. No redeemable
events have occurred as of April 29, 2019.

Unit Repurchase Rights

WCP has the right to purchase additional Class A Units at a unit price equal to the lower of a) $1,000 and
b) the fair market value of the Class A Units at the time of such purchase along with an equal number of
Class B Units for no additional consideration.

In the event that management unit holders resign or are terminated, the Company has the right to
repurchase all or any portion of the units issued to management. In the case of resignation or termination
for cause, the repurchase price of a Class A Unit is the lower of a) $1,000 or b) the fair market value of
such unit. Any Class B Unit or Class C Unit, whether vested or unvested, is cancelled with no
consideration paid for such unit. In the case of termination without cause, the repurchase price for Class A
Units, Class B Units and vested Class C Units is the fair market value of such unit. Any unvested Class C
Unit is canceled with no consideration paid for such unit.

Class C Units

The Company has authorized the issuance of 20,000 Class C units.  Class C Units are divided into four
tranches. Each Class C Unit tranche is eligible to participate in a distribution upon a sale of the Company
based upon the multiple of the return on invested capital, as defined in the incentive unit agreement,
obtained by WCP in such event. The eligible Class C Units entitle the holders to a "Sharing Percentage".
The "Sharing Percentage" is defined by the incentive unit agreement as a percentage equal to the lesser
of (a) 20.00% and (b) the product of (i) 20.00% and (ii) a fraction the numerator of which is the number of
participating Class C Units that are outstanding upon consummation of a sale of the Company, and the
denominator of which is 20,000. Certain Class C Units vest based upon service conditions while others
vest based upon both service and performance conditions (Note 11).
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NOTE 11 - Equity Compensation

Class C Units

During 2015, the Company authorized the issuance of 20,000 Class C units to management. Grants are
awarded to employees as an incentive. The Company records the related compensation costs associated
with the grants as the units become vested pursuant to the individual incentive agreements.  The unit
vesting is typically subject to either a five-year period of employment, or in less common situations, both a
continuous period of employment from the date of the grant and the successful sale of the Company. If
the employee ceases employment, the vesting will stop on the date of termination and all unvested units
will revert back to the Company. The Class C units granted during the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017 contained vesting provisions tied to the successful sale of the Company and therefore no
expense is recognized related to these Units.  

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were 17,550 and 18,300 Class C units issued and outstanding,
respectively.  As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were 1,650 and 650 Class C units vested,
respectively.  As of December 31, 2018, unamortized compensation expense related to the Class C units
was $141,788 to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2.00 years.  

NOTE 12 - Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may become subject to legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in
the ordinary course of business. The Company is not currently a party to any material legal proceedings,
nor is the Company aware of any pending or threatened litigation that would have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s business, operating results, cash flows or financial condition should such
litigation be resolved unfavorably. 

Leases

The Company leases offices and testing facilities in several states and certain equipment through 2027.
The leases generally provide for the lessee to pay taxes, maintenance, insurance and other operating
costs of the leased property. Some of the leases contain rent escalation provisions and renewal options.

Following is a schedule of future estimated minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating
leases as of December 31, 2018:

2019 $ 7,432,594
2020 6,170,428
2021 4,799,518
2022 3,457,310
2023 2,715,362
Thereafter 7,697,513

Total $ 32,272,725

Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $9,436,112 and $7,311,158,
respectively. 
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NOTE 12 - Commitments and Contingencies (cont.)

Minimum annual rental commitments on capital leases are as follows as of December 31, 2018:

2019 $ 197,369
2020 195,514
2021 195,514
2022 195,514
2023 44,501
Thereafter 1,437

Total minimum lease payments 829,849
Less: Amount representing interest (309,107)

Present value of capital lease obligations 520,742
Less: Current portion (85,844)

Capital lease, net of current portion $ 434,898

Sale Bonus

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company adopted a sale bonus which provides for cash
compensation to certain employees upon the sale of the Company.  The payments are based on a variety
of inputs including length of service, salary and the selling price of the Company.  The bonus is capped at
$5,000,000.  The Company has determined a sale of the Company is neither probable nor estimable and
as such, no accrual has been recorded as of both December 31, 2018 and 2017.  

NOTE 13 - Employee Benefits

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan (the “Plan”), established under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code for employees in the United States. Effective January 1, 2014, the Company
adopted a Safe Harbor plan. Participation in the Plan is available to all full-time employees, and part time
employees who meet specific eligibility requirements. The Company matches 100% up to 3% and 50% on
the next 2% of employee contributions. As a requirement of the safe harbor adoption, the Company’s
matching contributions vest immediately. The Company also elected to immediately vest any previously
unvested matching contributions for active participants as of January 1, 2014.

The Company also operates various defined contribution pension plans in International jurisdictions under
which fixed contributions per employee are paid into a pension fund and the company has no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further contributions even if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. Contributions to
defined contribution plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense when they are due. The levels
of contribution and the specific pension rules will vary from country to country to ensure local laws are
adhered to.

The Company's expense for contributions to the plans described above during the years ended December
31, 2018 and 2017 were $1,830,477 and $1,656,001, respectively.
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NOTE 14 - Related Party Transactions

For each acquisition completed by the Company, a fee of approximately 3% of the purchase price is
accrued for payment to WCP, the Company's controlling member.  For the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017, the Company recorded acquisition related expenses related to these fees for $3,946,673
and $3,884,460, respectively.  

The Company also pays WCP an annual fee based on a defined percentage of EBITDA for each year.
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded expenses of $3,450,357
and $2,506,432 related to these fees which included $635,356 and $450,000 in interest charged on past
due advisory fees for 2018 and 2017.  

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company owed WCP $1,380,000 and $4,508,216, respectively,
related to the acquisition and advisory fees noted above.  
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PSI ENTERPRISES, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE OF CONSOLIDATED ADJUSTED EBITDA
As of December 31, 2018

2018
Consolidated Net Loss $ (54,972,252)

Interest expense- cash 29,475,456
Interest expense- non-cash 1,322,198
Income tax benefit (3,021,054)
Acquisition costs 8,778,406
Compensation costs, as defined 108,000
Management fees 2,815,000
Board of Director costs 239,662
Integration costs 7,929,433
Amortization, depreciation and loss on sale of assets 56,218,072
Change in fair-value of contingent consideration 1,589,800

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA $ 50,482,721
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Independent Auditors' Report

Management and Board of Directors of
Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and
its subsidiaries ("the Company"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, equity (deficit), and cash flows for
the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019 and 2018
and the results of their operations and cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has elected to change its
reporting entity during the year ended December 31, 2019. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.

As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2019, the Company
adopted Accounting Standard Codification Topic 606, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" on a modified
retrospective basis. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matter

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a
whole. The Adjusted EBITDA Schedule for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Minneapolis, Minnesota
June 17, 2020
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,216,528 $ 8,708,773
Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues 34,788,960 30,723,456
Contract assets, current 9,424,615 -
Inventories, net 974,963 393,160
Prepaid expenses and other assets 9,706,461 4,930,530
Income tax receivable 1,777,014 1,850,780

Total current assets 77,888,541 46,606,699

Property and Equipment, Net 12,982,414 10,326,852

Other Assets
Contract assets, non-current 5,666,954 -
Contract costs 1,798,171 -
Intangible assets, net 84,168,840 52,867,596
Goodwill, net 329,377,854 299,439,223
Other long-term assets 3,514,567 2,556,804

Total other assets 424,526,386 354,863,623

Total assets $ 515,397,341 $ 411,797,174

Liabilities and Equity (Deficit)

Current Liabilities
Revolving line of credit $ 5,000,000 $ -
Current maturities of long term debt 5,518,700 19,430,046
Accounts payable 16,421,953 13,979,155
Accrued expenses 28,693,242 19,297,325
Due to related party - 1,380,000
Contract liabilities, current 22,127,546 11,653,929
Capital leases, current 166,360 85,844

Total current liabilities 77,927,801 65,826,299

Long-term Liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current maturities 534,982,181 405,252,870
Deferred rent 3,437,061 3,529,535
Contract liabilities, non-current 1,131,017 -
Deposits 869,319 2,181,915
Income taxes payable 364,397 -
Deferred income taxes 2,450,989 730,657
Capital leases, non-current 581,771 434,898
Other long-term liabilities 337,222 -

Total liabilities 622,081,758 477,956,174

Equity (Deficit)
Member's deficit (106,481,050) (64,631,269)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (372,780) (1,527,731)
Non-controlling interest 169,413 -

Total equity (deficit) (106,684,417) (66,159,000)

Total liabilities and equity (deficit) $ 515,397,341 $ 411,797,174

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018

Net Revenues $ 270,548,441 $231,253,659

Operating Expenses

Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 173,957,827 145,202,047

Selling, general and administrative expenses 152,276,751 55,499,230

Depreciation and amortization 64,107,376 56,158,234

Debt extinguishment expense 8,029,622 -

Total operating expenses 398,371,576 256,859,511

Operating loss (127,823,135) (25,605,852)

Other Income (Expense)

Interest expense, net (40,587,468) (30,797,654)

Change in fair-value of contingent consideration - (1,589,800)

Net other expense (40,587,468) (32,387,454)

Loss before income taxes (168,410,603) (57,993,306)

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) (2,188,209) (3,021,054)

Net loss (166,222,394) (54,972,252)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,154,951 (1,260,917)

Comprehensive loss (165,067,443) (56,233,169)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to: 

Non-controlling Interest 4,715 -

Member $ (165,072,158) $ (56,233,169)

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Equity (Deficit) 
December 31, 2019 and 2018

Member's

Deficit

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Loss

Non-

controlling

Interest

Total

Deficit

Balances, December 31, 2017 $ (9,742,017) $ (266,814) $ - $ (10,008,831)

Net loss (54,972,252) - - (54,972,252)

Foreign currency translation - (1,260,917) - (1,260,917)

Unit-based compensation expense 108,000 - - 108,000

Unit repurchase (25,000) - - (25,000)

Balances, December 31, 2018 (64,631,269) (1,527,731) - (66,159,000)

Net loss (166,227,109) - 4,715 (166,222,394)

Foreign currency translation - 1,154,951 - 1,154,951

Re-capitalization, net (Note 5) 61,171,787 - - 61,171,787

Capital contribution subsequent to

re-capitalization 25,481,627 - - 25,481,627

Unit-based compensation expense 24,753,274 - - 24,753,274

Cumulative adjustment - ASC 606 12,970,640 - - 12,970,640

Non-controlling interest in

acquisitions - - 164,698 164,698

Balances, December 31, 2019 $ (106,481,050) $ (372,780) $ 169,413 $ (106,684,417)

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net loss $ (166,222,394) $ (54,972,252)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 64,107,376 56,158,234

Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,851,832 1,514,387

Debt extinguishment costs 8,029,622 -

Unit-based compensation expense 24,753,274 108,000

Amortization of contract costs 1,407,165 -

Change in fair-value of contingent consideration - 1,589,800

Deferred income taxes (2,630,756) (3,514,741)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable, net 910,221 (1,771,038)

Inventories, net (47,136) (10,401)

Prepaid expenses & other assets 2,206,998 473,176

Contract assets 3,273,554 -

Accounts payable (4,952,964) 9,275,932

Accrued expenses 287,483 (620,785)

Deferred rent (340,614) (66,516)

Deferred revenue - 3,592,630

Income taxes payable 751,139 (2,218,813)

Due to related party - (3,128,216)

Contract liabilities 6,251,324 -

Net cash flows from operating activities (60,363,876) 6,409,397

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Deposits - (204,882)

Purchases of property and equipment (5,803,439) (3,585,989)

Software and content development costs (14,312,283) (11,150,347)

Acquisition of Cubiks (41,794,002) -

Acquisition of Caliper (46,324,564) -

Acquisition of OCL (16,467,547) -

Acquisition of Select International, LLC - (71,944,632)

Acquisition of Innovative HR Solutions FZ, LLC - (1,954,458)

Acquisition of Learndirect Limited - (2,977,559)

Acquisition of GMetrix, LLC - (20,959,971)

Acquisition of Development Dimensions International, Inc. - (23,649,574)

Acquisition of JCA Global Limited - (7,293,657)

Net cash flows from investing activities (124,701,835) (143,721,069)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from long-term debt 571,870,000 157,190,866

Payments on long-term debt (452,042,168) (2,063,518)

Payments on capital leases (77,075) (83,233)

Repayments of notes payable to related parties - (5,573,083)

Net proceeds (payments) on revolver 5,000,000 (3,000,000)

Payment of debt issuance costs (13,330,700) (2,896,136)

Payment of contingent consideration - (8,744,628)

Unit repurchase - (25,000)

Proceeds from notes payable to related parties - 5,573,083

Capital contribution subsequent to re-capitalization 25,481,627 -

Re-capitalization, net (Note 5) 61,171,787 -

Net cash flows from financing activities 198,073,471 140,378,351

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 13,007,760 3,066,679

Effect of foreign currency (500,005) (497,859)

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 8,708,773 6,139,953

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 21,216,528 $ 8,708,773

Supplementary Cash Flow Disclosures

Cash paid for interest $ 36,115,720 $ 27,354,835

Cash paid for income taxes 723,709 2,047,039

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Change in Reporting Entity

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company elected to make a change to the reporting
entity from Lifelong Learner Enterprises II, LLC (formerly PSI Enterprises, LLC) to Lifelong Learner
Holdings, LLC (formerly PSI Intermediate Holdings, LLC). Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Lifelong Learner Enterprises II, LLC with no operating transactions between the
two entities. The change in reporting entity resulted in presentation differences related to the balance
sheet and the statement of equity (deficit) for the year ending December 31, 2018 but had no impact
on the consolidated net loss or cash flows.

Nature of Operations

Lifelong Learner Holdings and Subsidiaries (“LLH” or "the Company") provides various solutions
through its multiple business channels including talent assessments (of job-seeking candidates as well
as employee development programs), licensure testing services (for government regulatory agencies),
certification credentialing services (for professional associations), license management services and
biometric identification authentication services. The Company offers its clients various solutions to
measure, assess and identify the skills, abilities, traits and identities of individuals seeking jobs,
licensure, or certification credentials.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the Company's wholly-owned
subsidiaries. These entities and their subsidiaries are listed below along with the functional currency if
not the United States Dollar ("USD"):

OCL Real Estate, LLC Gmetrix, LLC PSI Services LLC

Performance-Based Selection,
LTD EB Jacobs, LLC

Computer Assisted Testing
Service, LLC

Select Intellectual, LLC Select International, LLC PSI Services, Inc.

PSI International Holdings Limited
(fka PSI Services UK Limited)
(British Pounds "GBP")

Select Outsourcing Canada, Inc.
(Canadian Dollar "CAD")

Performance Assessment
Network, Inc.

Caliper Corporation
Caliper Corporation d/b/a Caliper
Corporation of Delaware Caliper Management, Inc.

Caliper Human Strategies, Inc. Caliper International, Inc.
Caliper Human Strategies Pty. Ltd.
(Australian Dollar)

Caliperpsycho metrics & Analytics
Private Limited (Indian Ruppee

Caliper Estrategias Humanas Do
Brasil Ltda. (Brazil Real) Caliper Canada Limited (CAD)

Caliper Human Strategies China
Ltd. (Hong Kong Dollar)

Caliper Business Consulting
(Shanghai) Co. Ltd. (YUAN) Caliper Europe B.V. (Euro)

Caliper France SA (Euro)
Caliper Human Strategies / Japan
Ltd. (Japanese Yen)

Caliper Estrategias Humanas de
Mexico, S.A. de C.V. (Mexican
Peso)
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

Caliper Human Strategies
Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Singapore
Dollar)

Caliper Human Strategies (UK)
Ltd. (GBP) JCA Global Ltd. (GBP)

Innovative HR Solutions FZ-LLC
(United Arab Emirates Dirham)

Innovative Human Resources
Consultancy, LLC

PSI Talent Measurement Limited
(GBP)

Grad DNA Ltd
PSI Services AG (fka ECDL
Switzerland) (Swiss Franc) EnlightKS AB (Swedish Krona)

PSI Services Ltd (fka EnlightKS
Limited) (GBP) Cubiks Group Limited (GBP) Cubiks Holding Limited (GBP)

Cubiks Limited (GBP) Cubiks IBO (GBP)
Cubiks Limited Dubai Branch
(Emirati Dirham)

Cubiks Limited Abu Dhabi Branch
(Emirati Dirham) Cubiks Belgium SA/NV (Euro) CIP Ltd (GBP)

Cubiks France SAS (Euro) Cubiks Germany GmbH (Euro) Cubiks Netherlands BV (Euro)

Cubiks Denmark AS (Danish
Krone) Cubiks Finland Oy (Euro)

Cubiks Norway AS (Norwegian
Krone)

Cubiks Sweden AB (Swedish
Krona)

Cubiks Hong Kong Ltd (Hong Kong
Dollar)

GraduACE Selection Limited
(Hong Kong Dollar)

Cubiks Management Consulting
Co Limited

Cubiks Malaysia Sdn Bhd
(Malaysian Ringgit) Cubiks USA Inc.

Cubiks Singapore Pte Ltd
(Singapore Dollar) IPAT Holdings Acquisition Limited IPAT Holdings Limited (GBP)

Institute for Personality and Ability
Testing, Inc.

Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. See Note 4 for further
details surrounding estimates related to revenue recognition.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is the local currency as described
above. The assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries are translated into USD using the exchange rate at
the end of each balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period. Gains and losses from translations are recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Foreign currency exchange
gains and losses are recorded in the account to which the gains and losses relate in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss. 
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers depository accounts and investments with an original maturity of three months
or less to be cash and cash equivalents. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with
various major financial institutions. At times, cash and cash equivalents may exceed amounts insured
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC").

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of amounts owed to the Company by clients. The Company performs
periodic credit evaluations of the financial condition of its clients, monitors collections and payments
from clients, and typically does not require collateral from its clients. 

The Company extends unsecured credit to customers under normal trade agreements which generally
require payment within 30 days. Accounts greater than 60 days past due are considered delinquent.
The Company does not charge interest on delinquent trade accounts receivables. Unless specified by
the customer, payments are applied to the oldest unpaid invoice.

Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful
accounts. Management determines the allowance by regularly evaluating individual customer
receivables and considering a customer’s financial condition and ability to pay as well as current
economic conditions. Accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. If the estimated
allowance for doubtful accounts subsequently proves to be insufficient, additional allowances may be
required. Recoveries of accounts receivable previously written off are recorded when received.
Accounts receivable is shown net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,731,416 and $565,593
as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

As of December 31, 2019, the Company did not have any customers that accounted for more than 10
percent of the consolidated accounts receivable balance. As of December 31, 2018, the Company had
one customer that accounted for 14 percent of the consolidated accounts receivable balance. 

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had one customer which accounted for more than 10 percent
of the consolidated net revenues balance. As of December 31, 2018, the Company did not have any
customers that accounted for more than 10 percent of the consolidated net revenues balance.

 Inventories

Inventories consist principally of pre-printed tests, educational materials, books, and supplies, and are
stated at the lower of cost (first-in first-out method) or net realizable value. The Company reviews
inventory for slow-moving and obsolete inventory and has appropriately reduced inventory to its net
realizable value. 

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost (except for property and equipment acquired in business
combinations which is recorded at fair value) and depreciated using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Office equipment 5 Years

Computer equipment and software 3 Years

Leasehold improvements 3 Years to 11 Years

Maintenance, repairs, and minor renewals are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or
otherwise disposed of, their costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the
accounts and resulting gains or losses are included in the statement of comprehensive loss.
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life
of the assets.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the fair market value of acquired patents, customer backlog, acquired
technology, content development costs, software development costs and trademarks which are
amortized over the estimated useful life of the assets. The intangible assets are amortized over an
estimated useful life using the straight-line method based upon the nature and the estimated cash
flows from the respective assets. The identification of intangible assets and determination of the fair
value and useful lives are subjective in nature and often involve the use of significant estimates and
assumptions. The judgments made in determining the estimated useful lives assigned to each class of
assets can significantly affect net loss.

Tradenames 3-15 Years

Developed technology 3-15 Years

Software and content development costs 3 Years

Developed technology is included within "Software development costs" in Note 7.

The Company has developed a database of questions that are used in the licensure certification
testing programs ("content development costs”). The costs incurred are capitalized and generally
include direct labor and payroll related costs. These costs are amortized over three years using the
straight-line method, the period of the expected benefit. 

Certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal use software are capitalized
("software development costs"). Capitalized costs typically include direct labor and payroll related costs
for software produced by the Company as well as the cost of software purchased from or developed by
third parties. Costs incurred for an enhancement prior to the determination that the enhancement is
technologically feasible are expensed as incurred. Once technological feasibility has been established,
such costs are capitalized until the software has been tested and approved for use. These costs are
amortized over three years using the straight-line method, the period of the expected benefit,
commencing the month after the date of product release. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, for
impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of an asset may not be fully recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when the estimated
un-discounted future cash flows from the use of the asset are less than the carrying amount of that
asset. To date, there have been no such losses. 

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired in an acquisition (see Note 3). The Company amortizes goodwill over a period of 10 years on
a straight-line basis.
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

The Company is required to test goodwill for impairment upon identification of a triggering event.
Events or circumstances which could trigger an impairment review include a significant adverse
change in legal factors or in the business climate, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator,
unanticipated competition, a loss of key personnel, significant changes in the manner of the
Company’s use of the acquired assets or the strategy for the Company’s overall business, significant
negative industry or economic trends, or significant under performance relative to expected historical
or projected future results of operations. The impairment test would only be performed when a
triggering event occurs that indicates it is more likely than not that the fair value of an entity (or
reporting unit) is below its carrying value. The Company has elected to test goodwill for impairment at
the entity level. When a triggering event occurs, the Company has the option to first assess qualitative
factors to determine whether the quantitative impairment test is necessary. If that qualitative
assessment indicates that it is more likely than not that goodwill is impaired, the Company must
perform the quantitative test to compare the entity’s fair value with its carrying amount, including
goodwill (or the fair value of the reporting unit with the carrying amount, including goodwill, of the
reporting unit). If the qualitative assessment indicates that it is not more likely than not that goodwill is
impaired, further consideration is unnecessary.

No impairment of goodwill was recorded during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Deferred Rent

Minimum base rents related to the Company's operating leases, which generally have escalating rental
payments over the lease term are recorded on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the
respective lease. 

Leasehold improvements made by the Company that are funded by landlord incentives or allowances
under an operating lease, are recorded as leasehold improvement assets and amortized over the
shorter of their economic lives or the lease term. These incentives are also recorded as deferred rent
and amortized as reductions to rent expense over the related lease term. 

Debt Issuance Costs

Direct costs incurred in connection with indebtedness agreements are capitalized as incurred and
amortized over the term of the related indebtedness utilizing the effective interest method. Debt
issuance costs are presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of
the long-term debt (Note 12). The Company records debt extinguishment expense when it has
concluded that either an exchange or repayment of a debt instrument has occurred or a modification of
a debt instrument in which the changes of the present value of cash flows exceeds 10 percent.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
contract assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, contract liabilities, notes payable, and debt.
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued
expenses approximate fair values due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments.
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value is offset by the
assessment of the Company or counterparty's non-performance risk. To determine fair value, the
Company primarily utilizes reported market transactions and discounted cash flow analyses. The
Company utilizes a fair value hierarchy that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the
use of unobservable inputs. Observable inputs are inputs that reflect the assumptions market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from
sources independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the reporting
entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. The fair value
hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques into three broad levels whereby the highest
priority is given to Level 1 inputs and the lowest to Level 3 inputs. The three broad categories are:

Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices that is observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue recognition policy prior to the adoption of ASC 606 

Revenue from licensing and certification programs is derived from test candidates, based on contracts
between the Company and the respective state agency or certification board. Cash received from test
candidates is non-refundable after a period of up to 12 months has elapsed, and is recognized as
revenue once testing is complete. 

Based on historical experience, a majority of candidates test within 45 days after making a payment for
such tests. Candidates generally have up to 12 months to take a test after making payment. Deferred
revenue represents cash received from candidates who have not completed their testing process.

Revenue from the sale of pre-employment tests is recognized upon the delivery of tests or, in the case
of royalty arrangements, upon the receipt of royalty statements from partners denoting test usage.
Revenue from human resources consulting and customized testing services is recognized when
services are provided.

Revenue recognition policy upon adoption of ASC 606

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606),” and has since
modified the standard with several ASUs (collectively, the “new revenue standard”). The new revenue
standard requires entities to recognize revenue through the application of a five-step model, which
includes: identification of the contract; identification of the performance obligations; determination of
the transaction price; allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations; and recognition
of revenue as the entity satisfies the performance obligations. The Company adopted the new revenue
standard on January 1, 2019, using the modified retrospective method with the cumulative effect of
initially applying the guidance recognized at the date of initial application. Comparative information has
not been restated and continues to be reported under the standards in effect for those periods. We
have applied the new revenue standard only to contracts not completed as of the date of initial
application, referred to as open contracts. Refer to Note 4 for more details around revenue recognition
and the adoption of Topic 606.
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues consist of: (1) expenses to operate the Company’s test administration facilities,
fulfillment function for products sold, and customer and technical support service centers that support
and maintain the Company’s Internet-based products and services; (2) test development costs; (3)
royalties; and (4) other costs associated with the delivery of products and services including credit card
fees.

Advertising

Advertising costs are charged to operations when incurred. Advertising expense was $3,326,756 and
$2,041,907 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Unit-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for unit-based compensation based on the grant date fair value. The
Company’s unit-based compensation plan provides for the granting of incentive units (the "Units") to
certain management personnel. These Units are granted at no cost to the recipients. The Units vest
over a period of one to five years and have certain contingencies tied to a transaction. The Units
issued are units in the Company's parent, Lifelong Learner Enterprises, LLC; however, the Company
has pushed down the expense as all of the value is derived for services provided to the Company. For
non-contingent vesting, unit-based compensation expense is recognized using the straight-line method
over the vesting term of the Units. Units with vesting provisions tied to a transaction are considered
contingent and therefore no expense is recognized until the contingency is settled. 

Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes in accordance with the asset and liability method of accounting.
Significant judgement is required in determining our provision for income taxes and income tax assets
and liabilities. Deferred taxes are recognized for the estimated taxes ultimately payable or recoverable
based on enacted tax law. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is
recognized in operations in the period when the change is enacted. The Company establishes a
valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a deferred tax
asset will not be realizable. 

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not
that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical
merits of the position. The amount of uncertain tax positions is adjusted as appropriate for changes in
facts and circumstances, such as amendments to existing tax law, new regulations or interpretations
by the taxing authorities, new information obtained during a tax examination, or resolution of an
examination. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, in income tax expense (benefit). 

For tax purposes, PSI Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries are tax-paying entities. The Company and the
remaining subsidiaries are generally not subject to U.S. federal and state income taxes and,
consequently, no income tax provision has been made in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements because individual partners are responsible for their proportionate share of the taxable
income. The Company's taxable income or loss is taxed on the member's income tax return.

Business Combinations

The Company includes the results of operations of the businesses acquired as of the respective dates
of acquisitions. The purchase price of acquisitions are allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the fair value of the purchase price over
the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Management
determined the acquired assets and related processes met the definition of a business  and
accordingly accounted for the transactions as business combinations.
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

Reclassifications

For comparability, certain December 31, 2018 amounts have been reclassified to conform with
classifications adopted as of December 31, 2019. The reclassifications had no impact on previously
reported comprehensive loss, deficit or cash flows.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

During February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842).” ASU No. 2016-02
requires lessees to recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from leases on the balance sheet. A
lessee should recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make lease payments (the
lease liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease
term. During 2018, the FASB also issued ASU No. 2018-10, "Codification Improvements to Topic 842,
Leases", which addresses narrow aspects of the guidance originally issued in ASU No. 2016-02; ASU
2018-11, "Targeted Improvements", which provides entities with an additional (and optional) transition
method whereby an entity initially applies the new leases standard at the adoption date and recognizes
a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption.
Topic 842 (as amended) is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021, and
interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company is currently assessing the effect that Topic 842 (as amended) will have on its results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

Subsequent Events

The Company performed an evaluation of subsequent events through June 17, 2020, which is the date
the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.

2. Liquidity

In February 2020, a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, spread around the world, including
geographic locations in which the Company operates and resulted in shelter-in-place orders in many of
its testing geographies. The shelter-in-place orders resulted in many of the Company’s locations being
closed, reducing revenues and earnings. In addition, based on the Company’s debt covenant
requirements, borrowings on its line of credit could be limited for at least the next 12 months. Although
the Company’s testing locations have been allowed to reopen in certain geographies at a reduced
capacity, the Company’s financial results for 2020 are expected to be significantly impacted by COVID-
19.

As a result of the impact discussed above and to ensure sufficient cash flows for at least the next 12
months, the Company has implemented several cost reduction measures including reduction in payroll,
furloughing various non-revenue generating employees, delaying capital expenditures and certain
principal payments where allowable under the Company’s existing financing arrangements and has
plans for additional reductions if necessary during 2020. These plans may include additional salary
reductions, further reduction of non-revenue capital and infrastructure spending and layoffs, if
necessary. Based on the Company's existing financing arrangements, executed and planned cost
cutting initiatives, management believes the Company's current working capital is sufficient to fund
operations for at least 12 months from the issuance date of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
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December 31, 2019 and 2018

3. Acquisitions

OCL

On June 24, 2019, the Company acquired 100 percent of the shares in OCL Real Estate, LLC and
OCL Professional Education, Inc. The total purchase price was approximately $16.5 million and was
financed primarily with long-term debt. The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase
price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities:

Purchase Consideration

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 16,467,547

Allocation

Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 720,252

Prepaid expenses and other assets 606,237

Property and equipment 80,088

Tradename 440,000

Developed technology 3,370,000

Goodwill 13,201,900

Total assets acquired 18,418,477

Liabilities assumed

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,720,930)

Contract liabilities (230,000)

Net assets acquired $ 16,467,547

The Company incurred transaction costs of $1,245,716 of which $20,000 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 12). The remaining $1,235,716 were
recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2019. 

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships,
assembled workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes. The
intangible assets acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 7.0 years.
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Cubiks

On October 22, 2019, the Company acquired 100 percent of the shares in Cubiks Group Limited
("Cubiks"). The total purchase price was approximately $41.1 million and was financed primarily with
long-term debt . The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired
assets and assumed liabilities:

Purchase Consideration

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 41,063,622

Allocation

Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 4,534,744

Prepaid expenses and other assets 10,817,962

Property and equipment 826,123

Tradename 2,100,000

Developed technology 11,700,000

Goodwill 24,522,670

Total assets acquired 54,501,499

Liabilities assumed

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (7,153,002)

Contract liabilities (3,101,679)

Other liabilities (1,263,440)

Deferred income taxes (1,919,756)

Net assets acquired $ 41,063,622

The Company incurred transaction costs of $2,671,616 of which $264,000 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 12). The remaining $2,407,616 were
recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2019. 

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships,
assembled workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes. The
intangible assets acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 10.0 years.
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Caliper

On December 2, 2019, the Company acquired 100 percent of the shares of Caliper Corporation. The
total purchase price was approximately $46.3 million and was financed primarily with long-term debt.
The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and
assumed liabilities:

Purchase Consideration

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 46,324,564

Allocation

Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 4,239,919

Prepaid expenses and other assets 94,589

Income taxes receivable 430,587

Property and equipment 595,218

Other assets 728,863

Tradename 3,460,000

Developed technology 15,870,000

Goodwill 29,559,140

Total assets acquired 54,978,316

Liabilities assumed

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (4,869,461)

Contract liabilities (368,581)

Deferred taxes (3,226,535)

Other long-term liabilities (189,175)

Net assets acquired $ 46,324,564

The Company incurred transaction costs of $2,840,400 of which $454,400 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 12). The remaining $2,386,000 were
recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2019. 

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships,
assembled workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes. The
intangible assets acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 8.4 years.
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Select International, LLC

On May 3, 2018, the Company acquired 100 percent of the outstanding stock of Select International,
LLC, Select Intellectual, LLC and Select Outsourcing Canada, Inc. ("SI"). The total purchase price was
approximately $72 million and was financed with debt from the Company's 2018 Senior Credit Facility
(Note 12). The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets
and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 71,944,632

Allocation

Assets acquired:

Accounts receivable 4,583,376

Prepaid expenses and other assets 80,633

Property and equipment 19,915

Tradename 460,000

Developed Technology 2,237,568

Goodwill 65,589,830

Total assets acquired 72,971,322

Liabilities assumed:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (946,690)

Contract liabilities (80,000)

Net assets acquired $ 71,944,632

The Company incurred transaction costs of $5,230,838 of which $1,600,000 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 9). The remaining $3,630,838 were
recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2018.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships,
assembled workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes. The
intangible assets acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 3.0 years.
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Innovative HR Solutions FZ, LLC 

On June 7, 2018, the Company acquired 100 percent of the outstanding stock of Innovative HR
Solutions FZ, LLC ("IHS"). The total purchase price was approximately $2.0 million and was financed
with notes payable from the Company's controlling shareholder (Note 11). The following table
summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the
acquisition:

Purchase Consideration

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 1,954,458

Allocation

Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 1,485,596

Inventories 141,924

Prepaid expenses and other assets 264,400

Property and equipment 30,764

Goodwill 586,297

Total assets acquired 2,508,981

Liabilities assumed

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (552,889)

Contract liabilities (1,634)

Net assets acquired $ 1,954,458

The Company incurred transaction costs of $247,650 which were recorded as selling, general and
administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during the
year ended December 31, 2018.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships,
assembled workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes.
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Learndirect Limited

On April 13, 2018, the Company acquired certain assets and liabilities of Learndirect Limited ("LD")
including identified key customer contracts and certain employees of LD. The acquisition was an asset
purchase. The total purchase price was approximately $3.0 million and was financed with notes
payable from the Company's controlling shareholder (Note 11). The following table summarizes the
allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration

Cash consideration $ 2,977,559

Allocation

Assets acquired

Prepaid expenses and other assets 57,071

Developed Technology 2,068,934

Goodwill 1,105,816

Total assets acquired 3,231,821

Liabilities assumed

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (28,220)

Contract liabilities (226,042)

Net assets acquired $ 2,977,559

The Company incurred transaction costs of $250,452 which were recorded as selling, general and
administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of comprehensive loss during the
year ended December 31, 2018. 

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships,
assembled workforce and expected synergies and is deductible for U.S. tax purposes. The intangible
assets acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 4.5 years.
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GMetrix, LLC

On September 21, 2018, the Company acquired 100 percent of the outstanding units of GMetrix, LLC
(“GMX”). The total purchase price was approximately $21.0 million and was financed with debt from
the Company's 2018 Senior Credit Facility (Note 12). The following table summarizes the allocation of
the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 20,959,971

Allocation

Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 1,052,420

Prepaid expenses and other assets 296,655

Property and equipment 44,044

Tradename 300,000

Developed technology 6,280,000

Goodwill 13,818,873

Total assets acquired 21,791,992

Liabilities assumed

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (265,289)

Contract liabilities (230,000)

Other liabilities (336,732)

Net assets acquired $ 20,959,971

The Company incurred transaction costs of $1,080,585 of which $226,386 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 12). The remaining $854,199 were
recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2018.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships,
assembled workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes. The
intangible assets acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 9.7 years.
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Development Dimensions International, Inc.

On September 19, 2018, the Company acquired certain assets and liabilities of Development
Dimensions International, Inc. ("DDI") including identified key customer contracts, technology and
content. The total purchase price was approximately $23.6 million and was financed with debt from the
Company's 2018 Senior Credit Facility (Note 12). The following table summarizes the allocation of the
purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for the acquisition:

Purchase Consideration

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 23,649,575

Allocation

Assets acquired

Property and equipment 216,725

Tradename 520,000

Developed technology 2,901,000

Goodwill 20,452,892

Total assets acquired 24,090,617

Liabilities assumed

Contract liabilities (101,042)

Other liabilities (340,000)

Net assets acquired $ 23,649,575

The Company incurred transaction costs of $2,384,367 of which $921,731 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 12). The remaining $1,462,636 were
recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2018.

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships,
assembled workforce and expected synergies and is deductible for U.S. tax purposes. The intangible
assets acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 9.7 years.
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JCA Global Limited

On October 4, 2018, the Company acquired 100 percent of the shares in JCA Global Ltd ("JCA"). The
total purchase price was approximately $7.3 million and was financed with debt from the Company's
2018 Senior Credit Facility (Note 12). The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase
price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities:

Purchase Consideration

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired $ 7,293,657

Allocation

Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 1,015,801

Unbilled revenue 289,084

Prepaid expenses and other assets 93,660

Due from seller 260,647

Property and equipment 159,860

Tradename 93,100

Developed technology 1,755,600

Goodwill 5,354,334

Total assets acquired 9,022,086

Liabilities assumed

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,375,238)

Contract liabilities (133,000)

Deferred tax liability (220,191)

Net assets acquired $ 7,293,657

The Company incurred transaction costs of $445,380 of which $84,950 were capitalized as debt
issuance costs and recorded as a discount to the debt (Note 12). The remaining $360,430 were
recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company's consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2018. 

The goodwill resulting from this transaction is primarily attributable to customer relationships,
assembled workforce and expected synergies and is not deductible for U.S. tax purposes. The
intangible assets acquired have a weighted-average useful life of 9.6 years.

4. Revenue from contracts with customers

Performance Obligations

Based on criteria prescribed by Topic 606, we have the following performance obligations across each
channel:

Test administration, professional services, and software access are satisfied over time and revenue is
recognized based on the input or output method, which is discussed later in this footnote. These
performance obligations are generally satisfied throughout the contract duration and fully satisfied by
the end of the contract term.

Online assessments, job analysis reports, content validation studies, and interview guides are satisfied
at a point in time and revenue is recognized once control over the asset is transferred to the customer
and can be directed by the customer without interference.
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Test development under the Certifications and Licensure business channels are satisfied over time
and revenue is recognized based on the input method discussed later in this footnote. Test
development under the Talent Measurement business channel is recognized at a point in time, which
differs from the other business channels due to the criteria prescribed by Topic 606 related to an
alternative use of the asset being developed. 

Payment Terms

Payment terms for the performance obligations are short-term in nature. The length of time between
payment and delivery of the performance obligations do not resemble significant financing components
and the Company does not generally offer long-term financing in exchange for delivery of the
performance obligations. 

In limited circumstances, variable consideration exists due to the nature of candidate testing and
uncertainty of volume by customer on a monthly basis; however, in most cases there is historical
evidence of candidate volume with long-term customers that lead to predictability and no constraint on
the variable consideration. Payment for candidate volume is often directly in line with the value
transferred to the customer and therefore we applied the practical expedient, “right to invoice”, for
revenue recognition if there were no other performance obligations in a contract or if the other
performance obligations had no impact on allocating the transaction price.

Test administration services are generally billed monthly and are due in 30 days of receiving an
invoice. In some customer contracts, the Company collect candidate fees directly from the candidate
upon registering for an exam and then remits portion of the payment back to the customer. This
performance obligation relies on volume of candidate testing by customer and may vary significantly
based on seasonality, customer’s market, nature of the test, or geography.

Contracts with test development and other professional services, including job analysis reports, content
validation studies, and interview guides, generally include a payment schedule and terms based on
milestones achieved or quarterly invoicing. Payments are generally due within 45 days of invoice
receipt.

Subscriptions to software access, primarily under the TM business channel, is billed upfront and
annually. Payment is generally due within 30 days of invoicing. This includes contracts that provide
unlimited access to online assessments as part of the software subscription.

Online assessments that are purchased individually and on-demand are paid for immediately and there
is no lag in time between payment and satisfying the performance obligation.

Disaggregation of Revenue (Timing of Revenue Recognition)

Under ASC 606, the timing of revenue recognition is based on whether a performance obligation is
satisfied at a point in time or over time. The following is a summary of conclusions related to each
performance obligation and their timing of revenue recognition

In the Certifications and Licensure segments, revenue from test development, test administration, web
and IT development services are recognized over time. Revenue from job analysis services is
recognized at a point in time.
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For Talent Measurement, revenue from test administration and proctoring, software licenses and
access, and web and IT development services are satisfied over time. Other services that include test
development, job analysis, validation studies, and interview guide development are satisfied at a point
in time. Disaggregated revenue based on timing of revenue recognition for the year ended December
31, 2019 is as follows:

December 31,

2019

Products and services transferred at a point in time $ 27,199,183

Products and services transferred over time 243,349,258

Total revenue $ 270,548,441

Financial Statement Impacts of Applying the New Revenue Standard

The cumulative effect of initially applying the new revenue standard to all open contracts as
of January 1, 2019 is as follows:

Beginning

balance

Cumulative

effect

adjustment

Beginning

balance, as

adjusted

Assets
Current assets $ 46,606,699 $ 5,189,522 $ 51,796,221
Other assets 354,863,623 7,111,098 361,974,721

Liabilities and Member's Equity (Deficit)
Contract liabilities, current $ 13,835,844 $ (1,612,818) $ 12,223,026
Contract liabilities, non-current 409,947,960 942,798 410,890,758
Member's deficit (66,159,000) 12,970,640 (53,188,360)

The most significant impacts upon adoption of the new revenue standard on January 1, 2019 include
the following items:

A deferred contract cost asset of $1.5 million was recorded at transition on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets for incremental contract acquisition costs paid on open contracts.

A contract asset of $5.2 million was recorded at transition in current assets and $5.6 million was
recorded at transition in other assets, representing the long-term portion of the contract asset, in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets primarily for contracts with test development services when the
consideration received for test development is based on subsequent candidate fees collected upon
test administration after a test becomes available for use.

Deferred revenue of $1.3 million was recorded at transition in deferred revenues (current) and $0.7
million in long-term liabilities, representing the long-term portion on contract liabilities, in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets primarily for contracts with test development services when the
consideration received for test development is based on subsequent candidate fees collected upon
test administration after a test becomes available for use.   
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The impact of applying Topic 606 to the balances as of December 31, 2019 are shown below: 

Previous

revenue

standard

New revenue

standard Change

Assets
Current assets $ 75,571,434 $ 77,888,540 $ 2,317,106
Other assets 418,859,431 424,526,386 5,666,955

Liabilities and Equity (Deficit)
Contract liabilities, current $ 19,751,299 $ 22,996,864 $ 3,245,565
Contract liabilities, non-current 541,789,224 542,920,241 1,131,017
Member's (Deficit) (110,083,814) (106,476,335) 3,607,479

Consolidated statement of comprehensive
loss
Net revenues $ 274,842,321 $ 270,548,441 $ (4,293,880)
Selling, general, and administrative expense 152,578,840 152,286,276 (292,564)
Comprehensive loss 169,068,759 165,067,443 (4,001,316)

The most significant impacts to financial statement results as reported under the new revenue
standard as compared to the previous revenue standard for the current reporting period are as follows:

Test development services under Certifications and Licensure segments are performed prior to
receiving consideration (e.g. candidate fees) and therefore recognizing revenue was historically
delayed until candidate fees were collected. Under the new revenue standard, value associated with
test development services leads to recognizing revenue related to performance of test development
sooner and generates a contract asset, as this is a “cost to fulfill” the contract. As candidate fees are
collected under these circumstances, a portion of the contract asset is reduced until the value
associated with test development is entirely recognized.

Services including job analysis reports, content validation studies, and interview guides that effectively
generate an asset transferred to the customer upon completion are recognized at a point in time under
the new revenue standard, whereas historically revenue related to these service-generated assets
created by the Company as a service to the customer were recognized as performed and billed. The
change is due to the criteria prescribed by Topic 606 for assessing whether a performance obligation is
satisfied over time. These assets do not qualify as satisfied over time primarily due to a lack of
alternative use of the asset by the Company.

Significant judgments in the application of Topic 606

During the application of Topic 606, significant judgments were made related to the timing of
satisfaction of performance obligations and the transaction price and amounts allocated to
performance obligations.

Significant judgements to determine the timing of satisfying performance obligations, transaction price,
and amounts allocated to performance obligations include:

The Company had to determine on a contract-by-contract basis when multiple promises or
performance obligations should be combined into one. Some contracts include goods or services that
are capable of being distinct on their own, however are not capable of being distinct within the context
of the contract; therefore multiple performance obligations were combined into one and revenue is
recognized accordingly. This occurs when one performance obligation or promise is a significant input,
highly interrelated or interdependent on another promise in the contract, or significantly customizes
another performance obligation.
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The Copmany was required to allocate value based on relative standalone selling price. Under Topic
606, each performance obligation identified must have a related standalone selling price associated
with it to properly allocate value to each performance obligation based on relative value. Standalone
selling prices for each performance obligation requires judgment based on a mixture of factors to
conclude the most appropriate standalone selling price, including market rates, pricing practices and
policies, customer size and segments, professional service rates historically charged to customers and
stated in contracts, considering cost plus a margin (e.g. direct labor wages and hourly rates), or other
data to support a reasonable standalone selling price for each performance obligation.

The Company needed to determine the average time to develop a test from start-to-finish. While some
contracts specifically outline milestones and timing to develop a test for a customer, some contracts do
not include this information. Using historical data and based on reviewing project codes and time spent
on developing individual tests, we assume it takes three months on average to develop a test from
start-to-finish. The Company uses this assumption when a contract required an allocation of value
under Topic 606 guidance and therefore spread the value of test development services across three
months based on the start of the contract.

The Company used judgement in determining contract duration and termination for convenience.
Contracts under the Certifications and Licensure segments sometimes include a clause with
termination for convenience and in other cases require a material breach to terminate the contract.
Under the new revenue standard, the timing of when a customer may terminate a contract affects the
duration of the contract and therefore may affect the transaction price of the contract when variable
consideration is included. Due to the nature of certifications and licensure, the Company determined
based on several qualitative factors that if a termination for convenience clause exists the contract
duration remains the full contract term and is not limited to the notice period in which a customer can
terminate for convenience. Some of the qualitative factors include significant financial barriers to
transitioning a complete certification or licensure program to a new vendor, the nature of approved
vendor relationships with government agencies, and high-technical nature of test development and
validation services.

The Company needed to develop estimates used for candidate volume. To determine a contract total
transaction price, variable consideration exists in the form of discounts, anticipated refunds, and
fluctuations or uncertainty in candidate testing volume. Discounts and anticipated refunds reduce the
transaction price on a given transaction but were immaterial. We considered anticipated refunds on a
contract-by-contract basis and is based primarily on historical refund rates. Candidate testing volume is
estimated based on historical activity with the customer, known seasonality and trends, and other
market factors such as geography of the customer or type of test (e.g. certification or license) and its
market demand.

We used judgement in concluding that variable consideration is not constrained. When there is a
constraint on variable consideration, a company must only recognize revenue to the extent there will
not be a significant reversal in a future period. Variable consideration primarily exists in our contracts
due to a degree of uncertainty related to candidate volume by customer. Based on historical candidate
volume data and trends collected over time and due to closeness of proximity between billing
customers for candidate volume and timing of candidate testing, periodically, the likelihood of a
significant reversal due to variable consideration estimates is low and is unlikely to have a material
impact on reported revenue. As a result, our contracts including variable consideration are not
constrained.

Methods for Measuring Performance Obligations Satisfied Over Time

For performance obligations that are satisfied over time, revenue recognition is based on one of two
methods prescribed by Topic 606 that may be used depending on which method best depicts the
transfer of value (”measure of progress”) to the customer as we satisfy the performance obligation: the
input method or output method.
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Revenue is recognized under the input method based on efforts performed by the Company to satisfy
the performance obligation. This generally includes the use of Company resources, such as direct
labor or materials, to satisfy the performance obligation. Revenue is recognized under the output
method as units are delivered or time passes when a stand-ready obligation exists.

Performance obligations satisfied over time include test development services, test administration,
other professional services, and software access. Test development services and professional
services are generally based on hourly service rates and delivered based on the scope of customer
needs and for these, revenue is recognized using the input method. Test administration is based on
candidate volume and billed per candidate, effectively units, and for these, and revenue is recognized
using the output method. Software access is delivered evenly over the term of a contract and there is a
stand-ready obligation to keep the software functional and available for the customer and for these,
revenue is recognized using the output method.

Arrangements involving Principal vs Agency relationships

For contracts where we remit sponsor fees to customers, we evaluate whether we are the principal
(e.g. report revenues on a gross basis) or agent (e.g. report revenues on a net basis, net of costs
associated with the use of third-parties in the transaction). 

Sponsor fees are a portion of the candidate registration fees collected by the Company that are
remitted back to the customer. Generally, we report test and licensing revenues for contracts with
sponsor fees on a net basis, and recognize, the amounts collected from candidates net of the portion
remitted back to the sponsor. The Company is the agent because candidates perceive our customers
(e.g. licensing boards) as the primary obligor to fulfil the promise of providing testing and licensing
services, and we do not have influence over the fee charged to candidates.

In some cases, the Company engages third-party test centers to deliver tests on behalf of our end
customer. The third-party test center will often collect and remit candidate test fees back to the
Company. For these contracts, the Company reports candidate test fees collected by third-party test
centers as revenue on a gross basis and the amount paid to the third-party test centers are recorded
as cost of revenues. We are the principal because customers perceive us, not the third-party test
center, as the primary obligor to fulfill the promise for test delivery. The Company has control over
pricing with customer and we negotiate fees with third-party test centers separately.

Practical Expedients Applied

The Company applied the practical expedient to apply Topic 606 guidance to a portfolio of customer
contracts that share similar characteristics within each business channel (Certifications, Licensure, and
Talent Measurement), since within each channel pricing model and practices, performance obligations,
and contract terms are similar across the channel’s group of contracts. 

In some cases the practical expedient to recognize revenue based on the Company’s “right to invoice”
was applied when the timing and total value transferred to a customer to satisfy a performance
obligation is directly related to the consideration received by the Company. In most cases, this practical
expedient applied to test administration services based on individual candidate registrations.

The term for most customer contracts extends beyond one year, however payment on goods and
services rendered are billed and received in less than twelve months; generally within the same
quarter, and therefore we applied the practical expedient related to significant financing components.
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5. Common Control Transaction

On October 18, 2019, the Company's parent, Lifelong Learner Enterprises II, LLC, completed a sale and
recapitalization. As a result of the transaction, the Company amended its debt agreements (Note 12) and
the Company's parent completed a reorganization of their equity capitalization table. The transaction was
determined to be a common control transaction as control was not deemed to have been transferred. As a
result, the excess of the purchase price over the carryover basis of the net assets of the acquired entity
was recorded within Equity (Deficit). In connection with the transaction, the Company incurred $68,269,001
of related expenses which were recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses on the
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. In addition, the Company incurred $12,612,000 in debt
issuance costs in connection with the new credit agreement which were capitalized as debt issuance costs
on the consolidated balance sheet. See Note 12 for discussion on treatment of the previously capitalized
debt issuance costs. 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company adopted a sale bonus that provided for cash
compensation to certain employees upon the sale of the Company. The payments were based on a variety
of inputs including length of service, salary and the selling price of the Company. In connection with the
common control transaction, a liability was recorded and settled related to these sale bonuses for
$5,897,245 which is included in transaction expenses above.

6. Property and Equipment, net

The major categories of property and equipment consisted of the following as of December 31:

2019 2018

Leasehold improvements $ 5,168,409 $ 4,343,617

Computer equipment and software 19,584,067 13,960,243

Office equipment 5,713,367 4,285,200

Total property and equipment 30,465,843 22,589,060

Less: Accumulated depreciation (17,483,429) (12,262,208)

Total property and equipment, net $ 12,982,414 $ 10,326,852

Depreciation expense for property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was
$5,162,984 and $4,649,063, respectively.
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7. Intangible Assets, net

The major categories of intangible assets consists of the following as of December 31:

2019

Gross

Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

Net Carrying

Value

Software development costs and developed

technology $ 123,456,372 $ (50,985,359) $ 72,471,013

Content development costs 28,866,484 (23,663,878) 5,202,606

Tradenames 15,156,651 (8,661,430) 6,495,221

$ 167,479,507 $ (83,310,667) $ 84,168,840

2018

Gross

Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

Net Carrying

Value

Software development costs and developed

technology $ 81,659,594 $ (39,075,403) $ 42,584,191

Content development costs 25,758,230 (20,866,416) 4,891,814

Tradenames 10,034,082 (4,642,491) 5,391,591

$ 117,451,906 $ (64,584,310) $ 52,867,596

Intangible asset amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $17,502,244
and $16,756,648, respectively. 

The estimated future amortization expense as of December 31, 2019 is as follows:

2020 $ 21,575,132

2021 16,558,648

2022 11,043,049

2023 7,820,831

2024 6,491,903

Thereafter 20,679,277

Total $ 84,168,840
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8. Goodwill, net

Goodwill consisted of the following as of December 31:

2019

Gross

Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

Net Carrying

Value

Goodwill $ 456,507,673 (127,129,819) $ 329,377,854

2018

Gross

Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

Net Carrying

Value

Goodwill $ 385,579,134 (86,139,911) $ 299,439,223

A roll forward of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 228,269,104
Acquisition of SI 65,589,830
Acquisition of IHS 586,297
Acquisition of LD 1,105,816
Acquisition of GMX 13,818,873
Acquisition of DDI 20,452,892
Acquisition of JCA 5,354,334
Purchase accounting adjustments 63,426
Amortization expense (34,147,591)

Foreign currency translation (1,653,758)

Balance, December 31, 2018 299,439,223
Acquisition of OCL 13,201,900
Acquisition of Cubiks 25,371,438
Acquisition of Caliper 29,559,140
Amortization expense (41,442,148)

Foreign currency translation 3,248,301

Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 329,377,854

Goodwill amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $41,442,148 and
$34,147,591, respectively.

The estimated amortization expense, based on current goodwill balances is as follows for the years ended
December 31:

2020 $ 46,560,846

2021 45,152,593

2022 44,878,618

2023 44,907,837

2024 44,923,875

Thereafter 102,954,085

Total $ 329,377,854
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9. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following as of December 31:

2019 2018

Accrued employee compensation $ 3,815,957 $ 2,005,920

Accrued bonuses 1,495,489 4,098,638

Accrued paid time off 3,463,760 2,735,100

Accrued sales and VAT tax 3,258,167 1,037,176

Accrued interest 1,688,050 2,098,667

Other accrued liabilities 14,971,819 7,321,824

Total $ 28,693,242 $ 19,297,325

10. Income Taxes

PSI Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries is the only tax paying entity within the Company. The loss before
income taxes related to PSI Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries consists of the following for the years ended
December 31:

2019 2018

Domestic (27,972,755) $ (33,414,411)

Foreign (1,729,067) (24,578,895)

Total loss before income taxes related to PSI Services,

Inc. and Subsidiaries $ (29,701,822) $ (57,993,306)

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of the following for the years ended December 31:

2019 2018

Current

Federal and state $ 253,074 $ 116,966

Foreign 210,728 115,726

Total current tax expense 463,802 232,692

Deferred

Federal and state (2,710,621) (3,581,996)

Foreign 58,610 328,250

Total deferred tax expense (benefit) (2,652,011) (3,253,746)

Income tax expense (benefit) $ (2,188,209) $ (3,021,054)

PSI Services Inc. and Subsidiaries are wholly-owned corporate subsidiaries of the Company and, as such,
income earned by these subsidiaries is subject to U.S. federal and state income taxation at the prevailing
rates. Income earned by non-corporate subsidiaries is not subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax and
is allocated to the unitholders of the partnership.

32CONFIDENTIAL



Lifelong Learner Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2019 and 2018

The differences between the reported amount of income tax benefit and the amount of income tax benefit
that would result from applying the federal statutory rate to pretax income primarily relates to the revenues
and expenses that are or are not subject to income tax.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following as of December 31:

2019 2018

Deferred tax assets

Accrued liabilities $ 599,295 $ 437,286

Net operating losses 7,093,124 1,834,504

Other 951,532 443,951

Interest Limitation - Sec. 163 (j) 3,435,351 1,793,994

Total deferred tax assets 12,079,302 4,509,735

Deferred tax liabilities

Acquired intangible assets (10,807,872) (4,990,985)

Property and equipment basis difference (147,729) (46,761)

Prepaid expenses (30,653) (13,396)

Other (734,838) (121,992)

Total deferred tax liabilities (11,721,092) (5,173,134)

Valuation Allowance (2,809,199) (67,257)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (2,450,989) $ (730,656)

The Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards ("NOLs") of $369,000 that expire in 2038 and
$2.9 million of NOLs with indefinite carryforward periods. The Company has NOLs across various states of
$0.7 million that expire beginning in 2023. The Company also has $3.1 million of foreign NOLs available
across various jurisdictions and have provided a valuation allowance for $2.8 million of those foreign NOLs.
The foreign NOLs with no valuation allowance provided have no expiry. 

The Company is subject to income tax at the U.S. federal level as well as in several states and certain
foreign jurisdictions. The Company is not currently under examination by the Internal Revenue Service
("IRS"). However, during 2019 the IRS audited the 2017 federal tax return and subsequently concluded the
examination without adjustment. In addition, the Company is currently under audit by the German taxing
authorities. The Company has elected to record the income taxes and any related interest and penalties as
income tax expense on the statement of comprehensive loss.

The Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only to the extent the position is
more likely than not to be sustained upon audit based on the technical merits of the position. For tax
positions not meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the amount recognized in the financial statements
is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement with
the relevant taxing authorities. During 2019, the Company recorded $398,000 in uncertain tax benefits
related to positions taken in prior years, which if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate.
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11. Notes Payable to Related Parties

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company executed secured promissory notes to the
Company's controlling member for $5,573,083. These notes accrued interest in kind at a variable interest
rate (as defined in the agreement) equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR, at the option of the Company, plus
an applicable margin of 6.00 percent for Prime Rate loans or 7.00 percent for LIBOR loans, which was
contingent upon a debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (“EBITDA”) ratio
calculated quarterly and were scheduled to mature on March 15, 2023 and April 3, 2023. The notes were
secured by substantially all assets of the Company. The promissory notes and accrued interest were
repaid in full prior to December 31, 2018. Interest expense incurred on the notes to related parties was
$97,485 for the year ended December 31, 2018.

12. Long-Term Debt

2018 Qualified Borrower Promissory Note

During 2018, the Company entered into a $16,000,000 qualified borrower promissory note with a bank
under an existing credit agreement between the Company's controlling shareholder and the bank (the
"Note"). The Note had an interest rate tied to prime rates, which was 5.75 percent as of December 31,
2018. The interest rate immediately prior to the repayment was 7.11 percent. Interest was payable
monthly. An irrevocable, unconditional and absolute guaranty had been provided by the Company's
controlling shareholders for the payment when due of all interest, principal, fees, expenses and other
amounts in connection with all obligations of the Company under the credit agreement. During the year
ended December 31, 2019, the Company received additional proceeds of $20,000,000 under the
restated agreement. The balance of $36,000,000 was repaid in full during the year ended December
31, 2019. 

2017 Senior Credit Facility 

The 2017 Senior Credit Facility consisted of a term loan (the "Term Loan") and a $3,000,000 revolving
line of credit (the "Revolver"). The Company received initial proceeds of $207,000,000 under the first
lien of the Term Loan and $72,000,000 under the second lien during the year ended December 31,
2017. The Company received additional proceeds on the first lien of $110,000,000 and $31,190,866
during the year ended December 31, 2018. 

The first lien of the Term Loan and Revolver bore interest at a variable interest rate (as defined in the
agreement) equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR, at the option of the Company, plus an applicable
margin of 4.00 percent for Prime Rate loans or 5.00 percent for LIBOR loans. Interest was payable
monthly. The first lien was paid in full in October 2019. The interest rate on the first lien was
approximately 7.11 percent as of the repayment date in October 2019 and 7.34 percent as of
December 31, 2018.

The approximate average interest rate on the Revolver during 2019 prior to the repayment and during
the year ended December 31, 2018 was 7.11 percent and 6.64 percent, respectively.

The second lien of the Term Loan bore interest at a variable interest rate (as defined in the agreement)
equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR, at the option of the Company, plus an applicable margin. The
applicable margin for the second lien is defined as an amount greater than 8 percent per year or an
amount that is 4 percent greater than the greatest margin applicable to the Prime Rate loans under the
first lien. Applicable margin for LIBOR loans is defined as an amount greater than 9 percent per year or
an amount that is 4 percent greater than the greatest margin applicable to the LIBOR loans under the
first lien. Interest was payable monthly. The interest rate on the second lien was approximately 11.12
percent as of the repayment date in October 2019 and 11.34 percent as of December 31, 2018. The
second lien was paid in full in October 2019.
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Quarterly payments on the first and second lien during the year ended December 31, 2018 ranged
from $517,500 to $718,000 based on outstanding borrowings. 

All outstanding borrowings under the 2017 senior credit facility were repaid during the year ended
December 31, 2019 as part of the common control transaction (Note 5). 

2019 Senior Credit Facility 

In connection with the common control transaction (Note 5), the Company entered into a new credit
agreement (the "2019 Facility"). The agreement includes borrowings under an initial term loan of
$480,000,000, revolving credit commitments of $50,000,000 and delayed draw term loan commitments
up to $140,000,000. The proceeds received upon executing the 2019 Facility were used to repay the
2017 Senior Credit Facility in full. The Company recorded debt extinguishment expense of $8,029,622,
which included previously capitalized debt issuance costs and certain new expenses in connection with
the refinancing. Each loan under the 2019 Facility has an interest rate based on the prime rate plus an
applicable rate. The 2019 Facility is secured by substantially all assets of the Company. 

The initial term loan matures on October 18, 2026 and the interest rate was 7.50 percent as of
December 31, 2019. The delayed draw term loans mature during 2026 and the interst rate were 7.53
percent (first tranche) and 7.66 percent (second tranche) as of December 31, 2019. Both of the
Company's outstanding delayed draw term loans mature during 2026. The revolving credit facility
matures on October 18, 2025 and the interest rate was 7.69 percent as of December 31, 2019. 

The revolving credit facility is subject to  contains a number of covenants that, among other provisions,
restrict, subject to certain exceptions, the Company’s (and most or all of its subsidiaries’) ability to incur
additional indebtedness, pay dividends and distributions, create liens on assets, enter into sale and
leaseback transactions, repay subordinated indebtedness, make investments, loans or advances,
make capital expenditures, engage in certain transactions with affiliates, amend certain material
agreements, change its lines of business, sell assets and engage in mergers or consolidations.

In addition, under the 2019 Facility, the Company is required to satisfy and maintain certain leverage
ratios. The covenant is only applicable in the event the borrowings on the line of credit are greater than
35 percent of the total commitments, or $17,500,000 based on the $50,000,000 commitment. As of
December 31, 2019, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants under the 2019
Facility. 

The outstanding balance on the Company's revolving line of credit as of December 31, 2019 was
$5,000,000.

The Company's long-term debt obligations consisted of the following as of December 31:

2019 2018

Term loans $ 480,000,000 $ 416,599,838

Delayed draw term loans 71,870,000 -

Promissory note - 16,000,000

Total long-term debt 551,870,000 432,599,838

Less: Current portion (5,518,700) (19,430,046)

Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (11,369,119) (7,916,922)

Long-term debt, net of current maturities and unamortized

debt issuance costs $ 534,982,181 $ 405,252,870
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Future maturities of the Company's long-term debt for the years ending December 31 are as follows:

2020 $ 5,518,700

2021 5,518,700

2021 5,518,700

2023 5,518,700

2024 5,518,700

Thereafter 524,276,500

Total $ 551,870,000

13. Equity 

As described in Note 1, the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Lifelong Learner Enterprises II,
LLC. PSI Enterprises II, LLC owns 100 percent of the 1,000 outstanding units of the Company. 

2015 Equity Incentive Plan ("2015 Plan")

During 2015, the Company's parent authorized the issuance of 20,000 non-voting Class C units to
management. Grants were awarded to employees as an incentive. The Class C units granted under
the 2015 Plan contained vesting provisions based on either service or contingent upon a successful
transaction. 

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were 0 and 17,550 Class C units issued and outstanding,
respectively, under the 2015 Plan. As of December 31, 2018, there were 1,650 Class C units vested.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, upon the completion of the Common Control Transaction
(Note 5), all of the units became fully vested and proceeds were paid to unit holders. For the year
ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized $24,753,274 of unit based compensation
expense under the 2015 Plan, which is included in selling, general and administrative expenses on the
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. 

2019 Equity Incentive Plan ("2019 Plan")

During 2019, the Company's parent authorized the issuance of 15,000 Class C Units and 14,000 Class
T Units (collectively referred to as "the Units") to management. The Units contain vesting provisions
that are tied to participation thresholds driven by calculated returns on a successful transaction. As of
December 31, 2019, there were 8,500 Class C Units and 9,575 Class T Units issued and outstanding.
During the year ended, December 31, 2019, the Company did not recognize any unit compensation
expense under the 2019 Plan because of the contingency associated with vesting.

14. Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may become subject to legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in
the ordinary course of business. The Company is not currently a party to any material legal proceedings,
nor is the Company aware of any pending or threatened litigation. 

Leases

The Company leases offices and testing facilities in several states and certain equipment with maturity
dates through 2028. The leases generally provide for the Company to pay taxes, maintenance,
insurance and other operating costs of the leased property. Some of the leases contain rent escalation
provisions and renewal options.
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Following is a schedule of future estimated minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating
leases as of December 31, 2019:

2020 $ 9,219,858

2021 7,150,380

2022 5,593,959

2023 4,541,923

2024 3,925,300

Thereafter 7,489,652

Total $ 37,921,072

Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $10,762,634 and
$9,436,112, respectively. 

Minimum annual rental commitments on capital leases are as follows as of December 31, 2019:

2020 $ 280,620

2021 280,593

2022 280,593

2023 129,580

2024 31,374

Total minimum lease payments 1,002,760

Less: Amount representing interest (254,629)

Present value of capital lease obligations 748,131

Less: Current portion (166,360)

Capital lease, net of current portion $ 581,771

15. Employee Benefits

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan (the “Plan”), established under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code for employees in the United States. Effective January 1, 2014, the Company
adopted a Safe Harbor plan. Participation in the Plan is available to all full-time employees, and part time
employees who meet specific eligibility requirements. The Company matches 100 percent up to 3 percent
and 50 percent on the next 2 percent of employee contributions. As a requirement of the safe harbor
adoption, the Company’s matching contributions vest immediately. The Company also elected to
immediately vest any previously unvested matching contributions for active participants as of January 1,
2014.

The Company also operates various defined contribution pension plans in international jurisdictions under
which fixed contributions per employee are paid into a pension fund and the company has no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further contributions. Contributions to defined contribution plans are
recognized as an employee benefit expense when they are due. The levels of contribution and the specific
pension rules vary from country to country to ensure adherence to local laws.

The Company's expense for contributions to the plans described above during the years ended December
31, 2019 and 2018 were $2,949,924 and $1,830,477, respectively.
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16. Related Party Transactions

For each acquisition completed by the Company, a fee of approximately 3 percent of the purchase price is
recognized for payment to Waud Capital Partners ("WCP"), the controlling member of the Company's
parent. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded acquisition related
expenses related to these fees for $2,962,211 and $3,946,673, respectively. 

The Company also pays WCP an annual fee based on a defined percentage of EBITDA for each year.
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded expenses of $3,143,712
and $3,450,357 related to these fees. Included in the 2018 fees were $635,356 in interest charged on past
due advisory fees for 2018.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, as part of the Common Control Transaction (Note 5), the
Company incurred additional transaction expenses and expense reimbursements to WCP in the amount of
$45,764,532 all of which were paid during the year. 

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the balances outstanding to WCP were $0 and $1,380,000,
respectively, related to the transactions described above. 
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2019 2018

Consolidated Net Loss $ (166,222,394) $ (54,972,252)

Interest expense- cash 38,900,161 29,475,456

Interest expense- non-cash 9,716,929 1,322,198

Income tax benefit (2,188,209) (3,021,054)

Acquisition-related expenses 7,467,352 8,778,406

Common control transaction expenses 68,269,000 -

Unit-based compensation cost 24,753,275 108,000

Management fees 3,311,221 2,815,000

Board of Director costs 180,135 239,662

Integration costs 6,554,616 7,929,433

Depreciation and loss on sale of assets 5,181,015 4,708,900

Amortization of goodwill 41,442,148 34,147,591

Amortization of intangible assets 17,502,244 17,361,581

Change in fair-value of contingent consideration - 1,589,800

Consolidated adjusted EBITDA $ 54,867,493 $ 50,482,721
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PSI SERVICES LLC - Full Company View Saved by Arous Mouradian | 08-14-2020

Risk Assessment

Report as of: 08-14-2020

Tradestyle(s):

Address:

PSI SERVICES LLC
PSI

ACTIVE  HEADQUARTERS

611 N Brand Blvd 10th Fl, Glendale, CA, 91203, UNITED STATES

Alerts:

D&B Guidance

Overall Business Risk

Dun & Bradstreet Thinks...

Overall assessment of this company: STABLE CONDITION

Based on the perceived sustainability of this company: LIKELIHOOD OF

CONTINUED OPERATIONS

Based on the payment behavior of this company: LOW-POTENTIAL-FOR-

SEVERELY-DELINQUENT-PAYMENTS

LOW LOW-

MODERATE

MODERATE MODERATE-

HIGH

HIGH

Maximum Credit Recommendation

US$

1,300,000

The recommended limit is based on a

moderately low probability of severe

delinquency.

PAYDEX® Score Based on 24 months of data

76

Low Risk (100) High Risk (1)

Based on a D&B PAYDEX® Score of 76

Risk of Slow Pay

Low
Payment Behavior

6 Days Beyond Terms

Business and Industry Trends



08/20 Pays
Promptly

- 15,000 0 0 Between 2 and 3
Months

07/20 - Cash
account

250 - - 1

07/20 - Cash
account

250 - - 1

07/20 - Cash
account

10,000 - - 1

07/20 Pays Slow
60+

N10 100 0 0 Between 4 and 5
Months

Keys

PAYDEX® Payment Practices

100 Anticipate

90 Discount

80 Prompt

70 15 Days Beyond Terms

60 22 Days Beyond Terms

50 30 Days Beyond Terms

40 60 Days Beyond Terms

30 90 Days Beyond Terms

20 120 Days Beyond Terms

1-19 Over 120 Days Beyond Terms

Understand My Score

Payment History

View AllTotal Last 24 Months: 80

Date of
Experience 

Payment
Status 

Selling
Terms 

High Credit
(US$)

Now Owes
(US$)

Past Due
(US$)

Months Since Last
Sale



UN Unavailable

Level of risk

Low-Moderate
Probabilty of Delinquency

3.33%
Compared to Businesses in D&B

Database

10.2%

Level of risk

Moderate
Probability of Failure

0.33%
Average Probability of Failure for

Businesses in D&B Database

0.48%

Delinquency Predictor Score

Based on a D&B Delinquency Predictor Percentile of 74

74

Low Risk (100) High Risk (1)

Score

534 --
Class

2

Factors Affecting Your Score:

Higher risk industry based on delinquency rates for this industry

Increase in proportion of delinquent payments in recent payment experiences

Proportion of past due balances to total amount owing

Proportion of slow payments in recent months

Business and Industry Trends

Financial Stress Score

Based on a D&B Financial Stress Percentile of 38

38

Low Risk (100) High Risk (1)

Score

1460 --
Class

3

Factors Affecting Your Score:

Composite credit appraisal is rated fair

UCC Filings reported

High number of enquiries to D&B over last 12 months

Low proportion of satisfactory payment experiences to total payment experiences

Unstable Paydex over last 12 months



Current Rating as of 01-03-2020

10 employees and over

Employee Size

1R : Higher than Average

Risk

Risk Indicator

4 :

Previous Rating

Business and Industry Trends

Supplier Evaluation Risk Rating Based on 24 months of data

1

Low Risk (1) High Risk (9)

Factors Affecting Your Score:

Proportion of past due balances to total amount owing

Evidence of open liens and judgments

Unstable Paydex over last 12 months

Business and Industry Trends

D&B Rating

10 employees and over

Employee Size

1R :

Moderate

Risk

Risk Indicator

3 :

D&B Viability Rating



Portfolio Comparison Score Level of risk

Low
Rating Confidence Level

Robust
Predictions

Probability of becoming no longer

viable

2%

Percentage of businesses ranked with this

score

11%

Average probability of becoming no longer

viable

5%

Viability Score Level of risk

Low

Data Depth Indicator
Rich Firmographics

Extensive Commercial Trading Activity

Basic Financial Attributes

Company Profile

G

Financial

Data

Trade

Payments

Company

Size

Years in

Business

Not

Available
Available Large Established

Compared to ALL US Businesses within the D&B

Database:

Financial Data : Not Available

Trade Payments : Available: 3+Trade

Company Size : Large: Employees:50+ or

Sales: $500K+

Years in Business : Established: 5+

Overall Payment Behavior

6
Days Beyond Terms

% of Trade Within Terms

80%

Highest Past Due

 

Trade Payments

1

Low Risk (1) High Risk (9)

2

Low Risk(1) High Risk (9)

Probability of becoming no longer viable

2%
Percentage of businesses ranked with

this score

14%

Average probability of becoming no

longer viable

4%

B

Predictive (A) Descriptive (G)

Trade Payments Summary



US$ 5,000

Highest Now Owing:

US$ 30,000

Total Trade Experiences:

82

Largest High Credit:
US$ 100,000

Average High Credit:
US$ 9,362

Total Unfavorable Comments :

0

Largest High Credit:
US$ 0

Total Placed in Collections:

0

Largest High Credit:
US$ 0

Trade Payments By Credit Extended

100,000 - 1 100

50,000 - 99,999 1 100

15,000 - 49,999 4 100

5,000 - 14,999 7 44

1,000 - 4,999 4 87

- 999 16 95

35 - Industrial and Commercial Machinery and
Computer Equipment

1 100  

3572 - Mfg computer storage 1 100 100

48 - Communications 12 55,000  

4813 - Telephone communictns 12 55,000 85

49 - Electric, Gas and Sanitary Services 1 250  

4911 - Electric services 1 250 100

50 - Wholesale Trade - Durable Goods 1 5,000  

Range of Credit Extended (US$)  Number of Payment Experiences % Within Terms

Trade Payments By Industry

Industry Category 
Number of Payment
Experiences 

Largest High
Credit (US$) 

% Within Terms
(Expand to View) 

















5063 - Whol electrical equip 1 5,000 50

51 - Wholesale Trade - Nondurable Goods 1 5,000  

5113 - Whol service paper 1 5,000 50

59 - Miscellaneous Retail 1 100,000  

5943 - Ret stationery 1 100,000 100

60 - Depository Institutions 2 15,000  

6021 - Natnl commercial bank 2 15,000 100

73 - Business Services 7 15,000  

7323 - Credit reporting svcs 1 5,000 50

7361 - Employment agency 1 5,000 100

7363 - Help supply service 3 100 25

7379 - Misc computer service 1 15,000 100

7389 - Misc business service 1 0 50

93 - Public Finance Taxation and Monetary
Policy

3 100  

9311 - Public finance 3 100 100

96 - Administration of Economic Programs 1 250  

9651 - Reg misc coml sector 1 250 100

99 - Nonclassifiable Establishments 4 35,000  

9999 - Nonclassified 4 35,000 92

08/20 Pays Promptly - 15,000 0 0 Between 2 and 3
Months

07/20 - Cash
account

250 - - 1







































Trade Lines

Dispute Payments

Date of
Experience  Payment Status 

Selling
Terms 

High Credit
(US$)

Now Owes
(US$)

Past Due
(US$)

Months Since Last
Sale



07/20 - Cash
account

250 - - 1

07/20 - Cash
account

10,000 - - 1

07/20 Pays Slow 60+ N10 100 0 0 Between 4 and 5
Months

07/20 Pays Prompt to
Slow 60+

N10 50 0 0 Between 4 and 5
Months

07/20 Pays Prompt to
Slow 60+

N10 50 0 0 Between 4 and 5
Months

07/20 Pays Prompt to
Slow 30+

- 5,000 2,500 750 1

07/20 Pays Prompt to
Slow 30+

- - 100 0 1

07/20 Pays Promptly - 250 250 0 -

07/20 Pays Promptly - 30,000 30,000 0 1

07/20 Pays Promptly - 35,000 0 0 Between 2 and 3
Months

06/20 Pays Slow 150+ - 10,000 250 0 1

06/20 Pays Prompt to
Slow 90+

- 5,000 5,000 2,500 1

06/20 Pays Prompt to
Slow 60+

- 5,000 5,000 2,500 1

06/20 Pays Prompt to
Slow 30+

- 5,000 5,000 1,000 1

06/20 Pays Prompt to
Slow 15+

- 2,500 2,500 2,500 1

06/20 Pays Prompt to
Slow 15+

- 10,000 10,000 5,000 1

06/20 Pays Promptly - 250 250 0 1

06/20 Pays Promptly - 250 250 0 1

06/20 Pays Promptly - 500 500 0 1

06/20 Pays Promptly - 500 250 0 1

06/20 Pays Promptly - 500 0 0 Between 2 and 3
Months

06/20 Pays Promptly - 2,500 2,500 0 1

06/20 Pays Promptly - 2,500 0 0 1



06/20 Pays Promptly - 2,500 2,500 0 1

06/20 Pays Promptly - 55,000 30,000 0 1

06/20 Pays Promptly - 100,000 20,000 500 1

05/20 - Cash
account

50 0 0 Between 6 and 12
Months

05/20 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

05/20 - Cash
account

100 0 0 Between 4 and 5
Months

05/20 - Cash
account

- - - 1

04/20 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

04/20 - - 50 - - Between 2 and 3
Months

04/20 - Cash
account

50 - - Between 2 and 3
Months

04/20 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

04/20 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

04/20 - Cash
account

100 - - 1

04/20 Pays Promptly - 100 - - 1

04/20 Pays Promptly - 100 - - 1

04/20 Pays Promptly - 100 - - 1

03/20 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

03/20 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

03/20 - Cash
account

50 - - Between 6 and 12
Months

12/19 - Cash
account

100 - - Between 6 and 12
Months

11/19 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

11/19 - Cash
account

50 - - 1



11/19 - Cash
account

50 - - Between 6 and 12
Months

11/19 - Cash
account

100 - - 1

11/19 Pays Promptly - 0 0 0 Between 6 and 12
Months

10/19 - - 50 - - 1

10/19 - - 50 - - 1

10/19 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

10/19 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

10/19 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

10/19 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

10/19 - Cash
account

100 - - 1

10/19 - Cash
account

100 - - 1

10/19 Pays Promptly N30 15,000 0 0 Between 6 and 12
Months

09/19 - Cash
account

50 - - Between 6 and 12
Months

09/19 - Cash
account

50 - - Between 6 and 12
Months

09/19 - Cash
account

100 - - Between 6 and 12
Months

09/19 - Cash
account

500 - - Between 6 and 12
Months

08/19 - Cash
account

50 - - Between 6 and 12
Months

07/19 - Cash
account

100 - - 1

06/19 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

06/19 - Cash
account

50 - - 1

06/19 - Cash
account

50 - - 1



Dispute UCC Filing

06/19 - Cash
account

50 - - Between 2 and 3
Months

06/19 - - 100 0 0 1

06/19 - - 750 0 0 1

06/19 - - 7,500 0 0 1

06/19 - - 25,000 0 0 1

01/19 Pays Promptly - 100 0 0 Between 6 and 12
Months

10/18 - Cash
account

50 - - Between 4 and 5
Months

09/18 cash own option Cash
account

50 - - Between 6 and 12
Months

09/18 - Cash
account

250 - - Between 6 and 12
Months

09/18 Pays Promptly N30 5,000 0 0 Between 6 and 12
Months

08/18 cash own option Cash
account

50 - - Between 4 and 5
Months

08/18 satisfactory - 250 - - 1

Legal Events

The following Public Filing data is for information purposes only and is not the official record. Certified copies can only be obtained

from the official source.

 

UCC Filing - Original

Filing Date 10-17-2019

Filing Number 197741158790

Judgments

0
Latest Filing: -

Liens

0
Latest Filing: -

Suits

0
Latest Filing: -

UCC Filings

20
Latest Filing: 10-17-2019

Events



Received Date 11-01-2019

Collateral Leased Equipment and proceeds

Secured Party CIT BANK, N.A., JACKSONVILLE, FL

Debtors PSI SERVICES LLC

Filing Office SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, SACRAMENTO, CA

UCC Filing - Original

Filing Date 06-18-2019

Filing Number 197718224213

Received Date 07-02-2019

Collateral Leased Computer equipment including proceeds and products

Secured Party CIT BANK, N.A., JACKSONVILLE, FL

Debtors PSI SERVICES LLC

Filing Office SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, SACRAMENTO, CA

UCC Filing - Original

Filing Date 07-03-2018

Filing Number 187657206537

Received Date 07-20-2018

Collateral Computer equipment - Equipment - Fixtures

Secured Party CORPORATION SERVICE COMPANY, AS
REPRESENTATIVE, SPRINGFIELD, IL

Debtors PSI SERVICES LLC

Filing Office SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, SACRAMENTO, CA

UCC Filing - Original

Filing Date 03-02-2018

Filing Number 187635841447

Received Date 03-13-2018

Collateral Leased Equipment including proceeds and products



Secured Party CIT BANK, N.A., JACKSONVILLE, FL

Debtors PSI SERVICES LLC

Filing Office SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, SACRAMENTO, CA

UCC Filing - Original

Filing Date 02-18-2014

Filing Number 147399734441

Received Date 03-05-2014

Collateral Leased Computer equipment and proceeds - Leased Business
machinery/equipment and proceeds

Secured Party EVERBANK COMMERCIAL FINANCE, INC., PARSIPPANY,
NJ

Debtors PSI SERVICES, LLC

Filing Office SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, SACRAMENTO, CA

UCC Filing - Original

Filing Date 11-22-2010

Filing Number 107252156584

Received Date 12-02-2010

Collateral Business machinery/equipment - Leased Equipment and
proceeds - Leased Computer equipment and proceeds

Secured Party TYGRIS VENDOR FINANCE, INC., PARSIPPANY, NJ

Debtors PSI SERVICES, LLC

Filing Office SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, SACRAMENTO, CA

UCC Filing - Original

Filing Date 05-26-2010

Filing Number 107232864396

Received Date 06-03-2010

Collateral Equipment

Secured Party US BANCORP, MARSHALL, MN



Debtors PSI SERVICES, LLC

Filing Office SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, SACRAMENTO, CA

UCC Filing - Original

Filing Date 05-24-2010

Filing Number 107232640772

Received Date 06-03-2010

Collateral Equipment

Secured Party US BANCORP, MARSHALL, MN

Debtors PSI SERVICES, LLC

Filing Office SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, SACRAMENTO, CA

UCC Filing - Original

Filing Date 05-22-2007

Filing Number 2007 1919272

Received Date 06-21-2007

Collateral Leased Equipment including proceeds and products - Leased
Computer equipment including proceeds and products -
Leased Business machinery/equipment including proceeds and
products

Secured Party GRAYBAR FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC, JACKSONVILLE, FL

Debtors PSI SERVICES LLC

Filing Office SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, DOVER, DE

UCC Filing - Original

Filing Date 03-23-2007

Filing Number 077107481227

Received Date 04-11-2007

Collateral Leased Equipment including proceeds and products - Leased
Computer equipment including proceeds and products -
Leased Business machinery/equipment including proceeds and
products - Leased Communications equipment including
proceeds and products

Secured Party GRAYBAR FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC, JACKSONVILLE, FL



Debtors PSI SERVICES, LLC

Filing Office SECRETARY OF STATE/UCC DIVISION, SACRAMENTO, CA

Special Events

This information may not be reproduced in whole or in part by any means of reproduction.

Ownership

Family Tree

12-11-2019

MERGER/ACQUISITION: According to published reports, PSI Services LLC, DUNS 043091602, (Glendale, CA) announced the

acquisition of Caliper, DUNS 069893949, (Princeton, NJ).

11-16-2019

MERGER/ACQUISITION: According to published reports, PSI Services LLC, DUNS 043091602, (Glendale, CA) announced that it

has acquired Cubiks Ltd . Terms of the deal were not disclosed.

Members in the Tree

26

Subsidiaries of this Company

14

Branches of this Company

11

 Exclude Branches

Psi Services Llc 04-309-1602 Glendale, California 

Psi International Holdings Limited 22-151-1847 London 

Psi Assessment Services Fz - Llc 55-919-1396 Dubai, Dubai 

Psi Services (uk) Limited 49-072-8383 Royston 

Psi Services (uk) Limited 21-374-1346 Cwmbran 

Jca Global Ltd 73-258-3575 Cheltenham 

Psi Talent Measurement (uk) Limited 39-779-1369 Guildford 

Psi Services Inc. 12-066-8454 Olathe, Kansas 

Psi Services Inc. 00-523-0938 Marietta, Georgia 

Psi Services Inc. 06-203-0460 Savannah, Georgia 

Psi Services Inc. 15-970-2653 Macon, Georgia 

Psi Services Inc. 06-203-2144 Olathe, Kansas 

Psi Services Inc. 06-203-2425 Saint Ann, Missouri 

Psi Services Llc 96-950-7180 Vancouver, Washington 

Psi Services (switzerland) Ag 48-025-8768 Basel, Basel-stadt 

Innovative Exams, Llc 01-722-7956 Chicago, Illinois 

Computer Assisted Testing Service, Llc 94-804-0340 San Mateo, California 

Ss Newco Inc. 02-187-9568 Newton, Massachusetts 

HQ

S

S

S

B

S

S

S

B

B

B

B

B

B

S

S

S

S



Company Profile

Performance-based Selection, Ltd. 11-981-2472 Westlake, Ohio 

Psi Services Llc 02-999-3730 College Park, Maryland 

Psi Services Llc 11-736-6813 Las Vegas, Nevada 

Psi Services Llc 94-191-1513 Norwalk, Connecticut 

Performance Assessment Network, Inc. 94-004-8916 Carmel, Indiana 

Ipat Holdings Acquisition Limited 22-114-7506 London 

Ipat Holdings Limited 22-072-5882 London 

Psi Services Llc 11-091-1373 Stockton, California 

Company Overview

D-U-N-S

04-309-1602

Business Form

Corporation (US)

Date Incorporated

December 6, 2012

State of Incorporation

West Virginia

Ownership

Not publicly traded

Mailing Address

United States

Telephone

(818) 847-6180

Employees

1,020 (80 here)

Age (Year Started)

19 years (2001)

Named Principal

STEVE TAPP, MBR

Line of Business

Business consulting services

Corporate and business registrations reported by the secretary of state or other official source as of:  08-11-2020

This data is for informational purposes only, certification can only be obtained through the Office of the Secretary of State.

Registered Name PSI SERVICES LLC

Corporation Type Corporation (US)

Business Commenced On 2001

State of Incorporation WEST VIRGINIA

Registration ID 314721

Registration Status ACTIVE

Filing Date 12-06-2012

Business Registration

 

S

B

B

B

S

S

S

B



Where Filed CORPORATIONS DIVISION

Name CORPORATION SERVICE COMPANY

Address 209 WEST WASHINGTON STREET, CHARLESTON, WV, 253020000

Name LIFELONG LEARNER HOLDINGS, LLC

Title Manager

Address 611 N BRAND BLVD FL 10, GLENDALE, CA, 912030000

Registered Agent  

Registered Principal  

STEVE TAPP, MBR

JEFFREY E MOXIE, MBR

DIRECTOR(S): THE OFFICER(S)

Principals

Officers

Directors

The following information was reported on: 02-04-2020

The Delaware Secretary of State's business registrations file showed that PSI Services LLC was registered as a Limited Liability

Company on October 26, 2006, under the file registration number 4241594.

Business started 2001 by Floyd Ruch and Clark L Wilson. Present control succeeded 2006.

RECENT EVENTS:.

On December 26, 2019, sources stated that PSI Services LLC, Glendale, CA, has completed the acquisition of Caliper Corporation,

Princeton, NJ, on December 3, 2019. With the acquisition, Caliper Corporation will now operate as a subsidiary of PSI Services LLC.

Employees and management were retained. Terms of the deal were not disclosed. Further details are unavailable.

On November 26, 2019, sources stated that PSI Services LLC, Gelndale, CA, has acquired Cubiks Group Ltd, Guildford, United

Kingdom, on October 28, 2019. Terms of the deal were not disclosed. Further details are unavailable.

On September 28, 2018, sources stated that PSI Services LLC, Glendale, CA, has acquired the pre-employment testing assets of

Development Dimensions International, Inc., Bridgeville, PA, on September 20, 2018. Terms of the deal were not disclosed. Further

details are unavailable.

On February 10, 2017, sources stated that PSI Services LLC, Burbank, CA, has completed the acquisition of Performance

Assessment Network, Inc., Carmel, IN, on January 24, 2017. With the acquisition, Performance Assessment Network, Inc. will now

operate as a subsidiary of PSI Services, LLC. Employees and management were retained. Terms of transactions were not

disclosed.

Company Events



On January 31, 2017, sources stated that PSI Services LLC, Burbank, CA, has acquired ECDL Switzerland AG, Basel, Switzerland,

on January 19, 2017. Terms of the transaction were not disclosed. Further details are unavailable.

On January 19, 2017, sources stated that PSI Services LLC, Burbank, CA, has acquired SS Newco, Inc., formerly known as

Software Secure, Inc., Newton, MA, on January 10, 2017. With the acquisition, SS Newco, Inc. will now operate as a subsidiary of

PSI Services, LLC. Employees and management were retained. Terms of the transaction were not disclosed. Further details are

unavailable.

On December 22, 2016, sources stated that PSI Services LLC, Burbank, CA, has acquired Computer Assisted Testing Services

LLC, San Mateo, CA, formerly known as Computer Assisted Testing Services Inc. on December 6, 2016. With the acquisition,

Computer Assisted Testing Services LLC will now operate as a subsidiary of PSI Services, LLC. Employees and management

retained. Terms of deal were not disclosed. Further details are unavailable.

On February 19, 2016, sources stated that PSI Services LLC, Burbank, CA, has acquired EnlightKS Limited, Royston, United

Kingdom, on February 9, 2016. Terms of the transaction were not disclosed. Further details are unavailable.

On January 14, 2016, Gary Smith, former CEO of Applied Measurement Professionals, Inc., stated that PSI Services LLC, Burbank,

CA, has acquired the 100% stock ownership of Applied Measurement Professionals, Inc., Olathe, KS, from National Board For

Respiratory Care, Inc., Olathe KS, on December 31, 2015. With the acquisition, Applied Measurement Professionals, Inc. will now

operate as a wholly-owned subsidiary of PSI Services LLC. Steve Tapp will lead the company as the President and CEO. Employees

were retained. Financial terms were undisclosed. Further details are unavailable.

On August 5, 2015, sources stated that PSI Services LLC, Burbank, CA, has completed the acquisition of Innovative Exams, LLC,

Chicago, IL, on July 24, 2015. With the acquisition, Innovative Exams, LLC will now operate as a subsidiary of PSI Services, LLC.

Financial terms of the deal were not disclosed. Further details are unavailable.

On July 2, 2014, Jeff Moxie, CFO of PSI Services LLC, stated that PSI Services LLC, Burbank, CA, has acquired all of the

membership interest of Performance-Based Selection, Ltd, Westlake, OH, on June 4, 2014. With the acquisition, all of Performance-

Based Selection's operations (contracts, employees, etc.) are in the process of being merged into PSI Services LLC. It is

undetermined at this point whether Performance-Based Selection, Ltd. will be dissolved once that is complete. Terms were

undisclosed.

On September 7, 2011, sources stated that PSI Services LLC, Burbank, CA, has acquired Lasergrade LP, Vancouver, LP, on

November 19, 2007. Lasergrade LP now operates as a branch of PSI Services LLC. Further details are not disclosed.

STEVE TAPP. Antecedents are unknown.

JEFFREY E MOXIE. Received his Bachelor of Arts degree in Accounting from Grove City College.

Business address has changed from 2950 N Hollywood Way Ste 200, Burbank, CA, 91505 to 611 N Brand Blvd 10th Fl, Glendale,

CA, 91203.

The following information was reported on: 02-04-2020

Trade Names PSI

Description Provides business consulting services, specializing in testing services (100%).

Has 300 account(s). Terms are on a fee basis and on a contractual basis. Sells to

commercial concerns and the government. Territory : United States.

Employees 1,020 which includes officer(s) and 600 part-time. 80 employed here.

Financing Status Unsecured

Business Activities And Employees

Business Information  



Government Activity Dispute Government Activity

Financials

Borrower(Dir/Guar) No

Administrative Debt No

Contractor Yes

Grantee No

Party excluded from federal
program(s)

No

8(A) Firm Yes

Labor Surplus Area Yes

Small Business Yes

D&B currently has no financial information on file for this company

Inquiries

Seasonality Nonseasonal.

SIC/NAICS Information

8748 Business consulting services -

87480100 Testing services -

611710 Educational Support Services

SIC Codes  SIC Description  Percentage of Business 

NAICS Codes  NAICS Description 

Activity Summary 

Possible candidate for socio-economic program consideration 

Inquiries-Summary - 12 Month



SERV - Services

- Commercial nonphysical research Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-08-07

- Commercial nonphysical research D&B Risk Solution 2020-08-07

- Legal services Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-08-03

- Help supply services D&B Risk Solution 2020-07-31

- Help supply services D&B Risk Solution 2020-07-31

- Commercial nonphysical research D&B Risk Solution 2020-07-23

- Commercial nonphysical research Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-23

- Legal services Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-20

- Data processing and preparation D&B Risk Solution 2020-07-20

- Legal services Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-06

- Legal services Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-22

- Legal services Compliance Solution 2020-06-22

- Legal services Compliance Solution 2020-06-22

- Prepackaged software Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-14

- Prepackaged software Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-14

- Prepackaged software Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-14

- Prepackaged software D&B Proprietary Score

Request

2020-06-14

- Prepackaged software Payment Report 2020-06-14

- Prepackaged software Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-13

- Legal services Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-08

- Accounting, auditing, and bookkeeping Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-31

- Commercial nonphysical research Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-30

- Legal services Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-25

- Legal services Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-11

- Prepackaged software Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-02

- Computer rental and leasing D&B Risk Solution 2020-04-30

- Legal services Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-04-27

- Business consulting, nec D&B Risk Solution 2020-04-13

- Computer related services, nec Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-04-07

- Business services, nec D&B Risk Solution 2020-04-07

- Legal services Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-04-06

- Legal services Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-03-23

- Prepackaged software Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-03-09

- Computer related services, nec D&B Risk Solution 2020-03-06

Total number of Inquiries

265

Unique Customers

61

Inquiries-Summary

Over the past 12 months ending 8-2020, 265 individual requests for information on your company were received. The 265 inquiries

were made by 61 unique customers indicating that some companies have inquired on your business multiple times and may be

monitoring you. Of the total products purchased, 98, or 36 % came from the Finance, Insurance and Real Estate; 72, or 27 % came

from the Services; 24, or 9 % came from the Retail Trade; 21, or 7 % came from the Transportation, Communications, Electric, Gas

and Sanitary Services; 20, or 7 % came from the Public Administration;

SIC/Sector

Type

Date



- Business consulting, nec D&B Risk Solution 2020-03-05

- Business consulting, nec D&B Risk Solution 2020-02-25

- Prepackaged software D&B Risk Solution 2020-02-25

- Accounting, auditing, and bookkeeping Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-24

- Accounting, auditing, and bookkeeping Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-24

- Legal services D&B Risk Solution 2020-02-20

- Computer related services, nec D&B Risk Solution 2020-02-12

- Prepackaged software Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-11

- Commercial nonphysical research Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-31

- Commercial nonphysical research D&B Risk Solution 2020-01-31

- Accounting, auditing, and bookkeeping Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-24

- Hotels and motels D&B Risk Solution 2020-01-14

- Hotels and motels D&B Risk Solution 2020-01-14

- Prepackaged software D&B Proprietary Score

Request

2020-01-03

- Employment agencies D&B Risk Solution 2020-01-03

- Prepackaged software D&B Risk Solution 2020-01-03

- Employment agencies D&B Risk Solution 2020-01-03

- Prepackaged software Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-02

- Prepackaged software Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-02

- Commercial nonphysical research Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-20

- Management services Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-11

- Commercial nonphysical research Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-11

- Commercial nonphysical research Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-11-28

- Commercial nonphysical research D&B Risk Solution 2019-11-07

- Information retrieval services D&B Risk Solution 2019-10-30

- Accounting, auditing, and bookkeeping Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-10-29

- Accounting, auditing, and bookkeeping Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-10-29

- Accounting, auditing, and bookkeeping Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-10-25

- Help supply services D&B Risk Solution 2019-10-25

- Help supply services D&B Risk Solution 2019-10-25

- Commercial nonphysical research Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-10-18

- Commercial nonphysical research D&B Risk Solution 2019-10-07

- Prepackaged software D&B Risk Solution 2019-10-07

- Prepackaged software D&B Risk Solution 2019-10-01

- Prepackaged software D&B Risk Solution 2019-10-01

- Credit reporting services D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-19

- Credit reporting services D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-19

- Schools and educational services, nec D&B Risk Solution 2019-08-29

OTHER - Other

- Other Corporate Linkage Request 2020-08-07

- Other Corporate Linkage Request 2020-05-11

- Other Corporate Linkage Request 2020-01-09

- Other Corporate Linkage Request 2020-01-08

MANUF - Manufacturing

- Electronic computers Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-13

- Electronic computers Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-03-30

- Electronic computers Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-03-27

- Electronic computers Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-03-26

- Electronic computers Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-03-19

- Aircraft engines and engine parts Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-27

- Aircraft engines and engine parts Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-27

- Aircraft engines and engine parts D&B Risk Solution 2020-02-27

- Electronic computers Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-09



- Electronic computers D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-26

- Electronic computers D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-26

- Photographic equipment and supplies D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-23

- Photographic equipment and supplies D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-19

- Electronic computers D&B Risk Solution 2019-08-29

- Electronic computers D&B Risk Solution 2019-08-29

PUBADMIN - Public Administration

- General government, nec Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-08-06

- General government, nec Corporate Linkage Request 2020-08-06

- General government, nec Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-22

- General government, nec Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-24

- General government, nec Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-20

- General government, nec Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-12

- General government, nec Corporate Linkage Request 2020-06-12

- General government, nec D&B Risk Solution 2020-06-12

- General government, nec Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-08

- General government, nec Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-04-08

- General government, nec Corporate Linkage Request 2020-03-26

- General government, nec Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-03-16

- General government, nec Corporate Linkage Request 2020-01-19

- General government, nec D&B Risk Solution 2020-01-19

- General government, nec Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-18

- General government, nec Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-07

- General government, nec Corporate Linkage Request 2020-01-06

- General government, nec D&B Risk Solution 2019-12-29

- Fire protection D&B Risk Solution 2019-12-10

- General government, nec Corporate Linkage Request 2019-10-14

RETLTRD - Retail Trade

- Computer and software stores Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-21

- Computer and software stores Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-03

- Computer and software stores Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-06

- Computer and software stores Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-28

- Stationery stores D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-14

- Stationery stores D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-14

- Stationery stores D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-07

- Stationery stores D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-07

- Stationery stores D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-04

- Stationery stores D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-04

- Stationery stores D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-04

- Computer and software stores Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-02

- Stationery stores D&B Risk Solution 2020-04-30

- Stationery stores D&B Risk Solution 2020-04-30

- Computer and software stores Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-26

- Computer and software stores Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-09

- Computer and software stores Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-18

- Computer and software stores Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-11-14

- Computer and software stores Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-10-25

- Computer and software stores D&B Risk Solution 2019-10-06

- Computer and software stores D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-29

- Computer and software stores D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-18

- Computer and software stores D&B Risk Solution 2019-08-28

- Computer and software stores D&B Risk Solution 2019-08-27

TCEGS - Transportation, Communications, Electric, Gas and



- Telephone communication, except radio D&B Risk Solution 2020-06-18

- Telephone communication, except radio D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-30

- Telephone communication, except radio Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-17

- Telephone communication, except radio Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-16

- Telephone communication, except radio D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-11

- Telephone communication, except radio D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-08

- Inspection and fixed facilities D&B Risk Solution 2020-04-21

- Telephone communication, except radio Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-04-17

- Air courier services D&B Risk Solution 2020-04-01

- Air courier services D&B Risk Solution 2020-04-01

- Air courier services D&B Risk Solution 2020-02-16

- Air courier services D&B Risk Solution 2020-02-16

- Telephone communication, except radio Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-24

- Telephone communication, except radio D&B Risk Solution 2020-01-24

- Telephone communication, except radio Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-18

- Telephone communication, except radio D&B Proprietary Score

Request

2019-12-20

- Electric services D&B Risk Solution 2019-12-20

- Telephone communication, except radio D&B Risk Solution 2019-12-19

- Telephone communication, except radio D&B Risk Solution 2019-11-13

- Telephone communication, except radio D&B Risk Solution 2019-11-13

- Telephone communication, except radio D&B Risk Solution 2019-08-16

Sanitary Services

FIR - Finance, Insurance and Real Estate

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-08-13

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-08-13

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-08-11

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-08-11

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-08-10

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-08-10

- Hospital and medical service plans D&B Risk Solution 2020-08-07

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-20

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-20

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-18

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-18

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-08

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-08

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-07

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-07

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-06

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-06

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-05

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-05

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-03

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-03

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-02

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-07-02

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-25

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-06-25

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-20

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-05-20

- Miscellaneous business credit institutions D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-19

- Miscellaneous business credit institutions D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-19

- Insurance agents, brokers, and service D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-01

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-04-02



- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-04-02

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-03-14

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-03-14

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-19

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-19

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-18

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-18

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-16

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-16

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-13

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-13

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-12

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-12

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-10

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-10

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-06

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-02-06

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-30

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-30

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-22

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-22

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-21

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-21

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-19

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-19

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-18

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-18

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-17

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-17

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-06

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-06

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-04

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-04

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-03

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-03

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-02

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2020-01-02

- Miscellaneous business credit institutions D&B Risk Solution 2019-12-27

- Miscellaneous business credit institutions D&B Risk Solution 2019-12-27

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-19

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-19

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-15

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-15

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-03

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-03

- Surety insurance Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-02

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-02

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-02

- Nonresidential building operators Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-12-01

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-11-22

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-11-22

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-11-12

- National commercial banks Sales & Marketing Solution 2019-11-12

- Insurance agents, brokers, and service D&B Risk Solution 2019-10-16

- National commercial banks D&B Risk Solution 2019-10-03

- National commercial banks General Data Request 2019-10-03



- Insurance agents, brokers, and service D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-26

- Miscellaneous business credit institutions D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-24

- Miscellaneous business credit institutions D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-23

- Miscellaneous business credit institutions D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-23

- Nonresidential building operators D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-09

- Nonresidential building operators D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-04

- Nonresidential building operators D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-03

- Nonresidential building operators D&B Risk Solution 2019-08-22

- Nonresidential building operators D&B Risk Solution 2019-08-21

- Nonresidential building operators D&B Risk Solution 2019-08-19

- Nonresidential building operators D&B Risk Solution 2019-08-15

WHLSLTRD - Wholesale Trade

- Lumber, plywood, and millwork D&B Risk Solution 2020-07-23

- Industrial and personal service paper D&B Risk Solution 2020-06-20

- Industrial and personal service paper D&B Risk Solution 2020-05-21

- Computers, peripherals, and software D&B Risk Solution 2020-03-16

- Computers, peripherals, and software D&B Risk Solution 2020-03-16

- Industrial and personal service paper D&B Risk Solution 2019-12-08

- Industrial and personal service paper D&B Risk Solution 2019-11-21

- Furniture D&B Risk Solution 2019-11-01

- Computers, peripherals, and software D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-18

- Computers, peripherals, and software D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-18

- Industrial and personal service paper D&B Risk Solution 2019-09-17

Inquiries Trends - 12 Month

Top-Five-Inquiries

By SIC Sector

Finance, Insurance and Real Estate 98

Services 72

Retail Trade 24

Transportation, Communications, Electric, Gas and Sanitary Services 21



Manufacturing 15 0 0 8 15

Transportation, Communications, Electric, Gas and
Sanitary Services

21 0 4 12 21

Wholesale Trade 11 1 3 5 11

Retail Trade 24 1 4 15 24

Finance, Insurance and Real Estate 98 11 29 40 98

Services 72 9 23 40 72

Public Administration 20 3 8 12 20

Other 4 1 1 2 4

Peers Inquiries

Please add a peer from peers page to start the comparison.

This information may not be reproduced in whole or in part by any means of reproduction.

©Dun & Bradstreet, Inc. 2020. All rights reserved

Public Administration 20

By Report Type

Sales & Marketing Solution 147

D&B Risk Solution 101

Corporate Linkage Request 10

D&B Proprietary Score Request 3

Compliance Solution 2

All-Inquiries

Industry 
Total
Inquiries 

Last 30
Days 

Last 90
Days 

Last 180
Days 

Last 365
Days 
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EXHIBIT B 
ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT, EXAMPLE 

 
 

ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT 
 

THIS ADMINISTRATION  AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is    made this day of 
    20    ,  between  National  Intergovernmental  Purchasing  Alliance  Company, a  Delaware 
corporation d/b/a OMNIA Partners, Public Sector (“OMNIA Partners”), and    
(“Supplier”). 

 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS,  the (the  “Principal  Procurement  Agency”)   has 
entered into a Master   Agreement effective  , Agreement No  , by and 
between the Principal Procurement Agency and Supplier, (as may be amended from time to time in 
accordance with the terms thereof, the “Master Agreement”), as attached hereto as Exhibit A and 
incorporated   herein   by   reference   as   though   fully   set   forth   herein,   for   the   purchase  of 
   (the “Product”); 

 

WHEREAS, said Master Agreement provides that any or all public agencies, including state 
and local governmental entities, public and private primary, secondary and higher education entities, 
non-profit entities, and agencies for the public benefit (collectively, “Public Agencies”), that register 
(either via registration on the OMNIA Partners website or execution of a Master Intergovernmental 
Cooperative Purchasing Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit B) (each, hereinafter referred to as a 
“Participating Public Agency”) may purchase Product at prices stated in the Master Agreement; 

 

WHEREAS, Participating Public Agencies may access the Master Agreement which is 
offered through OMNIA Partners to Public Agencies; 

 
WHEREAS, OMNIA Partners serves as the contract administrator of the Master Agreement 

on behalf of Principal Procurement Agency; 
 

WHEREAS, Principal Procurement Agency desires OMNIA Partners to proceed with 
administration of the Master Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, OMNIA Partners and Supplier desire to enter into this Agreement to make 

available the Master Agreement to Participating Public Agencies and to set forth certain terms and 
conditions governing the relationship between OMNIA Partners and Supplier. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the payments to be made hereunder and the mutual 

covenants contained in this Agreement, OMNIA Partners and Supplier hereby agree as follows: 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 

1. Capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not otherwise defined herein shall have 
the meanings given to them in the Master Agreement. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

2. The Master Agreement and the terms and conditions contained therein shall apply to
this Agreement except as expressly changed or modified by this Agreement. Supplier acknowledges 
and agrees that the covenants and agreements of Supplier set forth in the solicitation and Supplier’s 
response thereto resulting in the Master Agreement are incorporated herein and are an integral part 
hereof. 

3. OMNIA Partners shall be afforded all of the rights, privileges and indemnifications 
afforded to Principal Procurement Agency by or from Supplier under the Master Agreement, and such 
rights, privileges and indemnifications shall accrue and apply with equal effect to OMNIA Partners, 
its agents, employees, directors, and representatives under this Agreement including, but not limited 
to, Supplier’s obligation to obtain appropriate insurance. 

4. OMNIA Partners shall perform all of its duties, responsibilities and obligations as
contract administrator of the Master Agreement on behalf of Principal Procurement Agency as set 
forth herein, and Supplier hereby acknowledges and agrees that all duties, responsibilities and 
obligations will be undertaken by OMNIA Partners solely in its capacity as the contract administrator 
under the Master Agreement. 

5. With respect to any purchases by Principal Procurement Agency or any Participating
Public Agency pursuant to the Master Agreement, OMNIA Partners shall not be: (i) construed as a 
dealer, re-marketer, representative, partner or agent of any type of the Supplier, Principal Procurement 
Agency or any Participating Public Agency; (ii) obligated, liable or responsible for any order for 
Product made by Principal Procurement Agency or any Participating Public Agency or any employee 
thereof under the Master Agreement or for any payment required to be made with respect to such 
order for Product; and (iii) obligated, liable or responsible for any failure by Principal Procurement 
Agency or any Participating Public Agency to comply with procedures or requirements of applicable 
law or the Master Agreement or to obtain the due authorization and approval necessary to purchase 
under the Master Agreement. OMNIA Partners makes no representation or guaranty with respect to 
any minimum purchases by Principal Procurement Agency or any Participating Public Agency or any 
employee thereof under this Agreement or the Master Agreement. 

6. OMNIA Partners shall not be responsible for Supplier’s performance under the Master
Agreement, and Supplier shall hold OMNIA Partners harmless from any liability that may arise from 
the acts or omissions of Supplier in connection with the Master Agreement. 

7. WITHOUT LIMITING THE GENERALITY OF THE FOREGOING, OMNIA
PARTNERS EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED REPRESENTATIONS 
AND WARRANTIES REGARDING OMNIA PARTNERS’ PERFORMANCE AS A CONTRACT 
ADMINISTRATOR OF THE MASTER AGREEMENT. OMNIA PARTNERS SHALL NOT BE 
LIABLE IN ANY WAY FOR ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, 
EXEMPLARY, PUNITIVE, OR RELIANCE DAMAGES, EVEN IF OMNIA PARTNERS IS 
ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. 

TERM OF AGREEMENT; TERMINATION 

8. This Agreement shall be in effect so long as the Master Agreement remains in effect,
provided, however, that the provisions of Sections 3 – 8 and 12 – 23, hereof and the indemnifications 
afforded by the Supplier to OMNIA Partners in the Master Agreement, to the extent such provisions 
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survive any expiration or termination of the Master Agreement, shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement. 

 
NATIONAL PROMOTION 

 
9. OMNIA Partners and Supplier shall publicize and promote the availability of the 

Master Agreement’s products and services to Public Agencies and such agencies’ employees. 
Supplier shall require each Public Agency to register its participation in the OMNIA Partners program 
by either registering on the OMNIA Partners website (www.omniapartners.com/publicsector), or 
executing a Master Intergovernmental Cooperative Purchasing Agreement prior to processing the 
Participating Public Agency’s first sales order. Upon request, Supplier shall make available to 
interested Public Agencies a copy of the Master Agreement and such price lists or quotes as may be 
necessary for such Public Agencies to evaluate potential purchases. 

 
10. Supplier shall provide such marketing and administrative support as set forth in the 

solicitation resulting in the Master Agreement, including assisting in development of marketing 
materials as reasonably requested by Principal Procurement Agency and OMNIA Partners. Supplier 
shall be responsible for obtaining permission or license of use and payment of any license fees for all 
content and images Supplier provides to OMNIA Partners or posts on the OMNIA Partners website. 
Supplier shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless OMNIA Partners for use of all such content and 
images including copyright infringement claims. Supplier and OMNIA Partners each hereby grant to 
the other party a limited, revocable, non-transferable, non-sublicensable right to use such party’s logo 
(each, the “Logo”) solely for use in marketing the Master Agreement. Each party shall provide the 
other party with the standard terms of use of such party’s Logo, and such party shall comply with 
such terms in all material respects. Both parties shall obtain approval from the other party prior to use 
of such party’s Logo. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties understand and agree that except as 
provided herein neither party shall have any right, title or interest in the other party’s Logo. Upon 
termination of this Agreement, each party shall immediately cease use of the other party’s Logo. 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE FEE, REPORTING & PAYMENT 

 
11. An “Administrative Fee” shall be defined and due to OMNIA Partners from Supplier 

in  the  amount  of       percent (    %)  (“Administrative  Fee Percentage”)  multiplied  by  the total 
purchase amount paid to Supplier, less refunds, credits on returns, rebates and discounts, for the sale 
of products and/or services to Principal Procurement Agency and Participating Public Agencies 
pursuant to the Master Agreement (as amended from time to time and including any renewal thereof) 
(“Contract Sales”). From time to time the parties may mutually agree in writing to a lower 
Administrative Fee Percentage for a specifically identified Participating Public Agency’s Contract 
Sales. 

 
12. Supplier shall provide OMNIA Partners with an electronic accounting report monthly, 

in the format prescribed by OMNIA Partners, summarizing all Contract Sales for each calendar 
month. The Contract Sales reporting format is provided as Exhibit C (“Contract Sales Report”), 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. Contract Sales Reports for each calendar month 
shall be provided by Supplier to OMNIA Partners by the 10th day of the following month. Failure to 
provide a Contract Sales Report within the time and manner specified herein shall constitute a material 
breach of this Agreement and if not cured within thirty (30) days of written notice to Supplier shall 
be deemed a cause for termination of the Master Agreement, at Principal Procurement Agency’s sole 
discretion, and/or this Agreement, at OMNIA Partners’ sole discretion. 
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13. Administrative Fee payments are to be paid by Supplier to OMNIA Partners at the
frequency and on the due date stated in Section 12, above, for Supplier’s submission of corresponding 
Contract Sales Reports. Administrative Fee payments are to be made via Automated Clearing House 
(ACH) to the OMNIA Partners designated financial institution identified in Exhibit D. Failure to 
provide a payment of the Administrative Fee within the time and manner specified herein shall 
constitute a material breach of this Agreement and if not cured within thirty (30) days of written notice 
to Supplier shall be deemed a cause for termination of the Master Agreement, at Principal 
Procurement Agency’s sole discretion, and/or this Agreement, at OMNIA Partners’ sole discretion. 
All Administrative Fees not paid when due shall bear interest at a rate equal to the lesser of one and 
one-half percent (1 1/2%) per month or the maximum rate permitted by law until paid in full. 

14. Supplier shall maintain an accounting of all purchases made by Participating Public
Agencies under the Master Agreement. OMNIA Partners, or its designee, in OMNIA Partners’ sole 
discretion, reserves the right to compare Participating Public Agency records with Contract Sales 
Reports submitted by Supplier for a period of four (4) years from the date OMNIA Partners receives 
such report. In addition, OMNIA Partners may engage a third party to conduct an independent audit 
of Supplier’s monthly reports. In the event of such an audit, Supplier shall provide all materials 
reasonably requested relating to such audit by OMNIA Partners at the location designated by OMNIA 
Partners. In the event an underreporting of Contract Sales and a resulting underpayment of 
Administrative Fees is revealed, OMNIA Partners will notify the Supplier in writing. Supplier will 
have thirty (30) days from the date of such notice to resolve the discrepancy to OMNIA Partners’ 
reasonable satisfaction, including payment of any Administrative Fees due and owing, together with 
interest thereon in accordance with Section 13, and reimbursement of OMNIA Partners’ costs and 
expenses related to such audit. 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

15. This Agreement, the Master Agreement and the exhibits referenced herein supersede
any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing, between the parties hereto with respect to the 
subject matter hereto and no other agreement, statement, or promise relating to the subject matter of 
this Agreement which is not contained or incorporated herein shall be valid or binding. In the event 
of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and the Master Agreement, as between 
OMNIA Partners and Supplier, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail. 

16. If any action at law or in equity is brought to enforce or interpret the provisions of this
Agreement or to recover any Administrative Fee and accrued interest, the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to reasonable attorney’s fees and costs in addition to any other relief to which it may be 
entitled. 

17. This Agreement and OMNIA Partners’ rights and obligations hereunder may be
assigned at OMNIA Partners’ sole discretion to an affiliate of OMNIA Partners, any purchaser of any 
or all or substantially all of the assets of OMNIA Partners, or the successor entity as a result of a 
merger, reorganization, consolidation, conversion or change of control, whether by operation of law 
or otherwise. Supplier may not assign its obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of 
OMNIA Partners. 

18. All written communications given hereunder shall be delivered by first-class mail, 
postage prepaid, or overnight delivery on receipt to the addresses as set forth below. 
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A. OMNIA Partners:

OMNIA Partners 
Attn: President 
840 Crescent Centre Drive 
Suite 600 
Franklin, TN 37067 

B. Supplier:

19. If any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed to be, or shall in fact be, illegal,
inoperative or unenforceable, the same shall not affect any other provision or provisions herein 
contained or render the same invalid, inoperative or unenforceable to any extent whatever, and this 
Agreement will be construed by limiting or invalidating such provision to the minimum extent 
necessary to make such provision valid, legal and enforceable. 

20. This Agreement may not be amended, changed, modified, or altered without the prior
written consent of the parties hereto, and no provision of this Agreement may be discharged or 
waived, except by a writing signed by the parties. A waiver of any particular provision will not be 
deemed a waiver of any other provision, nor will a waiver given on one occasion be deemed to apply 
to any other occasion. 

21. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon OMNIA
Partners, the Supplier and any respective successor and assign thereto; subject, however, to the 
limitations contained herein. 

22. This Agreement will be construed under and governed by the laws of the State of
Delaware, excluding its conflicts of law provisions and any action arising out of or related to this 
Agreement shall be commenced solely and exclusively in the state or federal courts in Williamson 
County Tennessee. 

23. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which is an original but all
of which, together, shall constitute but one and the same instrument. The exchange of copies of this 
Agreement and of signature pages by facsimile, or by .pdf or similar electronic transmission, will 
constitute effective execution and delivery of this Agreement as to the parties and may be used in lieu of 
the original Agreement for all purposes. Signatures of the parties transmitted by facsimile, or by .pdf or 
similar electronic transmission, will be deemed to be their original signatures for any purpose whatsoever. 

Commented [JW11]: Exception as written. 



[INSERT SUPPLIER ENTITY NAME] NATIONAL 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
PURCHASING ALLIANCE 
COMPANY, A DELAWARE 
CORPORATION D/B/A OMNIA 
PARTNERS, PUBLIC SECTOR 

 
 

Signature Signature 
Sarah Vavra 

  

Name Name 
Sr. Vice President, Public Sector 
Contracting 

  

Title Title 
 

Date Date 



Requirements for National Cooperative Contract 
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EXHIBIT C 
MASTER INTERGOVERNMENTAL COOPERATIVE PURCHASING AGREEMENT, 

EXAMPLE 

MASTER INTERGOVERNMENTAL COOPERATIVE PURCHASING AGREEMENT 

This Master Intergovernmental Cooperative Purchasing Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered 
into by and between those certain government agencies that execute a Principal Procurement Agency 
Certificate (“Principal Procurement Agencies”) with National Intergovernmental Purchasing 
Alliance Company, a Delaware corporation d/b/a OMNIA Partners, Public Sector and/or 
Communities Program Management, LLC, a California limited liability company d/b/a U.S. 
Communities (collectively, “OMNIA Partners”) to be appended and made a part hereof and such 
other public agencies (“Participating Public Agencies”) who register to participate in the 
cooperative purchasing programs administered by OMNIA Partners and its affiliates and subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “OMNIA Partners Parties”) by either registering on the OMNIA Partners website 
(www.omniapartners.com/publicsector or any successor website), or by executing a copy of this 
Agreement. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, after a competitive solicitation and selection process by Principal Procurement 
Agencies, in compliance with their own policies, procedures, rules and regulations, a number of 
suppliers have entered into “Master Agreements” (herein so called) to provide a variety of goods, 
products and services (“Products”) to the applicable Principal Procurement Agency and the 
Participating Public Agencies; 

WHEREAS, Master Agreements are made available by Principal Procurement Agencies through the 
OMNIA Partners Parties and provide that Participating Public Agencies may purchase Products on 
the same terms, conditions and pricing as the Principal Procurement Agency, subject to any 
applicable federal and/or local purchasing ordinances and the laws of the State of purchase; and 

WHEREAS, in addition to Master Agreements, the OMNIA Partners Parties may from time to time 
offer Participating Public Agencies the opportunity to acquire Products through other group 
purchasing agreements. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained in this Agreement, and of 
the mutual benefits to result, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. Each party will facilitate the cooperative procurement of Products.

2. The Participating Public Agencies shall procure Products in accordance with and
subject to the relevant federal, state and local statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations that govern 
Participating Public Agency’s procurement practices. The Participating Public Agencies hereby 
acknowledge and agree that it is the intent of the parties that all provisions of this Agreement and that 
Principal Procurement Agencies’ participation in the program described herein comply with all 
applicable laws, including but not limited to the requirements of 42 C.F.R. § 1001.952(j), as may be 
amended from time to time. The Participating Public Agencies further acknowledge and agree that 
they  are  solely  responsible  for  their  compliance  with  all  applicable  “safe  harbor” regulations, 
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including but not limited to any and all obligations to fully and accurately report discounts and 
incentives. 

3. The Participating Public Agency represents and warrants that the Participating Public
Agency is not a hospital or other healthcare provider and is not purchasing Products on behalf of a 
hospital or healthcare provider. 

4. The cooperative use of Master Agreements shall be in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the Master Agreements, except as modification of those terms and conditions is 
otherwise required by applicable federal, state or local law, policies or procedures. 

5. The Principal Procurement Agencies will make available, upon reasonable request, 
Master Agreement information which may assist in improving the procurement of Products by the 
Participating Public Agencies. 

6. The Participating Public Agency agrees the OMNIA Partners Parties may provide
access to group purchasing organization (“GPO”) agreements directly or indirectly by enrolling the 
Participating Public Agency in another GPO’s purchasing program provided the purchase of Products 
through the OMNIA Partners Parties or any other GPO shall be at the Participating Public Agency’s 
sole discretion. 

7. The Participating Public Agencies (each a “Procuring Party”) that procure Products
through any Master Agreement or GPO Product supply agreement (each a “GPO Contract”) will 
make timely payments to the distributor, manufacturer or other vendor (collectively, “Supplier”) for 
Products received in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Master Agreement or GPO 
Contract, as applicable. Payment for Products and inspections and acceptance of Products ordered by 
the Procuring Party shall be the exclusive obligation of such Procuring Party. Disputes between 
Procuring Party and any Supplier shall be resolved in accordance with the law and venue rules of the 
State of purchase unless otherwise agreed to by the Procuring Party and Supplier. 

8. The Procuring Party shall not use this Agreement as a method for obtaining additional
concessions or reduced prices for purchase of similar products or services outside of the Master 
Agreement. Master Agreements may be structured with not-to-exceed pricing, in which cases the 
Supplier may offer the Procuring Party and the Procuring Party may accept lower pricing or additional 
concessions for purchase of Products through a Master Agreement. 

9. The Procuring Party shall be responsible for the ordering of Products under this
Agreement. A non-procuring party shall not be liable in any fashion for any violation by a Procuring 
Party, and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, the Procuring Party shall hold non-procuring 
party harmless from any liability that may arise from the acts or omissions of the Procuring Party. 

10. WITHOUT LIMITING THE GENERALITY OF THE FOREGOING, THE OMNIA
PARTNERS PARTIES EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES REGARDING ANY PRODUCT, MASTER
AGREEMENT AND GPO CONTRACT. THE OMNIA PARTNERS PARTIES SHALL NOT BE
LIABLE IN ANY WAY FOR ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL,
EXEMPLARY, PUNITIVE, OR RELIANCE DAMAGES, EVEN IF THE OMNIA PARTNERS
PARTIES ARE ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. FURTHER, THE
PROCURING PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE OMNIA PARTNERS
PARTIES SHALL HAVE NO LIABILITY FOR ANY ACT OR OMISSION BY A SUPPLIER OR

Commented [JW13]: Exception as written. Modifications 
to be set out in writing and mutually agreed between PSI 
and agency 

Commented [JW14]: Exception as written. Define 
information to be provided. 



Requirements for National Cooperative Contract 
Page 20 

 

OTHER PARTY UNDER A MASTER AGREEMENT OR GPO CONTRACT. 
 

11. This Agreement shall remain in effect until termination by either party giving   
thirty 

(30) days’ written notice to the other party. The provisions of Paragraphs 6 - 10 hereof shall 
survive any such termination. 

 
12. This Agreement shall take effect upon (i) execution of the Principal Procurement 

Agency Certificate, or (ii) registration on the OMNIA Partners website or the execution of this 
Agreement by a Participating Public Agency, as applicable. 

 
NATIONAL 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
PURCHASING ALLIANCE 
COMPANY, A DELAWARE 
CORPORATION D/B/A OMNIA 
PARTNERS, PUBLIC SECTOR 
AND/OR COMMUNITIES 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT, LLC, 
A CALIFORNIA LIMITED 
LIABILITY COMPANY D/B/A 
U.S. COMMUNITIES 

 
 

Authorized Signature Signature 
Sarah E. 
Vavra 

Name Name 
Sr. Vice President, Public Sector Contracting 

Title and Agency Name Title 
 
Date  
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
STATE SYSTEM OF HIGHER EDUCATION 

CONTRACT FOR 
 

(3 to 10 word statement of nature of the Contract) 
 
        

 THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into between __________________ University of 
Pennsylvania of the State System of Higher Education (address), an agency of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania (hereinafter “University” or the “Commonwealth”), 

and 
(Contractor’s full name which must be in its legally recognized form, i.e., corporate registration, full legal 
name if an individual and must be the same throughout this Contract. Deviations must be satisfactorily 
explained, except that the Contractor may be referred to as “Contractor” within this document from this 
point forward) at (address) acting through its proper officials, (hereinafter referred to as “Contractor”) 
(Federal I.D. #___________________ or if an individual, Social Security Number). 
 
 Both the University and Contractor, when used together, are hereinafter referred to as “Parties.” 
The University is an instrumentality of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, established by and existing 
pursuant to Article XX-A of the Public School Code of 1949, as amended, 24 P.S. § 20-2001-A, et seq., 
and is authorized thereby to enter into this Contract. 
 The University desires to obtain (Short description of the goods and/or services to be provided) 
from the Contractor. 
 NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises 
hereinafter expressed and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties agree as follows: 
1. TERM OF CONTRACT.  

a. The term of this Contract shall commence on the Effective Date (as defined below) and 
shall end on _______ (the “Expiration Date”), subject to the other provisions of this Contract.  

b. The Effective Date shall be: a) the date this Contract has been fully executed by the 
Contractor and by the University and all approvals required by University contracting procedures have 
been obtained; or b) the date referenced in this Contract, whichever is later.   

c. The Contracting Officer shall issue a written Notice to Proceed to the Contractor directing 
the Contractor to start performance on a date which is on or after the Effective Date. The Contractor shall 
not start the performance of any work prior to the date set forth in the Notice to Proceed and the University 
shall not be liable to pay the Contractor for any service or work performed or expenses incurred before 
the date set forth in the Notice to Proceed. No University employee has the authority to verbally direct the 
commencement of any work under this Contract.  
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d.  The University reserves the right, upon notice to the Contractor, to extend the term of this 
Contract for up to three (3) months upon the same terms and conditions. This will be utilized to prevent a 
lapse in Contract coverage and only for the time necessary to enter into a new contract.  

e. This Contract may be renewed for an additional [X amount of] years in any combination 
designated by the University. Any renewal would be by mutual written consent of both parties prior to 
Expiration Date of the initial term. The potential contract period, including any renewals, may not exceed 
a period of five (5) years. 
2. DEFINITIONS. As used in this Contract, these words shall have the following meanings: 

a. Contracting Officer: The person authorized to administer this Contract for the University 
and to make written determinations with respect to this Contract. 

b. Days: Unless specifically indicated otherwise, days mean calendar days. 
c. Developed Works or Developed Materials: All documents, sketches, drawings, designs, 

works, papers, files, reports, computer programs, computer documentation, data, records, software, 
samples or any other tangible material without limitation authored or prepared by Contractor as the work 
product covered in the scope of work for the Project.  The University acknowledges and agrees that 
Contractor holds all proprietary rights, including but not limited to copyrights, trade secrets and patents in 
and to the software, student software, and Services provided hereunder.  Any license to use confers no 
title or ownership in the software, student software or Services, and is not a sale of any rights in the 
software, student software or Services.  All ownership rights remain in Contractor.  

d. Services: All Contractor activity necessary to satisfy this Contract. 
3. CONTRACTOR DUTIES. The Contractor, subject to the terms and conditions set forth below, 
shall perform the following specified duties: 
[Insert statement of work and specific functions/duties to be performed] 
4. PURCHASE ORDERS.  

a. In instances where this Contract contains a not to exceed value for goods or services at 
established prices or where this Contract states there is no guarantee of work being awarded under this 
Contract, the University may issue Purchase Orders against this Contract when it seeks to have the 
Contractor provide goods or perform services under this Contract, and will provide a minimum of 30 days 
advance written notice of the goods or services to be provided. These orders constitute the Contractor’s 
authority to make delivery. All Purchase Orders received by the Contractor up to and including the 
Expiration Date of this Contract are acceptable and must be performed in accordance with this Contract. 
Contractors are not permitted to accept Purchase Orders that require performance extended beyond those 
performance time periods specified in this Contract unless specifically authorized by the Contracting 
Officer, but in any event, no longer than ninety (90) days after the Expiration Date of this Contract period. 
Each Purchase Order will be deemed to incorporate the terms and conditions set forth in this Contract. 

b. Purchase Orders may be issued electronically or through facsimile equipment. The 
electronic transmission of a purchase order shall require acknowledgement of receipt of the transmission 
by the Contractor. Receipt of the electronic or facsimile transmission of the Purchase Order shall constitute 
receipt of an order. Purchase Orders received by the Contractor after 4:00 p.m. will be considered received 
the following business day. 
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c. Upon receipt of a Purchase Order, the Contractor shall promptly and properly transmit an 
acknowledgement in return. Any Purchase Order issued electronically shall not give rise to any obligation 
to deliver on the part of the Contractor, or any obligation to receive and pay for delivered products on the 
part of the University, unless and until the University transmitting the Purchase Order has properly 
received an acknowledgement. 

d. The parties agree that no writing shall be required in order to make the Purchase Order 
legally binding, notwithstanding contrary requirements in any law. The parties hereby agree not to contest 
the validity or enforceability of a genuine Purchase Order or acknowledgement issued electronically under 
the provisions of a statute of frauds or any other applicable law relating to whether certain agreements be 
in writing and signed by the party bound thereby. Any genuine Purchase Order or acknowledgement issued 
electronically, if introduced as evidence on paper in any judicial or administrative proceedings, will be 
admissible as between the parties to the same extent and under the same conditions as other business 
records originated and maintained in documentary form. Neither party shall contest the admissibility of 
copies of genuine Purchase Orders or acknowledgements under either the business records exception to 
the hearsay rule or the best evidence rule on the basis that the order or acknowledgement was not in writing 
or signed by the parties. A Purchase Order or acknowledgment shall be deemed to be genuine for all 
purposes if it is transmitted to the location designated for such documents. Each party will immediately 
take steps to verify any document that appears to be obviously garbled in transmission or improperly 
formatted to include re-transmission of any such document if necessary. 
5. COST.  

a. It is understood that the cost of this Contract to the University shall not exceed 
_______________________________. 

b. The University qualifies for governmental discounts and educational discounts. 
Unit prices shall reflect these discounts. Contractor warrants that the terms, conditions and price(s) for the 
goods or services sold to the University hereunder are not less favorable to the University than those 
extended to any other comparable agencies, institutions, universities, teaching hospitals, colleges, or 
community colleges (“similar parties”) for the same or similar goods or services in similar quantities or 
scope of work. In the event Contractor reduces its prices or provides more favorable terms and conditions 
to the public or to similar parties for such goods or services during the term of this Contract, Contractor 
agrees to reduce the price(s) charged under this Contract effective as of the date of such price reduction 
and offer the more favorable terms and conditions as of the date of such offer. For purposes of determining 
whether a prompt-payment discount, if applicable, may be taken by the University, the starting date of 
such period shall be the later date of the properly executed invoice or the date of completion of services 
or delivery of product. Contractor warrants that prices on this Contract shall be complete, and no additional 
charges of any type shall be added without the University’s express written consent. Such additional 
charges include, but are not limited to shipping, packaging, labeling, custom duties, taxes, storage, 
insurance, boxing and crating. 

c. The University reserves the right to purchase goods and services covered under this 
Contract through a separate procurement procedure, whenever the University deems it to be in its best 
interest.  
6. COOPERATIVE PURCHASING/PIGGYBACKING. The goods or services described within 
this Contract provided by the Contractor to the University may also be procured by any other university 
that is part of the Pennsylvania State System of Higher Education, including the Dixon University Center 
(Office of the Chancellor), subject to all other applicable procurement requirements. The Contractor 
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agrees to supply the goods or services described within this Contract or competitively solicited as part of 
the award of this Contract on the same or more favorable terms and conditions. To the extent that other 
universities may procure goods or services, those individual universities will enter into a separate contract 
with the Contractor and assume all liability for payment to the Contractor.  
 
7. DELIVERY.  

a. COMPLIANCE WITH DELIVERY SCHEDULE: Unless otherwise stated in this 
Contract, delivery must be made within thirty (30) days after the Effective Date. Following the Effective 
Date of this Contract, if it is found the goods or services cannot be delivered within the time specified in 
this Contract, the Contractor must provide written notice thereof immediately to the University, including 
the reason(s) for the delay along with the anticipated date of delivery. Any notice to the University as to 
possible delay shall not constitute a waiver of the University’s rights under this Contract, nor shall such 
actions affect the responsibility of the Contractor to deliver goods or perform services in accordance with 
the delivery schedule prescribed by this Contract. 

b. SUPPLIES DELIVERY: All item(s) shall be delivered duty paid (DDP) to the location 
specified.  The Contractor agrees to bear the risk of loss, injury, or destruction of the item(s) ordered prior 
to receipt of the items by the University.  Such loss, injury, or destruction shall not release the Contractor 
from any contractual obligations.   

c. DELIVERY OF SERVICES: The Contractor shall proceed with all due diligence in the 
performance of the services with qualified personnel and in accordance with any completion criteria set 
forth in this Contract.  
8. INSPECTION AND REJECTION.  

a. The University reserves the right to require any and all Contractors to: (i) provide certified 
data from laboratory testing performed by the Contractor, or performed by an independent laboratory, as 
specified by the University; (ii) supply published manufacturer product documentation; (iii) permit a 
University representative to witness testing at the Contractor's location or at an independent laboratory; 
(iv) complete a survey/questionnaire relating to the bid requirements and specifications; (v) provide 
customer references; and (vi) provide a product demonstration at a location near the University.  

b. No item(s) or services received by the University shall be deemed accepted until the 
University has had a reasonable opportunity to make an inspection. Any item(s) that is discovered to be 
defective or fail(s) to conform to the specifications may be rejected upon initial inspection or at any later 
time if the defects contained in the item(s) or the noncompliance with the specifications were not 
reasonably ascertainable upon the initial inspection. The decision of the Contracting Officer shall be final. 
It shall thereupon become the duty of the Contractor to remove rejected item(s) from the premises without 
expense to the University within fifteen (15) days after notification. Rejected item(s) left longer than 
fifteen (15) days will be regarded as abandoned, and the University shall have the right to dispose of them 
as its own property and shall retain that portion of the proceeds of any sale that represents the University’s 
costs and expenses in regard to the storage and sale of the item(s). Upon notice of rejection, the Contractor 
shall immediately render service(s) or replace all such rejected item(s) provided with others conforming 
to the specifications and that are not defective. If the Contractor fails, neglects or refuses to do so, the 
University shall then have the right to procure a corresponding quantity of such item(s) or service(s) and 
deduct from any monies due or that may thereafter become due to the Contractor the difference between 
the price stated in this Contract and the cost thereof to the University. 
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c. The University shall have the right to not regard any rejected material as abandoned and to 
demand that the Contractor remove the rejected material from the premises within thirty (30) days of 
notification. The Contractor shall be responsible for removal of the rejected material as well as proper 
clean-up. If the Contractor fails or refuses to remove the rejected material as demanded by the University, 
the University may seek payment from, or set-off from any payments due to the Contractor under this or 
any other Contract with the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the costs of removal and clean-up. This is 
in addition to all other rights to recover costs incurred by the University. 
9. CHANGES. The University reserves the right to make changes at any time during the term of this 
Contract or any renewals or extensions thereof: 1) to increase or decrease the quantities resulting from 
variations between any estimated quantities in this Contract and actual quantities necessary to meet the 
requirements of the University; 2) to make non-material changes to the services within the scope of this 
Contract to meet the needs of the University except in no event shall the cost of any goods or services 
ordered exceed any stated not to exceed amount for this Contract; 3) to notify the Contractor that the 
University is exercising any Contract renewal or extension option; or 4) to modify the time of performance 
that does not alter the scope of this Contract to extend the completion date beyond the Expiration Date of 
this Contract or any renewals or extensions thereof. Any such change shall be made by the Contracting 
Officer by notifying the Contractor in writing. The change shall be effective as of the date of the 
notification of the change, unless the notification of change specifies a later effective date. Such increases, 
decreases, changes, or modifications will not invalidate this Contract, nor, if performance security is being 
furnished in conjunction with this Contract, release the security obligation. Any dispute by the Contractor 
in regard to the performance required by any notification of change shall be handled through the section 
entitled CONTRACT CONTROVERSIES. 
10. OTHER CONTRACTORS. The University may undertake or award other contracts for 
additional or related work, and the Contractor shall fully cooperate with other contractors and University 
employees, and coordinate its work with such additional work as may be required. The Contractor shall 
not commit or permit any act that will interfere with the performance of work by any other contractor or 
by University employees. The requirements set forth in this section shall be included in the contracts of 
all contractors with which this Contractor will be required to cooperate. The University shall equitably 
enforce this section as to all contractors to prevent the imposition of unreasonable burdens on any 
contractor. 
11. ASSIGNABILITY AND SUBCONTRACTING.  

a. Subject to the terms and conditions of this section, this Contract shall be binding upon the 
parties and their respective successors and assigns. 

b. The Contractor shall not subcontract with any person or entity to perform all or any part of 
the work to be performed under this Contract without the prior written consent of the Contracting Officer, 
which consent may be withheld at the sole and absolute discretion of the Contracting Officer. 

c. The Contractor may not assign, in whole or in part, this Contract or its rights, duties, 
obligations, or responsibilities hereunder without the prior written consent of the Contracting Officer, 
which consent may be withheld at the sole and absolute discretion of the Contracting Officer. 

d. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Contractor may, without the consent of the Contracting 
Officer, assign its rights to payment to be received under this Contract, provided that the Contractor 
provides written notice of such assignment to the Contracting Officer together with a written 
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acknowledgement from the assignee that any such payments are subject to all of the terms and conditions 
of this Contract. 

e. For the purposes of this Contract, the term “assign” shall include, but shall not be limited 
to, the sale, gift, assignment, pledge, or other transfer of any ownership interest in the Contractor provided, 
however, that the term shall not apply to the sale or other transfer of stock of a publicly traded company. 

f. Any assignment consented to by the Contracting Officer shall be evidenced by a written 
assignment agreement executed by the Contractor and its assignee in which the assignee agrees to be 
legally bound by all of the terms and conditions of this Contract and to assume the duties, obligations, and 
responsibilities being assigned. 

g. A change of name by the Contractor, following which the Contractor’s federal tax 
identification number remains unchanged, shall not be considered to be an assignment hereunder. The 
Contractor shall give the Contracting Officer written notice of any such change of name. 
12. COMPENSATION/INVOICES.  

a. The Contractor shall be required to perform at the price(s) quoted in this Contract. All items 
shall be performed within the time period(s) specified in the Contract. The Contractor shall be 
compensated only for items supplied and performed to the satisfaction of the University. The Contractor 
shall not be allowed or paid travel or per diem expenses except as specifically set forth in this Contract. 

b. The Contractor shall send an itemized invoice to the address referenced on this Contract 
promptly after items are satisfactorily delivered. The invoice should include only amounts due under this 
Contract. This Contract number must be included on all invoices. In addition, the University shall have 
the right to require the Contractor to prepare and submit a “Work In Progress” sheet that contains, at a 
minimum, the tasks performed, number of hours, hourly rates, and the purchase order or task order to 
which it refers. 

c. Contractor may not impose a surcharge or demurrage for any reason, unless authorized by 
the University in writing. Surcharges/demurrage charges not approved in writing shall not be paid if 
invoiced, and the University shall not be liable for or penalized in any way for lack of payment. 

d. Each invoice shall be itemized with detail deemed adequate by the University or it will be 
returned as improper and the time for processing a payment will be suspended until the University receives 
a correct invoice. In no instance shall any payment be made for services to the Contractor that are not in 
accordance with the prices on the Purchase Order, this Contract, updated price lists or any discounts 
negotiated by the University. 

e. The University shall have the right to require the Contractor to prepare and submit a “Work 
In Progress” sheet that contains, at a minimum, the tasks performed, number of hours, hourly rate, and the 
Purchase Order to which it refers. 
13. PAYMENT.  

a. The University shall put forth reasonable efforts to make payment by the required payment 
date. The required payment date is: (a) the date on which payment is due under the terms of this Contract; 
(b) thirty (30) days after a proper invoice actually is received at the “Bill To” address if a date on which 
payment is due is not specified in this Contract (a “proper” invoice is not received until the University 
accepts the service as satisfactorily performed); or (c) the payment date specified on the invoice if later 
than the dates established by (a) and (b) above. Payment may be delayed if the payment amount on an 
invoice is not based upon the price(s) as stated in this Contract. If any payment is not made within fifteen 
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(15) days after the required payment date, the University may pay interest as determined by the Secretary 
of Budget in accordance with Act No. 266 of 1982 and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. Payment 
should not be construed by the Contractor as acceptance of the service performed by the Contractor. The 
University reserves the right to conduct further testing and inspection after payment, but within a 
reasonable time after performance, and to reject the service if such post-payment testing or inspection 
discloses a defect or a failure to meet specifications.  

b. The University shall have the option of using the University purchasing card to make 
purchases under this Contract or a Purchase Order. The University’s purchasing card is similar to a credit 
card in that there will be a small fee that the Contractor will be required to pay and the Contractor will 
receive payment directly from the card issuer rather than the University. Any and all fees related to this 
type of payment are the responsibility of the Contractor. In no case will the University allow increases in 
prices to offset credit card fees paid by the Contractor or any other charges incurred by the Contractor, 
unless specifically stated in the terms of this Contract or a Purchase Order. 

c. The University may make contract payments through Automated Clearing House (ACH). 
Within 10 days of award of this Contract or a Purchase Order, the Contractor must submit or must have 
already submitted their ACH information to the University. The Contractor must submit a unique invoice 
number with each invoice submitted. The unique invoice number will be listed on the University’s ACH 
remittance advice to enable the Contractor to properly apply the University’s payment to the invoice 
submitted. It is the responsibility of the Contractor to ensure that the ACH information provided to the 
University is accurate and complete. Failure to maintain accurate and complete information may result in 
delays in payments. 
14. TAXES. The University is exempt from all excise taxes imposed by the Internal Revenue Service 
and has accordingly registered with the Internal Revenue Service to make tax free purchases under 
Registration No. 23740001-K. With the exception of purchases of the following items, no exemption 
certificates are required and none will be issued: undyed diesel fuel, tires, trucks, gas guzzler emergency 
vehicles and sports fishing equipment. The University is also exempt from Pennsylvania state sales tax, 
local sales tax, public transportation assistance taxes and fees and vehicle rental tax. The Department of 
Revenue regulations provide that exemption certificates are not required for sales made to governmental 
entities and none will be issued. Nothing in this section is meant to exempt a construction contractor from 
the payment of any of these taxes or fees that are required to be paid with respect to the purchase, use, 
rental, or lease of tangible personal property or taxable services used or transferred in connection with the 
performance of a construction contract. 
15. INSURANCE. Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the parties, Contractor shall procure and 
maintain during the term of this Contract, at its own expense, the following insurance coverage:  

a. Worker’s compensation insurance as required by Pennsylvania law for all employees 
engaged in work.  

b. Commercial general liability insurance including coverage against any claims(s) that might 
occur in carryout out this Contract. Minimum coverage shall be one million dollars ($1,000,000) liability 
for bodily injury and property damage including products liability and completed operations.  

c. Automobile liability insurance for all owned, non-owned and hired vehicles that are used 
in carrying out this Contract. Minimum coverage shall be one million dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence 
combined single limit for bodily injury and property damages per accident.  

d. The University reserves the right to require higher or lower limits where warranted.  
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e. Upon request by the University, the Contractor is required to provide a Certificate of 
Insurance from a company licensed to do business in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, with a 
minimum AM Best rating of A-, and signed by an authorized agent. A minimum 60-day cancellation 
notice is desired.  

 
16. CONTRACTOR REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS. 

a. WARRANTY: The Contractor warrants that all items furnished and all services performed 
by the Contractor, its agents and subcontractors shall be As Isfree and clear of any defects in workmanship 
or materials and comply with all applicable safety requirements under applicable law, including OSHA 
Standards. Unless otherwise stated in this Contract, all items are warranted for a period of one year 
following delivery by the Contractor and acceptance by the University. The equipment manufacturer’s 
standard warranty shall apply as a minimum and must be honored by the Contractor. The Contractor shall 
repair, replace or otherwise correct any problem with the delivered item. When an item is replaced, it shall 
be replaced with an item of equivalent or superior quality without any additional cost to the University. 

b. PATENT, COPYRIGHT AND TRADEMARK INDEMNITY: The Contractor warrants 
that it is the sole owner or author of, or has entered into a suitable legal agreement concerning either: a) 
the design of any product or process provided or used in the performance of this Contract that is covered 
by a patent, copyright, or trademark registration or other right duly authorized by state or federal law or 
b) any copyrighted matter in any report document or other material provided to the University under this 
Contract. The Contractor shall defend any suit or proceeding brought against the University on account of 
any alleged patent, copyright or trademark infringement in the United States of any of the products 
provided or used in the performance of this Contract. This is upon condition that the University shall 
provide prompt notification in writing of such suit or proceeding; full right, authorization and opportunity 
to conduct the defense thereof; and full information and all reasonable cooperation for the defense of 
same. As principles of governmental or public law are involved, the University may participate in or 
choose to conduct, in its sole discretion, the defense of any such action. If information and assistance are 
furnished by the University at the Contractor’s written request, it shall be at the Contractor’s expense, but 
the responsibility for such expense shall be only that within the Contractor’s written authorization. The 
Contractor shall indemnify and hold the University harmless from all damages, costs, and expenses, 
including attorney’s fees that the University may pay or incur by reason of any infringement or violation 
of the rights occurring to any holder of copyright, trademark, or patent interests and rights in any products 
provided or used in the performance of this Contract. If any of the products provided by the Contractor in 
such suit or proceeding are held to constitute infringement and the use is enjoined, the Contractor shall, at 
its own expense and at its option, either procure the right to continue use of such infringing products, 
replace them with non-infringing equal performance products or modify them so that they are no longer 
infringing. If the Contractor is unable to do any of the preceding, the Contractor agrees to remove all the 
equipment or software that is obtained contemporaneously with the infringing product, or, at the option 
of the University, only those items of equipment or software that are held to be infringing, and to pay the 
University: 1) any amounts paid by the University towards the purchase of the product, less straight line 
depreciation; 2) any license fee paid by the University for the use of any software, less an amount for the 
period of usage; and 3) the pro rata portion of any maintenance fee representing the time remaining in any 
period of maintenance paid for. The obligations of the Contractor under this section continue without time 
limit. No costs or expenses shall be incurred for the account of the Contractor without its written consent. 
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c. COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES: The Contractor warrants that no person 
or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this Contract upon an agreement or 
understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee, except bona fide employees or 
bona fide established commercial or selling agencies maintained by the Contractor for the purpose of 
securing business. For breach or violation of this warranty, the University shall have the right to terminate 
this Contract without liability or in its discretion to deduct from this Contract price or consideration, or 
otherwise recover the full amount of such commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee. 
17. OWNERSHIP RIGHTS. The University shall have unrestricted authority to reproduce, 
distribute, and use any submitted report, data or material, and any software or modifications and any 
Developed Works and Developed Materials as part of the performance of this Contract, which may include 
written reports and analyses, diagrams, maps, logical and physical designs, system designs, computer 
programs, flow charts, disks, and/or other machine-readable storage media. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the University acknowledges and agrees that Contractor holds all proprietary rights, including 
but not limited to copyrights, trade secrets and patents in and to the software, student software, and 
Services provided hereunder.  Any license to use confers no title or ownership in the software, student 
software or Services, and is not a sale of any rights in the software, student software or Services.  All 
ownership rights remain in Contractor 
18. ASSIGNMENT OF ANTITRUST CLAIMS. The Contractor and the University recognize that 
in actual economic practice, overcharges by the Contractor’s suppliers resulting from violations of state 
or federal antitrust laws are in fact borne by the University. As part of the consideration for the award of 
this Contract, and intending to be legally bound, the Contractor assigns to the University all right, title and 
interest in and to any claims the Contractor now has, or may acquire, under state or federal antitrust laws 
relating to the products and services that are the subject of this Contract. 
19. LIMITATION OF UNIVERSITY LIABILITY. IN NO EVENT SHALL THE UNIVERSITY 
BE LIABILE FOR ANY INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, LOST PROFITS OR 
OTHER DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF THIS CONTRACT. THE UNIVERSITY’S TOTAL 
OBLIGATION UNDER THIS CONTRACT SHALL NOT EXCEED THE COST FOR ALL GOODS 
AND SERVICES UNDER THIS CONTRACT WITHOUT REGARD TO THE THEORY OF 
RECOVERY OR THE NATURE OF THE CAUSE OF ACTION. THIS PROVISION SHALL NOT BE 
CONSTRUED TO LIMIT THE SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY OF THE COMMONWEALTH OR OF THE 
STATE SYSTEM OF HIGHER EDUCATION OR THE UNIVERSITY. 
20. HOLD HARMLESS. The Contractor shall hold the University harmless from and indemnify the 
University, the State System of Higher Education and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania against any 
and all third party claims, demands and actions based upon or arising out of any activities performed by 
the Contractor and its employees and agents under this Contract, provided the University gives Contractor 
prompt notice of any such claim of which it learns. Pursuant to the Commonwealth Attorneys Act (71 P.S. 
Section 732-101, et seq.), the Office of Attorney General (OAG) has the sole authority to represent the 
University in actions brought against the University. The OAG may, however, in its sole discretion and 
under such terms as it deems appropriate, delegate its right of defense. If OAG delegates the defense to 
the Contractor, the University will cooperate with all reasonable requests of Contractor made in the 
defense of such suits. Notwithstanding the above, neither party shall enter into any settlement without the 
other party's written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. The University may, in its sole 
discretion, allow the Contractor to control the defense and any related settlement negotiations. 
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21. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal and state 
laws and regulations and local ordinances in the performance of this Contract. More specifically:  

a. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS AND REGULATIONS: In the performance of this Contract, 
the Contractor shall minimize pollution and shall strictly comply with all applicable environmental laws 
and regulations, including, but not limited to, the Clean Streams Law Act of June 22, 1937 (P.L. 1987, 
No. 394), as amended 35 P.S. § 691.601 et seq.; the Pennsylvania Solid Waste Management Act, Act of 
July 7, 1980 (P.L. 380, No. 97), as amended, 35 P.S. § 6018.101 et seq.; and the Dam Safety and 
Encroachment Act, Act of November 26, 1978 (P.L. 1375, No. 325), as amended, 32 P.S. § 693.1. 

b. POST-CONSUMER RECYCLED CONTENT: Except as specifically waived by the 
University in writing, any supplies that are provided to the University as a part of the performance of this 
Contract must meet the minimum percentage levels for total recycled content and post-consumer recycled 
content or are otherwise environmentally preferable as certified under a third party independently verified 
life cycle analysis conforming to the ISO 14040 series of standards or as specified in the guidelines or in 
the Department of General Services (DGS) specifications (available on the DGS website at 
www.dgs.state.pa.us), whichever reflects the higher level of post-consumer recycled content on the date 
of submission of the bid, proposal or contract offer. 

c. RECYCLED CONTENT ENFORCEMENT: The Contractor may be required, after 
delivery of the Contract item(s), to provide the University with documentary evidence that the item(s) was 
in fact produced with the required minimum percentage of post-consumer and recovered material content. 

d. HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES. The Contractor shall provide information to the 
University about the identity and hazards of hazardous substances supplied or used by the Contractor in 
the performance of the Contract. The Contractor must comply with Act 159 of October 5, 1984, known 
as the “Worker and Community Right to Know Act” and the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto at 
4 Pa. Code Section 301.1 et seq., as well as all applicable federal law, which includes providing a copy of 
any Material Safety Data Sheet for each order of a hazardous chemical, as defined under 29 CFR 
1910.1200.  

e. EXPORT CONTROL LAW COMPLIANCE. To the extent Contractor is providing 
devices/technology or data under this Contract, Contractor acknowledges that a foreign national(s) may 
use the device/technology/and or data at the University. Contractor shall comply with all U.S. export 
control laws and regulations, including but not limited to the International Traffic in Arms Regulations 
(ITAR), 22 CFR Parts 120 through 130, and the Export Administration Regulations (EAR), 15 CFR Parts 
730 through 799, in the performance of this Contract. In the absence of available license 
exemptions/exceptions, Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining the appropriate licenses or other 
authorizations, if required, for exports of hardware, technical data, and software, or for the provision of 
technical assistance. Contractor shall be responsible for all regulatory record keeping requirements 
associated with the use of licenses and license exemptions/exceptions. Prior to disclosing or transferring 
to University any hardware, technical data, software or product utilizing any such data which is subject to 
export controls under federal law, Contractor shall notify the University in writing of the nature and extent 
of the export control. The University shall have the right to decline any such technical data or product 
utilizing such data. In the event Contractor sends any such technical data or product that is subject to 
export control, without notice of the applicability of such export control, the University has the right to 
immediately terminate this Contract. 
22. DEFAULT.  
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a. The University may, subject to the provisions of the section entitled FORCE MAJEURE 
and in addition to its other rights under this Contract, declare the Contractor in default by written notice 
thereof to the Contractor, and terminate (as provided in the section entitled TERMINATION) the whole 
or any part of this Contract or any Purchase Order for any of the following reasons, provided the University 
has notified Contractor in writing of Contractor’s noncompliance and Contractor fails to correct said 
obligation within 30 days of written notice:  

1) Failure to begin work within the time specified in this Contract Order or a Purchase 
Order or as otherwise specified; 

2) Failure to perform the work with sufficient labor, equipment, or material to ensure the 
completion of the specified work in accordance with the terms of this Contract or a 
Purchase Order; 

3) Unsatisfactory performance of the work; 
4) Failure to deliver awarded item(s) within the time specified in this Contract or a 

Purchase Order or as otherwise specified; 
5) Improper or untimely delivery; 
6) Failure to provide an item(s) that is in conformance with the specifications referenced 

in this Contract or a Purchase Order; 
7) Delivery of a defective item; 
8) Failure or refusal to remove material, or remove and replace any work rejected as 

defective or unsatisfactory; 
9) Discontinuance of work without approval; 
10) Failure to resume work, which has been discontinued, within a reasonable time after 

notice to do so; 
11) Insolvency, bankruptcy or placed into receivership; 
12) Assignment made for the benefit of creditors; 
13) Failure or refusal within 10 days after written notice by the Contracting Officer, to 

make payment or show cause why payment should not be made of any amounts due 
for materials furnished, labor supplied or performed, equipment rentals, or for utility 
services rendered; 

14) Failure to protect, to repair, or to make good any damage or injury to property; 
15) Breach of any provision of this Contract; 
16) Failure to comply with representations made in the Contractor's bid, proposal or 

contract offer; or 
17) Failure to comply with applicable industry standards, customs, and practice. 

b. In the event that the University terminates this Contract or any Purchase Order in whole or 
in part as provided in subparagraph a. above, the University may procure, upon such terms and in such 
manner as it determines, items similar or identical to those so terminated, and the Contractor shall be liable 
to the University for any reasonable excess costs for such similar or identical items included within the 
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terminated part of this Contract or a Purchase Order, not to exceed the amount the University has paid the 
Contractor under the terms of this Contract.  

c. If this Contract or a Purchase Order is terminated as provided in subparagraph a. above, 
the University, in addition to any other rights provided in this section, may require the Contractor to 
transfer title and deliver immediately to the University in the manner and to the extent directed by the 
Contracting Officer, such partially completed items, including, where applicable, reports, working papers 
and other documentation, as the Contractor has specifically produced or specifically acquired for the 
performance of such part of this Contract or a Purchase Order as has been terminated. Except as provided 
below, payment for completed work accepted by the University shall be at the price set forth in this 
Contract. Except as provided below, payment for partially completed items including, where applicable, 
reports and working papers delivered to and accepted by the University shall be in an amount agreed upon 
by the Contractor and Contracting Officer. The University may withhold from amounts otherwise due the 
Contractor for such completed or partially completed works, such sum as the Contracting Officer 
determines to be necessary to protect the University against loss. 

d. The rights and remedies of the University provided in this section shall not be exclusive 
and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law or under this Contract. 

e. The University's failure to exercise any rights or remedies provided in this section shall not 
be construed to be a waiver by the University of its rights and remedies in regard to the event of default 
or any succeeding event of default. 

f. Following exhaustion of the Contractor's administrative remedies as set forth in the section 
entitled CONTRACT CONTROVERSIES of this Contract, the Contractor's exclusive remedy shall be to 
seek damages in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Board of Claims. 
23. TERMINATION. The University has the right to terminate this Contract (including any Purchase 
Order issued under this Contract) for any of the following reasons. Termination shall be effective upon 
written notice to the Contractor. 

a. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE: The University shall have the right to terminate 
this Contract with a minimum 30 days written notice for its convenience without penalty or recourse if 
the University determines termination to be in its best interest. Upon receipt of the written notice, the 
Contractor shall immediately stop all work as directed in the notice, notify all subcontractors of the 
effective date of the termination and minimize all further costs to the University. The Contractor shall be 
paid for work satisfactorily completed prior to the effective date of the termination and this shall be the 
Contractor’s sole remedy against the University in the event of termination under this provision. In no 
event shall the Contractor be entitled to recover loss of profits, loss of use of money, or administrative or 
overhead costs.  

b. NON-APPROPRIATION: The University’s obligation to make payments during any 
University fiscal year succeeding the current fiscal year shall be subject to availability and appropriation 
of funds by a granting agency, the Commonwealth or a governing body. When funds are not appropriated 
or otherwise made available to support continued performance in a subsequent fiscal year period, the 
University shall have the right to terminate this Contract. The Contractor shall be paid for work 
satisfactorily completed prior to the notice of non-appropriation. The Contractor may be reimbursed for 
the reasonable value of any nonrecurring costs incurred but not amortized in the price of the supplies or 
services delivered under this Contract. Such reimbursement shall not include loss of profit, loss of use of 
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money, or administrative or overhead costs. The reimbursement amount may be paid for any 
appropriations made available for that purpose. 

c. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE: The University shall have the right to terminate this 
Contract for Contractor default under the section entitled DEFAULT, upon written notice to the 
Contractor, provided the University has notified Contractor in writing of Contractor’s noncompliance and 
Contractor fails to correct said obligation within 30 days of written notice. The University shall also have 
the right, upon written notice to the Contractor, to terminate this Contract for other cause as specified in 
the Contract or by law. If it is later determined that the University erred in terminating this Contract for 
cause, then, at the University’s discretion, this Contract shall be deemed to have been terminated for 
convenience under subparagraph a. above.  The Contractor shall have the right to terminate this Contract 
in the event the University fails to meet any of its material obligations under this Contract and fails to 
correct any such breach within 30 days of written notice. 
24. CONTRACT CONTROVERSIES.  

a. In the event of a controversy or claim arising from this Contract, the Contractor must, 
within six (6) months after the cause of action occurs, file a written claim with the Contracting Officer for 
a determination, stating all grounds upon which the Contractor asserts a controversy or claim. The written 
claim shall state all grounds upon which the Contractor asserts a controversy exists. If the Contractor fails 
to file a claim or files an untimely claim, the Contractor is deemed to have waived its right to assert a 
claim in any forum. At the time the claim is filed, or within sixty (60) days thereafter, either party may 
request mediation through the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s Office of General Counsel Mediation 
Program. 

b. If the Contractor or the Contracting Officer requests mediation and the other party agrees, 
the Contracting Officer shall promptly make arrangements for mediation. Mediation shall be scheduled 
so as to not delay the issuance of the final determination beyond the required 120 days after receipt of the 
claim if mediation is unsuccessful.  

c. If mediation is not agreed to or if resolution is not reached through mediation, the 
Contracting Officer shall review timely-filed claims and issue a final determination, in writing, regarding 
the claim. The final determination shall be issued within 120 days of the receipt of the claim, unless 
extended by consent of the Contracting Officer and the Contractor. The Contracting Officer shall send 
his/her written determination to the Contractor. If the Contracting Officer fails to issue a final 
determination within the 120 days (unless extended by consent of the parties), the claim shall be deemed 
denied. The Contracting Officer's determination shall be the final order of the purchasing agency. 

d. Within fifteen (15) days of the mailing date of the determination denying a claim or within 
135 days of filing a claim if no extension is agreed to by the parties, whichever occurs first, the Contractor 
may file a statement of claim with the Commonwealth Board of Claims which retains exclusive 
jurisdiction. Pending a final judicial resolution of a controversy or claim, the Contractor shall proceed 
diligently with the performance of this Contract in a manner consistent with the determination of the 
Contracting Officer and the University shall compensate the Contractor pursuant to the terms of this 
Contract. 
25. FORCE MAJEURE.  

a. Neither party will incur any liability to the other if its performance of any obligation under 
this Contract is prevented or delayed by an event or circumstance beyond its control, regardless of whether 
it was foreseeable, that was not caused by the party who is unable to perform (the “nonperforming party”) 
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provided the nonperforming party complies with the provisions of this section. Causes and circumstances 
beyond a party’s control may include, but are not limited to, acts of God or war, changes in controlling 
law, regulations, orders or the requirements of any governmental entity, severe weather conditions, civil 
disorders, natural disasters, fire, epidemics and quarantines, general strikes throughout the trade or other 
labor disputes affecting either party, and freight embargoes. Causes and circumstances beyond a party’s 
control do not include a strike or other labor unrest that affects only one party or an increase in prices.  

b. Upon identifying an event or circumstance a party believes is beyond its control, 
nonperforming party shall notify the other party as soon as practicable and in writing no later than five (5) 
days after the date on which the nonperforming party becomes aware, or should have reasonably become 
aware, that such event or circumstance would prevent or delay its performance. Such notification shall (i) 
describe fully such cause(s) and its effect on performance, (ii) state whether performance under this 
Contract is prevented or delayed and (iii) if performance is delayed, state a reasonable estimate of the 
duration of the delay and all reasonable efforts being undertaken to attempt performance, limit delay and 
limit damages. The nonperforming party shall have the burden of proving that such event or circumstance 
delayed or prevented its performance despite its diligent efforts to perform and shall produce such 
supporting documentation as the other party may reasonably request, including providing updates 
regarding the event or circumstance as it is ongoing. After receipt of such notification, the party receiving 
notice of the event or circumstance may elect to cancel this Contract, cancel the Purchase Order, or to 
extend the time for performance as reasonably necessary to compensate for the delay. 

c. In the event of a declared emergency by competent governmental authorities, the 
University by notice to the Contractor may suspend all or a portion of this Contract or a Purchase Order 
issued under this Contract. 
26. USE OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION.  

a. Covered Data and Information (“CDI”) includes paper and electronic financial 
information, student education records, as well as any other data marked as confidential provided by the 
University or its students to the Contractor to perform the services under this Contract.  

b. Disclosure of CDI: Contractor shall not copy, report or release CDI or information 
concerning the University or its students, employees or customers to third parties except when essential 
for authorized use under this Contract and then only with University’s prior written approval and only 
where the third parties sign agreements containing substantially the same provisions as contained in this 
section. Any such report or release of information shall, at a minimum, comply with those requirements 
enumerated in the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (15 U.S.C. §6801 et seq.), the Family and Educational Rights 
and Privacy Act of 1974 (20 U.S.C. §1232g), and applicable University or Board of Governors policies 
or standards for safeguarding such information, and all other applicable laws regarding consumer privacy 
and confidential information. The Contractor agrees not to use CDI for any purpose other than the purpose 
for which the disclosure was made. 

c. Maintenance of CDI: The Contractor shall develop, implement, maintain, and use 
appropriate administrative, technical, and physical security measures to preserve the confidentiality, 
integrity, and availability of all electronically maintained or transmitted CDI received from or on behalf 
of the University or its students. The Contractor will extend these measures by contract to all 
subcontractors used by the Contractor. At a minimum, the Contractor agrees to guard the confidentiality 
of the University’s confidential information with the same diligence with which it guards its own 
proprietary information.  
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d. Destruction or Return of CDI: Upon termination, cancellation, expiration or other 
conclusion of this Contract or any license granted hereunder, the Contractor will destroy/anonymize or 
return to the University all copies of CDI in the Contractor’s possession, unless the Contracting Officer 
consents in writing to the preservation of a copy of the CDI for archival purposes. The Contractor shall 
provide a certificate to the University confirming the date of destruction of the CDI.  

e. Reporting of Unauthorized Disclosures or Misuse of CDI: The Contractor shall, as soon as 
reasonably practicable and in accordance with all applicable state and federal statutes and regulations, 
report to the University any use or disclosure of CDI not authorized by this Contract. The Contractor’s 
report shall identify: (i) the nature of the unauthorized use or disclosure, (ii) the CDI used or disclosed, 
(iii) the identity of the party who made the unauthorized use or received the unauthorized disclosure, (iv) 
what the Contractor has done or shall do to mitigate any deleterious effect of the unauthorized use or 
disclosure, and (v) what corrective action the Contractor has taken or shall take to prevent future similar 
unauthorized use or disclosure. The Contractor shall provide such other information, including a written 
report, as reasonably requested by the University. 

f. Remedies: If the University reasonably determines in good faith that the Contractor has 
materially breached any of its obligations under this provision, the University, in its sole discretion, shall 
have the right to require the Contractor to submit to a plan of monitoring and reporting; provide the 
Contractor with a thirty (30) day period to cure the breach; or terminate this Contract immediately if cure 
is not possible. Before exercising any of these options, the University shall provide written notice to the 
Contractor describing the violation and the action it intends to take. If the Family Policy Compliance 
Office of the U.S. Department of Education determines that the Contractor improperly disclosed 
personally identifiable information obtained from the University’s education records, the University may 
not allow the Contractor access to education records for at least five (5) years. 

g. The obligations stated in this section do not apply to information: 
1) already known to the recipient at the time of disclosure other than through the 

contractual relationship; 
2) independently generated by the recipient and not derived from the information supplied 

by the disclosing party; 
3) known or available to the public, except where such knowledge or availability is the 

result of unauthorized disclosure by the recipient of the proprietary information; 
4) disclosed to the recipient without a similar restriction by a third party who has the right 

to make such disclosure; or 
5) required to be disclosed by the recipient by law, regulation, court order, or other legal 

process. 
h. Indemnity: The Contractor shall defend and hold the University harmless from all claims, 

liabilities, damages, or judgments brought by a third party, including the University’s costs and attorney 
fees, to the extent arising as a result of the Contractor’s negligent or willful failure to meet any of its 
obligations under this section. 

h.i. The University agrees all confidential and proprietary information provided by the 
Contractor, whether tangible or intangible, including without limitation images, audio and video content 
provided in conjunction with the Services and the functionality and features of the Services, constitutes 
valuable and proprietary confidential information of the Contractor (“Contractor Confidential 
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Information”).  Except as otherwise expressly authorized, the University agrees to: (i) keep secret and not 
disclose, publish, divulge, furnish or make accessible to any third party any of the Contractor Confidential 
Information; (ii) not post, distribute, copy, exploit or provide any of the Contractor Confidential 
Information in any public forum, including, without limitation, the Internet; and (iii) use care at least as 
stringent as that used to protect its own similar confidential information to protect the security of 
Contractor Confidential Information and to ensure that any Contractor Confidential Information is not 
disclosed or otherwise made available to third parties (except as provided for under this Contract) or used 
in violation of the foregoing.  Notwithstanding anything set forth herein, the University shall have the 
right to use and disclose Contractor Confidential Information to: (i) University personnel and professional 
advisers who need to know such information to perform obligations under this Contract or for legitimate 
business purposes, provided all such individuals and entities are bound by confidentiality obligations no 
less restrictive than those in this AgreementContract, and (ii) candidates of the University using the 
Services for exams administered by the University. 
27. NONDISCRIMINATION. The parties shall comply with all applicable state and federal statutes 
and regulations governing equal employment opportunity, non-discrimination and immigration. The 
parties agree to continue their respective policies of nondiscrimination based on Title VI of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964 in regard to sex, age, race, color, creed, and national origin; Title IX of the Education 
Amendments of 1972 and other applicable laws; as well as the provisions of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. Pursuant to federal regulations promulgated under the authority of the Americans With 
Disabilities Act, 28 C.F.R. § 35.101 et seq., the Contractor understands and agrees that it shall not cause 
any individual with a disability to be excluded from participation in this Contract or from activities 
provided for under this Contract on the basis of the disability. As a condition of accepting this Contract, 
the Contractor agrees to comply with the “General prohibitions against discrimination” set forth in 28 
C.F.R. § 35.130, and all other regulations promulgated under Title II of the Americans With Disabilities 
Act which are applicable to all benefits, services, programs, and activities provided by the Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania through contracts with outside contractors. 
28. SEXUAL HARASSMENT. Federal law and the policies of the University prohibit sexual 
harassment of University employees or students. Sexual harassment includes any unwelcome sexual 
advance toward a University employee or student, or any other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual 
nature that is so severe or pervasive as to create a hostile or offensive working environment for University 
employees, or a hostile or offensive academic environment for students. University vendors, 
subcontractors and suppliers for this project are required to exercise control over their employees so as to 
prohibit acts of sexual harassment of University employees and students. The employer of any person who 
the University, in its reasonable judgment, determines has committed an act of sexual harassment agrees 
as a term and condition of this Contract to cause such person to be removed from the project site and from 
University premises and to take such other action as may be reasonably necessary to cause the sexual 
harassment to cease. In addition, the University may proceed with debarment or suspension or make 
appropriate reports in accordance with the Contractor Responsibility Program. 
29. BACKGROUND CHECKS FOR SECURE OR SENSITIVE AREAS. 

a. At the direction of the University, the Contractor must, at its expense, arrange for a 
background check for each of its employees, as well as the employees of any of its subcontractors, who 
will have access to secure or sensitive areas on the University’s campus, either through on-site access or 
through remote access, as determined by the University. Before the University will permit an employee 
or subcontractor of the Contractor to have access to secure or sensitive areas on the University’s campus, 
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the Contractor may be required provide written confirmation that appropriate background checks have 
been conducted.  

b. Access to certain University buildings may be controlled by means of card readers and 
secured visitors' entrances. University contracted personnel who have regular and routine business in 
University worksites may be issued a photo identification or access badge, at the discretion of the 
University, subject to University policy or direction. The Contractor shall be responsible for all fees in 
connection is issuance of photo identification or access badges  

c. The University may provide Contractor employees who work on a University campus with 
a designated email or other network access for use by the employee for performance under this Contract. 
Any such access must be in accordance with all applicable laws and University policies.  

d. If it is discovered at any time that an individual who has access to a secure or sensitive area 
on campus has a criminal record that includes a felony or misdemeanor involving terroristic behavior, 
violence, use of a lethal weapon, breach of trust/fiduciary responsibility or that raises concerns about 
building, system or personal security, or is otherwise job-related, the Contractor shall not assign that 
employee to any University facilities, shall remove any access privileges already given to the employee 
and shall not permit that employee remote access unless the University consents to the access, in writing, 
prior to the access. 

e. Failure of the Contractor to comply with the terms of this section on more than one occasion 
or Contractor's failure to appropriately address any single failure to the satisfaction of the University may 
result in the Contractor being deemed in default of its Contract. 
30. BACKGROUND CHECKS FOR MINORS.  

a. The Contractor must arrange for a background check for each of its employees, as well as 
the employees of any of its subcontractors, who will provide a program, activity or service to the 
University that is responsible for the care, supervision, guidance, or control of children or as otherwise 
designated by the University under applicable policy. The Contractor will be responsible for any such 
associated costs. 

b. Before the University will permit an employee or subcontractor of the Contractor to 
provide any program, activity or service to the University where the employee or subcontractor is 
responsible for the care, supervision, guidance, or control of children, the Contractor must provide written 
confirmation that background checks have been conducted in accordance with applicable law and policies. 
If it is discovered at any time that an individual has a criminal record that includes one of the enumerated 
offenses set forth in section 6344(c) of the Child Protective Services Law, 23 Pa.C.S. § 6344, the 
Contractor shall immediately remove the employee or subcontractor from assignment to the University 
under this Contract.  

c. The University specifically reserves the right to conduct background checks over and 
above that described herein or as otherwise required by applicable law.  

d. The University may provide Contractor employees who work on a University campus with 
a designated email or other network access for use by the employee for performance under this Contract. 
Any such access must be in accordance with all applicable laws and University policies.  

e. Failure of the Contractor to comply with the terms of this section on more than one occasion 
or Contractor's failure to appropriately address any single failure to the satisfaction of the University may 
result in the Contractor being deemed in default of its Contract. 
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31. MANDATORY REPORTING REQUIREMENTS.  
a. All employees, subcontractors and volunteers of Contractor who provide a program, 

activity, or service to the University that are responsible for the care, supervision, guidance, or control of 
children are considered mandated reporters of suspected cases of child abuse under Pennsylvania law. All 
mandated reporters shall make an immediate report of suspected child abuse if the individual has 
reasonable cause to suspect that a child is the victim of child abuse under any of the following 
circumstances: (i)the mandated reporter comes into contact with the child in the course of employment, 
occupation and practice of a profession or through a regularly scheduled program, activity or service; (ii) 
the mandated reporter is directly responsible for the care, supervision, guidance or training of the child, 
or is affiliated with an agency, institution, organization, school, regularly established church or religious 
organization or other entity that is directly responsible for the care, supervision, guidance or training of 
the child; (iii) a person makes a specific disclosure to the mandated reporter that an identifiable child is 
the victim of child abuse; or (iv) an individual 14 years of age or older makes a specific disclosure to the 
mandated reporter that the individual has committed child abuse. The minor is not required to come before 
the mandated reporter in order for the mandated reporter to make a report of suspected child abuse. The 
mandated reporter does not need to determine the identity of the person responsible for the child abuse to 
make a report of suspected child abuse. 

b. Mandated reporters must immediately make an oral report of suspected child abuse to the 
Department of Human Services (DHS), formerly the Department of Public Welfare, by calling ChildLine 
at 1-800-932-0313, or by filing a written report with DHS through Pennsylvania’s Child Welfare 
Information Solution portal (https://www.compass.state.pa.us/CWIS). If an oral report is made, a written 
report shall also be made within 48 hours to DHS or the county agency assigned to the case as prescribed 
by DHS. If a mandated reporter feels that a child is in an emergency situation, the mandated reporter 
should call local law enforcement or 911 immediately. In addition to the mandatory reporting requirements 
above, employees and subcontractors of Contractor must immediately notify the University that a report 
of suspected child abuse has been made.  
32. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITY. For the purpose of this section, the term Contractor is 
defined as any person, including, but not limited to, a bidder, offeror, loan recipient, grantee or lessor, 
who has furnished or performed or seeks to furnish or perform, goods, supplies, services, leased space, 
construction or other activity, under a contract, grant, lease, purchase order or reimbursement agreement 
with the Commonwealth. The term Contractor includes a permittee, licensee, or any agency, political 
subdivision, instrumentality, public authority, or other public entity in the Commonwealth. 

a. The Contractor certifies, in writing, for itself and its subcontractors required to be disclosed 
or approved by the Commonwealth, that as of the date of its execution of this Contract, that neither the 
Contractor, nor any such subcontractors, are under suspension or debarment by the Commonwealth or any 
governmental entity, instrumentality, or authority and, if the Contractor cannot so certify, then it agrees to 
submit, along with its Contract, a written explanation of why such certification cannot be made. 

b. The Contractor also certifies, in writing, that as of the date of its execution of this Contract 
it has no tax liabilities or other Commonwealth obligations, or has filed a timely administrative or judicial 
appeal if such liabilities or obligations exist, or is subject to a duly approved deferred payment plan if such 
liabilities exist. 

c. The Contractor's obligations pursuant to these provisions are ongoing from and after the 
Effective Date of this Contract through the Expiration Date. Accordingly, the Contractor shall have an 
obligation to inform the Contracting Officer if, at any time during the term of this Contract, it becomes 
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delinquent in the payment of taxes or other Commonwealth obligations, or if Contractor or, to the best 
knowledge of the Contractor, any of its subcontractors are suspended or debarred by the Commonwealth, 
the federal government, or any other state or governmental entity. Such notification shall be made within 
15 days of the date of suspension or debarment.  

d. The failure of the Contractor to notify the Contracting Officer of its suspension or 
debarment by the Commonwealth, any other state, or the federal government shall constitute an event of 
default of this Contract. 

e. The Contractor agrees to reimburse the Commonwealth for the reasonable costs of 
investigation incurred by the Office of State Inspector General, the University or the Commonwealth for 
investigations of the Contractor's compliance with the terms of this or any other agreement between the 
Contractor and the Commonwealth that results in the suspension or debarment of the contractor. Such 
costs shall include, but shall not be limited to, salaries of investigators, including overtime; travel and 
lodging expenses; and expert witness and documentary fees. The Contractor shall not be responsible for 
investigative costs for investigations that do not result in the Contractor's suspension or debarment. 

f. The Contractor may obtain a current list of suspended and debarred Commonwealth 
contractors by either searching the Internet at http://www.dgs.state.pa.us/ or contacting the: 

Department of General Services 
Office of Chief Counsel 
603 North Office Building 
Harrisburg, PA 17125 
Telephone No: (717) 783-6472 

33. CONTRACTOR INTEGRITY. It is essential that those who seek to contract with the 
Commonwealth observe high standards of honesty and integrity. They must conduct themselves in a 
manner that fosters public confidence in the integrity of the Commonwealth contracting and procurement 
process.  

a. DEFINITIONS. For purposes of this section, the following terms shall be defined as 
follows: 

1) “Affiliate” means two or more entities where (a) a parent entity owns more than fifty 
percent of the voting stock of each of the entities; or (b) a common shareholder or group 
of shareholders owns more than fifty percent of the voting stock of each of the entities; 
or (c) the entities have a common proprietor or general partner. 

2) “Consent” means written permission signed by a duly authorized officer or employee 
of the University, provided that where the material facts have been disclosed, in 
writing, by prequalification, bid, proposal, or contractual terms, the University shall be 
deemed to have consented by virtue of the execution of this Contract. 

3) “Contractor” means the individual or entity that has entered into this Contract with the 
University.  

4) “Contractor Related Parties” means any affiliates of the Contractor and the Contractor’s 
executive officers, Pennsylvania officers and directors, or owners of 5% or more 
interest in the Contractor. 

5) “Financial Interest” means either: 
a) Ownership of more than a five percent interest in any business; or 
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b) Holding a position as an officer, director, trustee, partner, employee, or any 
position of management. 

6) “Gratuity” means tendering, giving, or providing anything of more than nominal 
monetary value including, but not limited to, cash, travel, entertainment, gifts, meals, 
lodging, loans, subscriptions, advances, deposits of money, services, employment, or 
contracts of any kind. The exceptions set forth in the Governor’s Code of Conduct, 
Executive Order 1980-18, the 4 Pa. Code §7.153(b), shall apply. 

7) “Non-bid Basis” means a contract awarded or executed by the University with 
Contractor without seeking bids or proposals from any other potential bidder or offeror. 

b. In furtherance of this policy, Contractor agrees to the following:  
1) Contractor shall maintain the highest standards of honesty and integrity during the 

performance of this Contract and shall take no action in violation of state or federal 
laws or regulations or any other applicable laws or regulations, or other requirements 
applicable to Contractor or that govern contracting or procurement with the 
Commonwealth.  

2) Contractor shall establish and implement a written business integrity policy, which 
includes, at a minimum, the requirements of these provisions as they relate to the 
Contractor activity with the Commonwealth and Commonwealth employees and which 
is made known to all Contractor employees. Posting these Contractor Integrity 
provisions conspicuously in easily-accessible and well-lighted places customarily 
frequented by employees and at or near where the services are performed shall satisfy 
this requirement.  

3) Contractor, its affiliates, agents, employees and anyone in privity with Contractor shall 
not accept, agree to give, offer, confer, or agree to confer or promise to confer, directly 
or indirectly, any gratuity or pecuniary benefit to any person, or to influence or attempt 
to influence any person in violation of any federal or state law, regulation, executive 
order of the Governor of Pennsylvania, statement of policy, management directive or 
any other published standard of the Commonwealth in connection with performance of 
work under this Contract, except as provided in this Contract.  

4) Contractor shall not have a financial interest in any other contractor, subcontractor, or 
supplier providing services, labor, or material under this Contract, unless the financial 
interest is disclosed to the University in writing and the University consents to 
Contractor’s financial interest. Contractor shall disclose the financial interest to the 
University at the time of bid or proposal submission, or if no bids or proposals are 
solicited, no later than Contractor’s submission of this Contract signed by Contractor. 

5) Contractor certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that within the last five (5) 
years Contractor or Contractor Related Parties have not: 

a) been indicted or convicted of a crime involving moral turpitude or business 
honesty or integrity in any jurisdiction; 

b) been suspended, debarred or otherwise disqualified from entering into any 
contract with any governmental agency; 

c) had any business license or professional license suspended or revoked;  
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d) had any sanction or finding of fact imposed as a result of a judicial or 
administrative proceeding related to fraud, extortion, bribery, bid rigging, 
embezzlement, misrepresentation or anti-trust; and 

e) been, and are not currently, the subject of a criminal investigation by any 
federal, state or local prosecuting or investigative agency or civil anti-trust 
investigation by any federal, state or local prosecuting or investigative agency. 

If Contractor cannot so certify to the above, then it must submit along with its bid, 
proposal or contract a written explanation of why such certification cannot be made 
and the University will determine whether a contract may be entered into with the 
Contractor. The Contractor’s obligation pursuant to this certification is ongoing from 
and after the Effective Date of this Contract through the Expiration Date. Accordingly, 
the Contractor shall have an obligation to immediately notify the University in writing 
if at any time during the term of this Contract it becomes aware of any event that would 
cause the Contractor’s certification or explanation to change. Contractor acknowledges 
that the University may, in its sole discretion, terminate this Contract for cause if it 
learns that any of the certifications made herein are currently false due to intervening 
factual circumstances or were false or should have been known to be false when 
entering into the contract. 

6) Contractor shall comply with the requirements of the Lobbying Disclosure Act (65 
Pa.C.S. §13A01 et seq.) regardless of the method of award. If this Contract was 
awarded on a non-bid Basis, Contractor must also comply with the requirements of 
Section 1641 of the Pennsylvania Election Code (25 P.S. §3260a).  

7) When Contractor has reason to believe that any breach of ethical standards as set forth 
in law, the Governor’s Code of Conduct, or these Contractor Integrity provisions has 
occurred or may occur, including but not limited to contact by a Commonwealth officer 
or employee which, if acted upon, would violate such ethical standards, Contractor 
shall immediately notify the Contracting Officer or the Office of the State Inspector 
General in writing.  

8) Contractor, by submission of its bid or proposal or execution of this Contract and by 
the submission of any bills, invoices or requests for payment pursuant to this Contract, 
certifies and represents that it has not violated any of these Contractor Integrity 
provisions in connection with the submission of the bid or proposal, during any contract 
negotiations or during the term of this Contract, to include any extensions thereof. 
Contractor shall immediately notify the Contracting Officer in writing of any actions 
for occurrences that would result in a violation of these Contractor Integrity provisions. 
Contractor agrees to reimburse the Commonwealth for the reasonable costs of 
investigation incurred by the Office of the State Inspector General, the University and 
the Commonwealth for investigations of the Contractor’s compliance with the terms of 
this or any other agreement between the Contractor and the Commonwealth that results 
in the suspension or debarment of the Contractor. Contractor shall not be responsible 
for investigative costs for investigations that do not result in the Contractor’s 
suspension or debarment. 

9) Contractor shall cooperate with the Office of the State Inspector General, the University 
and the Commonwealth in any investigation of any alleged Commonwealth agency or 
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employee breach of ethical standards and any alleged Contractor non-compliance with 
these Contractor Integrity provisions. Contractor agrees to make identified Contractor 
employees available for interviews at reasonable times and places. Contractor, upon 
the inquiry or request of a Commonwealth investigator, shall provide, or if appropriate, 
make promptly available for inspection or copying, any information of any type or form 
deemed relevant by the investigating Commonwealth agency to Contractor's integrity 
and compliance with these provisions. Such information may include, but shall not be 
limited to, Contractor's business or financial records, documents or files of any type or 
form that refer to or concern this Contract. Contractor shall incorporate the obligations 
set forth in this section in any agreement, contract or subcontract it enters into in the 
course of the performance of this Contract solely for the purpose of obtaining 
subcontractor compliance with this provision. The incorporation of this provision in a 
subcontract shall not create privity of contract between the University and any such 
subcontractor, and no third party beneficiaries shall be created thereby. 

10) For violation of any of these Contractor Integrity provisions, the University may 
terminate this and any other contract with Contractor, claim liquidated damages in an 
amount equal to the value of anything received in breach of these provisions, claim 
damages for all additional costs and expenses incurred in obtaining another contractor 
to complete performance under this Contract, and debar and suspend Contractor from 
doing business with the Commonwealth. These rights and remedies are cumulative, 
and the use or non-use of any one shall not preclude the use of all or any other. These 
rights and remedies are in addition to those the Commonwealth may have under law, 
statute, regulation, policy or otherwise. 

34. COMMONWEALTH EMPLOYEE ETHICS.  

a. The Commonwealth Procurement Code, 62 Pa.C.S. § 101 et seq., provides that any attempt 
by a Commonwealth employee to realize personal gain through public employment by conduct 
inconsistent with the proper discharge of the duties of the employee is a breach of a public trust and that 
Commonwealth employees must avoid conflict of interest or improper use of confidential information. 62 
Pa. C. S. § 2302(a). 

b. Pursuant to the Public Official and Employee Ethics Act ("Ethics Act"), 65 Pa.C.S. §1101 
et seq., subject to certain statutory exceptions, "public officials" or "public employees" as defined by the 
Ethics Act, 65 Pa.C.S. §1102, are prohibited from: a) using the authority of their public positions to obtain 
a private pecuniary benefit (financial gain that is not authorized in law) for themselves, member(s) of their 
immediate family, or businesses with which they or member(s) of their immediate family are associated; 
and b) using any confidential information received from their public positions to obtain a private pecuniary 
benefit (financial gain that is not authorized in law) for themselves, member(s) of their immediate family, 
or businesses with which they or member(s) of immediate family are associated. 65 Pa.C.S. § 1103(a). 

c. “State advisors” and “State consultants” as those terms are defined in the State Adverse 
Interest Act, 71 P.S. § 7761 et eq., having recommended to the State agency that he or she served, either 
in the making of a contract or a course of action of which the making of a contract is an express or implied 
part, are prohibited from “hav[ing] an adverse interest” in such contract, as that term is defined in the 
statute. A State employee, as that term is defined in the statute, is prohibited from having an adverse 
interest in a contract with the State agency by which he or she is employed and from influencing or 
attempting to influence the making of or supervise or in any manner deal with any contract in which the 
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employee has an adverse interest. For purposes of this section, State agency shall refer to the Pennsylvania 
State System of Higher Education.  

d. The Contractor must report any known or suspected violations of the provisions of this 
section to the University or the Office of the Chancellor, attn.: Chief Counsel. 
35. AUDIT. The University and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania shall have the right, at 
reasonable times, but not more than one time per year, and at a mutually agreed upon site designated by 
the University, to audit the books, documents and records of the Contractor to the extent that the books, 
documents and records relate to costs or pricing data for this Contract. The Contractor agrees to maintain 
records that will support the prices charged and costs incurred for this Contract. The Contractor shall 
preserve books, documents, and records that relate to costs or pricing data for this Contract for a period 
of three (3) years from date of final payment. The Contractor shall give full and free access to all records 
to the University, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and their authorized representatives. 
36. RIGHT OF OFFSET. The Contractor acknowledges and agrees that the University may set off 
the amount of any state tax liability or other obligation of the Contractor or its subsidiaries to the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania against any payments due the Contractor under any contract with the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  
37. RIGHT TO KNOW LAW. 

a. The Pennsylvania Right-to-Know Law, 65 P.S. §§ 67.101-3104, (“RTKL”) applies to this 
Contract.  

b. If the University needs the Contractor’s assistance in any matter arising out of the RTKL 
related to this Contract, it shall notify the Contractor using the legal contact information provided in this 
Contract. The Contractor, at any time, may designate a different contact for such purpose upon reasonable 
prior written notice to the University. 

c. Upon written notification from the University that it requires the Contractor’s assistance in 
responding to a request under the RTKL for information related to this Contract that may be in the 
Contractor’s possession, constituting, or alleged to constitute, a public record in accordance with the 
RTKL (“Requested Information”), the Contractor shall: 

1) Provide the University, within ten (10) days after receipt of written notification, access 
to, and copies of, any document or information in the Contractor’s possession arising 
out of this Contract that the University reasonably believes is Requested Information 
and may be a public record under the RTKL; and 

2) Provide such other assistance as the University may reasonably request, in order to 
comply with the RTKL with respect to this Contract. 

d. If the Contractor considers the Requested Information to include a request for a Trade 
Secret or Confidential Proprietary Information, as those terms are defined by the RTKL, or other 
information that the Contractor considers exempt from production under the RTKL, the Contractor must 
notify the University and provide, within seven (7) days of receiving the written notification, a written 
statement signed by a representative of the Contractor explaining why the requested material is exempt 
from public disclosure under the RTKL. 

e.  The University will rely upon the written statement from the Contractor in denying a 
RTKL request for the Requested Information unless the University determines that the Requested 
Information is clearly not protected from disclosure under the RTKL in which case the Contractor shall 
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provide the Requested Information within five (5) days of receipt of written notification of the University’s 
determination. 

f. If the Contractor fails to provide the Requested Information within the time period required 
by these provisions, the Contractor shall indemnify and hold the University harmless for any damages, 
penalties, costs, detriment or harm that the University may incur as a result of the Contractor’s failure, 
including any statutory damages assessed against the University. 

g. The University will reimburse the Contractor for any costs associated with complying with 
these provisions only to the extent allowed under the fee schedule established by University or if none, by 
the Office of Open Records or as otherwise provided by the RTKL if a fee schedule is inapplicable. 

h. The Contractor may file a legal challenge to any University decision to release a record to 
the public with the Office of Open Records, or in an appropriate Pennsylvania Court, however, the 
Contractor shall indemnify the University for any legal expenses incurred as a result of such a challenge 
and shall hold the University harmless for any damages, penalties, costs, detriment or harm that the 
University may incur as a result of the Contractor’s failure, including any statutory damages assessed 
against the University, regardless of the outcome of such legal challenge. As between the parties, the 
Contractor agrees to waive all rights or remedies that may be available to it as a result of the University’s 
disclosure of Requested Information pursuant to the RTKL.  
38. APPLICABLE LAW. This Contract shall be governed by and interpreted and enforced in 
accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (without regard to any conflict of laws 
provisions) and the decisions of the Pennsylvania courts. The Contractor consents to the jurisdiction of 
any court of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and any federal courts in Pennsylvania, waiving any 
claim or defense that such forum is not convenient or proper. The Contractor agrees that any such court 
shall have in personam jurisdiction over it, and consents to service of process in any manner authorized 
by Pennsylvania law. 
39. MISCELLANEOUS.  

a. PUBLICITY: Contractor shall not reference or use the name of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania, the State System of Higher Education, the University or any official, employee, unit or 
department or any logo, trademark or symbol associated with any of the above for commercial promotion. 
News releases or other publicity pertaining to this Contract shall not be made without the prior written 
approval of the University.  

b. INTEGRATION: This Contract, including all referenced documents and any issued 
Purchase Order(s), constitute the entire agreement between the parties. No agent, representative, employee 
or officer of either the University or the Contractor has authority to make, or has made, any statement, 
agreement or representation, oral or written, in connection with this Contract, which in any way can be 
deemed to modify, add to or detract from, or otherwise change or alter its terms and conditions. No 
negotiations between the parties, nor any custom or usage, shall be permitted to modify or contradict any 
of the terms and conditions of the Contract. No modifications, alterations, changes, or waiver to this 
Contract or any of its terms shall be valid or binding unless accomplished by a written amendment signed 
by both parties. All such amendments will be made using the appropriate University form. 

c. CONTROLLING TERMS AND CONDITIONS: The terms and conditions of this Contract 
shall be the exclusive terms of agreement between the Contractor and the University. All quotations 
requested and received from the Contractor are for obtaining firm pricing only. Other terms and conditions 
or additional terms and conditions included or referenced in the Contractor's quotations, invoices, business 
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forms, or other documentation shall not become part of the parties’ agreement and shall be disregarded by 
the parties, unenforceable by the Contractor and not binding on the University unless specifically 
referenced as being incorporated into this Contract. In the event attachments containing additional terms 
are incorporated as part of this Contract, the terms and conditions herein shall control and prevail over 
any such attachments, regardless of any language contained therein to the contrary. 

d. SEVERABILITY: If any provision of this Contract is held by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be contrary to law or rendered unlawful by a legislative act, such provision shall be 
interpreted to be modified so as to best accomplish the objectives of the original provision to the fullest 
extent allowed by law, and the remaining provisions of this Contract shall remain in full force and effect.  

e. SURVIVAL: The terms and conditions of this Contract that by their sense and context are 
intended to survive termination or expiration hereof shall so survive.  

f. NOTICE: Any written notice to any party under this Contract shall be deemed sufficient if 
delivered personally, or by facsimile, telecopy, electronic or digital transmission (provided such delivery 
is confirmed), or by a recognized overnight courier service (e.g., DHL, Federal Express, etc.) with 
confirmed receipt, or by certified or registered United States mail, postage prepaid, return receipt 
requested, and sent to the other party at the address set forth in this Contract. In the case of an alleged 
breach of this Contract, a copy of the written notice to the University shall also be provided to the 
following: University Legal Counsel, 2986 N 2nd Street, Harrisburg, PA 17110. 

g. LEGISLATIVE AND POLICY UPDATES: The parties acknowledge that it may be 
necessary from time to time to modify the provisions of this Contract to comply with legislative or policy 
updates, including updates to policies of the Pennsylvania State System of Higher Education. In such 
cases, the University will notify the Contractor of the necessary changes and the parties will incorporate 
such changes into an amendment to this Contract.  

h. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY: The University and the Contractor are the only parties 
to this Contract and are the only parties entitled to enforce its terms. Nothing in this Contract gives or is 
intended to give or shall be construed to give or provide any benefit or right, directly or indirectly, to third 
parties.  

i. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR: In performing its obligations under this Contract, the 
Contractor will act as an independent contractor and not as an employee or agent of the University. The 
Contractor will be responsible for all services in this Contract whether or not Contractor provides them 
directly. Further, the Contractor is the sole point of contact with regard to all contractual matters, including 
payment of any and all charges resulting from the Contract. 

j. COUNTERPARTS: This Contract may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be 
an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Contract to be executed pursuant 

to due and legal action authorizing the same to be done on the date(s) below. 
 
FOR THE CONTRACTOR:         FOR THE UNIVERSITY: 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
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Individual or Partner or Member    Date President or Designee   Date 
(if Contractor is an individual or partnership 
or limited liability company)  APPROVED AS TO FISCAL RESPONSIBILITY, 
 BUDGETARY APPROPRIATENESS AND 
_________________________________  AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS 
Title 
 ____________________________________ 
 Comptroller    Date 
 
_________________________________  APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY 
President or Vice President           Date 
(Circle Title)        
 ______________________________________ 

 University Legal Counsel  Date 
 

 
_________________________________   ______________________________________  
Secretary or Treasurer          Date     Deputy Attorney General  Date 
 (Circle Title) 
 
    ______________________________________  
   Office of General Counsel   Date 
 
Note regarding signatures above. If a corporation, two signatures 

are required, one being the President or Vice President, the second 

being the Secretary or Treasurer. Signatory authority of either 

signatures can be delegated provided there is a certified Board 

resolution presented with this contract. 
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